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In the opinion of McCall, Parkhurst & Horton L.L.P., Bond Counsel, interest on the Bonds will be excludable from gross income for federal income tax
purposes under statutes, regulations, published rulings and court decisions existing on the date thereof, subject to the matters described under "TAX
MATTERS" herein including the alternative minimum tax on certain corporations.

$52,545,000
JOHNSON CITY INDEPENDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT
(A political subdivision of the State of Texas located in Blanco, Travis, LIano and Hays Counties, Texas)
Unlimited Tax School Building Bonds, Series 2023

Dated Date: August 15, 2023 Due: February 15, as shown on the inside cover page

The Johnson City Independent School District Unlimited Tax School Building Bonds, Series 2023 (the “Bonds”) are being issued pursuant to
the Constitution and general laws of the State of Texas, particularly Sections 45.001 and 45.003(b)(1), Texas Education Code, as amended,
an election held in the District on May 6, 2023 and the order (the “Order”) authorizing the issuance of the Bonds adopted on August 14, 2023
by the Board of Trustees (the “Board”) of the Johnson City Independent School District (the “District”). The Bonds are payable as to principal
and interest from the proceeds of an ad valorem tax levied annually, without legal limit as to rate or amount, against all taxable property
located within the District. The District has received conditional approval from the Texas Education Agency for the Bonds to be guaranteed
under the State of Texas Permanent School Fund Guarantee Program (hereinafter defined), which guarantee will automatically become
effective when the Attorney General of Texas approves the Bonds. (See “THE BONDS — Permanent School Fund Guarantee” and
“APPENDIX E - THE PERMANENT SCHOOL FUND GUARANTEE PROGRAM").

Interest on the Bonds will accrue from the Dated Date specified above and will be payable initially on August 28, 2023 and semiannually on
February 15 and August 15 of each year thereafter until stated maturity or prior redemption. The Bonds will be issued in fully registered form
in principal denominations of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof. Principal of the Bonds will be payable by the Paying Agent/Registrar,
which initially is BOKF, NA, Dallas, Texas (the "Paying Agent/Registrar"), upon presentation and surrender of the Bonds for payment.
Interest on the Bonds is payable by check dated as of the interest payment date and mailed by the Paying Agent/Registrar to the registered
owners as shown on the records of the Paying Agent/Registrar on the close of business as of the last business day of the month next
preceding each interest payment date (except with respect to the initial interest payment date, in which case such “record” date is the Bonds’
initial delivery date shown below). (See “REGISTRATION, TRANSFER AND EXCHANGE — Record Date for Interest”).

The District intends to utilize the Book-Entry-Only System of The Depository Trust Company New York, New York (“DTC”). Such Book-
EQtSrYI:S,\r}IIy) System will affect the method and timing of payment and the method of transfer of the Bonds. (See “BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY

Proceeds from the sale of the Bonds will be used for the purpose of for the purposes of (i) designing, constructing, renovating, improving,
upgrading, updating, modernizing, acquiring, and equipping school facilities, including security updates, the purchase of new school
buses, installing technology for school facilities, and (ii) paying the costs of issuing the Bonds. (See “THE BONDS - Authorization and
Purpose”).

The Bonds maturing on or after February 15, 2034 are subject to redemption at the option of the District in whole or in part on August 15,
2033 or any date thereafter, at a price equal to the principal amount thereof, plus accrued interest to the date of redemption. (See “THE
BONDS - Optional Redemption”).

MATURITY SCHEDULE
(On Inside Cover)

The Bonds are offered for delivery when, as and if issued, and received by the initial purchaser at a competitive sale (the “Purchaser” or the “Initial
Purchaser”) subject to the approval of legality by the Attorney General of the State of Texas and the approval of certain legal matters by McCall, Parkhurst
& Horton L.L.P., San Antonio, Texas, Bond Counsel. The Bonds are expected to be available for initial delivery through the facilities of DTC on or about
August 24, 2023.



$52,545,000
JOHNSON CITY INDEPENDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT
(A political subdivision of the State of Texas located in Blanco, Travis, Llano and Hays Counties, Texas)
UNLIMITED TAX SCHOOL BUILDING BONDS, SERIES 2023

MATURITY SCHEDULE
Base CUSIP No.: 478340 ("

Maturity
Date Principal Interest Initial CUSIP No.
2/15 Amount Rate Yield Suffix("
2030 $1,170,000 5.000% 3.00% GW6
2031 1,230,000 5.000 297 GX4
2032 1,290,000 5.000 3.01 GY2
2033 1,360,000 5.000 3.08 GZ9
2034 1,430,000 5.000 3.12@ HA3
2035 1,500,000 5.000 3.15@ HB1
2036 1,580,000 5.000 3.25@) HC9
2037 1,660,000 5.000 3.45@) HD7
2038 1,745,000 5.000 3.58@ HE5
2039 1,835,000 5.000 3.620 HF2
2040 1,930,000 5.000 3.66@ HGO
2041 2,025,000 5.000 3.73@ HH8
2042 2,130,000 5.000 3.80@ HJ4
2043 2,240,000 5.000 3.85@ HK1
2044 2,355,000 5.000 3.8812 HL9
2045 2,475,000 5.000 3.93@ HM7
2046 2,605,000 5.000 3.97@ HN5
2047 2,735,000 5.000 4.00@ HPO
2048 2,875,000 5.000 4.05@ HQ8
2049 3,010,000 4.125 4.27 HR6
2050 3,140,000 4125 4.30 HS4
2051 3,270,000 4125 4.31 HT2
2052 3,405,000 4.125 4.33 HU9
2053 3,550,000 4.125 4.35 HV7

(Interest to accrue from the Dated Date)

(1) CUSIP® is a registered trademark of the American Bankers Association. CUSIP Global Services (“CGS”) is managed on behalf of the American Bankers
Association by FactSet Research Systems Inc. Copyright(c) 2023 CUSIP Global Services. All rights reserved. CUSIP® data herein is provided by CUSIP
Global Services. This data is not intended to create a database and does not serve in any way as a substitute for the CGS database. CUSIP® numbers are
provided for convenience of reference only. None of the District, the Financial Advisor, the Purchaser or their agents or counsel assume responsibility for the
accuracy of such numbers.

(2) Yield calculated based on the assumption that the Bonds denoted and sold at a premium will be redeemed on August 15, 2033, the first optional call date
for such Bonds, at a redemption price of par, plus accrued interest to the redemption date.
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JOHNSON CITY INDEPENDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT

BOARD OF TRUSTEES

Date Current
Initially Term
Name Elected Expires Occupation
Sarah Allen, President 2020 2026 JC United Methodist Church
Cynthia Keene, Vice President 2019 2025 Whittington’s Jerky and General Store
Matt McKennis, Secretary 2015 2024 Siemens Company
Zach Johnson, Member 2021 2024 Phase 3 Electric
Calen McNett, Member 2023 2026 Texas Regional Bank
Brit Odiorne, Member 2015 2024 Odiorne Landscaping
Clayton Young, Member 2022 2025 Construction
APPOINTED OFFICIALS

Length of Length of Service
Name Position Education Service with the District
Richard Kolek Superintendent 30 Years 6 Years
Scott Berry Business Manager 20 Years 14 Years

CONSULTANTS AND ADVISORS

McCall, Parkhurst & Horton L.L.P., San Antonio, Texas
SAMCO Capital Markets, Inc., Plano, Texas

Neffendorf & Blocker, P.C., Fredericksburg, Texas

For additional information, contact:

Bond Counsel

Financial Advisor

Certified Public Accountants

Richard Kolek Brian Grubbs / Doug Whitt
Superintendent SAMCO Capital Markets, Inc.
Johnson City Independent School District 5800 Granite Parkway, Suite 210
304 North LBJ Drive Plano, Texas 75024

Johnson City, TX 78636

(214) 765-1470

(830) 868-7410 (214) 279-8683 (Fax)
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USE OF INFORMATION IN OFFICIAL STATEMENT

This Official Statement, which includes the cover page and the Appendices hereto, does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy in any
jurisdiction to any person to whom it is unlawful to make such offer, solicitation or sale.

No dealer, broker, salesperson or other person has been authorized to give information or to make any representation other than those contained in this Official
Statement, and, if given or made, such other information or representations must not be relied upon.

The information set forth herein has been obtained from the District and other sources believed to be reliable, but such information is not guaranteed as to accuracy
or completeness and is not to be construed as the promise or guarantee of the District or the Financial Advisor. This Official Statement contains, in part, estimates
and matters of opinion which are not intended as statements of fact, and no representation is made as to the correctness of such estimates and opinions, or that
they will be realized.

The information and expressions of opinion contained herein are subject to change without notice, and neither the delivery of this Official Statement nor any
sale made hereunder shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the District or other matters
described herein. See "APPENDIX E - THE PERMANENT SCHOOL FUND GUARANTEE PROGRAM - PSF Continuing Disclosure Undertaking” and
"CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION" for a description of the undertakings of the Texas Education Agency and the District, respectively, to provide
certain information on a continuing basis.

THE BONDS ARE EXEMPT FROM REGISTRATION WITH THE UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION AND CONSEQUENTLY
HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED THEREWITH. THE REGISTRATION, QUALIFICATION, OR EXEMPTION OF THE BONDS IN ACCORDANCE WITH
APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAW PROVISIONS OF THE JURISDICTIONS IN WHICH THE BONDS HAVE BEEN REGISTERED, QUALIFIED, OR EXEMPTED
SHOULD NOT BE REGARDED AS A RECOMMENDATION THEREOF.

IN CONNECTION WITH THIS OFFERING, THE INITIAL PURCHASER MAY OVER-ALLOT OR EFFECT TRANSACTIONS WHICH STABILIZE THE
MARKET PRICE OF THE BONDS AT A LEVEL ABOVE THAT WHICH MIGHT OTHERWISE PREVAIL IN THE OPEN MARKET. SUCH STABILIZING, IF
COMMENCED, MAY BE DISCONTINUED AT ANY TIME.

NONE OF THE DISTRICT, ITS FINANCIAL ADVISOR, OR THE PURCHASER MAKES ANY REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY WITH RESPECT TO THE
INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT REGARDING THE DEPOSITORY TRUST COMPANY (‘DTC") OR ITS BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY
SYSTEM, OR THE AFFAIRS OF THE TEXAS EDUCATION AGENCY (‘TEA”) DESCRIBED UNDER “APPENDIX E - THE PERMANENT SCHOOL FUND
GUARANTEE PROGRAM”, AS SUCH INFORMATION WAS PROVIDED BY DTC AND TEA, RESPECTIVELY.

THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT CONTAINS ‘FORWARD-LOOKING” STATEMENTS WITHIN THE MEANING OF SECTION 21E OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS AMENDED. SUCH STATEMENTS MAY INVOLVE KNOWN AND UNKNOWN RISKS, UNCERTAINTIES AND OTHER
FACTORS WHICH MAY CAUSE THE ACTUAL RESULTS, PERFORMANCE AND ACHIEVEMENTS TO BE DIFFERENT FROM THE FUTURE RESULTS,
PERFORMANCE AND ACHIEVEMENTS EXPRESSED OR IMPLIED BY SUCH FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS. INVESTORS ARE CAUTIONED THAT
THE ACTUAL RESULTS COULD DIFFER MATERIALLY FROM THOSE SET FORTH IN THE FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS.

The agreements of the District and others related to the Bonds are contained solely in the contracts described herein. Neither this Official Statement nor any
other statement made in connection with the offer or sale of the Bonds is to be construed as constituting an agreement with the purchasers of the Bonds.
INVESTORS SHOULD READ THIS ENTIRE OFFICIAL STATEMENT INCLUDING ALL APPENDICES ATTACHED HERETO, TO OBTAIN INFORMATION
ESSENTIAL TO MAKING AN INFORMED INVESTMENT DECISION.
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SELECTED DATA FROM THE OFFICIAL STATEMENT

The selected data is subject in all respects to the more complete information and definitions contained or incorporated in this Official
Statement. The offering of the Bonds to potential investors is made only by means of this entire Official Statement. No person is
authorized to detach this page from this Official Statement or to otherwise use it without this entire Official Statement.

The District

The Bonds

Paying Agent/Registrar

Security

Optional Redemption

Permanent School Fund
Guarantee

Rating

Tax Matters

Payment Record

Legal Opinion

Delivery

The Johnson City Independent School District (the “District”) is a political subdivision of the State of
Texas located in Johnson City and Shelby Counties, Texas. The District is governed by a seven-
member Board of Trustees (the “Board”). Policy-making and supervisory functions are the
responsibility of, and are vested in, the Board. The Board delegates administrative responsibilities to
the Superintendent of Schools who is the chief administrative officer of the District. Support services
are supplied by consultants and advisors.

The Bonds are being issued in the principal amount of $52,545,000 pursuant to the Constitution and
general laws of the State of Texas, particularly Sections 45.001 and 45.003(b)(1), Texas Education
Code, as amended, an election held in the District on May 6, 2023, and an order (the “Order”)
authorizing the issuance of the Bonds adopted by the Board on August 14, 2023. Proceeds from the
sale of the Bonds will be used for purposes of (i) designing, constructing, renovating, improving,
upgrading, updating, modernizing, acquiring, and equipping school facilities including security
updates, the purchase of new school buses, installing technology for school facilities, and (ii)
paying the costs of issuing the Bonds. (See “THE BONDS - Authorization and Purpose”).

The initial Paying Agent/Registrar is BOKF, NA, Dallas, Texas. The District intends to use the Book-
Entry-Only System of The Depository Trust Company. (See “BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM”
herein).

The Bonds will constitute direct and voted obligations of the District, payable as to principal and
interest from ad valorem taxes levied annually against all taxable property located within the District,
without legal limitation as to rate or amount. Payments of principal and interest on the Bonds will be
further secured by the corpus of the Permanent School Fund of Texas. (See “THE BONDS —
Security”, “STATE AND LOCAL FUNDING OF SCHOOL DISTRICTS IN TEXAS”, “CURRENT
PUBLIC SCHOOL FINANCE SYSTEM” and “APPENDIX E - THE PERMANENT SCHOOL FUND
GUARANTEE PROGRAM").

The Bonds maturing on or after February 15, 2034 are subject to redemption at the option of the
District in whole or in part on August 15, 2033 or any date thereafter, at a price equal to the principal
amount thereof, plus accrued interest to the date of redemption. (See “THE BONDS - Optional
Redemption”.)

The District has received conditional approval from the Texas Education Agency for the payment of
the Bonds to be guaranteed under the Permanent School Fund Guarantee Program (defined herein),
which guarantee will automatically become effective when the Attorney General of Texas approves
the Bonds. (See “THE BONDS — Permanent School Fund Guarantee” and “APPENDIX E - THE
PERMANENT SCHOOL FUND GUARANTEE PROGRAM.”)

The Bonds are rated “Aaa” by Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. (“Moody’s”) based upon the
guaranteed repayment thereof under the Permanent School Fund Guarantee Program (as defined
herein) of the Texas Education Agency. The District’'s underlying, unenhanced rating, including the
Bonds, is “Aa2” by Moody’s. (See “APPENDIX E - THE PERMANENT SCHOOL FUND
GUARANTEE PROGRAM - Ratings of Bonds Guaranteed Under the Guarantee Program” and
“RATING” herein.)

In the opinion of Bond Counsel for the District, interest on the Bonds will be excludable from gross
income for federal income tax purposes under statutes, regulations, published rulings and court
decisions on the date thereof, subject to the matters described under "TAX MATTERS" herein. (See
“TAX MATTERS” and Appendix C — “Form of Legal Opinion of Bond Counsel.”)

The District has never defaulted on the payment of its bonded indebtedness.

Delivery of the Bonds is subject to the approval by the Attorney General of the State of Texas and
the rendering of an opinion as to legality by McCall, Parkhurst & Horton L.L.P., San Antonio, Texas,
Bond Counsel.

When issued, anticipated to be on or about August 24, 2023.



INTRODUCTORY STATEMENT

This Official Statement (the “Official Statement”), which includes the cover page and the Appendices attached hereto, has been
prepared by the Johnson City Independent School District (the “District”), a political subdivision of the State of Texas (the “State”)
located in Johnson City and Blanco, Travis, Llano and Hays Counties, Texas, in connection with the offering by the District of its
Unlimited Tax School Building Bonds, Series 2023 (the "Bonds") identified on the inside cover page hereof.

All financial and other information presented in this Official Statement has been provided by the District from its records, except for
information expressly attributed to other sources. The presentation of information, including tables of receipts from taxes and other
sources, is intended to show recent historic information, and is not intended to indicate future or continuing trends in the financial
position or other affairs of the District. No representation is made that past experience, as is shown by that financial and other
information, will necessarily continue or be repeated in the future.

There follows in this Official Statement descriptions of the Bonds and the Order (as defined below) and certain other information
about the District and its finances. All descriptions of documents contained herein are only summaries and are qualified in their
entirety by reference to each such document. Copies of such documents may be obtained by writing the Johnson City Independent
School District, 304 North LBJ Drive, Johnson City, TX 78636 and, during the offering period, from the Financial Advisor, SAMCO
Capital Markets, Inc., 5800 Granite Parkway, Suite 210, Plano, Texas 75024, by electronic mail or upon payment of reasonable
copying, mailing, and handling charges.

This Official Statement speaks only as of its date, and the information contained herein is subject to change. A copy of this Official
Statement relating to the Bonds will be submitted by the purchaser of the Bonds (the “Purchaser” or “Initial Purchaser”) to the
Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board, and will be available through its Electronic Municipal Market Access (EMMA) system. See
“CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION” for a description of the District's undertaking to provide certain information on a
continuing basis.

THE BONDS
Authorization and Purpose

The Bonds are being issued in the principal amount of $52,545,000 pursuant to the Constitution and general laws of the State,
particularly Sections 45.001 and 45.003(b)(1), Texas Education Code, as amended, an election held in the District on May 6, 2023
the “Election”) and an order (the “Order”) authorizing the issuance of the Bonds adopted by the Board of Trustees (the “Board”) on

ugust 14, 2023. Proceeds from the sale of the Bonds will be used for purposes of (i) designing, constructing, renovatin?, improving,
upgrading, updating, modernizing, acquiring, and equipping school facilities including security updates, the purchase of new school
buses, installing technology for school facilities, and (ii) paying the costs of issuing the Bonds.

General Description

The Bonds are dated August 15, 2023 (the “Dated Date”) and will bear interest from the Dated Date. The Bonds will mature on the
dates and in the principal amounts set forth on the inside cover page of this Official Statement. Interest on the Bonds will be
computed on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months, and is payable initially on August 28, 2023 and semiannually on
each February 15 and August 15 thereafter until stated maturity or prior redemption.

The Bonds will be issued only as fully registered bonds. The Bonds will be issued in the denominations of $5,000 of principal amount
or any integral multiple thereof within a maturity.

Interest on the Bonds is payable by check mailed on or before each interest payment date by the Paying Agent/Registrar, initially,
BOKF, NA, Dallas, Texas, to the registered owner at the last known address as it appears on the Paying Agent/Registrar's
registration books at the close of business on the Record Date (as defined herein) or by such other customary banking arrangement
acceptable to the Paying Agent/Registrar and the registered owner to whom interest is to be paid, provided, however, that such
person shall bear all risk and expense of such other arrangements. Principal of the Bonds will be payable only upon presentation of
such Bonds at the corporate trust office of the Paying Agent/Registrar at stated maturity or prior redemption. So long as the Bonds
are registered in the name of CEDE & CO. or other nominee for The Depository Trust Company New York, New York (“DTC”),
payments of principal of and interest on the Bonds will be made as described in “BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM” herein.

If the date for the payment of the principal of or interest on the Bonds is a Saturday, Sunday, legal holiday or a day on which banking
institutions in the city where the Paying Agent/Registrar is located are authorized by law or executive order to close, then the date for
such payment shall be the next succeeding day which is not a Saturday, Sunday, legal holiday or a day on which banking institutions
are authorized to close; and payment on such date shall have the same force and effect as if made on the original date payment was
due.

Optional Redemption

The Bonds maturing on or after, February 15, 2034 are subject to redemption, at the option of the District, in whole or in part, in
principal amounts of $5,000 or integral multiples thereof, on August 15, 2033 or any date thereafter, at a price equal to the principal
amount thereof, plus accrued interest to the date of redemption. If less than all of the Bonds are to be redeemed, the District shall
determine the amounts and maturities thereof to be redeemed and shall direct the Paying Agent/Registrar to select by lot the Bonds,
or portions thereof, to be redeemed. Not less than 30 days prior to a redemption date for the Bonds, the District shall cause a notice
of redemption to be sent by United States mail, first class, postage prepaid, to each registered owner of a Bond to be redeemed, in
whole or in part, at the address of the registered owner appearing on the registration books of the Paying Agent/Registrar at the close
of business on the business day next preceding the date of mailing such notice.

Notice of Redemption and DTC Notices

The Paying Agent/Registrar and the District, so long as a Book-Entry-Only System is used for the Bonds, will send any notice of
redemption, notice of proposed amendment to the Order or other notices with respect to the Bonds only to DTC. Any failure by DTC
to advise any DTC participant, or of any DTC participant or indirect participant to notify the beneficial owner, shall not affect the
validity of the redemption of the Bonds called for redemption or any other action premised on any such notice. Redemption of
portions of the Bonds by the District will reduce the outstanding principal amount of such Bonds held by DTC. In such event, DTC
may implement, through its Book-Entry-Only System, a redemption of such Bonds held for the account of DTC participants in
accordance with its rules or other agreements with DTC participants and then DTC participants and indirect participants may
implement a redemption of such Bonds from the beneficial owners. Any such selection of Bonds to be redeemed will not be
governed by the Order and will not be conducted by the District or the Paying Agent/Registrar. Neither the District nor the Paying
Agent/Registrar will have any responsibility to DTC participants, indirect participants or the persons for whom DTC participants act as
2



nominees, with respect to the payments on the Bonds or the providing of notice to DTC participants, indirect participants, or beneficial
owners of the selection of portions of the Bonds for redemption. See "BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM" herein.

Security

The Bonds are direct and voted obligations of the District and are payable as to both principal and interest from an ad valorem tax
annually levied, without legal limit as to rate or amount, on all taxable property within the District. The District has received conditional
approval from the Texas Education Agency for the payment of the Bonds to be guaranteed under the State of Texas Permanent
School Fund Guarantee Program (hereinafter defined), which guarantee will automatically become effective when the Attorney
General of Texas approves the Bonds. (See "STATE AND LOCAL FUNDING OF SCHOOL DISTRICTS IN TEXAS”, “CURRENT
PUBLIC SCHOOL FINANCE SYSTEM” and “APPENDIX E - THE PERMANENT SCHOOL FUND GUARANTEE PROGRAM").

Permanent School Fund Guarantee

In connection with the sale of the Bonds, the District has received conditional approval from the Commissioner of Education of the
State for the guarantee of the Bonds under the Permanent School Fund Guarantee Program (Chapter 45, Subchapter C, of the
Texas Education Code, as amended). Subject to meeting certain conditions discussed under the heading “APPENDIX E - THE
PERMANENT SCHOOL FUND GUARANTEE PROGRAM” herein, the Bonds will be absolutely and unconditionally guaranteed by
the corpus of the Permanent School Fund of the State of Texas. In the event of a payment default by the District, registered owners
will receive all payments due from the corpus of the Permanent School Fund.

In the event the District defeases any of the Bonds, the payment of such defeased Bonds will cease to be guaranteed by the
Permanent School Fund Guarantee. See “APPENDIX E - THE PERMANENT SCHOOL FUND GUARANTEE PROGRAM” and
“REGISTERED OWNERS’ REMEDIES” herein.

Legality

The Bonds are offered when, as and if issued, subject to the approval of legality by the Attorney General of the State and the
approval of certain legal matters by McCall, Parkhurst & Horton L.L.P., San Antonio, Texas, Bond Counsel. (See “LEGAL
MATTERS” and “Appendix C - Form of Legal Opinion of Bond Counsel”).

Payment Record
The District has never defaulted on the payment of its bonded indebtedness.
Amendments

In the Order, the District has reserved the right to amend the Order without the consent of any holder for the purpose of amending
or supplementing the Order to (i) cure any ambiguity, defect or omission therein that does not materially adversely affect the
interests of the holders, (ii) grant additional rights or security for the benefit of the holders, (iii) add events of default as shall not be
inconsistent with the provisions of the Order that do not materially adversely affect the interests of the holders, (iv) qualify the Order
under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended, or corresponding provisions of federal laws from time to time in effect or (v)
make such other provisions in regard to matters or questions arising under the Order that are not inconsistent with the provisions
thereof and which, in the opinion of Bond Counsel for the District, do not materially adversely affect the interests of the holders.

The Order further provides that the majority of owners of the Bonds shall have the right from time to time to approve any
amendment not described above to the Order if it is deemed necessary or desirable by the District; provided, however, that without
the consent of 100% of the holders in principal amount of the then outstanding Bonds so affected, no amendment may be made for
the purpose of: (i) making any change in the maturity of any of the outstanding Bonds; (ii) reducing the rate of interest borne by any
of the outstanding Bonds; (iii) reducing the amount of the principal of or redemption premium, if any, payable on any outstanding
Bonds; (iv) modifying the terms of payment of principal or interest on outstanding Bonds or imposing any condition with respect to
such payment; or (v) changing the minimum percentage of the principal amount of the Bonds necessary for consent to such
amendment. Reference is made to the Order for further provisions relating to the amendment thereof.

Defeasance

The Order provides for the defeasance of the Bonds when payment of the principal amount of the Bonds plus interest accrued on
the Bonds to their due date (whether such due date be by reason of stated maturity, redemption or otherwise), is provided by
irrevocably depositing with a paying agent, or other authorized escrow agent, in trust (1) money in an amount sufficient to make
such payment and/or (2) Defeasance Securities, that will mature as to principal and interest in such amounts and at such times to
insure the availability, without reinvestment, of sufficient money to make such payment, and all necessary and proper fees,
compensation and expenses of the paying agent for the Bonds, and thereafter the District will have no further responsibility with
respect to amounts available to such paying agent (or other financial institution permitted by applicable law) for the payment of such
defeased Bonds, including any insufficiency therein caused by the failure of such paying agent (or other financial institution
permitted by applicable law) to receive payment when due on the Defeasance Securities. The District has additionally reserved the
right, subject to satisfying the requirements of (1) and ?2) above, to substitute other Defeasance Securities originally deposited, to
reinvest the uninvested moneys on deposit for such defeasance and to withdraw for the benefit of the District moneys in excess of
the amount required for such defeasance. The Order provides that “Defeasance Securities” means any securities and obligations
now or hereafter authorized by State law that are eligible to discharge obligations such as the Bonds. Current State law permits
defeasance with the following types of securities: (a) direct, noncallable obligations of the United States of America, including
obligations that are unconditionally guaranteed by the United States of America, (b) noncallable obligations of an agency or
instrumentality of the United States of America, including obligations that are unconditionall fguaranteed or insured by the agency
or instrumentality and that, on the date the governing body of the District authorizes the defeasance, are rated as to investment
quality by a nationally recognized investment rating firm not less than AAA or its equivalent, (c) noncallable obligations of a state or
an agency or a county, municipality, or other political subdivision of a state that on the date the governing body of the District adopts
or approves the proceedings authorizing the financial arrangements have been refunded and are rated as to investment quality by a
nationally recognized investment rating firm not less than AAA or its equivalent, and (d) any additional securities and obligations
hereafter authorized by Texas law as eligible for use to accomplish the discharge of obligations such as the Bonds. There is no
assurance that the current law will not be changed in a manner which would permit investments other than those described above
to be made with amounts deposited to defease the Bonds. Because the Order does not contractually limit such investments,
registered owners will be deemed to have consented to defeasance with such other investments, notwithstanding the fact that such
investments may not be of the same investment quality as those currently permitted under State law. There is no assurance that
the ratings for U.S. Treasury securities used for defeasance purposes or that for any other Defeasance Security will be maintained
at any particular rating category.

Upon such deposit as described above, such Bonds shall no longer be regarded to be outstanding or unpaid. After firm banking and
financial arrangements for the discharge and final payment of the Bonds have been made as described above, all rights of the



District to initiate proceedings to call the Bonds for redemption or take any other action amending the terms of the Bonds are
extinguished, provided, however, the District has reserved the option, to be exercised at the time of the defeasance of the Bonds, to
call for redemption at an earlier date those Bonds which have been defeased to their maturity date, if the District (i) in the
proceedings providing for the firm banking and financial arrangements, expressly reserves the right to call the Bonds for
redemption, (ii) gives notice of the reservation of that right to the owners of the Bonds immediately following the making of the firm
ba{whkin_g and financial arrangements, and (iii) directs that notice of the reservation be included in any redemption notices that it
authorizes.

Defeasance will automatically cancel the Permanent School Fund Guarantee with respect to those defeased Bonds.
Sources and Uses of Funds

The proceeds from the sale of the Bonds will be applied approximately as follows:

Sources
Par Amount of Bonds $ 52,545,000.00
Accrued Interest 62,099.22
Net Reoffering Premium 3,488,489.25
Total Sources of Funds $ 56,095,588.47

Uses

Deposit to Construction Fund $ 52,785,000.00
Costs of Issuance 247,360.70
Purchaser’s Discount 579,259.02
Deposit to Interest and Sinking Fund 2,483,968.75
Total Uses of Funds $ 56,095,588.47

REGISTERED OWNERS' REMEDIES

The Order establishes specific events of default with respect to the Bonds and provides that if the District defaults in the payment of
principal or interest on the Bonds when due, or defaults in the observation or performance of any other covenants, conditions, or
obligations set forth in the Order, and the continuation thereof for a period of 60 days after notice of default is given by the District
by any registered owner, the registered owners may seek a writ of mandamus to compel District officials to carry out their legally
imposed duties with respect to the Bonds, if there is no other available remedy at law to compel performance of the Bonds or the
Order covenants and the District’s obligations are not uncertain or disputed. The issuance of a writ of mandamus is controlled by
equitable principles and rests with the discretion of the court, but may not be arbitrarily refused. There is no acceleration of maturity
of the Bonds in the event of default and, consequently, the remedy of mandamus may have to be relied upon from year to year.
The Order does not provide for the appointment of a trustee to represent the interest of the bondholders upon any failure of the
District to perform in accordance with the terms of the Order, or upon any other condition and accordingly all legal actions to
enforce such remedies would have to be undertaken at the initiative of, and be financed by, the registered owners. The Texas
Supreme Court ruled in Tooke v. City of Mexia, 197 S.W.3d 325 (Tex. 2006), that a waiver of sovereign immunity in a contractual
dispute must be provided for by statute in “clear and unambiguous” language. Because it is unclear whether the Texas legislature
has effectively waived the District’'s sovereign immunig from a suit for money damages, bondholders may not be able to bring such
a suit against the District for breach of the Bonds or Order covenants. Even if a judgment against the District could be obtained, it
could not be enforced by direct levy and execution against the District's property. Further, the registered owners cannot themselves
foreclose on property within the District or sell property within the District to enforce the tax lien on taxable property to pay the
principal of and interest on the Bonds. Furthermore, the District is eligible to seek relief from its creditors under Chapter 9 of the
U.sS. Bankru?tcy Code (“Chapter 9”). Although Chapter 9 provides for the recognition of a security interest represented by a
specifically pledged source of revenues, the pledge of ad valorem taxes in support of a general obligation of a bankrupt entity is not
specifically recognized as a security interest under Chapter 9. Chapter 9 also includes an automatic stay provision that would
prohibit, without Bankruptcy Court approval, the prosecution of any other legal action by creditors or bondholders of an entity which
has sought protection under Chapter 9. Therefore, should the District avail itself of Chapter 9 protection from creditors, the ability to
enforce would be subject to the approval of the Bankruptcy Court (which could require that the action be heard in Bankruptcy Court
instead of other federal or state court); and the Bankruptcy Code provides for broad discretionary powers of a Bankruptcy Court in
administering any proceeding brought before it. See “APPENDIX E - THE PERMANENT SCHOOL FUND GUARANTEE
PROGRAM” herein for a description of the procedures to be followed for payment of the Bonds by the Permanent School Fund in
the event the District fails to make a payment on the Bonds when due. The opinion of Bond Counsel will note that all opinions
relative to the enforceability of the Order and the Bonds are qualified with respect to the customary rights of debtors relative to their
creditors, by general principles of equity which permit the exercise of judicial discretion.

BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM

This section describes how ownership of the Bonds is to be transferred and how the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on
the Bonds are to be paid to and credited by DTC while the Bonds are registered in its nominee name. The information in this
section concerning DTC and the Book-Entry-Only System has been provided by DTC for use in disclosure documents such as
this Official Statement. The District, the Financial Advisor and the Purchaser believe the source of such information to be
reliable, but take no responsibility for the accuracy or completeness thereof.

The District cannot and does not give any assurance that (1) DTC will distribute payments of debt service on the Bonds, or
redemption or other notices, to DTC Participants, (2) DTC Participants or others will distribute debt service payments paid to
DTC or its nominee (as the registered owner of the Bonds) or redemption or other notices, to the Beneficial Owners, or that they
will do so on a timely basis, or (3) DTC will serve and act in the manner described in this Official Statement. The current rules
applicable to DTC are on file with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission, and the current procedures of DTC
to be followed in dealing with DTC Participants are on file with DTC.

DTC will act as securities depository for the Bonds. The Bonds will be issued as fully-registered securities registered in the name
of Cede & Co. (DTC'’s partnership nominee) or such other name as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC.
One fully-registered Bond certificate will be issued for each maturity of the Bonds, each in the aggregate principal amount of such
maturity, and will be deposited with DTC.

DTC, the world’s largest securities depository, is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New York Banking Law, a
“banking organization” within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a member of the Federal Reserve System, a “clearing
corporation” within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code, and a “clearing agency” registered pursuant to the
provisions of Section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. DTC holds and provides asset servicing for over 3.5 million
issues of U.S. and non-U.S. equity issues, corporate and municipal debt issues, and money market instruments (from over 100



countries) that DTC’s participants (“Direct Participants”) deposit with DTC. DTC also facilitates the post-trade settlement among
Direct Participants of sales and other securities transactions in deposited Securities, through electronic computerized book-entry
transfers and pledges between Direct Participants’ accounts. This eliminates the need for physical movement of securities
certificates. Direct Participants include both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing
corporations, and certain other organizations. DTC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of The Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation
(“DTCC”). DTCC is the holding company for DTC, National Securities Clearing Corporation and Fixed Income Clearing
Corporation, all of which are registered clearing agencies. DTCC is owned by the users of its regulated subsidiaries. Access to
the DTC system is also available to others such as both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust
companies, and clearing corporations that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a Direct Participant, either
directly or indirectly ("Indirect Participants"). DTC has a S&P Global Ratings rating of AA+. The DTC Rules applicable to its
Participants are on file with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission. More information about DTC can be found
at www.dtcc.com.

Purchases of Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants, which will receive a credit for the
Bonds on DTC’s records. The ownership interest of each actual purchaser of each Bond (“Beneficial Owner”) is in turn to be
recorded on the Direct and Indirect Participants’ records. Beneficial Owners will not receive written confirmation from DTC of their
purchase. Beneficial Owners are, however, expected to receive written confirmations providing details of the transaction, as well
as periodic statements of their holdings, from the Direct or Indirect Participant through which the Beneficial Owner entered into
the transaction. Transfers of ownership interests in the Bonds are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of Direct and
Indirect Participants acting on behalf of Beneficial Owners. Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates representing their
ownership interests in Bonds, except in the event that use of the Book-Entry-Only System for the Bonds is discontinued.

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Bonds deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are registered in the name of DTC’s
partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. The deposit
of Bonds with DTC and their registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such other DTC nominee do not effect any change in
beneficial ownership. DTC has no knowledge of the actual Beneficial Owners of the Bonds; DTC’s records reflect only the identity
of the Direct Participants to whose accounts such Bonds are credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial Owners. The
Direct and Indirect Participants will remain responsible for keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their customers.

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct Participants to Indirect Participants,
and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by arrangements among them, subject
to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time. Beneficial Owners of Bonds may wish to take
certain steps to augment the transmission to them of notices of significant events with respect to the Bonds, such as,
redemptions, tenders, defaults, and proposed amendments to the Bond documents. For example, Beneficial Owners of Bonds
may wish to ascertain that the nominee holding the Bonds for their benefit has agreed to obtain and transmit notices to Beneficial
Owners. In the alternative, Beneficial Owners may wish to provide their names and addresses to the registrar and request that
copies of notices be provided directly to them.

Redemption notices shall be sent to DTC. If less than all of the Bonds within a maturity are being redeemed, DTC’s practice is to
determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct Participant in such maturity to be redeemed.

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to Bonds unless authorized by a
Direct Participant in accordance with DTC’s procedures. Under its usual procedures, DTC mails an Omnibus Proxy to The District
as soon as possible after the record date. The Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.’s consenting or voting rights to those Direct
Participants to whose accounts Bonds are credited on the record date (identified in a listing attached to the Omnibus Proxy).

All payments on the Bonds will be made to Cede & Co., or such other nominee as may be re?uested by an authorized
representative of DTC. DTC’s practice is to credit Direct Participants’ accounts upon DTC'’s receipt of funds and corresponding
detail information from the District or the Paying Agent/Registrar, on payable date in accordance with their respective holdings
shown on DTC’s records. Payments by Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by standing instructions and
customary practices, as is the case with securities held for the accounts of customers in bearer form or registered in “street
name,” and will be the responsibility of such Participant and not of DTC, the Paying Agent/Registrar, or the District, subject to any
statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time. All payments with respect to the Bonds to Cede & Co.
(or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC) are the responsibility of the District or the
Paying Agent/Registrar, disbursement of such payments to Direct Participants will be the responsibility of DTC, and disbursement
of such payments to the Beneficial Owners will be the responsibility of Direct and Indirect Participants.

DTC may discontinue providing its services as depository with respect to the Bonds at any time by giving reasonable notice to the
District or the Paying Agent/Registrar. Under such circumstances, in the event that a successor depository is not obtained,
physical Bond certificates are required to be printed and delivered to bond holders.

The District may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry-only transfers through DTC (or a successor securities
depository). In that event, physical Bond certificates will be printed and delivered to bond holders.

The information in this section concerning DTC and DTC’s Book-Entry-Only System has been obtained from sources that the
District be:'i]evesftO be reliable, but none of the District, the Financial Advisor, nor the Purchaser take any responsibility for the
accuracy thereof.

Use of Certain Terms in Other Sections of this Official Statement

In reading this Official Statement it should be understood that while the Bonds are in the Book-Entry-Only System, references in
other sections of this Official Statement to registered owners should be read to include the person for which the Direct or Indirect
Participant acquires an interest in the Bonds, but (i) all rights of ownership must be exercised through DTC and the Book-Entry-
Onlly S)bs_treén, and (ii) except as described above, notices that are to be given to registered owners under the Order will be given
only to .

REGISTRATION, TRANSFER AND EXCHANGE
Paying Agent/Registrar

The initial Paying Agent/Registrar for the Bonds is BOKF, NA, Dallas, Texas. In the Order, the District covenants to maintain
and provide a Paying Agent/Registrar until the Bonds are duly paid.

Successor Paying Agent/Registrar

Provision is made in the Order for replacing the Paying Agent/Registrar. If the District replaces the Paying Agent/Registrar, such
Paying Agent/Registrar shall, promptly upon the appointment of a successor, deliver the Paying Agent/Registrar's records to the
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successor Paying Agent/Registrar, and the successor Paying Agent/Registrar shall act in the same capacity as the previous Paying
Agent/Registrar.  Any successor Paying Agent/Registrar selected by the District shall be a commercial bank or trust company
organized under the laws of the United States or any state or other entity duly qualified and legally authorized to serve and perform
the duties of the Paying Agent/Registrar for the Bonds. Upon any change in the Paying Agent/Registrar for the Bonds, the District
has agreed to promptly cause a written notice thereof to be sent to each registered owner of the Bonds by United States mail,
first-class, postage prepaid, which notice shall also give the address of the new Paying Agent/Registrar.

Initial Registration

Definitive Bonds will be initially registered and delivered only to CEDE & CO., the nominee of DTC pursuant to the Book-Entry-
Only System described herein.

Future Registration

In the event the Book-Entry-Only System is discontinued, the Bonds may be transferred, registered and assigned on the
registration books only upon presentation and surrender of the Bonds to the Paying Agent/Registrar, and such registration and
transfer shall be without expense or service charge to the registered owner, except for any tax or other governmental charges
required to be paid with respect to such registration and transfer. A Bond may be assigned by the execution of an assignment form
on the Bonds or by other instrument of transfer and assignment acceptable to the Paying Agent/Registrar. A new Bond or Bonds
will be delivered by the Paying Agent/Registrar in lieu of the Bond or Bonds being transferred or exchanged at the corporate trust
office of the Paying Agent/Registrar, or sent by United States registered mail to the new registered owner at the registered owner's
request, risk and expense. To the extent possible, new Bonds issued in an exchange or transfer of Bonds will be delivered to the
registered owner or assignee of the registered owner in not more than three (3) business days after the receipt of the Bonds to be
canceled in the exchange or transfer and the written instrument of transfer or request for exchange duly executed by the registered
owner or his duly authorized agent, in form satisfactory to the Paying Agent/Registrar. New Bonds registered and delivered in an
exchange or transfer shall be in authorized denominations and for a like aggregate principal amount as the Bonds surrendered for
exchange or transfer.

Record Date For Interest Payment

The record date (“Record Date”) for determining the person to whom the interest on the Bonds is payable on any interest payment
date means the close of business on the last business day of the next preceding month; provided, however, that the Record Date
for the initial interest payment date shall mean the closing date. In the event of a non-payment of interest on a scheduled payment
date, and for 30 days thereafter, a new record date for such interest payment (a "Special Record Date") will be established by the
Paying Agent/Registrar, if and when funds for the payment of such interest have been received from the District. Notice of the
Special Record Date and of the scheduled payment date of the past due interest (the "Special Payment Date" which shall be 15
days after the Special Record Date) shall be sent at least five business days prior to the Special Record Date by United States mail,
first class, postage prepaid, to the address of each registered owner of a Bond appearing on the books of the Paying
Agent/Registrar at the close of business on the last business day next preceding the date of mailing of such notice.

Limitation on Transfer of Bonds

The Paying Agent/Registrar shall not be required to make any such transfer, conversion or exchange (i) during the period
commencing with the close of business on any Record Date and ending with the opening of business on the next following principal
or interest payment date or (ii) with respect to any Bond or any portion thereof called for redemption prior to maturity, within 45 days
prior to its redemption date; provided, however, that such limitation shall not apply to uncalled portions of a Bond redeemed in part.

Replacement Bonds

If any Bond is mutilated, destroyed, stolen or lost, a new Bond in the same principal amount as the Bond so mutilated, destroyed,
stolen or lost will be issued. In the case of a mutilated Bond, such new Bond will be delivered only upon surrender and cancellation
of such mutilated Bond. In the case of any Bond issued in lieu of and substitution for a Bond which has been destroyed, stolen or
lost, such new Bond will be delivered only (a) upon filing with the District and the Paying Agent/Registrar a certificate to the effect
that such Bond has been destroyed, stolen or lost and proof of the ownership thereof, and (b) upon furnishing the District and the
Paying Agent/Registrar with indemnity satisfactory to them. The person requesting the authentication and delivery of a new Bond
must pay such expenses as the Paying Agent/Registrar may incur in connection therewith.

THE PERMANENT SCHOOL FUND GUARANTEE PROGRAM

Subject to satisfying certain conditions, the payment of the Bonds will be guaranteed by the corpus of the Permanent School Fund
of the State of Texas. In the event of default, registered owners will receive all payments due on the Bonds from the Permanent
School Fund, and the Charter District Bond Guarantee Reserve would be the first source to pay debt service if a charter school was
unable to make such payment. See “Appendix E — THE PERMANENT SCHOOL FUND GUARANTEE PROGRAM” for pertinent
information regarding the Permanent School Fund Guarantee Program. The disclosure regarding the Permanent School Fund
Guarantee Program in Appendix E is incorporated herein and made a part hereof for all purposes.

STATE AND LOCAL FUNDING OF SCHOOL DISTRICTS IN TEXAS

Litigation Relating to the Texas Public School Finance System

On seven occasions in the last thirty years, the Texas Supreme Court (the “Court’) has issued decisions assessing the
constitutionality of the Texas public school finance system (the “Finance System”). The litigation has primarily focused on
whether the Finance System, as amended by the Texas Legislature (the “Legislature”) from time to time (i) met the requirements
of article VII, section 1 of the Texas Constitution, which requires the Legislature to “establish and make suitable provision for the
support and maintenance of an efficient system of public free schools,” or (ii) imposed a statewide ad valorem tax in violation of
article VIlI, section 1-e of the Texas Constitution because the statutory limit on property taxes levied by school districts for
maintenance and operation purposes had allegedly denied school districts meaningful discretion in setting their tax rates. In
response to the Court’s previous decisions, the Legislature enacted multiple laws that made substantive changes in the way the
Finance System is funded in efforts to address the prior decisions declaring the Finance System unconstitutional.

On May 13, 2016, the Court issued its opinion in the most recent school finance litigation, Morath v. The Texas Taxpayer &
Student Fairness Coal., 490 S.W.3d 826 (Tex. 2016) (“Morath”). The plaintiffs and intervenors in the case had alleged that the
Finance System, as modified by the Legislature in part in response to prior decisions of the Court, violated article VII, section 1
and article VIII, section 1-e of the Texas Constitution. In its opinion, the Court held that “[d]espite the imperfections of the
current school funding regime, it meets minimum constitutional requirements.” The Court also noted that:



Lawmakers decide if laws pass, and judges decide if those laws pass muster. But our lenient standard of
review in this policy-laden area counsels modesty. The judicial role is not to second-guess whether our system
is optimal, but whether it is constitutional. Our Byzantine school funding "system" is undeniably imperfect, with
immense room for improvement. But it satisfies minimum constitutional requirements.

Possible Effects of Changes in Law on District Bonds

The Court’s decision in Morath upheld the constitutionality of the Finance System but noted that the Finance System was
“undeniably imperfect”. While not compelled by the Morath decision to reform the Finance System, the Legislature could enact
future changes to the Finance System. Any such changes could benefit or be a detriment to the District. If the Legislature
enacts future changes to, or fails adequately to fund the Finance System, or if changes in circumstances otherwise provide
grounds for a challenge, the Finance System could be challenged again in the future. In its 1995 opinion in Edgewood
Independent School District v. Meno, 917 S.W.2d 717 (Tex. 1995), the Court stated that any future determination of
unconstitutionality “would not, however, affect the district's authority to levy the taxes necessary to retire previously issued
bonds, but would instead require the Legislature to cure the system’s unconstitutionality in a way that is consistent with the
Contract Clauses of the U.S. and Texas Constitutions” (collectively, the “Contract Clauses”), which prohibit the enactment of
laws that impair prior obligations of contracts.

Although, as a matter of law, the Bonds, upon issuance and delivery, will be entitled to the protections afforded previously
existing contractual obligations under the Contract Clauses, the District can make no representations or predictions concerning
the effect of future legislation, or any litigation that may be associated with such legislation, on the District’s financial condition,
revenues or operations. While the enactment of future legislation to address school funding in Texas could adversely affect the
financial condition, revenues or operations of the District, the District does not anticipate that the security for payment of the
Bonds, specifically, the District’s obligation to levy an unlimited debt service tax and any Permanent School Fund guarantee of
the Bonds would be adversely affected by any such legislation. See “CURRENT PUBLIC SCHOOL FINANCE SYSTEM”.

CURRENT PUBLIC SCHOOL FINANCE SYSTEM
Overview

The following language constitutes only a summary of the public school finance system as it is currently structured. For a more
complete description of school finance and fiscal management in the State, reference is made to Chapters 43 through 49 of the
Texas Education Code, as amended.

Local funding is derived from collections of ad valorem taxes levied on property located within each school district's boundaries.
School districts are authorized to levy two types of property taxes: a maintenance and operations (“M&Q”) tax to pay current
expenses and an interest and sinking fund (“I&S”) tax to pay debt service on bonds. School districts may not increase their M&O tax
rate for the purpose of creating a surplus to pay debt service on bonds. Prior to 2006, school districts were authorized to levy their
M&O tax at a voter-approved rate, generally up to $1.50 per $100 of taxable value. Since 2006, the State Legislature has enacted
various legislation that has compressed the voter-approved M&O tax rate, as described below. Current law also requires school
districts to demonstrate their ability to pay debt service on outstanding bonded indebtedness through the levy of an 1&S tax at a rate
not to exceed $0.50 per $100 of taxable value at the time bonds are issued. Once bonds are issued, however, school districts
generally may levy an I&S tax sufficient to pay debt service on such bonds unlimited as to rate or amount (see “TAX RATE
LIMITATIONS - 1&S Tax Rate Limitations” herein). Because property values vary widely among school districts, the amount of
local funding generated by school districts with the same 1&S tax rate and M&O tax rate is also subject to wide variation; however,
the public school finance funding formulas are designed to generally equalize local funding generated by a school district's M&O tax
rate.

Prior to the 2019 Legislative Session, a school district's maximum M&O tax rate for a given tax year was determined by multiplying
that school district's 2005 M&O tax rate levy by an amount equal a compression percentage set by legislative appropriation or, in
the absence of legislative appropriation, by the Commissioner of Education (the “Commissioner”). This compression percentage
was historically set at 66.67%, effectively setting the maximum compressed M&O tax rate for most school districts at $1.00 per
$100 of taxable value, since most school districts in the State had a voted maximum M&O tax rate of $1.50 per $100 of taxable
value (though certain school districts located in Harris County had special M&O tax rate authorizations allowing a higher M&O tax
rate). School districts were permitted, however, to generate additional local funds by raising their M&O tax rate up to $0.04 above
the compressed tax rate or, with voter-approval at a valid election in the school district, up to $0.17 above the compressed tax rate
(for most school districts, this equated to an M&O tax rate between $1.04 and $1.17 per $100 of taxable value). School districts
received additional State funds in proportion to such taxing effort.

2021 Regular and Special Legislative Sessions

The Texas Legislature meets in regular session in odd-numbered years, for 140 days. The 87th Texas Legislature convened on
January 12, 2021 and concluded on May 31, 2021 (“87th Regular Session”). During the 87th Regular Session, the Legislature did
not make significant changes to the school finance system, State funding of school districts, nor ad valorem taxation procedures
affecting school districts.

When the regular Legislature is not in session, the Governor of Texas may call one or more special sessions, at the Governor’s
direction, each lasting no more than 30 days, and for which the Governor sets the agenda. Following the conclusion of the 87th
Regular Session, the Texas Governor has called three special sessions of the Legislature. No significant changes were made to
the Texas school finance system or property tax systems during the First and Second Special Sessions. Senate Joint Resolution
2, passed during the Third Special Session, proposed a constitutional amendment increasing the mandatory homestead
exemption for school districts from $25,000 to $40,000, which was aopfroved by voters at an election held May 7, 2022. The
amendment to the Constitution is effective beginning January 1, 2022. As a result of the increased exemption, additional
changes to the education finance system were implemented, including “hold harmless” allotments, to provide funding to school
districts who have less revenue (including revenues specifically for debt service and maintenance and operations) due to the
implementation of the increased homestead exemption. At this time, the District cannot ascertain the financial impact, if any, the
change in homestead exemption will have on the District’s finances in the future.

2023 Regular and Any Special Legislative Sessions

On January 10, 2023, the 88th Texas Legislature convened in general session that adjourned on May 29, 2023. Immediately after
the conclusion of the regular session, the Texas Governor called a first special session to address property tax relief from school
district taxation and border security; the first special session began on May 29, 2023 and ended on June 27, 2023. At the
jorc[]ue,si%ré é):g the first special session, the Governor called a second special session that began on June 27, 2023 and adjourned on
uly 13, .
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The charge for the second special session included the following: (i) “Legislation to cut property-tax rates solely by reducing the
school district maximum compressed tax rate in order to provide lasting property-tax relief for Texas taxpayers;” (ii) “Legislation to
put Texas on a pathway to eliminate school district maintenance and operations property taxes;” (i) “Legislation relating to
providing property tax relief through the public school finance system, exemptions, limitations on appraisals and taxes and property
tax administration;” and (iv) “Legislation relating to the amount of the total revenue exemption from the franchise tax and the
exclusion of certain taxable entities from the requirement to file a franchise tax report.”

During the second special session, the Legislature passed Senate Bill 2 (“SB 2”), which includes provisions that reduce the
maximum M&O tax compression rate by $0.107, increase the school district mandatory homestead exemption from $40,000 to
$100,000, and places further limitations on increases in appraised values on certain classes of properties. The provision increasing
the residential homestead exemption to $100,000 will be submitted to voters of the State on November 7, 2023. SB 2 also makes
provision for State aid funding to pay for the loss in school district 1&S tax revenue (i.e. “hold harmless”) for debt that (i) is issued
prior to September 1, 2023, or (ii) is approved by voters but not yet issued as of September 1, 2023.

SB 2 was signed into law by the Governor on July 22, 2023.

The District can make no representations or predictions regarding any actions the Legislature has taken or may take concerning the
substance or the effect of any legislation passed in a previous session or a future session of the Legislature.

Local Funding for School Districts

A school district's M&O tax rate is composed of two distinct parts: the “Tier One Tax Rate”, which is the local M&O tax rate required
for a school district to receive any part of the basic level of State funding (referred to herein as “Tier One;? under the Foundation
School Program, as further described below, and the “Enrichment Tax Rate”, which is any local M&O tax effort in excess of its Tier
One Tax Rate. Formulas for the State Compression Percentage and Maximum Compressed Tax Rate (each as described below)
are designed to compress M&O tax rates in response to year-over-year increases in property values across the State and within a
school district, respectively. The discussion in this subcaption “Local Funding For School Districts” is generally intended to describe
funding provisions applicable to all school districts; however, there are distinctions in the funding formulas for school districts that
generate local M&O tax revenues in excess of the school districts’ funding entitlements, as further discussed under the subcaption
“CURRENT PUBLIC SCHOOL FINANCE SYSTEM — Local Revenue Level In Excess of Entitlement” herein.

State Compression Percentage

The State Compression Percentage is a statutorily-defined percentage of the rate of $1.00 per $100 that is used to determine a
school district's Maximum Compressed Tax Rate (described below). The State Compression Percentage is the lesser of three
alternative calculations: (1) 93% or a lower percentage set by appropriation for a school year; (2) a percentage determined by
formula if the estimated total taxable property value of the State (as submitted annually to the State Legislature by the State
Comptroller) has increased by at least 2.5% over the prior year; and (3) the prior year State Compression Percentage. For any
year, the maximum State Compression Percentage is 93%.

Maximum Compressed Tax Rate

The Maximum Compressed Tax Rate (the “MCR?”) is the tax rate per $100 of valuation of taxable property at which a school district
must levy its Tier One Tax Rate to receive the full amount of the Tier One funding to which the school district is entitted. The MCR
is equal to the lesser of three alternative calculations: (1) the school district’'s prior year MCR; (2) a percentage determined by
formula if the school district experienced a year-over-year increase in property value of at least 2.5%; or (3) the product of the State
Compression Percentage for the current year multiplied by $1.00. However, each year the TEA shall evaluate the MCR for each
school district in the State, and for any given year, if a school district’'s MCR is calculated to be less than 90% of any other school
district's MCR for the current year, then the school district's MCR is instead equal to the school district’s prior year MCR, until TEA
determines that the difference between the school district’'s MCR and any other school district's MCR is not more than 10%. These
compression formulas are intended to more closely equalize local generation of Tier One funding among districts with disparate tax
bases and generally reduce the Tier One Tax Rates of school districts as property values increase. During the 2021 Legislative
Session, a provision of the general appropriations act reduced the maximum MCR for the 2021-2022 school year. It established
$0.9134 as the maximum rate and $0.8220 as the floor.

Tier One Tax Rate

A school district's Tier One Tax Rate is defined as a school district's M&O tax rate levied that does not exceed the school district's
MCR.

Enrichment Tax Rate

The Enrichment Tax Rate is the number of cents a school district levies for M&O in excess of the Tier One Tax Rate, up to an
additional $0.17. The Enrichment Tax Rate is divided into two components: (i) “Golden Pennies” which are the first $0.08 of tax
effort in excess of a school district’s Tier One Tax Rate; and (ii) “Copper Pennies” which are the next $0.09 in excess of a school
district's Tier One Tax Rate plus Golden Pennies.

School districts may levy an Enrichment Tax Rate at a level of their choice, subject to the limitations described under “TAX RATE
LIMITATIONS — Public Hearing and Voter-Approval Tax Rate”; however to levy any of the Enrichment Tax Rate in a given year, a
school district must levy a Tier One Tax Rate equal to the school district's MCR. Additionally, a school district’s levy of Copper
Pennies is subject to compression if the guaranteed yield (i.e., the guaranteed level of local tax revenue and State aid generated for
each cent of tax effort) of Copper Pennies is increased from one year to the next (see “CURRENT PUBLIC SCHOOL FINANCE
SYSTEM - State Funding for School Districts — Tier Two”).

State Funding for School Districts

State funding for school districts is provided through the two-tiered Foundation School Program, which guarantees certain levels of
funding for school districts in the State. School districts are entitled to a legislatively appropriated guaranteed yield on their Tier
One Tax Rate and Enrichment Tax Rate. When a school district's Tier One Tax Rate and Enrichment Tax Rate generate tax
revenues at a level below the respective entitlement, the State will provide “Tier One” funding or “Tier Two” funding, respectively, to
fund the difference between the school district’s entitlements and the actual M&O revenues generated by the school district’s
respective M&O tax rates.

The first level of funding, Tier One, is the basic level of funding guaranteed to all school districts based on a school district’s Tier

One Tax Rate. Tier One funding may then be “enriched” with Tier Two funding. Tier Two provides a guaranteed entitlement for

each cent of a school district's Enrichment Tax Rate, allowing a school district increase or decrease its Enrichment Tax Rate to

supplement Tier One fundin%;1 at a level of the school district’'s own choice. While Tier One fundin? may be used for the peg/ment of

debt service (except for school districts subject to the recapture provisions of Chapter 49 of the Texas Education Code, as
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discussed herein), and in some instances is required to be used for that purpose (see “TAX RATE LIMITATIONS — I&S Tax Rate
Limitations”), Tier Two funding may not be used for the payment of debt service or capital outlay.

The current public school finance system also provides an Existing Debt Allotment (“EDA”) to subsidize debt service on eligible
outstanding school district bonds, an Instructional Facilities Allotment (“IFA”) to subsidize debt service on newly issued bonds, and
a New Instructional Facilities Allotment (“NIFA”) to subsidize operational expenses associated with the opening of a new
instructional facility. IFA primarily addresses the debt service needs of property-poor school districts. For the 2020-2021 State fiscal
biennium, the State Legislature appropriated funds in the amount of $1,007,300,000 for the EDA, IFA, and NIFA.

Tier One and Tier Two allotments represent the State’s share of the cost of M&O expenses of school districts, with local M&O taxes
representing the school district’s local share. EDA and IFA allotments supplement a school district’s local I&S taxes levied for debt
service on eligible bonds issued to construct, acquire and improve facilities, provided that a school district qualifies for such funding
and that the State Legislature makes sufficient appropriations to fund the allotments for a State fiscal biennium. Tier One and Tier
Two allotments and existing EDA and IFA allotments are generally required to be funded each year by the State Legislature.

Tier One

Tier One funding is the basic level of funding guaranteed to a school district, consisting of a State-appropriated baseline level of
funding (the “Basic Allotment”) for each student in “Average Daily Attendance” (being generally calculated as the sum of student
attendance for each State-mandated day of instruction divided by the number of State-mandated days of instruction, defined herein
as “ADA”). The Basic Allotment is revised downward if a school district's Tier One Tax Rate is less than the State-determined
threshold. The Basic Allotment is supplemented by additional State funds, allotted based upon the unique school district
characteristics and demographics of students in ADA, to make up most of a school district's Tier One entitlement under the
Foundation School Program.

The Basic Allotment for school districts with a Tier One Tax Rate equal to $0.93, is $6,160 for each student in ADA and is revised
downward for school districts with a Tier One Tax Rate lower than $0.93. For the State fiscal year ending in 2021 and subsequent
State fiscal years, the Basic Allotment for a school district with a Tier One Tax Rate equal to the school district's MCR, is $6,160 (or
a greater amount as may be provided by appropriation) for each student in ADA and is revised downward for a school district with a
Tier One Tax Rate lower than the school district's MCR. The Basic Allotment is then supplemented for all school districts by various
weights to account for differences among school districts and their student populations. Such additional allotments include, but are
not limited to, increased funds for students in ADA who: (i) attend a qualified special education program, (ii) are diagnosed with
dyslexia or a related disorder, (iii) are economically disadvantaged, or (iv) have limited English language proficiency. Additional
allotments to mitigate differences among school districts include, but are not limited to: (i) a transportation allotment for mileage
associated with transporting students who reside two miles or more from their home campus, (ii) a fast growth allotment (for school
districts in the top 25% of enrollment growth relative to other school districts), (iii) a college, career and military readiness allotment
to further Texas’ goal of increasing the number of students who attain a post-secondary education or workforce credential, and (iv)
a teacher incentive allotment to increase teacher compensation retention in disadvantaged or rural school districts. A school
district's total Tier One funding, divided by $6,160, is a school districts measure of students in “Weighted Average Daily
Attendance” (“WADA”), which serves to calculate Tier Two funding.

For the 2022-2023 school year, the fast growth allotment weights change to 0.48 for districts in the top 40% of school districts for
growth, 0.33 for districts in the middle 30% of school districts for growth and 0.18 for districts in the bottom 30% of school districts
for growth. The fast growth allotment is limited to $310 million for the 2022-2023 school year and $315 million for the 2023-2024
school year.

Tier Two

Tier Two supplements Tier One funding and provides two levels of enrichment with different guaranteed yields (i.e., Golden
Pennies and Copper Pennies) depending on the school district’'s Enrichment Tax Rate. Golden Pennies generate a guaranteed
yield equal to the greater of (i) the local revenue per student in WADA per cent of tax effort available to a school district at the
ninety-sixth (96th) percentile of wealth per student in WADA, or (ii) the Basic Allotment (or a greater amount as may be provided by
appropriation) multiplied by 0.016. For the 2022-2023 State fiscal biennium, school districts are guaranteed a yield of $98.56 per
student in WADA for each Golden Penny levied. Copper Pennies generate a guaranteed yield per student in WADA equal to the
school district’'s Basic Allotment (or a greater amount as may be provided by appropriation) multiplied by 0.008. For the 2022-2023
State fiscal biennium, school districts are guaranteed a yield of $49.28 per student in WADA for each Copper Penny levied. For any
school year in which the guaranteed yield of Copper Pennies per student in WADA exceeds the guaranteed yield of Copper
Pennies per student in WADA for the preceding school year, a school district is required to reduce its Copper Pennies levied so as
to generate no more revenue per student in WADA than was available to the school district for the preceding year.

Existing Debt Allotment, Instruction Facilities Allotment, and New Instructional Facilities Allotment

The Foundation School Program also includes facilities funding components consisting of the IFA and the EDA, subject to
legislative appropriation each State fiscal biennium. To the extent funded for a biennium, these programs assist school districts in
funding facilities by, generally, equalizing a school district’s 1&S tax effort. The IFA guarantees each awarded school district a
specified amount per student (the “IFA Yield”) in State and local funds for each cent of 1&S tax levied to pay the principal of and
interest on eligible bonds issued to construct, acquire, renovate or improve instructional facilities. The IFA Yield has been $35 since
this program first began in 1997. New awards of IFA are only available if appropriated funds are allocated for such purpose by the
State Legislature. To receive an IFA award, in years where new IFA awards are available, a school district must apply to the
Commissioner in accordance with rules adopted by the TEA before issuing the bonds to be paid with IFA State assistance. The
total amount of debt service assistance over a biennium for which a school district may be awarded is limited to the lesser of (1) the
actual debt service payments made by the school district in the biennium in which the bonds are issued; or (2) the greater of (a)
$100,000 or (b) $250 multiplied by the number of students in ADA. The IFA is also available for lease-purchase agreements and
refunding bonds meeting certain prescribed conditions. Once a school district receives an IFA award for bonds, it is entitled to
continue receiving State assistance for such bonds without reapplying to the Commissioner. The guaranteed level of State and
local funds per student per cent of local tax effort applicable to the bonds may not be reduced below the level provided for the year
in which the bonds were issued. For the 2022-2023 State fiscal biennium, the State Legislature did not appropriate any funds for
new IFA awgr%s; goz‘vever, awards previously granted in years the State Legislature did appropriate funds for new IFA awards will
continue to be funded.

State financial assistance is provided for certain existing eligible debt issued by school districts through the EDA program. The EDA
guaranteed vyield (the “EDA Yield”) is the lesser of (ic)] $40 per student in ADA or a greater amount for any year provided by
appropriation; or (ii) the amount that would result in a total additional EDA of $60 million more than the EDA to which school districts
would have been entitled to if the EDA Yield were $35. The portion of a school district’s local debt service rate that qualifies for EDA
assistance is limited to the first $0.29 of its I&S tax rate (or a greater amount for any year provided by appropriation by the State
Legislature). In general, a school district's bonds are eligible for EDA assistance if (i) the school district made payments on the
bonds during the final fiscal year of the preceding State fiscal biennium, or (ii) the school district levied taxes to pay the principal of



and interest on the bonds for that fiscal year. Each biennium, access to EDA funding is determined by the debt service taxes
collected in the final year of the preceding biennium. A school district may not receive EDA funding for the principal and interest on
a series of otherwise eligible bonds for which the school district receives IFA funding.

Since future-year IFA awards were not funded by the State Legislature for the 2022-2023 State fiscal biennium and debt service
assistance on school district bonds that are not yet eligible for EDA is not available, debt service payments during the 2022-2023
State fiscal biennium on new bonds issued by school districts in the 2022-2023 State fiscal biennium to construct, acquire and
improve facilities must be funded solely from local I&S taxes.

A school district may also qualify for a NIFA allotment, which provides assistance to school districts for operational expenses
associated with opening new instructional facilities. In the 2021 Legislative Session, the State Legislature appropriated funds in the
amount of $70,000,000 for each fiscal year of the 2022-2023 State fiscal biennium for NIFA allotments.

Tax Rate and Funding Equity

The Commissioner may proportionally reduce the amount of funding a school district receives under the Foundation School
Program and the ADA calculation if the school district operates on a calendar that provides less than the State-mandated minimum
instruction time in a school year. The Commissioner may also adjust a school district's ADA as it relates to State funding where
disaster, flood, extreme weather or other calamity has a significant effect on a school district’s attendance.

Furthermore, “property-wealthy” school districts that received additional State funds under the public school finance system prior to
the enactment of the 2019 Legislation are entitled to an equalized wealth transition grant on an annual basis through the 2023-2024
school year in an amount equal to the amount of additional revenue such school district would have received under former Texas
Education Code Sections 41.002(e) throu%h (9), as those sections existed on January 1, 2019. This grant is phased out through the
2023-2024 school year as follows: (1) 20% reduction for the 2020-2021 school year, (2) 40% reduction for the 2021-2022 school
year, (3) 60% reduction for the 2022-2023 school year, and (4) 80% reduction for the 2023-2024 school year. Additionally, school
districts (through the fiscal year ending in 2025) and open-enroliment charter schools (through the fiscal year ending in 2024) are
entitled to receive an allotment in the form of a formula transition grant meant to ensure a smooth transition into the funding
formulas enacted by the 86th State Legislature. Beginning with the 2021-2022 school year, if the total amount of allotments to which
school districts and open enroliment charter schools are entitled for a school year exceeds $400 million, the Commissioner shall
proportionately reduce each district's or school’s allotment. The reduction in the amount to which a district or school is entitled may
not result in an amount that is less than zero.

Local Revenue Level in Excess of Entitlement

A school district that has sufficient property wealth per student in ADA to generate local revenues on the school district's Tier One
Tax Rate and Copper Pennies in excess of the school district’s respective funding entitlements (a “Chapter 49 school district”), is
subject to the local revenue reduction provisions contained in Chapter 49 of Texas Education Code, as amended (“Chapter 49”).
Additionally, in years in which the amount of State funds appropriated specifically excludes the amount necessary to provide the
guaranteed yield for Golden Pennies, local revenues generated on a school district’'s Golden Pennies in excess of the school
district's respective funding entittement are subject to the local revenue reduction provisions of Chapter 49. To reduce local
revenue, Chapter 49 school districts are generally subject to a process known as “recapture”, which requires a Chapter 49 school
district to exercise certain options to remit local M&O tax revenues collected in excess of the Chapter 49 school district’s funding
entitlements to the State (for redistribution to other school districts) or otherwise expending the respective M&O tax revenues for the
benefit of students in school districts that are not Chapter 49 school districts, as described in the subcaption “Options for Local
Revenue Levels in Excess of Entitlement”. Chapter 49 school districts receive their allocable share of funds distributed from the
constitutionally-prescribed Available School Fund, but are generally not eligible to receive State aid under the Foundation School
Program, although they may continue to receive State funds for certain competitive grants and certain programs that remain outside
the Foundation School Program.

Recapture is measured by the “local revenue level” (being the M&O tax revenues generated in a school district) in excess of the
entittements appropriated by the State Legislature each fiscal biennium. Therefore, school districts are now guaranteed that
recapture will not reduce revenue below their statutory entitiement.

Options for Local Revenue Levels in Excess of Entitlement

Under Chapter 49, a school district has six options to reduce local revenues to a level that does not exceed the school district’s
respective entitlements: (1) a school district may consolidate by agreement with one or more school districts to form a consolidated
school district; all property and debt of the consolidating school districts vest in the consolidated school district; (2) a school district
may detach property from its territory for annexation by a property-poor school district; (3) a school district may purchase
attendance credits from the State; (4) a school district may contract to educate nonresident students from a property-poor school
district by sending money directly to one or more property-poor school districts; (5) a school district may execute an agreement to
provide students of one or more other school districts with career and technology education through a program designated as an
area program for career and technology education; or (6) a school district may consolidate by agreement with one or more school
districts to form a consolidated taxing school district solely to levy and distribute either M&O taxes or both M&O taxes and 1&S
taxes. A Chapter 49 school district may also exercise any combination of these remedies. Options (3), (4) and (6) require prior
approval by the Chapter 49 school district’s voters.

Furthermore, a school district may not adopt a tax rate until its effective local revenue level is at or below the level that would
produce its guaranteed entitlement under the Foundation School Program. If a school district fails to exercise a permitted option,
the Commissioner must reduce the school district’s local revenue level to the level that would produce the school district's
guaranteed entitlement, by detaching certain types of property from the school district and annexing the property to a property-poor
school district or, if necessary, consolidate the school district with a property-poor school district. Provisions governing detachment
and annexation of taxable property by the Commissioner do not provide for assumption of any of the transferring school district's
existing debt.

Possible Effects of Wealth Transfer Provisions on the District’s Financial Condition

For the 2023-2024 school year, the District was designated as an “excess local revenue” Chapter 49 school district by TEA.
Accordingly, the District has entered into a wealth equalization agreement with the Commissioner for the purchase of
attendance credits for the 2023-24 school year, for the purpose of implementing permitted wealth equalization options.

A district’'s “excess local revenues” must be tested for each future school year and, if it exceeds the maximum permitted level, the
District must reduce its wealth per student by the exercise of one of the permitted wealth equalization options. Accordingly, if the
District's wealth per student should exceed the maximum permitted value in future school years, it will be required to exercise one
or more of the permitted wealth equalization options. If the District were to consolidate (or consolidate its tax base for all purposes)
with a property-poor district, the outstanding debt of each district could become payable from the consolidated district's combined
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property tax base, and the District’s ration of taxable property to debt could become diluted. If the District were to detach property
voluntarily, a portion of its outstanding debt (including the Bonds) could be assumed by the district to which the property is annexed,
in which case timely payment of the Bonds could become dependent in part on the financial performance of an annexing district.

For a detailed discussion of State funding for school district see “CURRENT PUBLIC SCHOOL FINANCE SYSTEM - State
Funding for School Districts.”

AD VALOREM TAX PROCEDURES

The following is a summary of certain provisions of State law as it relates to ad valorem taxation and is not intended to be complete.
Reference is made to Title | of the Texas Tax Code, as amended (the “Property Tax Code”), for identification of property subject to
ad valorem taxation, property exempt or which may be exempted from ad valorem taxation if claimed, the appraisal of property for
ad valorem tax purposes, and the procedures and limitations applicable to the levy and collection of ad valorem taxes.

Valuation of Taxable Property

The Property Tax Code provides for countywide appraisal and equalization of taxable property values and establishes in each
county of the State an appraisal district and an appraisal review board (the “Appraisal Review Board”) responsible for appraising
property for all taxing units within the county. The appraisal of property within the District is the collective responsibility of the Blanco
County Appraisal District, Travis County Appraisal District, Llano County Appraisal District and the Hays County Appraisal District
(collectively, the “Appraisal District”). Except as generally described below, the Appraisal District is required to appraise all property
within the Appraisal District on the basis of 100% of its market value and is prohibited from applying any assessment ratios. In
determining market value of property, the Appraisal District is required to consider the cost method of appraisal, the income method
of appraisal and the market data comparison method of appraisal, and use the method the chief appraiser of the Appraisal District
considers most appropriate. The Property Tax Code requires appraisal districts to reappraise all property in its jurisdiction at least
once every three (3) years. A taxing unit may require annual review at its own expense, and is entitled to challenge the
determination of appraised value of property within the taxing unit by petition filed with the Appraisal Review Board.

State law requires the appraised value of an owner’s principal residence (“homestead” or “homesteads”) to be based solely on the
property’s value as a homestead, regardless of whether residential use is considered to be the highest and best use of the property.
State law further limits the appraised value of a homestead to the lesser of (1) the market value of the property or (2) 110% of the
appraised value of the property for the preceding tax year plus the market value of all new improvements to the property.

State law provides that eligible owners of both agricultural land and open-space land, including open-space land devoted to farm or
ranch purposes or open-space land devoted to timber production, may elect to have such property appraised for property taxation
on the basis of its productive capacity. The same land may not be qualified as both agricultural and open-space land.

On July 13, 2023, during the Second Special Session, the Texas Legislature passed Senate Bill 2, which, among other things,
includes provisions that prohibit an appraisal district from increasing the appraised value of real property during the 2024 tax year
on non-homestead properties (the “Subjected Proper;?/”% whose appraised values are not more than $5 million dollars (the
“Maximum Property Value”) to an amount not to exceed the lesser of: (1) the market value of the subjected property for the most
recent tax year that the market value was determined by the appraisal office or &2) the sum of: (a) 20 percent of the appraised value
of the subjected property for the preceding tax year; (b) the appraised value of the subjected property for the preceding tax year;
and (c) the market value of all new improvements to the subjected property (collectively, the “Appraisal Cap”). After the 2024 tax
year, through December 31, 2026, the Appraisal Cap may be increased or decreased by the product of the preceding state fiscal
year's increase or decrease in the consumer price index, as applicable, to the Maximum Property Value. The Appraisal Cap takes
effect on January 1, 2024, if the constitutional amendment proposed by House Joint Resolution 2 during the Second Special
Session is approved by the voters on November 7, 2023.

The appraisal values set by the Appraisal District are subject to review and change by the Appraisal Review Board. The appraisal
rolls, as approved by the Appraisal Review Board, are used by taxing units, such as the District, in establishing their tax rolls and
tax rates (see “AD VALOREM TAX PROCEDURES - District and Taxpayer Remedies”).

State Mandated Homestead Exemptions

State law ?rants, with respect to each school district in the State, (1) a $40,000 exemption (as described below) of the appraised
value of all homesteads, (2) a $10,000 exemption of the appraised value of the homesteads of persons sixty-five $65) years of age
or older and the disabled, and (3) various exemptions for disabled veterans and their families, surviving spouses of members of the
armed services killed in action and surviving spouses of first responders killed or fatally wounded in the line of duty. On November
2, 2021, the Texas Constitution was amended to provide that the surviving spouse of an individual who received a limitation on the
school district property taxes on the person’s residence homestead on the basis of disability continued to receive that limitation
while the property remained the spouse’s residence homestead if the spouse was at least 55 years old. See “Appendix A —
Financial Information of the District — Assessed Valuation” for the reduction in taxable valuation attributable to state-mandated
homestead exemptions. Senate Joint Resolution 2, passed during the Third Special Session of the 87th Texas Legislature and
approved by voters on May 7, 2022 authorized a constitutional amendment increasing the mandatory homestead exemption for
school districts from $25,000 to $40,000 beginning January 1, 2022. Senate Bill 1, which was also passed during the Third
Special Session of the 87th Texas Legislature makes provisions for additional state aid to hold school districts harmless for tax
revenue losses resulting from the increased homestead exemption.

Additional legislation concerning the required homestead exemption was passed in the 2nd Special Session of the 88th Texas
Legislature. See “CURRENT PUBLIC SCHOOL FINANCE SYSTEM — 2023 Regular and Any Special Legislative Sessions” herein.

Local Option Homestead Exemptions

The governing body of a taxing unit, including a city, county, school district, or special district, at its option may grant: (1) an
exemption of up to 20% of the appraised value of all homesteads (but not less than $5,000) and (2) an additional exemption of at
least $3,000 of the appraised value of the homesteads of persons sixty-five (65) years of age or older and the disabled. Each taxing
unit decides if it will offer the local option homestead exemptions and at what percentage or dollar amount, as applicable. The
exemption described in (2), above, may also be created, increased, decreased or repealed at an election called by the governing
body of a taxing unit upon presentment of a petition for such creation, increase, decrease, or repeal of at least 20% of the number
of qualified voters who voted in the preceding election of the taxing unit. See “Appendix A — Financial Information of the District —
Assessed Valuation” for the reduction in taxable valuation, if any, attributable to local option homestead exemptions.

State Mandated Freeze on School District Taxes

Except for increases attributable to certain improvements, a school district is prohibited from increasing the total ad valorem tax on
the homestead of persons sixty-five (65) years of age or older or of disabled persons above the amount of tax imposed in the year
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such homestead qualified for such exemption. This freeze is transferable to a different homestead if a qualifying taxpayer moves
and, under certain circumstances, is also transferable to the surviving spouse of persons sixty-five (65) years of age or older, but
not the disabled. See “Appendix A — Financial Information of the District — Assessed Valuation” for the reduction in taxable valuation
attributable to the freeze on taxes for the elderly and disabled.

Personal Property

Tangible personal property (furniture, machinery, supplies, inventories, etc.) used in the “production of income” is taxed based on
the property’s market value. Taxable personal property includes income-producing equipment and inventory. Intangibles such as
goodwill, accounts receivable, and proprietary processes are not taxable. Tangible personal property not held or used for
production of income, such as household goods, automobiles or light trucks, and boats, is exempt from ad valorem taxation unless
the governing body of a taxing unit elects to tax such property.

Freeport and Goods-In-Transit Exemptions

Certain goods that are acquired in or imported into the State to be forwarded outside the State, and are detained in the State for
175 days or less for the purpose of assembly, storage, manufacturing, processing or fabrication (“Freeport Property”) are exempt
from ad valorem taxation unless a taxing unit took official action to tax Freeport Property before April 1, 1990 and has not
subsequently taken official action to exempt Freeport Property. Decisions to continue taxing Freeport Property may be reversed in
the future; decisions to exempt Freeport Property are not subject to reversal.

Certain goods, that are acquired in or imported into the State to be forwarded to another location within or without the State, stored
in a location that is not owned by the owner of the goods and are transported to another location within or without the State within
175 days (“Goods-in-Transit”), are generally exempt from ad valorem taxation; however, the Property Tax Code permits a taxing
unit, on a local option basis, to tax Goods-in-Transit if the taxing unit takes official action, after conducting a public hearing, before
January 1 of the first tax year in which the taxing unit proposes to tax Goods-in-Transit. Goods-in-Transit and Freeport Property do
not include oil, natural gas or petroleum products, and Goods-in-Transit does not include aircraft or special inventories such as
manufactured housing inventory, or a dealer’s motor vehicle, boat, or heavy equipment inventory.

A taxpayer may receive only one of the Goods-in-Transit or Freeport Property exemptions for items of personal property. See
“Appendix A — Financial Information of the District — Assessed Valuation” for the reduction in taxable valuation, if any, attributable to
Goods-in-Transit or Freeport Property exemptions.

Other Exempt Property

Other major categories of exempt property include property owned by the State or its political subdivisions if used for public
purposes, property exempt by federal law, property used for pollution control, farm products owned by producers, property of
nonprofit corporations used for scientific research or educational activities benefitting a college or university, designated historic
sites, solar and wind-powered energy devices, and certain classes of intangible personal property.

Temporary Exemption for Qualified Property Damaged by a Disaster

The Property Tax Code entitles the owner of certain qualified (i) tangible personal property used for the production of income, (ii)
improvements to real property, and (iii) manufactured homes located in an area declared by the governor to be a disaster area
following a disaster and is at least 15 percent damaged by the disaster, as determined by the chief appraiser, to an exemption from
taxation of a portion of the appraised value of the property. The amount of the exemption ranges from 15 percent to 100 percent
based upon the damage assessment rating assigned by the chief appraiser. For tax years beginning on or after January 1, 2022,
the governing body of the taxing unit is not required to take any action in order for the taxpayer to be eligible for the exemption. If
a taxpayer qualifies for the exemption after the beginning of the tax year, the amount of the exemption is prorated based on the
number of days left in the tax year following the day on which the governor declares the area to be a disaster area. For more
information on the exemption, reference is made to Section 11.35 of the Tax Code, as amended.

Tax Increment Reinvestment Zones

A city or county, by petition of the landowners or by action of its governing body, may create one or more tax increment
reinvestment zones (“TIRZ”) within its boundaries. At the time of the creation of the TIRZ, a “base value” for the real property in the
TIRZ is established and the difference between any increase in the assessed valuation of taxable real property In the TIRZ in
excess of the base value is known as the “tax increment”. During the existence of the TIRZ, all or a portion of the taxes levied
against the tax increment by a city or county, and all other overlapping taxing units that elected to participate, are restricted to
paying only planned project and financing costs within the TIRZ and are not available for the payment of other obligations of such
taxing units.

Until September 1, 1999, school districts were able to reduce the value of taxable property reported to the State to reflect any
taxable value lost due to TIRZ participation by the school district. The ability of the school district to deduct the taxable value of the
tax increment that it contributed prevented the school district from being negatively affected in terms of state school funding.
However, due to a change in law, local M&O tax rate revenue contributed to a TIRZ created on or after May 31, 1999 will count
toward a school district’s Tier One entitlement (reducing Tier One State funds for eligible school districts) and will not be considered
in calculating any school district's Tier Two entitlement (see “CURRENT PUBLIC SCHOOL FINANCE SYSTEM - State Funding for
ggggol Districts”{ The 87" Texas Legislature did not vote to extend this program, which expired by its terms effective December 31,

Tax Limitation Agreements

The Texas Economic Development Act (Chapter 313, Texas Tax Code, as amended), allowed school districts to grant limitations
on appraised property values to certain corporations and limited liability companies to encourage economic development within the
school district. Generally, during the last eight (8) years of the ten-year term of a tax limitation agreement, a school district could
only levy and collect M&O taxes on the agreed-to limited appraised property value. For the purposes of calculating its Tier One and
Tier Two entitlements, the portion of a school district’'s property that is not fully taxable is excluded from the school district’'s taxable
property values. Therefore, a school district will not be subject to a reduction in Tier One or Tier Two State funds as a result of lost
M&O tax revenues due to entering into a tax limitation agreement (see “CURRENT PUBLIC SCHOOL FINANCE SYSTEM - State
Eundin foE3 1ch(())glzDistri(:ts”). The 87" Texas Legislature did not vote to extend this program, which expired by its terms effective
ecember 31, .

In the 88" Legislative Session, House Bill 5 (‘HB 5” or “The Texas Jobs, Energy, Technology, and Innovation Act”) was adopted to
create an economic development program, subject to state oversigltlt, which would attract jobs and investment to Texas through
school district property tax abatement agreements with businesses. The effective date of HB 5 is January 1, 2024 and the District is
currently monitoring the State’s implementation of this new economic development program.
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For a discussion of how the various exemptions described above are applied by the District, see “AD VALOREM TAX
PROCEDURES — The Property Tax Code as Applied to the District” herein.

District and Taxpayer Remedies

Under certain circumstances, taxpayers and taxing units, including the District, may appeal the determinations of the Appraisal
District by timely initiating a protest with the Appraisal Review Board. Additionally, taxing units such as the District may bring suit
against the Appraisal District to compel compliance with the Property Tax Code.

Owners of certain property with a taxable value in excess of the current year “minimum eligibility amount”, as determined by the
State Comptroller, and situated in a county with a population of one million or more, may protest the determinations of an appraisal
district directly to a three-member special panel of the appraisal review board, appointed by the chairman of the appraisal review
board, consisting of highly qualified professionals in the field of property tax appraisal. The minimum eligibility amount is set at $50
million for the 2020 tax year, $50.6 million for the 2021 tax year, $52,978,200 for the 2022 tax year, $57,216,456 for the 2023 tax
year and is adjusted annually by the State Comptroller to reflect the inflation rate.

The Property Tax Code sets forth notice and hearing procedures for certain tax rate increases by the District and provides for
taxpayer referenda that could result in the repeal of certain tax increases (see “TAX RATE LIMITATIONS — Public Hearing and
Voter-Approval Tax Rate”). The Property Tax Code also establishes a procedure for providing notice to property owners of
reappraisals reflecting increased property value, appraisals which are higher than renditions, and appraisals of property not
previously on an appraisal roll.

Levy and Collection of Taxes

The District is responsible for the collection of its taxes, unless it elects to transfer such functions to another governmental entity.
Taxes are due October 1, or when billed, whichever comes later, and become delinquent after January 31 of the following year. A
delinquent tax incurs a penalty of six percent (6%) of the amount of the tax for the first calendar month it is delinquent, plus one
percent (1%) for each additional month or portion of a month the tax remains unpaid prior to July 1 of the year in which it becomes
delinquent. If the tax is not paid by July 1 of the year in which it becomes delinquent, the tax incurs a total penalty of twelve percent
€12%; regardless of the number of months the tax has been delinquent and incurs an additional penalty of up to twenty percent
20%) if imposed by the District. The delinquent tax also accrues interest at a rate of one percent (1%) for each month or portion of
a month it remains unpaid. The Property Tax Code also makes provision for the split payment of taxes, discounts for early payment
and the postponement of the delinquency date of taxes for certain taxpayers. Furthermore, the District may provide, on a local
option basis, for the split payment, partial payment, and discounts for early payment of taxes under certain circumstances. The
Property Tax Code permits taxpayers owning homes or certain businesses located in a disaster area and damaged as a direct
result of the declared disaster to pay taxes imposed in the year following the disaster in four equal installments without penalty
or interest, commencin% on February 1 and ending on August 1. See “AD VALOREM TAX PROCEDURES - Temporary
Exemption for Qualified Property Damaged by a Disaster” for further information related to a discussion of the applicability of this
section of the Property Tax Code.

District’s Rights in the Event of Tax Delinquencies

Taxes levied by the District are a personal obligation of the owner of the property. On January 1 of each year, a tax lien attaches to
property to secure the payment of all state and local taxes, penalties, and interest ultimately imposed for the year on the property.
The lien exists in favor of each taxing unit, including the District, having power to tax the property. The District's tax lien is on a
parity with tax liens of such other taxing units. A tax lien on real property takes priority over the claim of most creditors and other
holders of liens on the property encumbered by the tax lien, whether or not the debt or lien existed before the attachment of the tax
lien; however, whether a lien of the United States is on a parity with or takes priority over a tax lien of the District is determined by
applicable federal law. Personal property, under certain circumstances, is subject to seizure and sale for the payment of delinquent
taxes, penalty, and interest.

At any time after taxes on property become delinquent, the District may file suit to foreclose the lien securing payment of the tax, to
enforce personal liability for the tax, or both. In filing a suit to foreclose a tax lien on real property, the District must join other taxing
units that have claims for delinquent taxes against all or part of the same property.

Collection of delinquent taxes ma?; be adversely affected by the amount of taxes owed to other taxing units, adverse market
conditions, taxpayer redemption rights, or bankruptcy proceedings which restrain the collection of a taxpayer’s debt.

Federal bankruptcy law provides that an automatic stay of actions by creditors and other entities, including governmental units,
goes into effect with the filing of any petition in bankruptcy. The automatic stay prevents governmental units from foreclosing on
property and prevents liens for post-petition taxes from attaching to property and obtaining secured creditor status unless, in
either case, an order lifting the stay is obtained from the bankruptcy court. In many cases, post-petition taxes are paid as an
administrative expense of the estate in bankruptcy or by order of the bankruptcy court.

TAX RATE LIMITATIONS
M&O Tax Rate Limitations

The District is authorized to levy an M&O tax rate pursuant to the approval of the voters of the District at an election held on
September 13, 2003 under Section 45.003, as amended, Texas Education Code.

The maximum maintenance tax rate per $100 of taxable value that may be adopted by an independent school district is the sum
of $0.17 and the school district’'s MCR. The District's MCR is, generally, inversely proportional to the change in taxable property
values both within the District and the State, and is subject to recalculation annually. For any year, highest possible MCR for an
independent school district is $0.93.

Furthermore, a school district cannot annually increase its tax rate in excess of the school district’'s Voter-Approval Tax Rate
without submitting such tax rate to an election and a majority of the voters voting at such election approving the adopted rate.
See “TAX RATE LIMITATIONS — Public Hearing and Voter-Approval Tax Rate” herein.

I&S Tax Rate Limitations

A school district is also authorized to issue bonds and levy taxes for payment of bonds subject to voter approval of one or more
propositions submitted to the voters under Section 45.003(b)(1), Texas Education Code, as amended, which provides a tax
unlimited as to rate or amount for the support of school district bonded indebtedness (see “THE BONDS — Security”).

Section 45.0031 of the Texas Education Code, as amended, requires a school district to demonstrate to the Texas Attorney
General that it has the prospective ability to pay its maximum annual debt service on a proposed issue of bonds and all
previously issued bonds, other than bonds approved by voters of a school district at an election held on or before April 1, 1991



and issued before September 1, 1992 (or debt issued to refund such bonds, collectively, “exempt bonds”), from a tax levied at a
rate of $0.50 per $100 of assessed valuation before bonds may be issued (the “50-cent Test”). In demonstrating the ability to
pay debt service at a rate of $0.50, a school district may take into account EDA and IFA allotments to the school district, which
effectively reduces the school district’s local share of debt service, and may also take into account Tier One funds allotted to the
school district. If a school district exercises this option, it may not adopt an I&S tax until it has credited to the school district’s
1&S fund an amount equal to all State allotments provided solely for payment of debt service and any Tier One funds needed to
demonstrate compliance with the threshold tax rate test and which is received or to be received in that year. Additionally, a
school district may demonstrate its ability to comply with the 50-cent Test by applying the $0.50 tax rate to an amount equal to
90% of projected future taxable value of property in the school district, as certified by a registered professional appraiser,
anticipated for the earlier of the tax year five (5) years after the current tax year or the tax year in which the final payment for the
bonds is due. However, if a school district uses projected future taxable values to meet the 50-cent Test and subsequently
imposes a tax at a rate greater than $0.50 per $100 of valuation to pay for bonds subject to the test, then for subsequent bond
issues, the Texas Attorney General must find that the school district has the projected ability to pay principal and interest on the
proposed bonds and all previously issued bonds subject to the 50-cent Test from a tax rate of $0.45 per $100 of valuation. Once
the prospective ability to pay such tax has been shown and the bonds are issued, a school district may levy an unlimited tax to
pay debt service. The Bonds are issued as “new money bonds” and are subject to the $0.50 threshold tax rate test. The District
has not utilized projected property values or State assistance to satisfy the $0.50 test.

Public Hearing and Voter-Approval Tax Rate

A school district’s total tax rate is the combination of the M&O tax rate and the 1&S tax rate. Generally, the highest rate at which
a school district may levy taxes for any given year without holding an election to approve the tax rate is the “Voter-Approval Tax.

A school district is required to adopt its annual tax rate before the later of September 30 or the sixtieth (60th) day after the date
the certified appraisal roll is received by the taxing unit, except that a tax rate that exceeds the Voter-Approval Tax Rate must be
adopted not later than the seventy-first (71st) day before the next occurring November uniform election date. A school district’s
failure to adopt a tax rate equal to or less than the Voter-Approval Tax Rate by September 30 or the sixtieth (60th) day after
receipt of the certified appraisal roll, will result in the tax rate for such school district for the tax year to be the lower of the “no-
new-revenue tax rate” calculated for that tax year or the tax rate adopted by the school district for the preceding tax year. A
school district’s failure to adopt a tax rate in excess of the Voter-Approval Tax Rate on or prior to the seventy-first (71st) day
before the next occurring November uniform election date, will result in the school district adopting a tax rate equal to or less
than its Voter-Approval Tax Rate by the later of September 30 or the sixtieth (60th? day after receipt of the certified appraisal roll.
“No-new-revenue tax rate” means the rate that will produce the prior year’s total tax levy from the current year’s total taxable
values, adjusted such that lost values are not included in the calculation of the prior year’'s taxable values and new values are
not included in the current year’s taxable values.

The Voter-Approval Tax Rate for a school district is the sum of (i) the school district's MCR; (ii) the greater of (a) the school
district’'s Enrichment Tax Rate for the preceding year, less any amount by which the school district is required to reduce its
current year Enrichment Tax Rate pursuant to Section 48.202(f), Education Code, as amended, or (b) the rate of $0.05 per $100
of taxable value; and (iii) the school district’s current 1&S tax rate. However, for onI?/ the 2020 tax year, if the governing body of
the school district does not adopt by unanimous vote an M&O tax rate at least equal to the sum of the school district's MCR plus
$0.05, then $0.04 is substituted for $0.05 in the calculation for such school district’'s Voter-Approval Tax Rate for the 2020 tax
year. For the 2020 tax Kear, and subsequent years, a school district's M&O tax rate may not exceed the rate equal to the sum of
(i) $0.17 and (ii) the school district's MCR (see “CURRENT PUBLIC SCHOOL FINANCE SYSTEM" herein, for more information
regarding the State Compression Percentage, MCR, and the Enrichment Tax Rate).

The governing body of a school district generally cannot adopt a tax rate exceeding the school district's Voter-Approval Tax Rate
without approval by a majority of the voters approving the higher rate at an election to be held on the next uniform election date.
Further, subject to certain exceptions for areas declared disaster areas, State law requires the board of trustees of a school
district to conduct an efficiency audit before seeking voter approval to adopt a tax rate exceeding the Voter-Approval Tax Rate
and sets certain parameters for conducting and disclosing the results of such efficiency audit. An election is not required for a
tax increase to address increased expenditures resulting from certain natural disasters in the year following the year in which
such disaster occurs; however, the amount by which the increased tax rate exceeds the school district's Voter-Approval Tax
Rate for such year may not be considered by the school district in the calculation of its subsequent Voter-Approval Tax Rate.

The calculation of the Voter-Approval Tax Rate does not limit or impact the District’s ability to set an I&S tax rate in each year
sufficient to pay debt service on all of the District’s tax-supported debt obligations, including the Bonds.

Before adopting its annual tax rate, a public meeting must be held for the purpose of adopting a budget for the succeeding year.
A notice of public meeting to discuss the school district’'s budget and proposed tax rate must be published in the time, format
and manner prescribed in Section 44.004 of the Texas Education Code. Section 44.004€ of the Texas Education Code provides
that a person who owns taxable property in a school district is entitled to an injunction restraining the collection of taxes by the
school district if the school district has not complied with such notice requirements or the language and format requirements of
such notice as set forth in Section 44.004(b), Sc), (c-1), (c-2), and (d), and, if applicable, subsection (i), and if such failure to
comply was not in good faith. Section 44.004(e) further provides the action to enjoin the collection of taxes must be filed before
the date the school district delivers substantially all of its tax bills. A school district that elects to adopt a tax rate before the
adoption of a bud?et for the fiscal year that begins in the current tax year may adopt a tax rate for the current tax year before
receipt of the certified appraisal roll, so long as the chief appraiser of the appraisal district in which the school district participates
has certified to the assessor for the school district an estimate of the taxable value of property in the school district. If a school
district adopts its tax rate prior to the adoption of its budget, both the no-new-revenue tax rate and the Voter-Approval Tax Rate
of the school district shall be calculated based on the school district’s certified estimate of taxable value. A school district that
adopts a tax rate before adopting its budget must hold a public hearing on the proposed tax rate followed by another public
hearing on the proposed budget rather than holding a single hearing on the two items.

A school district must annually calculate and prominently post on its internet website, and submit to the county tax assessor-
collector for each county in which all or part of the school district is located its Voter-Approval Tax Rate in accordance with forms
prescribed by the State Comptroller.

THE PROPERTY TAX CODE AS APPLIED TO THE DISTRICT

The Appraisal District has the responsibility for appraising property in the District as well as other taxing units in Blanco, Hays, Llano
and Travis Counties, Texas. The Appraisal District is governed by a board of directors appointed by members of the governing
bodies of various political subdivisions within the County.

Property within the District is assessed as of January 1 of each year, taxes become due October 1 of the same year and become
delinquent on February 1 of the following year. 14



The District does not tax personal property not used in the production of income, such as personal automobiles.

The District collects an additional 20% penalty to defray attorney costs in the collection of delinquent taxes over and above the
penalty automatically assessed under the Tax Code.

The District’s taxes are collected by the Blanco County Appraisal District.

The District does not allow split payments of taxes on homesteads except for 65+ and disabled. The District does not give discounts
for early payment of taxes except quarterly payments are made available for taxpayers over 65 and the disabled for homestead
properties only.

The District does not participate in a tax increment financing zone. The District does not grant tax abatements.
The District does not grant the additional local option exemption of up to 20% of the market value of residence homesteads.
The District does not exempt freeport property from taxation. The District has not taken action to continue to tax goods-in-transit.

EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT PLAN AND OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

The District’'s employees participate in a retirement plan (the “Plan”) with the State of Texas. The Plan is administered by the
Teacher Retirement System of Texas (“TRS”). State contributions are made to cover costs of the TRS retirement plan up to
certain statutory limits. The District is obligated for a portion of TRS costs relating to employee salaries that exceed the statutory
limit. For fiscal year ended August 31, 2022, the District made a contribution to TRS on a portion of their employee’s salaries
that exceeded the statutory minimum. For a discussion of the TRS retirement plan, see “Note K — Defined Benefit Pension Plan”
to the audited financial statements of the District that are attached hereto as Appendix D (the “Financial Statements”).

In addition to its participation in the System, the District contributes to the Texas Public School Retired Employees Group
Insurance Program (the “TRS-Care Retired Plan”), a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit post-employment health
care plan. The TRS-Care Retired Plan provides health care coverage for certain persons (and their dependents) who retired
under the Teacher Retirement System of Texas. Contribution requirements are not actuarially determined but are legally
established each biennium by the Texas Legislature. For more detailed information concerning the District’s funding policy and
contributions in connection with the TRS-Care Retired Plan, see “Note L - Defined Other Post-Employment Benefit Plans” to
Financial Statements attached hereto as Appendix D.

During the fiscal year ended August 31, 2022, employees of the District were covered by a fully-insured health insurance plan
(the “Health Care Plan”). Employees, at their option, authorize payroll withholdings to pay premiums for dependents. See “Note
N - Health Care Coverage” of the Financial Statements.

Formal collective bargaining agreements relating directly to wages and other conditions of employment are prohibited by State
law, as are strikes by teachers. There are various local, state and national organized employee groups who engage in efforts to
better terms and conditions of employment of school employees. Some districts have adopted a policy to consult with employer
groups with respect to certain terms and conditions of employment. Some examples of these groups are the Texas State
Teachers Association, the Texas Classroom Teachers Association, the Association of Texas Professional Educators and the
National Education Association.

In June 2012, Government Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 68 (Accounting and Financial Reporting for
Pensions) was issued to improve accounting and financial reporting by state and local governments regarding pensions. GASB
Statement No. 68 requires reporting entities, such as the District, to recognize their proportionate share of the net pension
liability and operating statement activity related to changes in collective pension liability. This means that reporting entities, such
as the District, that contribute to the TRS pension plan will report a liability on the face of their government-wide financial
statements. Such reporting began with the District’s fiscal year ending August 31, 2015. See “APPENDIX A — Change in Net
Assets”. GASB Statement No. 68 applies only to pension benefits and does not apply to Other Post-Employment Benefits
(OPEB) or TRS-Care related liabilities.

RATING

The Bonds are rated “Aaa” by Moody’s Investors Services, Inc. (“Moody’s”) based upon the Texas Permanent School Fund
Guarantee Program. (See “APPENDIX E - THE PERMANENT SCHOOL FUND GUARANTEE PROGRAM” herein). The
District's underlying, unenhanced rating, including the Bonds, is “Aa2” from Moody’s. A securities rating is not a recommendation to
buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to revision or withdrawal at any time.

An explanation of the significance of such ratings may be obtained from the company furnishing the ratings. The ratings reflect
only the view of such organization and the District makes no representation as to the appropriateness of any rating. There is no
assurance that any rating will continue for any given period of time one or both of such ratings will not be revised downward or
withdrawn entirely by the rating company, if in the judgment of such company the circumstances so warrant. Any such
downward revision or withdrawal of one or more ratings, may have an adverse effect on the market price or marketability of the
Bonds.

LEGAL MATTERS

The delivery of the Bonds is subject to the approval of the Attorney General of Texas, who will deliver its opinion, to the effect that
the Bonds are valid and legally binding obligations of the District payable from the proceeds of an annual ad valorem tax levied,
without legal limit as to rate or amount, upon all taxable property in the District, and based upon examination of such transcript of
proceedings, the approving legal opinion of McCall, Parkhurst & Horton L.L.P., Bond Counsel to the District (“Bond Counsel”), to
like effect and to the effect that the interest on the Bonds will be excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes
under section 103(a) of the Internal Revenue Code, subject to the matters described under “TAX MATTERS” herein. The form of
Bond Counsel’s opinion is attached hereto as Appendix C.

Bond Counsel represents the Financial Advisor and purchasers of school district bonds from time to time in matters unrelated to
the issuance of the Bonds, but Bond Counsel has been engaged by and only represents the District in the issuance of the Bonds.
McCall, Parkhurst & Horton L.L.P. also advises the TEA in connection with its disclosure obligations under the federal securities
laws, but such firm has not passed upon any TEA disclosures contained in this Official Statement. Bond Counsel was not
requested to participate, and did not take part, in the preparation of the Official Statement, and such firm has not assumed any
responsibility with respect thereto or undertaken independently to verify any of the information contained herein, except that, in its
capacity as Bond Counsel, such firm has reviewed the information describing the Bonds in the Official Statement to verify that
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such description conforms to the provisions of the Order. The District intends to pay the legal fee of Bond Counsel for services
rendered in connection with the issuance of the Bonds from the proceeds of the Bonds.

The various legal opinions to be delivered concurrently with the delivery of the Bonds express the professional judgment of the
attorneys rendering the opinions as to the legal issues explicitly addressed therein. In rendering a legal opinion, the attorney
does not become an insurer or guarantor of the expression of professional judgment, of the transaction opined upon, or of the
future performance of the parties to the transaction. Nor does the rendering of an opinion guarantee the outcome of any legal
dispute that may arise out of the transaction.

TAX MATTERS
Opinion

On the date of initial delivery of the Bonds, McCall, Parkhurst & Horton L.L.P., San Antonio, Texas, Bond Counsel to the District,
will render its opinion that, in accordance with statutes, regulations, published rulings and court decisions existing on the date
thereof (“Existing Law”), (1) interest on the Bonds for federal income tax purposes will be excludable from the “gross income” of
the holders thereof and (2) the Bonds will not be treated as “specified private activity bonds” the interest on which would be
included as an alternative minimum tax preference item under section 57(a)(5) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the
“Code”). Except as stated above, Bond Counsel will express no opinion as to any other federal, state or local tax consequences
of the purchase, ownership or disposition of the Bonds. See Appendix C — Form of Legal Opinion of Bond Counsel.

In rendering its opinion, Bond Counsel will rely upon (a) certain information and representations of the District, including

information and representations contained in the District's federal tax certificate, (b) covenants of the District contained in the

Bond documents relating to certain matters, including arbitrage and the use of the proceeds of the Bonds and the property

financed therewith, and (c) the certificate with respect to arbitrage by the Commissioner of Education regarding the allocation and

investment of certain investments in the Permanent School Fund. Failure by the District to observe the aforementioned

ae;zresfe_ntations or covenants could cause the interest on the Bonds to become includable in gross income retroactively to the
ate of issuance.

The Code and the regulations promulgated thereunder contain a number of requirements that must be satisfied subsequent to
the issuance of the Bonds in order for interest on the Bonds to be, and to remain, excludable from gross income for federal
income tax purposes. Failure to comply with such requirements may cause interest on the Bonds to be included in gross income
retroactively to the date of issuance of the Bonds. The opinion of Bond Counsel is conditioned on compliance by the District with
such requirements, and Bond Counsel has not been retained to monitor compliance with these requirements subsequent to the
issuance of the Bonds.

Bond Counsel's opinion represents its legal judgment based upon its review of Existing Law and the reliance on the
aforementioned information, representations and covenants. Bond Counsel's opinion is not a guarantee of a result. Existing Law
is subject to change by the Congress and to subsequent judicial and administrative interpretation by the courts and the
Department of the Treasury. There can be no assurance that Existing Law or the interpretation thereof will not be changed in a
manner which would adversely affect the tax treatment of the purchase, ownership or disposition of the Bonds.

A ruling was not sought from the Internal Revenue Service by the District with respect to the Bonds or the property financed with
proceeds of the Bonds. No assurances can be given as to whether the Internal Revenue Service will commence an audit of the
Bonds, or as to whether the Internal Revenue Service would agree with the opinion of Bond Counsel. If an Internal Revenue
Service audit is commenced, under current procedures the Internal Revenue Service is likely to treat the District as the taxpayer
and the Bondholders may have no right to participate in such procedure. No additional interest will be paid upon any
determination of taxability.

Federal Income Tax Accounting Treatment of Original Issue Discount

The initial public offering price to be paid for one or more maturities of the Bonds may be less than the maturity amount thereof or
one or more periods for the payment of interest on the Bonds may not be equal to the accrual period or be in excess of one year
(the "Original Issue Discount Bonds"). In such event, the difference between (i) the "stated redemption price at maturity" of each
Original Issue Discount Bond, and (ii) the initial offering price to the public of such Original Issue Discount Bond would constitute
original issue discount. The "stated redemption price at maturity" means the sum of all payments to be made on the Bonds less
the amount of all periodic interest payments. Periodic interest payments are payments which are made during equal accrual
periods (or during any unequal period if it is the initial or final period) and which are made during accrual periods which do not
exceed one year.

Under Existing Law, any owner who has purchased such Original Issue Discount Bond in the initial public offering is entitled to
exclude from gross income (as defined in section 61 of the Code) an amount of income with respect to such Original Issue
Discount Bond equal to that portion of the amount of such original issue discount allocable to the accrual period. For a
discussion of certain collateral federal tax consequences, see the discussion set forth below.

In the event of the redemption, sale or other taxable disposition of such Original Issue Discount Bond prior to stated maturity,
however, the amount realized by such owner in excess of the basis of such Original Issue Discount Bond in the hands of such
owner (adjusted upward by the portion of the original issue discount allocable to the period for which such Original Issue Discount
Bond was held by such initial owner) is includable in gross income.

Under Existing Law, the original issue discount on each Original Issue Discount Bond is accrued daily to the stated maturity
thereof (in amounts calculated as described below for each six-month period ending on the date before the semiannual
anniversary dates of the date of the Bonds and ratably within each such six-month period) and the accrued amount is added to
an initial owner's basis for such Original Issue Discount Bond for purposes of determining the amount of gain or loss recognized
by such owner upon the redemption, sale or other disposition thereof. The amount to be added to basis for each accrual period
is equal to (a) the sum of the issue price and the amount of original issue discount accrued in prior periods multiplied by the yield
to stated maturity (determined on the basis of compounding at the close of each accrual period and properly adjusted for the
length of the accrual period) less (b) the amounts payable as current interest during such accrual period on such Original Issue
Discount Bond.

The federal income tax consequences of the purchase, ownership, redemption, sale or other disposition of Original Issue

Discount Bonds which are not purchased in the initial offering at the initial offering price may be determined according to rules

which differ from those described above. All owners of Original Issue Discount Bonds should consult their own tax advisors with

respect to the determination for federal, state and local income tax purposes of the treatment of interest accrued upon

redemption, sale or other disposition of such Original Issue Discount Bonds and with respect to the federal, state, local and
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foreign tax consequences of the purchase, ownership, redemption, sale or other disposition of such Original Issue Discount
Bonds.

Collateral Federal Income Tax Consequences

The following discussion is a summary of certain collateral federal income tax consequences resulting from the purchase,
ownership or disposition of the Bonds. This discussion is based on Existing Law, which is subject to change or modification,
retroactively.

The following discussion is applicable to investors, other than those who are subject to special provisions of the Code, such as
financial institutions, property and casualty insurance companies, life insurance companies, individual recipients of Social
Security or Railroad Retirement benefits, individuals allowed an earned income credit, certain S corporations with Subchapter C
earnings and profits, foreign corporations subject to the branch profits tax, taxpayers qualifying for the health insurance premium
azlsistance credit and taxpayers who may be deemed to have incurred or continued indebtedness to purchase tax-exempt
obligations.

THE DISCUSSION CONTAINED HEREIN MAY NOT BE EXHAUSTIVE. INVESTORS, INCLUDING THOSE WHO ARE
SUBJECT TO SPECIAL PROVISIONS OF THE CODE, SHOULD CONSULT THEIR OWN TAX ADVISORS AS TO THE TAX
TREATMENT WHICH MAY BE ANTICIPATED TO RESULT FROM THE PURCHASE, OWNERSHIP AND DISPOSITION OF
TAX-EXEMPT OBLIGATIONS BEFORE DETERMINING WHETHER TO PURCHASE THE BONDS.

Under section 6012 of the Code, holders of tax-exempt obligations, such as the Bonds, may be required to disclose interest
received or accrued during each taxable year on their returns of federal income taxation.
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Interest on the Bonds may be includable in certain corporations’ “adjusted financial statement income” determined under section
56A of the Code to calculate the alternative minimum tax imposed by section 55 of the Code.

Section 1276 of the Code provides for ordinary income tax treatment of gain recognized upon the disposition of a tax-exempt
obligation, such as the Bonds, if such obligation was acquired at a "market discount" and if the fixed maturity of such obligation
is equal to, or exceeds, one year from the date of issue. Such treatment applies to "market discount bonds" to the extent such
gain does not exceed the accrued market discount of such bonds; although for this purpose, a de minimis amount of market
discount is ignored. A "market discount bond" is one which is acquired by the holder at a purchase price which is less than the
stated redemption price at maturity or, in the case of a bond issued at an original issue discount, the "revised issue price" (i.e.,
the issue price plus accrued original issue discount). The "accrued market discount" is the amount which bears the same ratio
to the market discount as the number of days during which the holder holds the obligation bears to the number of days between
the acquisition date and the final maturity date.

Future and Proposed Legislation

Tax legislation, administrative actions taken by tax authorities, or court decisions, whether at the Federal or state level, may
adversely affect the tax-exempt status of interest on the Bonds under Federal or state law and could affect the market price or
marketability of the Bonds. Any such proposal could limit the value of certain deductions and exclusions, including the exclusion
for tax-exempt interest. The likelihood of any such proposal being enacted cannot be predicted. Prospective purchasers of the
Bonds should consult their own tax advisors regarding the foregoing matters.

Information Reporting and Backup Withholding

Subject to certain exceptions, information reports describing interest income, including original issue discount, with respect to
the Bonds will be sent to each registered holder and to the IRS. Payments of interest and principal may be subject to backup
withholding under section 3406 of the Code if a recipient of the payments fails to furnish to the payor such owner's social
security number or other taxpayer identification number ("TIN"), furnishes an incorrect TIN, or otherwise fails to establish an
exemption from the backup withholding tax. Any amounts so withheld would be allowed as a credit against the recipient’s
federal income tax. Special rules apply to partnerships, estates and trusts, and in certain circumstances, and in respect of
foreign investors, certifications as to foreign status and other matters may be required to be provided by partners and
beneficiaries thereof.

State, Local and Foreign Taxes

Investors should consult their own tax advisors concerning the tax implications of the purchase, ownership or disposition of the
Bonds under applicable state or local laws. Foreign investors should also consult their own tax advisors regarding the tax
consequences unique to investors who are not United States persons.

INVESTMENT POLICIES
Investments

The District invests its funds in investments authorized by Texas law in accordance with investment policies approved by the
Board of the District. Both State law and the District’s investment policies are subject to change.

Legal Investments

Under State law, the District is authorized to invest in: (1) obligations, including letters of credit, of the United States or its
agencies and instrumentalities, including the Federal Home Loan Banks; (2) direct obligations of the State or its agencies and
instrumentalities; (3) collateralized mortgage obligations issued by a federal agency or instrumentality of the United States, the
underlying security for which is guaranteed by an agency or instrumentality of the United States; (4) other obligations, the
principal and interest of which are unconditionally guaranteed or insured by, or backed by the full faith and credit of, the State or
the United States or their respective agencies and instrumentalities, including obligations that are fully guaranteed or insured by
the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (the “FDIC”) or by the explicit full faith and credit of the United States; (5) obligations
of states, agencies, counties, cities, and other political subdivisions of any state rated as to investment quality by a nationally
recognized investment rating firm not less than A or its equivalent; (6) bonds issued, assumed, or guaranteed by the State of
Israel; (7) interest-bearing banking deposits that are guaranteed or insured by the FDIC or the National Credit Union Share
Insurance Fund (the “NCUSIF”) or their respective successors; (8) interest-bearing banking deposits, other than those described
in clause (7), that (i) are invested through a broker or institution with a main office or branch office in this state and selected by
the District in compliance with the PFIA, (ii) the broker or institution arranges for the deposit of the funds in one or more federally
insured depository institutions, wherever located, for the District’'s account, (iii) the full amount of the principal and accrued
interest of the banking deposits is insured by the United States or an instrumentality of the United States, and (iv) the District
appoints as its custodian of the banking deposits, in compliance with the PFIA, the institution in clause (8)(i) above, a bank, or a
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broker-dealer; (9) certificates of deposit and share certificates meeting the requirements of the PFIA (i) that are issued by an
institution that has its main office or a branch office in the State and are guaranteed or insured by the FDIC or the NCUSIF, or
their respective successors, or are secured as to principal by obligations described in clauses (1) through (8), above, or secured
in accordance with Chapter 2257, Texas Government Code, or in any other manner and amount provided by law for District
deposits, or (i) where (a) the funds are invested by the District through a broker or institution that has a main office or branch
office in the State and selected by the District in compliance with the PFIA, (b) the broker or institution arranges for the deposit of
the funds in one or more federally insured depository institutions, wherever located, for the account of the District, (c) the full
amount of the principal and accrued interest of each of the certificates of deposit is insured by the United States or an
instrumentality of the United States; and (d) the District appoints, in compliance with the PFIA, the institution in clause (9)(ii)(a)
above, a bank, or broker-dealer as custodian for the District with respect to the certificates of deposit; (10) fully collateralized
repurchase agreements that have a defined termination date, are secured by a combination of cash and obligations described by
clauses (1) or (12), which are pledged to the District, held in the District’'s name, and deposited at the time the investment is made
with the District or with a third party selected and approved by the District, and are placed through a primary government
securities dealer, as defined by the Federal Reserve, or a financial institution doing business in the State; (11) certain bankers’
acceptances with a stated maturity of 270 days or less, if the short-term obligations of the accepting bank, or of the holding
company of which the bank is the largest subsidiary, are rated not less than A-1 or P-1 or the equivalent by at least one nationally
recognized credit rating agency; (12) commercial paper with a stated maturity of 365 days or less that is rated at least A-1 or P-1
or an equivalent by either (i) two nationally recognized credit rating agencies, or (ii) one nationally recognized credit rating agency
if the commercial paper is fully secured by an irrevocable letter of credit issued by a United States or state bank; (13) no-load
money market mutual funds registered with and regulated by the Securities and Exchange Commission and complies with
Securities and Exchange Commission Rule 2a-7; (14) no-load mutual funds that are registered and regulated by the Securities
and Exchange Commission that have a weighted maturity of less than two years and either (i) have a duration of one year or
more and are invested exclusively in obligations approved in this paragraph, or (ii) have a duration of less than one year and the
investment portfolio is limited to investment grade securities, excluding asset backed securities; (15) guaranteed investment
contracts that have a defined termination date and are secured by obligations described in clause (1), excluding obligations which
the District is explicitly prohibited from investing in, and in an amount at least equal to the amount of bond proceeds invested
under such contract; and (16) securities lending programs if (i) the securities loaned under the program are 100% collateralized,
including accrued income, (ii) a loan made under the program allows for termination at any time, (ii) a loan made under the
program is either secured by (a) obligations described in clauses (1) through (8) above, (b) irrevocable letters of credit issued by
a state or national bank that is continuously rated by a nationally recognized investment rating firm at not less than A or its
equivalent, or (c) cash invested in obligations described in clauses (1) through (8) above, clauses (12) through (14) above, or an
authorized investment pool, (iv) the terms of a loan made under the program require that the securities being held as collateral be
pledged to the District, held in the District's name, and deposited at the time the investment is made with the District or with a
third party designated by the District, (v) a loan made under the program is placed through either a primary government securities
dealer or a financial institution doing business in the State, and (vi) the agreement to lend securities has a term of one year or
less.

The District may invest in such obligations directly or through government investment pools that invest solely in such obligations
provided that the pools are rated no lower than “AAA” or “AAAmM” or an equivalent by at least one nationally recognized rating
service.

The District is specifically prohibited from investing in: (1) obligations whose payment represents the coupon payments on the
outstanding principal balance of the underlying mortgage-backed security collateral and pays no principal; (2) obligations whose
payment represents the principal stream of cash flow from the underlying mortgage-backed security and bears no interest; (3)
collateralized mortgage obligations that have a stated final maturity of greater than 10 years; and (4) collateralized mortgage
obligations the interest rate of which is determined by an index that adjusts opposite to the changes in a market index.

Under State law, the District may contract with an investment management firm registered under the Investment Advisers Act of
1940 (15 U.S.C. Section 80b-1 et seq.) or with the State Securities Board to provide for the investment and management of its
public funds or other funds under its control for a term of up to two years, but the District retains ultimate responsibility as
fiduciary of its assets. In order to renew or extend such a contract, the District must do so by order, ordinance or resolution. The
District has not contracted with, and has no present intention of contracting with, any such investment management firm or the
Texas Securities Board to provide such services.

Investment Policies

Under State law, the District is required to invest its funds under written investment policies that primarily emphasize safety of
principal and liquidity; that address investment diversification, yield, maturity, and the quality and capability of investment
management; and that includes a list of authorized investments for District funds, maximum allowable stated maturity of any
individual investment owned by the District and the maximum average dollar-weighted maturity allowed for pooled fund groups.
All District funds must be invested consistent with a formally adopted “Investment Strategy Statement” that specificall%/ addresses
each fund’s investment. Each Investment Strategy Statement will describe its objectives concerning: (1) suitability of investment
typée,(s()Z)pl;gservation and safety of principal, (3) liquidity, (4) marketability of each investment, (5) diversification of the portfolio,
an yield.

State law also requires that District investments must be made “with judgment and care, under prevailing circumstances, that a
person of prudence, discretion, and intelligence would exercise in the management of the person’s own affairs, not for
speculation, but for investment, considering the probable safety of capital and the probable income to be derived”. At least
quarterly the investment officers of the District shall submit an investment report detailing: (1) the investment position of the
District, (2) that all investment officers jointly prepared and signed the report, (3) the beginning market value, any additions and
changes to market value and the ending value of each pooled fund group, (4) the book value and market value of each
separately listed asset at the beginning and end of the reporting period, (5) the maturity date of each separately invested asset,
(6) the account or fund or pooled fund group for which each individual investment was acquired, and (7) the compliance of the
investment portfolio as it relates to: (a) adopted investment strategy statements and (b) State law. No person may invest District
funds without express written authority from the Board.

Additional Provisions

Under State law, the District is additionally required to: (1) annually review its adopted policies and strategies, (2) adopt a rule,
order, ordinance or resolution stating that it has reviewed its investment policy and investment strategies and records any
changes made to either its investment policy or investment strategy in the respective rule, order, ordinance or resolution,
(3) require any investment officers with personal business relationships or relatives with firms seeking to sell securities to the
entity to disclose the relationship and file a statement with the Texas Ethics Commission and the Board; (4) require the qualified
representative of firms offering? to engage in an investment transaction with the District to: (a) receive and review the District's
investment policy, (b) acknowledge that reasonable controls and procedures have been implemented to preclude investment
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transactions conducted between the District and the business organization that are not authorized b% the District’s investment
policy (except to the extent that this authorization is dependent on an analysis of the makeup of the District’s entire portfolio or
requires an interpretation of subjective investment standards), and (c) deliver a written statement in a form acceptable to the
District and the business organization attesting to these requirements; (5) perform an annual audit of the management controls
on investments and adherence to the District’s investment policy; (6) provide specific investment training for the Treasurer, Chief
Financial Officer and investment officers; (7) restrict reverse repurchase agreements to not more than 90 days and restrict the
investment of reverse repurchase agreement funds to no greater than the term of the reverse purchase agreement; (8) restrict
the investment in no-load mutual funds in the aggregate to no more than 15% of the District's monthly average fund balance,
excluding bond proceeds and reserves and other funds held for debt service; (9) require local government investment pools to
conform to the new disclosure, ratlngll net asset value, yield calculation, and advisory board requirements, and (10) at least
%nnually review, revise, and adopt a list of qualified brokers that are authorized to engage in investment transactions with the
istrict.

Current Investments

As of May 31, 2023, the District had approximately $13,960,307 (unaudited) invested at TexTerm (an investment pool that
generally has the characteristics of a money-market fund). The market value of such investments (as determined by the District
by reference to published quotations, dealer bids, and comparable information) is approximately 100% of the book value. No
funds of the District are invested in derivative securities, i.e., securities whose rate of return is determined by reference to some
other instrument, index, or commodity.

REGISTRATION AND QUALIFICATION OF BONDS FOR SALE

No registration statement relating to the Bonds has been filed with the SEC under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, in reliance upon the exemgtion provided thereunder by Section 3(a)(2). The Bonds have not been approved or
disapproved by the SEC, nor has the SEC gassed upon the accuracy or adequacy of the Official Statement. The Bonds have
not been registered or qualified under the Securities Act of Texas in reliance upon various exemptions contained therein; nor
have the Bonds been registered or qualified under the securities acts of any other jurisdiction. The District assumes no
responsibility for registration or qualification of the Bonds under the securities laws of any jurisdiction in which the Bonds may be
sold, assigned, pledged, hypothecated or otherwise transferred. This disclaimer of responsibility for registration or qualification
for sale or other disposition of the Bonds shall not be construed as an interpretation of any kind with regard to the availability of
any exemption from securities registration or qualification provisions.

It is the obligation of the Purchaser to register or qualify the sale of the Bonds under the securities laws of any jurisdiction which
so requires. The District has agreed to cooperate, at the Purchaser’s written request and sole expense, in registering or
qualifying the Bonds or in obtaining an exemption from registration or qualification in any state where such action is necessary;
provided, however, that the District shall not be required to qualify as a foreign corporation or to execute a general or special
consent to service of process in any jurisdiction.

CYBERSECURITY RISK MANAGEMENT

The District’'s operations are increasingly dependent on information technologies and services, which are exposed to
cybersecurity risks and cyber incidents or attacks. While the District continually assesses and monitors its cybersecurity risks,
the District has been (and may be in the future) subject to cyber-attacks from time to time. In response to such assessments and
monitoring, the District takes actions it deems appropriate in response to cybersecurity risks, including, but not limited to,
implementing cybersecurity training programs, obtaining technology improvements to mitigate cybersecurity risks, and taking
other similar measures. To date, the District has not been the victim of any cyber-attack that has had a material adverse effect
on its operations or financial condition. However, no assurance can be given that the District will fully prevent or successfully
remediate the operational and/or financial impact of any cybersecurity incursions or incidents arising from events wholly or
partially beyond the District’s control, including electrical telecommunications outages, natural disasters or cyber-attacks initiated
by criminal activities of individuals or organizations. Any such occurrence could materially and adversely affect the District’s
operations and/or financial condition.

FINANCIAL ADVISOR

SAMCO Capital Markets, Inc. (the “Financial Advisor”) is employed as Financial Advisor to the District to assist in the issuance
of the Bonds. In this capacity, the Financial Advisor has compiled certain data relating to the Bonds that is contained in this
Official Statement. The Financial Advisor has not independently verified any of the data contained herein or conducted a
detailed investigation of the affairs of the District to determine the accuracy or completeness of this Official Statement. Because
of their limited participation, the Financial Advisor assumes no responsibility for the accuracy or completeness of any of the
information contained herein. The fee of the Financial Advisor for services with respect to the Bonds is contingent upon the
issuance and sale of the Bonds. In the normal course of business, the Financial Advisor may from time to time sell investment
securities to the District for the investment of bond proceeds or other funds of the District upon the request of the District.

The Financial Advisor has provided the following sentence for inclusion in this Official Statement. The Financial Advisor has
reviewed the information in this Official Statement in accordance with, and as part of, its responsibilities to the District and, as
applicable, to investors under the federal securities laws as applied to the facts and circumstances of this transaction, but the
Financial Advisor does not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of such information.

LEGAL INVESTMENTS AND ELIGIBILITY TO SECURE PUBLIC FUNDS IN TEXAS

Section 1201.041 of the Public Securities Procedures Act (Chapter 1201, Texas Government Code) provides that the Bonds are
negotiable instruments governed by Chapter 8, Texas Business and Commerce Code, and are legal and authorized investments
for insurance companies, fiduciaries, and trustees, and for the sinking funds of municipalities or other political subdivisions or
public agencies of the State. With respect to investment in the Bonds by municipalities or other political subdivisions or public
agencies of the State, the Public Funds Investment Act, Chapter 2256, Texas Government Code, requires that the Bonds be
assigned a rating of not less than “A” or its equivalent as to investment quality by a national rating agency. See “RATING”
herein. In addition, various provisions of the Texas Finance Code provide that, subject to a prudent investor standard, the
Bonds are legal investments for state banks, savings banks, trust companies with at least $1 million of capital, and savings and
loan associations. The Bonds are eligible to secure deposits of any public funds of the State, its agencies, and its political
subdivisions, and are legal security for those deposits to the extent of their market value.

The District has made no investigation of other laws, rules, regulations or investment criteria which might apply to such institutions
or entities or which might limit the suitability of the Bonds for any of the foregoing purposes or limit the authority of such institutions
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or entities to purchase or invest in the Bonds for such purposes. The District has made no review of laws in other states to
determine whether the Bonds are legal investments for various institutions in those states.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION

In the Order, the District has made the following agreement for the benefit of the holders and beneficial owners of the Bonds. The
District is required to observe the agreement for so long as it remains obligated to advance funds to pay the Bonds. Under the
agreement, the District will be obligated to provide certain updated financial information and operating data annually, and timely
notice of specified events, to the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board (“MSRB”). For a description of the continuing disclosure
obligations of the TEA, see “APPENDIX E - THE PERMANENT SCHOOL FUND GUARANTEE PROGRAM.” The information
provided to the MSRB will be available to the public free of charge via the Electronic Municipal Markets Access (“EMMA”)
system at www.emma.msrb.org.

Annual Reports

The District will provide certain updated financial information and operating data annually to the MSRB. The information to be
updated includes financial information and operating data with respect to the District of the general type included in this Official
Statement in Appendix A (such information being the “Annual Operating Report”). The District will additionally provide financial
statements of the District (the “Financial Statements”), that will be (i) prepared in accordance with the accounting principles
described in Appendix D or such other accounting principles as the District may be required to employ from time to time pursuant to
State law or regulation and shall be in substantially the form included in Appendix D and (ii) audited, if the District commissions an
audit of such Financial Statements and the audit is completed within the period during which they must be provided. The District
will update and provide the Annual Operating Report within six months after the end of each fiscal year and the Financial
Statements within 12 months of the end of each fiscal year, in each case beginning with the fiscal year ending in and after 2023.
The District may provide the Financial Statements earlier, including at the time it provides its Annual Operating Report, but if the
audit of such Financial Statements is not complete within 12 months after any such fiscal year end, then the District shall file
unaudited Financial Statements within such 12-month period and audited Financial Statements for the applicable fiscal year, when
and if the audit report on such Financial Statements becomes available.

The District may provide updated information in full text or may incorporate by reference certain other publicly available documents,
as permitted by SEC Rule 15¢2-12.

The District's current fiscal year end is August 31. Accordingly, the Annual Operating Report must be provided by the last day of
February in each year, and the Financial Statements must be provided by August 31 of each year, unless the District changes its
fiscal year. If the District changes its fiscal year, it will notify the MSRB of the change.

Notice of Certain Events

The District will also provide timely notices of certain events to the MSRB. The District will provide notice of any of the following
events with respect to the Bonds to the MSRB in a timely manner (but not in excess of ten business days after the occurrence of
the event): (1) principal and interest payment delinquencies; (2) non-payment related defaults, if material, (3) unscheduled draws on
debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties; (4) unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties;
S) substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform; (6) adverse tax opinions, the issuance b the Internal

evenue Service of proposed or final determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701-T or other
material notices or determinations with respect to the tax status of the Bonds, or other material events affecting the tax status of the
Bonds; (7) modifications to rights of holders of the Bonds, if material; (8) Bond calls, if material, and tender offers; (9) defeasances;
(10) release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the Bonds, if material; (11) rating changes; (12) bankruptcy,
insolvency, receivership, or similar event of the District, which shall occur as described below; (13) the consummation of a merger,
consolidation, or acquisition involving the District or the sale of all or substantially all of its assets, other than in the ordinary course
of business, the entry into of a definitive agreement to undertake such an action or the termination of a definitive agreement relating
to any such actions, other than pursuant to its terms, if material; (14) appointment of a successor or additional pafylng
agent/registrar or the change of name of a paying agent/registrar, if material; and (15) incurrence of a financial obligation of the
District, if material, or agreement to covenants, events of default, remedies, priority rights, or other similar terms of a financial
obligation of the District, any of which affect security holders, if material; and (16) default, event of acceleration, termination event,
modification of terms, or others similar events under the terms of a financial obligation of the District, any of which reflect financial
difficulties. In addition, the District will provide timely notice of any failure by the District to provide annual financial information in
accordance with their agreement described above under “Annual Reports”. The District will provide each notice described in this
paragraph to the MSRB. Neither the Bonds nor the Order make any provision for a bond trustee, debt service reserves, credit
enhancement (except for the Permanent School Fund guarantee), or liquidity enhancement. In the Order, the District adopted
policies and procedures to ensure timely compliance of its continuing disclosure undertakings.

For these purposes, (a) an event described in clause (12) of in the immediatel precedintg paragraph is considered to occur when
any of the following occur: the appointment of a receiver, fiscal agent, or similar officer for the District in a proceeding under the
United States Bankruptcy Code or in any other proceeding under state or federal law in which a court or governmental authority has
assumed jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or business of the District, or if such jurisdiction has been assumed by
leaving the existing governing body and officials or officers in possession but subject to the supervision and orders of a court or
governmental authority, or the entry of an order confirming a plan of reorganization, arrangement, or liquidation by a court or
governmental authority having supervision or jurisdiction over substantlally all of the assets or business of the District. For the
purposes of the above describe event notices <15 ) and (16), the term “financial obligation” means a (i) debt obligation, (ii) derivative
instrument entered into in connection with, or pledged as security or a source of payment for, an existing or planned debt obligation,
or (iii) a guarantee of (i) or (ii); provided however that a “financial obllgation" shall not include municipal securities as to which a final
official statement (as defined in the Rule) has been provided to the MSRB consistent with the Rule.

Availability of Information

All information and documentation filing required to be made by the District in accordance with its undertaking made for the Bonds
will be made with the MSRB in electronic format in accordance with MSRB guidelines. Access to such filings will be provided,
without charge to the general public, by the MSRB through EMMA at www.emma.msrb.org.

Limitations and Amendments

The District has agreed to update information and to provide notices of events only as described above. The District has not agreed

to provide other information that may be relevant or material to a complete presentation of its financial results of operations,

condition, or prospects or agreed to update any information that has been provided except as described above. The District makes

no representatlon or warranty concerning such information or concerning its usefulness to a decision to invest in or sell Bonds at

any future date. The District disclaims any contractual or tort liability for damages resulting in whole or in part from any breach of its

continuing disclosure agreement or from any statement made pursuant to its agreement, although holders of Bonds may seek a writ
20



of mandamus to compel the District to comply with its agreement. Nothing in this paragraph is intended or shall act to disclaim,
waive or limit the District’s duties under federal or state securities laws.

The District may amend its continuing disclosure agreement to adapt to changed circumstances that arise from a change in legal
requirements, a change in law, or a change in the identity, nature, status, or type of operations of the District, if, but only if, (1) the
agreement, as so amended, would have permitted underwriters to purchase or sell Bonds in the initial primary offering in
compliance with the Rule, taking into account any amendments or interpretations of the Rule to the date of such amendment, as
well as such changed circumstances, and (2) either (a) the holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the outstanding
Bonds consent or (b) any qualified person unaffiliated with the District (such as nationally recognized bond counsel) determines that
the amendment will not materially impair the interests of the holders and beneficial owners of the Bonds. The District may also
amend or repeal the provisions of this continuing disclosure agreement if the SEC amends or repeals the applicable provision of
the Rule or a court of final jurisdiction enters judgment that such provisions of the Rule are invalid, but only if and to the extent
that the provisions of this sentence would not prevent an underwriter from lawfully purchasing or selling Bonds in the primary
offering of the Bonds. If the District amends its agreement, it has agreed to include with the financial information and operating data
next provided, in accordance with its agreement described above under “Annual Reports” an explanation, in narrative form, of the
reasons for the amendment and of the impact of any change in the type of information and operating data so provided.

Compliance with Prior Undertakings

During the past five years, to the best of its knowledge, the District has complied in all material respects with all continuing
disclosure agreements made by it in accordance with the Rule except due to an administrative oversight, the District failed to file
timely notice regarding the July 26, 2022 rating upgrade by Moody’s. The notice was filed on December 14, 2022 and the District
has instituted procedures to ensure timely filing of all required information.

LITIGATION

In the opinion of District officials, the District is not a party to any litigation or other proceeding pending or to their knowledge
threatened, in any court, agency or other administrative body #either state or federal) which, if decided adversely to the District,
would have a material adverse effect on the financial condition of the District.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

The statements contained in this Official Statement, and in any other information provided by the District, that are not purely
historical, are forward-looking statements, including statements regarding the District’'s expectations, hopes, intentions, or strategies
regarding the future. Readers should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements. All forward-looking statements
included in this Official Statement are based on information available to the District on the date hereof, and the District assumes no
obligation to update any such forward-looking statements. It is important to note that the District's actual results could differ
materially from those in such forward-looking statements.

The forward-looking statements herein are necessarily based on various assumptions and estimates and are inherently subject to
various risks and uncertainties, including risks and uncertainties relating to the possible invalidity of the underlying assumptions and
estimates and possible changes or developments in social, economic, business, industry, market, legal and regulatory
circumstances and conditions and actions taken or omitted to be taken by third parties, including customers, suppliers, business
partners and competitors, and legislative, judicial and other governmental authorities and officials. Assumptions related to the
foregoing involve judgments with respect to, among other things, future economic, competitive, and market conditions and future
business decisions, all of which are difficult or impossible to predict accurately and many of which are beyond the control of the
District. Any of such assumptions could be inaccurate and, therefore, there can be no assurance that the forward-looking
statements included in this Official Statement would prove to be accurate.

WINNING BIDDER

After requesting competitive bids for the Bonds, the District accepted the bid of Mesirow Financial, Inc. (the “Purchaser” or the
“Initial Purchaser”) to purchase the Bonds at the interest rates shown on the page 2 of this Official Statement at a price of par, plus
a net reoffering premium of $3,488,489.25, plus accrued interest on the Bonds from their Dated Date to their date of initial delivery.
The initial reoffering yields shown on page 2 hereof will produce compensation to the Purchaser in the amount of $579,259.02. The
District can give no assurance that any trading market will be developed for the District after their sale by the District to the
Purchaser. The District has no control over the price at which the Bonds are subsequently sold and the initial yield at which the
Bonds will be priced and reoffered will be established by and will be the responsibility of the Purchaser.

CERTIFICATION OF THE OFFICIAL STATEMENT AND NO LITIGATION

At the time of payment for and delivery of the Initial Bond, the Purchaser will be furnished a certificate, executed by proper officials
of the District, acting in their official capacities, to the effect that to the best of their knowledge and belief: (a) the descriptions and
statements of or pertaining to the District contained in its Official Statement, and any addenda, supplement or amendment thereto,
for the Bonds, on the date of such Official Statement, on the date of sale of said Bonds and the acceptance of the best bid therefor,
and on the date of the delivery, were and are true and correct in all material respects; (b) insofar as the District and its affairs,
including its financial affairs, are concerned, such Official Statement did not and does not contain an untrue statement of a material
fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; (c) insofar as the descriptions and statements including financial data,
of or pertaining to entities, other than the District, and their activities contained in such Official Statement are concerned, such
statements and data have been obtained from sources which the District believes to be reliable and the District has no reason to
believe that they are untrue in any material respect; (d) except as may be otherwise described in the Official Statement, there has
been no material adverse change in the financial condition of the District, since August 31, 2022, the date of the last financial
statements of the District appearing in the Official Statement; and (e) no litigation of any nature has been filed or is pending, as of
the date hereof, to restrain or enjoin the issuance or delivery of the Bonds or which would affect the provisions made for their
payment or security or in any manner question the validity of the Bonds.

CONCLUDING STATEMENT

No person has been authorized to give any information or to make any representations other than those contained in this Official
Statement, and if given or made, such other information or representations must not be relied upon as having been authorized by
the District. This Official Statement does not constitute an offer to sell or solicitation of an offer to buy in any state in which such
offer or solicitation is not authorized or in which the person making such offer or solicitation is not qualified to do so or to any person
to whom it is unlawful to make such offer or solicitation.

The information set forth herein has been obtained from the District's records, audited financial statements and other sources which

the District considers to be reliable. There is no guarantee that any of the assumptions or estimates contained herein will ever be

realized. All of the summaries of the statutes, documents and the Order contained in this Official Statement are made subject to all

of the provisions of such statutes, documents, and the Order. These summaries do not purport to be complete statements of such
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provisions and reference is made to such summarized documents for further information. Reference is made to official documents
in all respects.

The Order authorized the issuance of the Bonds and approved the form and content of this Official Statement and any addenda,
supplement or amendment thereto and authorized its further use in the re-offering of the Bonds by the Purchaser. The Board has
approved the Official Statement for distribution in accordance with the provisions of the SEC Rule 15¢2-12.

/sl Sarah Allen

President, Board of Trustees

ATTEST:

/s/ Matt McKennis

Secretary, Board of Trustees

22



APPENDIX A

FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE DISTRICT



(this page intentionally left blank)



JOHNSON CITY INDEPENDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT
Financial Information

ASSESSED VALUATION

2022/23 Total ValUtioN. ..........ccoiiiiiiiiiiiiiii e $  6,539,409,958

Less Exemptions & Deductions @

State Homestead Exemption $ 68,686,404
State Over-65 Exemption 9,435,322
Disabled Exemption 11,614,056
Veterans Exemption 678,998
Solar / Wind Power Exemption Loss 14,536
Prorations & Other Partial Exemptions 70
Productivity Loss 4,916,301,202
Homestead Cap Loss 82,224,017
$ 5,088,954,605
2022/23 Net Taxable ValUation .............ooiiiiii et eaaees $ 1,450,455,353
2023/24 Certified Net Taxable Valuation @) ...t $  1,679,714,448
(1) Source: Comptroller of Public Accounts - Property Tax Division. The p of a Texas C itutional A on May 7, 2022 election increased the homestead

exemption from $25,000 to $40,000. See "AD VALOREM TAX PROCEDURES -- Residential Homestead Exemptions" in this Official Statement.

(2) Excludes the values on which property taxes are frozen for persons 65 years of age or older and disabled taxpayers which totaled $52,997,425 in 2022/23.

(3) Source: Certified Values from the Blanco, Travis, Llano, and Hays Central Appraisal Districts as of July 2023. During the second special session, the Legislature passed Senate
Bill 2 (“SB 2”), which includes pravtslons that reduce the maxlmum M&O tax compression rate by $0.107, increase the school district mandatory homestead exemptlon from 340 000
to $100,000, and places further li values on certain classes of properties. The provision il g the

$100,000 will be submitted to voters of the State on November 7 2023. SB 2 also makes provision for State aid funding to pay for the Ioss in school district I&S tax revenue (i.e. “ho/d
harmless’) for debt that (i) is issued prior to September 1, 2023, or (ii) is approved by voters but not yet issued as of September 1, 2023.

VOTED GENERAL OBLIGATION DEBT

Unlimited Tax Bonds Outstanding $ 8,195,000
Plus: The Bonds 52,545,000
Total Unlimited Tax Bonds $ 60,740,000
Less: Interest & Sinking Fund Balance (As of August 31, 2022) (" (267,969)
Net General Obligation Debt $ 60,472,031
Ratio of Net G.O. Debt to Net Taxable Valuation 3.60%
2023 Population Estimate 7,287
Per Capita Net Taxable Valuation $230,508
Per Capita Net G.O. Debt $8,299

(1) Source: Johnson City ISD Audited Financial Statements.

(2) See "CURRENT PUBLIC SCHOOL FINANCE SYSTEM," "DEBT SERVICE REQUIREMENTS" and the "Audited Financial Report Fiscal Year Ended August 31, 2022" in
Appendix D for more information relative to the District's long-term obligations other than unlimited tax bonds.

(3) Source: Municipal Advisory Council of Texas.

PROPERTY TAX RATES AND COLLECTIONS

Net
Taxable % Collections ©

Fiscal Year Valuation Tax Rate Current ? Total 7

2006/07 $ 451,268,655 ) § 1.4325 © 97.59% 99.96%

2007/08 503,013,202 1.1780 ® 97.36% 99.51%

2008/09 544,925,399 1.1915 96.62% 98.69%

2009/10 567,582,750 " 1.1860 96.70% 99.88%

2010/11 584,979,704 1.1936 96.34% 98.96%

2011/12 579,429,472 1.1930 97.09% 100.56%

2012/13 584,328,303 1.1923 98.21% 101.81%

2013/14 601,333,126 " 1.1600 98.63% 101.16%

2014/15 643,132,085 " 1.1482 98.98% 100.23%

2015/16 679,750,131 V@ 11458 97.55% 98.19%

2016/17 728,581,572 V@ 1.1409 98.67% 101.07%

2017/18 788,521,876 '@ 1.1339 98.12% 99.70%

2018/19 877,914,826 (V@ 1.1339 97.86% 99.47%

2019/20 973,485,402 '@ 11639 © 98.80% 99.82%

2020/21 1,032,043,958 V@ 1.1438 98.35% 99.11%

2021/22 1,162,182,817 '@ 10659 98.79% 100.09%

2022/23 1,450,455,353 (V@ 10485 (In Process of Collection)

2023/24 1,679,714,448 “©
(1) Source: Comptroller of Public Accounts - Property Tax Division.
(2) The passage of a Texas Constitutional Amendment on November 3, 2015 ii the t ion from $15,000 to $25,000.
(3) The passage of a Texas Constitutional Amendment on May 7, 2022 ii the ption from $25,000 to $40,000.
(4) Source: Certified Values from the Blanco, Travis, Llano, and Hays Central Appralsal Districts as of July 2023.
(5) During the second special session, the Legislature passed Senate Bill 2 (“SB 2), which includes provisions that reduce the i M&O tax P ion rate by $0.107,
increase the school d/strlct mandatory homestead exsmpl/on from $40,000 to $100,000, and places further limitations on increases in appraised values on certain classes of properties.
The provision g the hy d exemption to $100,000 will be submitted to voters of the State on November 7, 2023. SB 2 also makes provision for State aid

funding to pay for the loss in school district I&S tax revenue (i.e. “hold harmless’) for debt that (i) is issued prior to September 1, 2023, or (ii) is approved by voters but not yet issued as
of September 1, 2023.

(6) Source: Johnson City ISD Audited Financial Statements.

(7) Excludes penalties and interest.

(8) The declines in the District's Maintenance & Operation Tax for the 2006/07 and 2007/08 fiscal years are a function of House Bill 1 adopted by the Texas Legislature in May 2006.
See "STATE AND LOCAL FUNDING OF SCHOOL DISTRICTS IN TEXAS" and "CURRENT PUBLIC SCHOOL FINANCE SYSTEM" in this Official Statement.

(9) The decline in the District's Maintenance & Operation Tax from the 2018/19 fiscal year to the 2019/20 fiscal year is a function of House Bill 3 adopted by the Texas Legislature in
June 2019. See "STATE AND LOCAL FUNDING OF SCHOOL DISTRICTS IN TEXAS" and "CURRENT PUBLIC SCHOOL FINANCE SYSTEM" in this Official Statement.
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TAX RATE DISTRIBUTION

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Maintenance & Operations $1.0400 $0.9700 $0.9499 $0.8720 $0.8546
Debt Service $0.0939 $0.1939 $0.1939 $0.1939 $0.1939
Total Tax Rate $1.1339 $1.1639 $1.1438 $1.0659 $1.0485

(1) The decline in the District's Maintenance & Operations Tax from the 2018/19 fiscal year to the 2019/20 fiscal year is a function of House Bill 3 adopted by the Texas

Legislature in June 2019.

VALUATION AND FUNDED DEBT HISTORY

Fiscal Net

Year Taxable Valuation
2006/07 $ 451,268,655
2007/08 503,013,202
2008/09 544,925,399
2009/10 567,582,750
2010/11 584,979,704
2011/12 579,429,472
2012/13 584,328,303
2013/14 601,333,126
2014/15 643,132,085
2015/16 679,750,131
2016/17 728,581,572
2017/18 788,521,876
2018/19 877,914,826
2019/20 973,485,402
2020/21 1,032,043,958
2021/22 1,162,182,817
2022/23 1,450,455,353
2023/24 1,679,714,448 ©

(1) Atfiscal year end.

Bond Debt

Outstanding "

9,733,731
9,625,411
9,295,411
8,950,411
8,861,202
8,775,000
7,575,000
7,965,000
7,170,000
6,750,000
6,310,000
5,855,000

15,660,000

14,160,000

12,535,000
9,610,000

60,740,000 “

59,285,000 ¥

Ratio

Debtto AV, @

2.16%
1.91%
1.71%
1.58%
1.51%
1.51%
1.30%
1.32%
1.11%
0.99%
0.87%
0.74%
1.78%
1.45%
1.21%
0.83%
4.19%
3.53%

(2) See "CURRENT PUBLIC SCHOOL FINANCE SYSTEM" in the Official Statement, "DEBT SERVICE REQUIREMENTS" in this Appendix and see the "Audited

Financial Report Fiscal Year Ended August 31, 2022" in Appendix D for more information.

(3) Source: Certified Values from the Blanco, Travis, Llano, and Hays Central Appraisal Districts as of July 2023. During the second special session, the Legislature
passed Senate Bill 2 (“SB 2°), which includes provisions that reduce the maximum M&O tax compression rate by $0.107, increase the school district mandatory homestead
exemption from $40,000 to $100,000, and places further limitations on increases in appraised values on certain classes of properties. The provision increasing the
residential homestead exemption to $100,000 will be submitted to voters of the State on November 7, 2023. SB 2 also makes provision for State aid funding to pay for the
loss in school district 1&S tax revenue (i.e. “hold harmless”) for debt that (i) is issued prior to September 1, 2023, or (ii) is approved by voters but not yet issued as of

September 1, 2023.
(4) Includes the Bonds.

ESTIMATED OVERLAPPING DEBT STATEMENT

Percent Amount
Taxing Body Amount Overlapping Overlapping
Blanco County $ 12,210,000 49.09% $ 5,993,889
Hays County 500,607,455 0.37% 1,852,248
Johnson City, City of 2,589,000 100.00% 2,589,000
Llano County 5,750,000 0.18% 10,350
Travis County 900,550,000 (1) -
Travis County Healthcare District 73,795,000 we (1) -
Total Overlapping Debt @ $ 10,445,487
Johnson City Independent School District ) 60,472,031
Total Direct & Overlapping Debt $ 70,917,518
Ratio of Net Direct & Overlapping Debt to Net Taxable Valuation 4.22%
Per Capita Direct & Overlapping Debt $9,732

(1) Lessthan 0.01%.
(2) Equals gross debt less self-supporting debt.
(3) Includes the Bonds.

Source: Municipal Advisory Council of Texas. The District has not independently verified the accuracy or completeness of such information (except for the amounts
relating to the District), and no person should rely upon such information as being accurate or complete.
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PRINCIPAL TAXPAYERS "

2022/23 Top Ten Taxpayers

% of Net
Name of Taxpayer Type of Business Taxable Value Valuation
Pedernales Elec Co-Op Electric Utility $ 65,040,248 4.48%
DJ Vineyards, LLC Land/Improvements 14,836,750 1.02%
Matthew Garrett Turner Residential 11,778,540 0.81%
Jaspar Weir Residential 7,398,396 0.51%
Anger Properties LLC Residential 7,009,222 0.48%
Wesley West Ranch LP Ranch 6,284,740 0.43%
Charlene Crump Residential 5,596,415 0.39%
Volt Power LLC Electric Utility 5,206,930 0.36%
MRPR Holdings LP Commercial Land 5,146,130 0.35%
Lindig Trucking Freight/Shipping 4,965,670 0.34%
$ 133,263,041 9.19%

2021/22 Top Ten Taxpayers
% of Net
Name of Taxpayer Type of Business Taxable Value Valuation
Pedernales Elec Co-Op Electric Utility $ 41,894,618 3.60%
DJ Vineyards, LLC Land/Improvements 13,966,820 1.20%
Matthew Garrett Turner Residential 10,569,580 0.91%
Wesley West Ranch LP Ranch 6,192,870 0.53%
MRPR Holdings LP Commercial Land 4,971,310 0.43%
Lindig Trucking Freight/Shipping 4,564,760 0.39%
Volt Power LLC Electric Utility 4,486,960 0.39%
Charlene Crump Residential 4,454,494 0.38%
JWJC Ranch LP Ranch 4,237,780 0.36%
Clare Stedman Residential 4,053,440 0.35%
$ 99,392,632 8.55%

2020/21 Top Ten Taxpayers
% of Net
Name of Taxpayer Type of Business Taxable Value Valuation
Pedernales Elec Co-Op Electric Utility $ 48,583,270 4.71%
Lindig Trucking Freight/Shipping 8,785,330 0.85%
DJ Vineyards, LLC Land/Improvements 6,832,080 0.66%
Volt Power LLC Electric Utility 6,429,890 0.62%
Wesley West Ranch LP Ranch 6,096,270 0.59%
MRPR Holdings LP Commercial Land 4,596,140 0.45%
Matthew Garrett Turner Residential 3,926,410 0.38%
Preah Khan LLC Equipment 3,857,520 0.37%
Clare Stedman Residential 3,813,410 0.37%
Real Lighthouse LP Ranch 3,720,010 0.36%
$ 96,640,330 9.36%

(1) Source: Comptroller of Public Accounts - Property Tax Division.
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CLASSIFICATION OF ASSESSED VALUATION BY USE CATEGORY "

% of % of % of

Category 2022/23 Total 2021/22 Total 2020/21 Total
Real, Residential, Single-Family $ 286,038,000 4.37% $ 209,955,936 4.49% $ 178,705,270 4.38%
Real, Residential, Multi-Family 4,012,069 0.06% 3,398,113 0.07% 2,933,615 0.07%
Real, Vacant Lots/Tracts 56,814,703 0.87% 36,863,770 0.79% 26,764,220 0.66%
Real, Qualified Land & Improvements 4,970,222,433 76.00% 3,491,837,895 74.64% 3,035,214,865 74.38%
Real, Non-Qualified Land & Improvements 927,457,537 14.18% 709,451,179 15.16% 642,434,051 15.74%
Real, Commercial & Industrial 155,039,123 2.37% 120,055,782 2.57% 81,277,316 1.99%
Oil & Gas - 0.00% - 0.00% - 0.00%
Utilities 30,171,817 0.46% 26,711,078 0.57% 24,994,725 0.61%
Tangible Personal, Commercial 105,021,172 1.61% 75,703,240 1.62% 81,884,283 2.01%
Tangible Personal, Industrial 2,093,004 0.03% 2,269,108 0.05% 4,133,777 0.10%
Tangible Personal, Mobile Homes & Other 2,226,900 0.03% 2,125,230 0.05% 2,198,580 0.05%
Tangible Personal, Residential Inventory 1,560 0.00% 1,560 0.00% 1,560 0.00%
Tangible Personal, Special Inventory 311,640 0.00% 137,400 0.00% 23,230 0.00%
Total Appraised Value $ 6,539,409,958 100.00% $ 4,678,510,291 100.00% $  4,080,565,492 100.00%
Less:

Homestead Cap Adjustment $ 82,224,017 $ 16,961,773 $ 6,035,421

Productivity Loss 4,916,301,202 3,440,522,223 2,986,043,910

Exemptions 90,429,386 @ 58,843,478 © 56,442,203 ©

Total Exemptions/Deductions $  5,088,954,605 $  3,516,327,474 $  3,048,521,534
Net Taxable Assessed Valuation $  1,450,455,353 $  1,162,182,817 $  1,032,043,958

% of % of % of

Category 2019/20 Total 2018/19 Total 2017/18 Total
Real, Residential, Single-Family $ 167,183,856 4.20% $ 147,585,660 3.98% $ 130,923,703 3.74%
Real, Residential, Multi-Family 2,820,468 0.07% 4,904,227 0.13% 2,322,798 0.07%
Real, Vacant Lots/Tracts 24,706,390 0.62% 22,738,910 0.61% 19,983,926 0.57%
Real, Qualified Land & Improvements 2,990,612,708  75.19% 2,821,412,553  76.04% 2,705,219,859  77.19%
Real, Non-Qualified Land & Improvements 604,309,331 15.19% 550,778,458 14.84% 495,797,849 14.15%
Real, Commercial & Industrial 75,869,892 1.91% 62,361,804 1.68% 56,484,244 1.61%
Oil & Gas - 0.00% - 0.00% - 0.00%
Utilities 30,702,391 0.77% 39,548,457 1.07% 34,823,726 0.99%
Tangible Personal, Commercial 75,860,552 1.91% 56,152,153 1.51% 52,455,296 1.50%
Tangible Personal, Industrial 3,447,763 0.09% 2,842,585 0.08% 4,488,998 0.13%
Tangible Personal, Mobile Homes & Other 2,058,760 0.05% 2,134,790 0.06% 2,190,920 0.06%
Tangible Personal, Residential Inventory 1,560 0.00% 1,560 0.00% 12,530 0.00%
Tangible Personal, Special Inventory 29,510 0.00% 16,980 0.00% 17,690 0.00%
Total Appraised Value $ 3,977,603,181 100.00% $ 3,710,478,137 100.00% $ 3,504,721,539 100.00%
Less:

Homestead Cap Adjustment $ 6,272,428 $ 2,580,620 $ 1,552,386

Productivity Loss 2,943,239,716 2,776,846,572 2,664,801,404

Exemptions 54,605,635 © 53,136,119 © 49,845,873 ©

Total Exemptions/Deductions $  3,004,117,779 $  2,832,563,311 $  2,716,199,663
Net Taxable Assessed Valuation $ 973,485,402 $ 877,914,826 $ 788,521,876

(1) Source: Comptroller of Public Accounts - Property Tax Division.

(2) The passage of a Texas Constitutional Amendment on May 7, 2022 increased the homestead exemption from $25,000 to $40,000.

(3) The passage of a Texas Constitutional Amendment on November 3, 2015 increased the homestead exemption from $15,000 to $25,000.
(4) Excludes values on which property taxes are frozen for persons 65 years of age or older and disabled taxpayers.

A4



PRINCIPAL REPAYMENT SCHEDULE

Plus: Bonds Percent of
Fiscal Year Outstanding The Unpaid Principal
Ending 8/31 Bonds Bonds Total At Year End Retired
2023 1,415,000.00 - 1,415,000.00 60,740,000.00 2.28%
2024 1,455,000.00 - 1,455,000.00 59,285,000.00 4.62%
2025 1,490,000.00 - 1,490,000.00 57,795,000.00 7.01%
2026 1,530,000.00 - 1,530,000.00 56,265,000.00 9.48%
2027 1,575,000.00 - 1,575,000.00 54,690,000.00 12.01%
2028 1,050,000.00 - 1,050,000.00 53,640,000.00 13.70%
2029 1,095,000.00 - 1,095,000.00 52,545,000.00 15.46%
2030 - 1,170,000.00 1,170,000.00 51,375,000.00 17.34%
2031 - 1,230,000.00 1,230,000.00 50,145,000.00 19.32%
2032 - 1,290,000.00 1,290,000.00 48,855,000.00 21.40%
2033 - 1,360,000.00 1,360,000.00 47,495,000.00 23.59%
2034 - 1,430,000.00 1,430,000.00 46,065,000.00 25.89%
2035 - 1,500,000.00 1,500,000.00 44,565,000.00 28.30%
2036 - 1,580,000.00 1,580,000.00 42,985,000.00 30.84%
2037 - 1,660,000.00 1,660,000.00 41,325,000.00 33.51%
2038 - 1,745,000.00 1,745,000.00 39,580,000.00 36.32%
2039 - 1,835,000.00 1,835,000.00 37,745,000.00 39.27%
2040 - 1,930,000.00 1,930,000.00 35,815,000.00 42.38%
2041 - 2,025,000.00 2,025,000.00 33,790,000.00 45.64%
2042 - 2,130,000.00 2,130,000.00 31,660,000.00 49.06%
2043 - 2,240,000.00 2,240,000.00 29,420,000.00 52.67%
2044 - 2,355,000.00 2,355,000.00 27,065,000.00 56.46%
2045 - 2,475,000.00 2,475,000.00 24,590,000.00 60.44%
2046 - 2,605,000.00 2,605,000.00 21,985,000.00 64.63%
2047 - 2,735,000.00 2,735,000.00 19,250,000.00 69.03%
2048 - 2,875,000.00 2,875,000.00 16,375,000.00 73.65%
2049 - 3,010,000.00 3,010,000.00 13,365,000.00 78.50%
2050 - 3,140,000.00 3,140,000.00 10,225,000.00 83.55%
2051 - 3,270,000.00 3,270,000.00 6,955,000.00 88.81%
2052 - 3,405,000.00 3,405,000.00 3,550,000.00 94.29%
2053 - 3,550,000.00 3,550,000.00 - 100.00%
Total 9,610,000.00 52,545,000.00 62,155,000.00




DEBT SERVICE REQUIREMENTS

Plus:
Fiscal Year Outstanding The Bonds ") Combined
Ending 8/31 Debt Service Principal Interest Total Total @
2023 $ 1,688,850.00 $ - $ 89,698.87 $ 89,698.87 $ 1,778,548.87
2024 1,691,100.00 - 2,394,269.88 2,394,269.88 4,085,369.88
2025 1,687,325.00 - 2,483,968.76 2,483,968.76 4,171,293.76
2026 1,687,550.00 - 2,483,968.76 2,483,968.76 4,171,518.76
2027 1,686,600.00 - 2,483,968.76 2,483,968.76 4,170,568.76
2028 1,114,800.00 - 2,483,968.76 2,483,968.76 3,598,768.76
2029 1,116,900.00 - 2,483,968.76 2,483,968.76 3,600,868.76
2030 - 1,170,000.00 2,454,718.76 3,624,718.76 3,624,718.76
2031 - 1,230,000.00 2,394,718.76 3,624,718.76 3,624,718.76
2032 - 1,290,000.00 2,331,718.76 3,621,718.76 3,621,718.76
2033 - 1,360,000.00 2,265,468.76 3,625,468.76 3,625,468.76
2034 - 1,430,000.00 2,195,718.76 3,625,718.76 3,625,718.76
2035 - 1,500,000.00 2,122,468.76 3,622,468.76 3,622,468.76
2036 - 1,580,000.00 2,045,468.76 3,625,468.76 3,625,468.76
2037 - 1,660,000.00 1,964,468.76 3,624,468.76 3,624,468.76
2038 - 1,745,000.00 1,879,343.76 3,624,343.76 3,624,343.76
2039 - 1,835,000.00 1,789,843.76 3,624,843.76 3,624,843.76
2040 - 1,930,000.00 1,695,718.76 3,625,718.76 3,625,718.76
2041 - 2,025,000.00 1,596,843.76 3,621,843.76 3,621,843.76
2042 - 2,130,000.00 1,492,968.76 3,622,968.76 3,622,968.76
2043 - 2,240,000.00 1,383,718.76 3,623,718.76 3,623,718.76
2044 - 2,355,000.00 1,268,843.76 3,623,843.76 3,623,843.76
2045 - 2,475,000.00 1,148,093.76 3,623,093.76 3,623,093.76
2046 - 2,605,000.00 1,021,093.76 3,626,093.76 3,626,093.76
2047 - 2,735,000.00 887,593.76 3,622,593.76 3,622,593.76
2048 - 2,875,000.00 747,343.76 3,622,343.76 3,622,343.76
2049 - 3,010,000.00 613,387.51 3,623,387.51 3,623,387.51
2050 - 3,140,000.00 486,543.76 3,626,543.76 3,626,543.76
2051 - 3,270,000.00 354,337.51 3,624,337.51 3,624,337.51
2052 - 3,405,000.00 216,665.63 3,621,665.63 3,621,665.63
2053 - 3,550,000.00 73,218.75 3,623,218.75 3,623,218.75

$ 10,673,125.00 $ 52,545,000.00 $  49,334,122.15 $ 101,879,122.15 $ 112,552,247.15

(1) Includes accrued interest in the amount of $62,099.22.

(2) Based on its wealth per student, the District does not expect to receive Instructional Facilities Allotment nor Existing Debt Allotment state financial assistance for the
payment of debt service for the fiscal year 2022/23. The amount of state financial assistance for debt service, if any, may differ substantially each year depending on a variety
of factors, including the amount, if any, appropriated for that purpose by the state legislature and a school district’s wealth per student. See “CURRENT PUBLIC SCHOOL
FINANCE SYSTEM" in this Official Statement.

TAX ADEQUACY WITH RESPECT TO THE DISTRICT'S BONDS

Projected Maximum Debt Service Requirement " $ 4,171,518.76
Projected State Financial Assistance for Hold Harmless of Increased Homestead Exemption in 2022/23 @ 35,000.00
Projected Net Debt Service Requirement (" @ $ 4,136,518.76

$0.24875 Tax Rate @ 99% Collections Produces $ 4,136,518.76
2023/24 Certified Net Taxable Assessed Valuation © $ 1,679,714,448

(1) Includes the Bonds.

(2) The amount of state financial assistance for debt service, if any, may differ substantially each year depending on a variety of factors, including the amount, if any,
appropriated for that purpose by the state legislature and a school district's wealth per student. See “CURRENT PUBLIC SCHOOL FINANCE SYSTEM" in this Official
Statement. The District will not receive any Instructional Facilities Allotment nor Existing Debt Allotment state aid in 2022/23, but will receive additional state aid for the
increase in the homestead exemption which took effect in 2022/23.

(3) Source: Certified Values from the Blanco, Travis, Llano, and Hays Central Appraisal Districts as of July 2023. During the second special session, the Legislature passed
Senate Bill 2 (“SB 2’), which includes provisions that reduce the maximum M&O tax compression rate by $0.107, increase the school district mandatory ho d ion
from $40,000 to $100,000, and places further limitations on increases in appraised values on certain classes of properties. The provision increasing the restdentla/ homestead
exemption to $100,000 will be submitted to voters of the State on November 7, 2023. SB 2 also makes provision for State aid funding to pay for the loss in school district I&S
tax revenue (i.e. “hold harmless’) for debt that (i) is issued prior to September 1, 2023, or (ii) is approved by voters but not yet issued as of September 1, 2023.

AUTHORIZED BUT UNISSUED BONDS

Following the issuance of the Bonds, the District will not have any authorized but unissued unlimited ad valorem tax bonds from the May 6, 2023
bond election. The District may incur other financial obligations payable from its collection of taxes and other sources of revenue, including
maintenance tax notes payable from its collection of maintenance taxes, public property finance contractual obligations, delinquent tax notes, and
leases for various purposes payable from State appropriations and surplus maintenance taxes.
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COMPARATIVE STATEMENT OF GENERAL FUND REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES ")

Beginning Fund Balance

Revenues:
Local and Intermediate Sources
State Sources

Federal Sources & Other

Total Revenues

Expenditures:
Instruction
Instructional Resources & Media Services
Curriculum and Instructional Staff Development
Instructional Leadership
School Leadership
Guidance, Counseling & Evaluation Services
Health Services
Student (Pupil) Transportation
Food Services
Cocurricular/Extracurricular Activities
General Administration
Plant Maintenance and Operations
Security and Monitoring Services
Data Processing Services
Principal on Long-Term Liabilities
Interest on Long-Term Liabilities

Facilities Acquisition and Construction

Contracted Instructional Services Between Schools

Other Intergovernmental Charges
Total Expenditures
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
over Expenditures
Other Resources and (Uses):
Sale of Real and Personal Property
Right-to-Use Leases
Transfers In
Transfers Out
Total Other Resources (Uses)
Excess (Deficiency) of
Revenues and Other Sources

over Expenditures and Other Uses

Ending Fund Balance ?

Fiscal Year Ending August 31

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
$ 2610847 $ 2996291 $ 3,960,318 $ 4443326 $ 4,318,426
$ 8201309 $ 8956764 $ 9,150,319 $ 9,471,080 $ 10,222,985

956,726 991,918 908,454 907,592 767,465

- - - 77,554 71,658

$ 9,158,035 $ 9948682 $ 10,058,773 $ 10,456,226 $ 11,062,108
$ 4233636 $  3,715007 $ 4,106,891 $ 4,358,059 $ 4,429,242
109,174 94,479 100,883 76,750 103,505

N - - 220 8,795

238,598 316,315 336,781 381,127 394,588

385,688 390,062 398,833 417,406 415,432

191,882 149,286 152,162 160,534 88,472

51,573 54,544 63,175 74,202 61,189

322,076 340,736 297,575 295,801 481,893

- 12,833 2,373 4,324 -

353,229 437,131 453,087 484,996 555,798

375,477 363,186 350,306 360,434 375,007

743,890 750,361 778,021 828,863 956,832

3,025 1,464 4,287 5,520 6,004
161,111 158,946 147,022 159,966 131,018
B, - - - 14,110
- - - - 64
- - - - 28,246

1,365,406 2,002,271 2,087,808 2,709,469 2,213,747

216,826 198,034 207,561 172,877 236,552
$ 8751591 $ 8984655 $ 9,486,765 $ 10,490,548 $ 10,500,494
$ 406,444 $ 964,027 $ 572,008 $ (34,322) $ 561,614
$ - 8 - 8 - 8 4422 $ 3,140

- - - - 3,579

(21,000) - (89,000) (95,000) -

$ (21,000) $ -8 (89,000) $ (90,578) $ 6,719
$ 385444 $ 964,027 $ 483,008 $ (124,900) $ 568,333
$ 2996291 $ 3,960,318 $ 4443326 $ 4318426 $ 4,886,759

(1) See "MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS - Economic Factors and Next Year's Budgets and Rates" in Appendix D hereto for a discussion of the 2022/23 budget and
"CURRENT PUBLIC SCHOOL FINANCE SYSTEM - Possible Effects of Wealth Transfer Provisions on the District's Financial Condition" in this Official Statement.
(2) The District's anticipates the general fund balance as of August 31, 2023 to be approximately $5,000,000. The District routinely adopts a deficit budget, with the expectation such budget

deficit will be erased by fiscal year end.
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CHANGE IN NET POSITION "

Revenues:

Program Revenues:
Charges for Services
Operating Grants and Contributions

General Revenues:
Property Taxes Levied for General Purposes
Property Taxes Levied for Debt Service
State Aid - Formula Grants
Grants and Contributions not Restricted
Investment Earnings
Miscellaneous

Total Revenue

Expenses:

Instruction
Instruction Resources & Media Services
Curriculum & Staff Development
Instructional Leadership
School Leadership
Guidance, Counseling & Evaluation Services
Health Services
Student Transportation
Food Service
Cocurricular/Extracurricular Activities
General Administration
Plant Maintenance & Operations
Security and Monitoring Services
Data Processing Services
Debt Service - Interest on Long-Term Debt
Debt Service - Bond Issuance Cost and Fees
Capital Outlay
Contracted Instructional Services Between Schools
Other Intergovernmental Charges

Total Expenses

Change in Net Position

Beginning Net Position

Prior Period Adjustment

Ending Net Position

Fiscal Year Ending August 31

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
394632 $ 233,723 $ 299,119  § 359,999 307,661
(655,540) 630,622 583,800 702,126 1,358,328
7,904,996 8,786,214 8,976,745 9,283,832 9,842,670
714,413 807,403 1,798,351 1,895,074 2,190,763
551,661 612,674 482,599 479,679 321,547
59,208 721,401 711,640 615,492 11,572
84,851 310,653 184,883 8,956 48,056
17,626 - 1,095 161,831 242,662
9,071,847  $ 12,102,690 $ 13,038,232 $ 13,506,989 14,323,259
3370581 $ 4695156 $ 5128850 $ 5,184,897 4,953,104
82,435 107,475 119,584 83,647 110,758
15,314 15,584 13,172 3,711 33,246
174,911 436,409 499,487 515,087 474,440
265,343 451,757 478,049 458,987 417,341
135,115 173,243 178,385 175,432 156,818
37,882 63,046 73,981 80,241 73,772
271,799 422,092 339,798 322,991 379,168
283,239 363,411 398,117 397,144 450,010
311,694 494,336 588,535 606,711 637,146
303,025 499,621 438,203 423,333 400,210
654,830 834,998 873,713 912,324 1,017,500
3,285 6,799 4,690 6,020 6,572
120,198 179,271 167,687 175,026 135,650
135,803 276,948 370,888 318,962 267,925
559 116,132 1,066 3,500 6,200
- 114,963 - - }
1,365,406 2,002,271 2,087,808 2,709,469 2,213,747
216,826 198,034 207,561 172,877 236,552
7,748245 $ 11,451,546 $ 11,969,574 $ 12,550,359 11,970,159
1323602 $ 651,144 $ 1068658 $ 956,630 2,353,100
13,319,076  $ 9,560,631  § 10,211,775 $ 11,327,372 12,308,016
(5,082,047) @ $ -3 46,939 $ 24,014 -
9,560,631 $ 10,211,775 $ 11,327,372 $ 12,308,016 14,661,116

(1) The foregoing information represents government-wide financial information provided in accordance with GASB 34.
(2) The prior period adjustment was from the District adopting GASB Statement No. 75 for Accounting for Other Post-Employment Benefits
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JOHNSON CITY INDEPENDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT

General and Economic Information

Johnson City ISD is a ranching area located in Blanco County that extends into portions of Hays, Llano, and Travis Counties.
The District includes the City of Johnson City, the county seat of Blanco County, and a tourist center located at the intersection
of U.S. Highways 290 and 281. Also within the District is the City of Round Mountain and the unincorporated communities of
Henly, Cypress Mill, Hye, and Sandy. The District’s current estimated population is 7,287.

Blanco County is a central Texas county, traversed by the Pedernales River and Blanco River, as well as U.S. Highways 290

and 281.

Source: Texas Municipal Report for Johnson City ISD and Blanco County.

Enrollment Statistics

Year Ending 8/31
2008

2009
2010
2011
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023

District Staff

Teachers

Administrators

Teachers’ Aides & Secretaries
Auxiliary Personnel

Other
Facilities
Current
Campus Grades Enroliment
Lyndon B. Johnson Elementary School EE-5 305
Lyndon B. Johnson Middle School 6-8 171
Lyndon B. Johnson High School 9-12 247

Enrollment

693
699
681
707
721
702
689
698
686
701
663
648
643
608
707
723

Capacity
340

332
566

60
12
33
20

129

Year
Built
1939
1939
2005

Year of Addition/
Renovation
2004
2018



Principal Employers within the District

Type of Number of

Name of Company Business Employees
Pedernales Electric Power Electrical Supplier 700
Johnson City ISD Public School 129
Blanco County Municipality 50
LBJ Medical Center Nursing Home 45

Unemployment Rates

May May May
2021 2022 2023
Blanco County 3.3% 2.7% 3.0%
State of Texas 5.7% 3.6% 41%

Source: Texas Workforce Commission.
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MCCALL #
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PARKHURST & HORTON %’f--’r'

August 24, 2023

JOHNSON CITY INDEPENDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT
UNLIMITED TAX SCHOOL BUILDING BONDS, SERIES 2023
DATED AS OF AUGUST 15, 2023
IN THE AGGREGATE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF $52,545,000

AS BOND COUNSEL FOR THE JOHNSON CITY INDEPENDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT
(the District) in connection with the issuance of the bonds described above (the Bonds), we have examined
into the legality and validity of the Bonds, which bear interest from the dates specified in the text of the
Bonds until maturity or prior redemption at the rates and are payable on the dates as stated in the text of
the Bonds, all in accordance with the terms and conditions stated in the text of the Bonds.

WE HAVE EXAMINED the applicable and pertinent provisions of the Constitution and general
laws of the State of Texas and a transcript of certified proceedings of the District, and other pertinent
instruments authorizing and relating to the issuance of the Bonds including (i) the order authorizing the
issuance of the Bonds (the Order), (ii) one of the executed Bonds (Bond No. T-1), and (iii) the District’s
Federal Tax Certificate of even date herewith.

BASED ON SAID EXAMINATION, IT IS OUR OPINION that the Bonds have been
authorized, issued and delivered in accordance with law; that the Bonds constitute valid and legally
binding general obligations of the District in accordance with their terms except as the enforceability
thereof may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, liquidation and other
similar laws now or hereafter enacted relating to creditors’ rights generally; that the District has the legal
authority to issue the Bonds and to repay the Bonds; and that ad valorem taxes sufficient to provide for
the payment of the interest on and principal of the Bonds, as such interest comes due, and as such principal
matures, have been levied and ordered to be levied against all taxable property in the District, and have
been pledged for such payment, without limit as to rate or amount.

IT IS FURTHER OUR OPINION, except as discussed below, that the interest on the Bonds is
excludable from the gross income of the owners for federal income tax purposes under the statutes,
regulations, published rulings and court decisions existing on the date of this opinion. We are further of
the opinion that the Bonds are not “specified private activity bonds” and that, accordingly, interest on the
Bonds will not be included as an individual alternative minimum tax preference item under section
57(a)(5) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the Code). In expressing the aforementioned opinions,
we have relied on and assume continuing compliance with, certain representations contained in the Federal
Tax Certificate of the District and covenants set forth in the order adopted by the District to authorize the
issuance of the Bonds, relating to, among other matters, the use of the project and the investment and
expenditure of the proceeds and certain other amounts used to pay or to secure the payment of debt service

600 Congress Ave, 717 North Harwood Two Allen Center N2 E. Pecan Street

Suite 2150 Suite 900 1200 Smith Street, Suite 1550 Suite 1310

Austin, Texas 78701 Dallas, Texas 75201 Houston, Texas 77002 San Antonio, Texas 78205
T 512.478.3805 T 214.754,9200 T 713.980.0500 T 210.225.2800

F 512.472.0871 F 214.754.9250 F 713.980.0510 F 210.225.2984 www.mphlegal.com



on the Bonds, and the certificate with respect to arbitrage by the Commissioner of Education regarding
the allocation and investment of certain investments in the Permanent School Fund, the accuracy of which
we have not independently verified. We call your attention to the fact that if such representations are
determined to be inaccurate or if the District fails to comply with such covenants, interest on the Bonds
may become includable in gross income retroactively to the date of issuance of the Bonds.

EXCEPT AS STATED ABOVE, we express no opinion as to any other federal, state or local tax
consequences of acquiring, carrying, owning or disposing of the Bonds, including the amount, accrual or
receipt of interest on, the Bonds. Owners of the Bonds should consult their tax advisors regarding the
applicability of any collateral tax consequences of owning the Bonds.

OUR OPINIONS ARE BASED ON EXISTING LAW, which is subject to change. Such
opinions are further based on our knowledge of facts as of the date hereof. We assume no duty to update
or supplement our opinions to reflect any facts or circumstances that may thereafter come to our attention
or to reflect any changes in any law that may thereafter occur or become effective. Moreover, our opinions
are not a guarantee of result and are not binding on the Internal Revenue Service (the Service); rather,
such opinions represent our legal judgment based upon our review of existing law and in reliance upon
the representations and covenants referenced above that we deem relevant to such opinions. The Service
has an ongoing audit program to determine compliance with rules that relate to whether interest on state
or local obligations is includable in gross income for federal income tax purposes. No assurance can be
given whether or not the Service will commence an audit of the Bonds. If an audit is commenced, in
accordance with its current published procedures the Service is likely to treat the District as the taxpayer.
We observe that the District has covenanted not to take any action, or omit to take any action within its
control, that if taken or omitted, respectively, may result in the treatment of interest on the Bonds as
includable in gross income for federal income tax purposes.

OUR SOLE ENGAGEMENT in connection with the issuance of the Bonds is as Bond Counsel
for the District, and, in that capacity, we have been engaged by the District for the sole purpose of
rendering an opinion with respect to the legality and validity of the Bonds under the Constitution and
general laws of the State of Texas, and with respect to the exclusion from gross income of the interest on
the Bonds for federal income tax purposes, and for no other reason or purpose. The foregoing opinions
represent our legal judgment based upon a review of existing legal authorities that we deem relevant to
render such opinions and are not a guarantee of a result. We have not been requested to investigate or
verify, and have not independently investigated or verified any records, data, or other material relating to
the financial condition or capabilities of the District, or the disclosure thereof in connection with the sale
of the Bonds, and have not assumed any responsibility with respect thereto. We express no opinion and
make no comment with respect to the marketability of the Bonds and have relied solely on certificates
executed by officials of the District as to the current outstanding indebtedness of, and assessed valuation
of taxable property within, the District. Our role in connection with the District’s Official Statement
prepared for use in connection with the sale of the Bonds has been limited as described therein.

Respectfully,

Johnson City Independent School District Unlimited Tax School Building Bonds, Series 2023
Page 2
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CERTIFICATE OF BOARD

Jobmgon Clty Independunt Selidol Dlstrm! Blanes County 016-501
Name of Schobl Distriet County Co,-Dist. Number

We, the undars|gnied, cs.-.mfy thapA1e attached, annual fnanclal reports of the above named Sehool district were
Teviewsd and (r:heck one) appmved dmnppmved for the yoar enided August A1, 2022; ut & meeting of
the bd of trusteas of 5uch school distvict on t]u: 9t day of Iammry 2023, "

Signature nf-Boar.ci Secrefary L/ Signature of Board Presiden
11 the.board of trustees disapproved ol the auditor's sapott, the reason(s) for disapproving It e{are);
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NEFFENDORF & BLOCKER, P.C.

Independent Auditor’s Report

‘Boaid of Trustess
Johnson C‘hy Independem Sehool District
Johnséi City, TX 78636

Mermbers 6f the Board:

Reparton the Awdit of the Financial Siatoments
Opitiiony

‘We have andited the aecompanymg financial statements of the' govetninental astivilies, éxch ajor fund, and the’ agaregnte
renrining fund information of Johinson City Indeperident. Schcml District as of and fcn‘ the year ended Adglist 31 72022
and the related notes to thi fiianelal statéirients, Which: collc;tivzely comprise.the Distriet'$ basic financlal dtatments vs
listed iir the table ofcontents,

In our opinion, the financtal statements referred to above present Talely, in all material respeots, this respective financial
pasition of the governmental activities, each major fund, and the dggregate remaining fund Information of Johuson City
Independent School District, as of August 31, 2022, and the respective changes in financial pasition for the. Year Uign
gtided Iy necordance with agcounting princinles: gcncnﬂly aceepted fn the United States of America.

Bajls.for Opinians

We canducted oliraudit in accotdance with auditing standards gengrally dccepied In'the United States of América and the
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Govermuent Aviditing Standards, issued by the Comptroliér Genersl
of the United States. Our respongibilities mider those standards are further described In the Auditor's Respongibilities for
the Audit of the Financlal Statemen(s section of our report, We are required fo be :ndep&ndrmt of the Jolinsor City
independent Sclicol Digtrict- and o meet our other ethical responsnhihtms, i accordahce with the relevant éthical
requirements relatitig to our audit. We beligve that. the audi evldence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 1o
provide a basis for our audit:opinioiis.

Responsibilitios of'ﬁimmgemwﬂﬂzr the Finanotal Stotenienss

Management js responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statemients ln accordance with
accounting principles gencrally aceepled in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and
mininienance of intemal contral relovant 1o the preparation and fair presentation of financial Siatemenis that are free fram
material misstaterment, wiieilér due to fraud or error;

TEL: 830 997 3348 EMAIL: info@nb-cpa.com
P.O.Box 874 - 512 5 Adams Street, Fredericksburg, TX 78624
MEMBER AMERICAN INSTITUTE OF CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS & TEXAS SOCIETY OF CPAs
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1§ pieparing the financidl statemients, managorént is requitéd to evaluale whether there are conditions-or everits,
¢onaidered in the aggmgam, that ralse subatantial doubt about the Johnson City Independent Schoo] Distriat's
ability to- continue as a going concerti for twelve months beyend the financlal stafement date, including any
currently knowy uformation that may raise substantiat doubt shortly thercalter.

Auilttor's Responsibiitties for the Andit of the Financial Stuntements

Our oblectwc Is to obtaln ténsonable assurance about whisthar the flnancial statemeitty ag & whole are free from material
misstatement, whethey due to fraud or ervor, and fo issue an auditor's Tépart that includes our opinions, Reasonable
assiirance is a high level of assurance but i$ not absolute assurance and th:,refme is iiof & guarantee that an audit conductcd
in accordance with ;,,enerﬂlly avoepted sudling standards and Goveriment Awdiiig Stardards will always detect -a
waterial misstatement when it éxists. The risk of not detectmg & mateelal misstatemant resultlng Froeri fraind is haghm‘ lhan
for one résulting from aror, as frand ey involve gollusion, foegery, intentional oinissions, mistepresentations, or the
averride of internal contral,

Misstatements are considered material it thers is 9 substantial {ikelihood, thal individually or in the agpregate, they would
Influence the Judgment made by a rensonable user bissed on the finandial statetents,

tn performing an audlt ih accardance with geherally aceepted anditing standards and Govermmeni Auditing Standards, we:
. fxercise prﬁf‘ﬂﬁsi"onal;}u;lgnwrit andl thainifain professional sképticlsm throughout thi dudit,

¢ ldentifyand ossess the visks of materlal misstatément of the firiancial statements; whedher due to frapd or error,
und demgn and pefform audlt prozetites regponsive to those risks, Such pin _,_'edures include examining, on 4 test
basis, evldeme fegarding the amaounts and disclosures in the financial statemeits.

»  Obtaln an undemtandmg af titemal -conirol relevant {6 thie dudit in older 16 design audit prececures ihal are
appropnate in the eireumstances, but not for the purpose of expiessing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Johngoh Gity lndepandcnt School Distriet"s internal conteul. Accordingly, io such optnion is expressed,

« BEvaloate the applaprtmencss of nccounting paimies used and the reasonableuess of signtficant accounting
gstimates made by management, as well as eviluate the overall progentation of the finandial statements;

¢ Contlude whether, in our judgment, thers are conditions or events; canmderud in fhe nggmgam, that raise
substantial doubl about the Joliison City Independent School District’s abilsty to contlnne as & going concern for
4 reaionable pariod of time,

We are roquived (o communicate with those charged with gavetiance regarding, among other matters, the plmmf:d seope

and thoing of ihg audit, signifi cant. aidii findings, and certain Internal control-related matters that we fdont!fed during the
audit,

Rewlred Suppicmentary Inforsiating

Accounting principles penerally aceepted in the United States of America vequive that the management’s discussion and
anialysis, budgetary” comparison Infarmation, sehedule oF the disirict’s proportionate share of the net pension liability,
sehedalé of distilét contilbutiveis, schadule of the district’s propartionate shars of the net OPER fiability and the schedulé
of district contributions for other post-employmént benefits on pages 5-10 and 49-58 be presenied to auppiemem the basie
financial statemighis, Such information, although nbt a pait of the basic financial statements, is required by the
Qoversmental Accoummg Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of finarcial reporting for placing tlie
basle financial statements in an apptoptiate operational; econonic, or historical context, We have applied certain limited
pmnedures to. the required supplementary infarmation in Becordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America, which vonsisted of inquiries, of manageiment about the methods of preparfng the information and
comparing the information for consistency with managément's responses to our inquiries; the basic financial statements,
and other kiiowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion of
provide any assurance on the information because the |imited procedures do npt provide us with sufficlent evidence to
expross sn opinion or provide any assurance,



Supplementary Informaion

Our audit was condieted for the purpnse of E’mmlng opinions on the financial ststements that col!ectwa!y cofprige
‘Jﬂhnson City Indepaandent School District’s basio financial statements. The accompanying combining -and individual
.nunmajor fund financial statements and the schedale of: expauduurcs of foderal awards as required by Title 2 Ui§. Code
of Federal Regularmm Tart 200, Untform Mm{mmarwe Requiremants, Cost Principles, and Atdit Reguiremenis for
ngem! Awarth, dre presented for purpam cf addltwnal aualysis am] Are not a required part nf' the hasic f:uam;:ial

comparmg and rccm‘mlmg such mfnrmatmn direct!y m the undtfrlying atanuncmg and nther
i th@ basic imam‘-ial 5t4tem¢nts or fo flie basu. ﬂnanmai stalements tlwlmelves and olher

op;mon, the ccmhining and individual :'mnmajor “fund ﬁnancml &tﬂtemants and the schedule of expend:tures of federa[
awards are taily statéd, inall material Tespects, in relation to the basic financial statements as & whole:

Tlie Tc; 15 Educatmn Ak,ancy reqmras suhnol dlstrmts to mc:lude cermin mfmmatmn In the Annual Fmanmal aud

relatian'tﬂ the basm tmaneml statamenis taksn a8 xt wh(}lc,,

Qiher Heparﬁng chnimd hy f}ayammmt ailudi‘tiﬂg 'Staﬁdards

our consideratiun af Johnor C;ty Incz':‘pandent
o1 ur: oy gf its ::cmphance with bertain DD

audlt pe;:for éd i, ac,mxd 166 with Gaverhm;em Audz:mg
3 ,,_c!&rmg Iqlmscm Q!ty lndepandent Schaol Dlstrmt’s interial gontrol over financial repoeting

January 5 2023



JOHNSON CITY INDEPENDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT _
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (UNAUDITED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED August 31, 2022

MANAGEMENT'& DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In tig saction of thie. A:muak Fmanclal and Complmnca Reporl: we, the managers of Johnson City
Indepandem School Disirict, discuss and analyze the District's financial performance for the fiscal
ygar ended August 31; 2022 Please read it in sonjunction with the Indepondent auditors' repoit
on page 2, and District’s Basie Binancial Statements which begim onpage 1;

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

¥ The District's uet posiion erensed by $2,353,100 as resilt of this year's apérations, The
uirirestr lcted HEL position Was $709 64,

¥ Durlig {he year, the Distrlot Tind experists fdt wore $2; 353,100 Jéss thin the $14,323 359
aenerated in fax and ater revérnss for governmeantal progeams.

» Total ¢ost of all of the Disirict's programs was $11,970,159,
> The Generat Fund ended die. year witk d fund balaice of $5’,723,859;
b Tha regouroes dvailable for appropriation Were $809 mare than budgeted for, e General

Fungd, Total e‘xpmdimx’es for tlse,  gerieral fund Wire $612 004 Tosy ﬂmn the' amount budge{ed

USING THIS ANNUAL REPORT

This aimvial report consisis of & series of financial statenienls, The guvarmuent-wzde Tinancial
sfaieiients intlide the Statément of Nei Position and the Stawment of Activities (on pages 11 and
12). Fhese: pm‘ ormation abovit the- activitics f the Distnct as a whole.dnd présent a longer-
term view of the District's prapcrty and debt. obligations and other financial matters. They reflect
thé flaw of total #donomic resources it A thanher similar to the financial reports of & business
enterprise.

Fund financial stalements (atartmg on page 13) resport the Dlstuct s operations i more detail than
the government-wide statements by pravlding mmrmatmn abﬂut the Dlstmct‘s most %l,gmﬁf.ant
funds. For govarmnemal activitles, these statémients tell how servicés were ﬁnauced in thé short
term as wel! 45 what resouces remain for l’ul;ure sl:lendmg They rcfiem the flow of current
finanmal resources and supp!y \he basis for tax levies anid the approprntlmls buclg&t For
pmprtetary actwmes, fund fmanclai statemems 2 1 i how goods o services of the District were 501d
to departimenis within the Distiict of to exiornal cysiomers ard how: the sales revenues covared the
expenses of th g_oiads or gervices, TI statemients, fiducmry statermitils, pmwdc
finangial information about activities for Which the Dlstrmt acts solely 45 a trustee or agent for tha
benefit of those oisiside of the distriet,

The notes to the financial stalements {startmg on page 24) provide narrative explanations of
additional data needed for full disclosure tn the guvemment-wide statemerits of the fund financial
Statements.

The commbinirg staterients for nonmajor lunds contain even more information about the District's
individuat funds. These afe niot Eequhed by TEA, The sections labsled TEA Reqmrecl Schedules
and Federdl Awards Seetmn conlain data used by mnmtarmg or regula.tory agencies for agsurance
thai the' Disizict i$ using funds sipplied in compliarice with the ‘terms of grants:



Reporting the District a5 a Whole
The Statement of Net Posttion and the Statement af’{{lptibitifes

The analysis of the District’s averall financial ondition #nd operations begins on page 11, Its
primary purjiose iy to show whether the District 1§ better off of warse off asa result of the year's
aclivities, ‘The Staterieni of Net Posifion ingiudes ‘all the Distriei's a'mts and "ab1l1t1es at fhe end
of the year wmle the Statement of Activifies includes all the revenues and sxpenses gencrated by
the District's operations durifig. the yegr: These apply the aceril basis of accnunung which is the
bﬂSIS used by prwate seclar conipanies,

All-of the urrent year's revcnues 4nd, éxpenses are taken into-account regardless of when casl is
recewed o pald. The District's revenues are divided into thiose prov1ded by otitsitle parues wlid
sham the ccsts of 50mme prc:grams, such a4 tuiiion :ecewed from studeits. from outsrde thie cnsmct

liab 's) prowde one measure oi’ thc Dlstnct
tion; Over Lime;. increases or decreases in. the Blstric: § 112k
I At dicator of whet]’xer its financial health is improving or deteriorating, To flilly
_ the overall ‘hedlih of the Distidct, however; you should eoisider nonf'manmal {avkors asWell,
suah A% chang‘.s i ‘the District's avenge dzuly atmnﬁame or its property fax base arid the condidon
of the District’s fasilitles.

In the Statement of Net Position and the Statemiciil of Agtivities, the Distriel has one kirid of
dctivitys -

i's basic servicés are reported here, tneluding
, fond services, franspottation; maintenance,
( Lyinistx Propar,ty taxes, luition, fees, and $tate and
fecieral gnnts f' nam;t. mast of these ac:mr 64, b

Réptli'fliig. the District's Most Si_glzificani Fonds

e Financial Statements
The fund ﬁnancml statements bcgm an page 13 'md pmwde del:aﬂed mfarmatmﬂ sbout_ the most

!nontrol and‘ mﬁnage monay for pamcular purposes (hke campus ﬂctwuie%} The Dmtrmt 5 Lw&
Kinds of funds - governmental and propristary - use different. acccuntmg approact;c,s

F Governmental funds - Most 0F the District's basic services are reported in governmerital
funds; These use modified accrual accounting {2 method that measures tie soceipt aid
disbursement of cash and.all other financal assets that catt be readily converted to'cash) and réport
balances that are available for fulure sPendmg The govemmental fund gtatements pmv1de i
detailed short-tarin view of the District's general operaucm and (he biasic services it provuies We
describe the differences betwesn goverhinental activites. (reported in the Slatemen[ of Net Position
and, the Statement of Acuvittas') and guvernmemal funds in reconciliation scheclules following each
of the fund financial statements,
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= Proprietary Fund - The District reports the activity. of its' internal service fungd (worker §
compenqatien fund) a5 a proprietary fund: 'This fund uses the same accounting methods employed
in the Statement of Net Position and the S[ammem of Activities.

The District as Trustoe
Reporting the District’s Fiduciary Responsibilities

The District s {he truatec, or fiduuary for mongy raised by student detivities, All of the Distriet's
ﬁdumary activifies are repoited in a separate Staloment of Fiduciaty Net Position on page 22, We
exchide these resources frof the District's other fidancial statemeénts because the District cannot
uge thfzse RSSElb to finance its aperauans The District is ‘only responsible: for enswing that the
Assets reported In these funds are used for their intended purposes,

GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

Qur analysm focuses on (ha net position.(Table 1) and changes in net position (Table II) of the
Distrlcl 3 govarnmentﬂl and busingss-type activities;

ivil gs mcm'ssed fmm $12 3()3 016 to $I4 ﬁﬁl 116

ﬁve Jé ms First, the Dmtt icl's. expenmtuces excsedcd the revenu& by $1,288, 393 Seccmd Eha
'D[stncl‘ jjsucl bornds and ather Jong-term debt.in the amount-of § 2,939,101; Third; the DISII’!Ci
'acqmred ¢apital assels In the-amount of $1; 214,851 and recorded deprec clation and dmortizagion i
the amounts of $913;636. Fourth, 4 net increase of :Bl'Dl 281 ‘dué racogmtmn df deferred
inflows, outflows and OPER liability related to GASB 75 acconting and Tinancial repcrrtmg for
other post- emplayment benefity and ﬁrth 4 net ircresse of $152 due. to recogniton of
deferred mﬂcws olitflows md pension liabmty Telated to GASE 68 accoummg and financial
reportmg for pt.nsmns,

Fahe I
* Johmson City Independent School District

NET POSITION
n thousands

Gavernmental Aeiyiisy
2032 oo

(.lirntnl and Glllcr J\ss;is % ?.ﬂ?.ﬁ 5 9.07&
Tajilial Absaty 2340 2,608
TS Mgl 530966 &. 13084

Tefuricd Quifiaei of Resolirees S
Psferied Ehargs far Rr:rundmg 5 208 ¥ e
Daferzed: Quiilow Relntod g RS , 147 943
Totat Dafarted Qi of Rendurces 5 las s e
Lotig-Tam Liabilifos £ e & (3
Qs Liskpiiviei 1,162 AL
Tatal |, inhllll{cs 5 43l % 18,851
Dufcrwd Inftenvz o Resourans,
E)ﬁ(‘vrrrkd Tnflow Ryluted ty TRS, 5 1,240 % 2306
Tatnl Pefersid | nnnm B Botsupeus LY 3,240 5 2,708
Nnt I‘asillnn B
“Inrotiad T Capltal Assts
Net uf Kolited Dokt § (R S Y £ F
Resiricied e 1347
Lnepdirigied 709 [ETH)]
Total Net Positivn 5 14,860 5 12,508




. TableIl
Johnson City 1;1d3pen;lent1$.c_hgul District

CHANGES IN NET POSITION
in thousands

Governmeniat Acilvities

2022 202l

Revenues:
Program Revenues;
Charges for Service: ¥ 308§ 360
Operating Chants & Coiitribiitions 1,358 702
Getigril Reveniis: '
Maifiteiianse & Opirations Taves 9,843 0,284
DELE Survige ’fax_¢§ - 4,101 1,895
Stat 5 Grani 321 480
i 613
48 b
243 162

T TE s Toawr

Exponses: _

Instructton, Curricuium & Media Services % 4053 % 8,273
Tnstruetional & Sehool Leadership 1086 974
Siudent Supfiort Sérvices ' 810 578
Cliikd Nuiteities 450 a7
Ccurticiilar AGtivities 837 w7
Ganeral Adritigtrition. 400 #23
Plarit Maintgnance, Sacuriey’

& Data Procossing 1,159 1,094
Dbt Seivices pl 322
Other 2,451 2,882

Total Expenses § 11,970 % 12550

Ticréase In Nt Position 2:35% 087
et Position < Beginring 12,308 11,327
Prior Period Adjustment: . 24

Net Position - Ending § 14,661 3 12,308




The District's total revenues increased $1,529,938 (114%) due to an increase In local and siate
gourees and. Feder*al progeain revenues. ‘The District's total expenditares decréased by 42,600,954 due
to a decrense in capital outlay costs and chapier 41 recapture,

The cost of all governmental activities this year was $11.9 iillion. However, as shown Tn the
Statement of Activities on page 12, the mmount that our taxpayers ultimately financed for these
actlvities trough District taxes was only $ 9.8 million because some of the costs were paid by those

who divectly benefited froin the programs (& .3 illion) or by State oqualization funding ($1.3
mitlion).

THE DISTRICT'S FUNDS

As the District completed the year, its govermmental funds (as presented in thie balance sheet on page
14) reported 1 combined fand balance of §5,723, 859 which s Tess than last year's total of
$7,005,538. Included In his yam s total change in fund bilance s an incréuso of § 568,333 1 the

Distriet's Ganeral Fund: The' prignary reason for the General Fuiid's gaif was thué Lo an incredse in
raVENUEs over eypendﬂm ¢s,

OQver the course of the yenr, the Board of Trustées revised the District's budget several fiwies. These
budget amendments f“al! o two Gategories, The first category Iticludes amendments and
supplm‘nr&mal appr ofitiations that were approved shortly after the beginning of the year and reflect tlie
‘netual beginning balances. (verrsus the amoints we astimated i August 2021). The second category
involved amenduments movitg funds from programs that did not need all the resources origfhally
appropriated to them to programs with resouree nzeds,

the District’s General Fund balance of § 4,886,759 rcparted on pages 13 differs from the Geneyal
Fund's budgetary Fand balance of § 4,270,377 teparted in the burgetary compirisan sehedule on
page 49,

CAPITAL ASSET AND DERT ADMINISTRATION

At ihe end of 2022, the District had % 37,027,967 invested in a broad range of capital assets,
111ciudlng facilities ancl equipmient fm instruction, right-to-use leased assets, transportation, athletics,
ildmlmstﬂtmn, and mainténance. This amolint represents a net increase of $ 1,207,351 or 3.0
percent, micrs than fast year,

This year's mujor additions inclutled:

Building Improvements 636,439
Equipment 74,833
Total $i,211,272

More detatled information about the Districts vapital assets is presented in Note F to the finaheial
statements,

Deabt

At yearignd the District had § 9,610,000 In bonds outstantilng versus $ 12,535,000 last year, The
Distelet paid principal of $2,925, 000. The Distéict alea had $21,221 In rlght-to-tse leased asset debt
outstanding at year end.

More detailet informatlon about the District's long-term liabilities Is presented in Note H, [ and ] to
the financial statoments,
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ECONOMIC BACTORS AND NEXT YEAR'S BUDGETS AND RATES

The District's elacted and appomtcd (‘Jfﬁ(:lals considered many factors Whin sefting the fiscal-year
2023 budget and tax rates. The major factora are the property applalsed values and entoliment.
These indicators were taken into account when adepting thé Gensfal Fund budget for 2023,
Amounls available for appfopriation, in the General F‘unt;l budger are § 13,049, 382 and
expendimrcas dre estimatéd to be § 13,628, 968

ﬂacraase by lhﬂ LIDSE of 2023

CONTACTING THE DISTRICT'S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

Thls fi l'lﬂl'lG]al repnrl 1% dés1gneci tn pl'DVlde eur czt:zans, taxpayers, t:ustamers, and jrwestors aud
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J C}HNSON CITY INDEPENDBNT SCHOOL DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

AUGUST al, 2022

EXHIBIT A

Datti Priemibey Govéirument
Contrel Clovarnmental
Cliles Activities
ASSLI‘F
1110 Cashand Cash Enuivalents. 3 427,630
1120 Current Investients ' 5,822,012
1220 I’mpmy’[‘awb Delinguent 374,147
1230 Allowance for Unieollegtible Taxes (8710
1240 Due from Otlier Govwnmentq 386,997
1290 Olher Heceivables, Net 3651
1300 Taventories 12,313
1410 Prepayments 17,568
C‘ﬂp]tai Assets)
15148 Land 441 001
1530 uildi 84
1330

1550 Iilght tnnUE.e Lcaacd Aescts it
1000 Total Asiséts

BEFERRED UU’T[‘LGW‘; Clr' RLbﬂUllﬁLS
1701 Defeived Chargs
{703 Deferred Outflow Rf:ifi_ 16 TRS Pingion
1706 Deierrecl Oufflow Refated io TREOPER

1700 Fatal Dafereed OlstFlows. ol Resourasy

LiAB]LITIES

unts: Payable

2140 Trierest Payable _

2160 Accrued Wages Payable

2180 Dite to.Other Governments
00, Accrucd l,,.Xpl‘;%HS{SB

st
Nom.um,nt thllltiu:*

2501 Dt Wxthin Qrie Yeur: Loans, Now, Tenges, éte.

L Due in-Mare than OneYeat;

2302 Bonds, Notes, Lbans, Lensey, Gt
2540, Net Pengion Liabili {Disirict’s Share)
2545 Nel ORER Linktity (Districts Share)
2000 1 ntal L,l.xlnlms

DLI'FRRED lNl"LOW‘x or RLSQURCF‘.‘

2605 Deferred nRow Related 10 TRS Pension
2606 Dieferrad [nflow Refated to TRS GPER

600 Totil Dieferad 1itlows of Resonress

NET IMOSITION

3200 Net Investinent i Capital Assets
 Restrivid:

3820 Restrictad for Federal and State Prograns

850 Resiricted Tor Dubt Serviee

3900 Unresteidted

3000 “Tolal Nét Position

The notes to the finanalal statemerits are an integral part of this statement.

I

208,514
57 1,554

o xi,zz's.__-s;cnz

49 66!
13,731
492,036
20,683
0,091
906
376 837

1,429,480

£,919,605
891, 89[
2, 167 196

TENEE)

1,258,425
1, 993 g6

3,249,383

13,501,714

92,069

267,969
et
$ 14,661,116



JOHNSON Gr I’Y INDEPENDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF AC TIVITIRS
FOR THI: YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022

EXHIBIT B-1

Dt
‘Control
Codes
bT
&P
e
E
Ml

TR
eN
NB

NE

Ganeral Iicveﬁu_:ejs;:;

Tﬂxu}
Property Tixis, Levied for General I’urp{mu,
Plopuﬂy ’I‘n\:t,s, chu,d for Debt Servive
Stite Aid < Formula, Grants
Granis and Coutrsbutmns fol Restricted
Invesimoht Eumings
Miscellaneous Loeal dnd Tntermictliate Revenye

Tatal Certeral Revénues

Change in Nel Position

Nt Positian « Beginting

Net Pasition - Efding

The nates to the finaneial staterents are ao Iitegal part of this statement,
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Met {Bxpensg)
I(uvenuc angd.
Clangés in Net
Data Progrunit Revenues __ P_D_S“"’“
Conteal ' 3 A 5
Codey o ‘(_)p;_mtlr_l_.g‘ Pnnmry ng-.i
B Cliniraes for Cirants and Goveriimental.
Expénses Serviges Contrlwutions Astivities
Primary Government:
GOVERNM["‘N"I Al AGTIVITIES:
1T Instegedion 5 4953,104 34,781 § 561333 & (4,356,990)
1z, insiructional Resources aid Media Serviees 110,758 T e 2049 {0 08; 699)
13 Curmulum and i'n"etluctmn“ll Staff Development 33,246 " 21, 571 (11,669)
21 474,440 ¢ 91,758 (382,682)
kK] . 4553 (412,688)
3l - 72,791 (8i.027)
0 . 7,605 (66,167)
34 - 109,932 {269,236)
35 75473 42,574 38,137
a6 637, 145 166,175 333 (470 638)
Al 400,210 1363 ;
51 1,017,500 31,432
52 6,572 - -
43 Data Pmccssmg Sewmcs 135,650 = 5168 ( 130 482)
72 Dabt Sgivics - Ititerest of Long-Teim Deébi 267, ‘)25 - - (267 925)
73 Dbt Servige < Boni Issiance Costd Al l‘ees 6 200 = = {6, 200)-
9 Contrigted Instrisetional Seivices. BL[WLCR &chun!s‘ 22__[3‘_’?47 . . (2213 747)
99 Cnhier Tntergovernmental Chatges 236,552 . - {236,532)
TIP] TOTAL PREIMARY GOYERNMENT: $§ 11,970,159 8 307,661 8 1358328 (1 10,304, 170)

9,842,670
2,190,763
321,547

11572

48,056
L
12,637,270
2453,100

§  14661,116



JOHNSON CITY INDEPENDENT SGHOOL DISTRICT

BALANCE SHEET
GOVERNMEN’I‘ Al FUNDS
AUGUST 31,2022 _
Data Majar Fund Major Find KMhjor Futid
Coativl Gcncm] Dbt Servics ‘Capiltal
Codes Fund’ Fuiid Prajects
ABHETS . e o i e
1110 Cash and Cash Equivalents 5 23538 8 76543 & 62,254
(120 Inyestments = Clirrent 451 0,371 180,372 721269
1220 Plopen:y Taxes = Dclmquent 315 176 59,011 -
1230 1¢ (X ; (2:931) -
1240 1054 .
1260 D . )
1290 “Oth 1f - -
1300 InVentorie§ - .
410 Prepayments | 7,56 = -
1000 Tolal Assets. $ 5670777 5 324029 8 783523
LIABILITIES. | |
2110 Accounts Payable $ 29,307 § - F ~
160 Accived Wages Payable _ 415 536, » e
Due:fo Other Funds 10, 329 - -
Due to g)ther Govemntents 20,682 - s
Accrued Expenditures 8,147 £ -
TUnearned Revenue - = =
Payablz from Restricted Assets _ N - o 376,837
00 “Total Liabilities | 484,601 _a 376,837
DEFI:RRI:D INFLOWS OF RESQURCES ' - o
2601 Unavmlable R@.Vcnuc - PJ operty Taxes 290,419 56,060 -
2600 Total Defet: ed Inflows af Résourees 299417 56,060 7 -
FUND BALANGES ‘
, Nompend able l“lmd Baldrice: 7
3410 ot 4,000 . -
& Restr tid ["und Balsnce:
350 Tederal or State Funds Grant Restriction - 5 .
3480 Retirement of Long-Tefin Debt - 267,969 b
3190 Other Restricted Fund Balance - = -
. Committed Fund Balance:
3545 Ofher Committed Fund Balanse 1,936,000 - -
‘ Asmgn&d Fund Balance: '
3550 Construction L 5 406,686
3600 Unassigned Fund Balanes 2,932,759 . "
3000 Total Fund Balanees _ 4,886,759 267969 406,686
4000 Total Liabilities, Dbferred Inflows & Furid Balanéss § 56707778 524020 5 783,523

The notes to-the finaticial stalements are an imegral part of thiy statemient,
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EXHIBIT C-1

Totit.
Other Governirierital
E-"un'i:i.f: Funds

178,196 & 370 531

- 5 322 012
“ 374,187
- (i8,710)

75:271 386,997
- 74,082

2522 3651
. 17,568

264,302 §  7.042,63)

20353 § 49, rcso;
16:500 036
63,754 74, 033
20,682

34 9,001
906 906

- 376,837

101,857 963,295

355,477

. 385477

92,069 92,069
. 267.969
62,063 62,063
- 1,930,000

. 406,686

162,445 5,723,859

264,302 8 7,042,631
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JOHNSON CITY INDEPENDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT EXHIBIT C-2
RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENT AL FUNDS BALANCE SHEET TO THE
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
AUGUST 31,2022

Total Fund Balaneés - Governmentsl Funds $ 5,723,859

I The District uses internal s¢rvice funds to charge the costs of certain activities, such asself: 57,099
insurance to applopriate functions in other funds; The assets and liabilities of the intetiral '
setvice funds are ineluded gow.rmnental aetivities n the statement of 1et positian. The net
effect of this tonsolidation {5 to increase net pasition,

% Capital assets Used iii sovernmental activities are not financial resources and thersfore ate ot 10,475,433
reported in governmental funds, Al the begmning of the year, the Gost of these assets was
$35,788,873 and the acenmulated depreciation was ($12,181,031), In addition, Iang—lcrm
Habsilities, uwludmg bonds payable, ars not due and payabla in the current penocl and,
therefore dre not repor ted as fiabilities in the funds, The net effec;t of including the b:.,gmmn;g
balances for- capml assets (net of dcpxematmn) and lm1g=tarm debt in the guvmnmahtgl
activities is to inerease net position,

3 Current.year capital outlays and long-term debt pr mctpal paymeults are expenditures in the 4,224,696
i“und finanéial staterrients, but: they should be:shown as Inoteases in capita} assets aud
recductions in longsterm deb in-the govmnmanb%ds financial stateinents. The net effect of
including the 2022 capital outlays dnd debt principal paymants is to increage et position.

4 Tncluded in the items related to debt is the recognition of the Dlstrmt's proportiorite share of 1,575,662)
the net pension liability requived by GASB 68, The net position reldted to TRS- fcluded 4
deferred resource gutlow in the amount. of $571,654, a. defeired tesouree inflow in the
amount of $1,255,425 givd & el pension liability in the amountof$891,891. Tiils resulted ina.
decrease in fiet position.

5 Included in the itents related to debt s the recognition of the District's proportionate share of (3,686,152)
the net OPER liability reqmrcd by GASB75. Thé nei p on re;!_:;__ sd to TRS included a '

uree putflow in thie aniount of: $474 504, a deferred resource inflow in the

amount of $1,993,860 and a net OPEB liabil 1ty in the:amount of $2,167,196, This resulted in

a decrease in net position.

6 The 2022 dE'-plec!ﬂtIOIl expenw ihicreasés accinulated depreciation, The het effect of the (91’3,636)-
curyent your's depracmtmn is ta decrease net position, '

7 Various' cathe; reclassifications and eéliminations are ner:essaw to convert from the modsﬁed 355,477
aocrial basis of‘accountmg 1o acgrual bhisis a{-‘ acmuntmg ‘These include fecognizing
unavaliabie revenug from property taxes as revenue and recognizing the liabilities associated
with maturing lcmgmterm debt and interest. The net effiset of these reclassifications and
recognitions is to increase net position,

19 Net Pasition of Governmental Activities $ 14,661,1 16

The notes to the financial statemeiits are an litegral gart of 4fif8 slalément.
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JOHNSON CITY INDEPENDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS N
FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022

ﬂut? Major Fiiid Mujor Fund Miijer Pyind
Clontrol Goigra) Debl Service Calial
Coiles Fiand Pund Projects
REVENUES: '
3700 Total Lical ind Intermedlale: Sources $ 10222985 5§ 2214866 § 4,139
5800 State Program Revinues 167,465 8,037 “
5900 Federal Program Revenies 71,638 - .
500 Total Revenues 11,062,108 2,223,603 4,739
EXPENDITURES: '
Cuirént;
0015 Instraetion 4,420,242 . ¢
0012 lnshuctmnni Resources and Media Services 163,505 w -
D013 4 Instwctiomﬂ Biaif Development 8,795 . -
gl | Lendershi] 594,588 - .
0033 Sehool L 415432 . .
003t Cluidanie ,ouns::lmg, and Evaliation Services BRAT2 - “
an3s II!.alth Services 65,189 . -
0034 (il H[}Tmmportatmn 481:893 - S
0035  Food Servict . - "
0036 Extraeurri InrActwnm ‘55_‘5',7.98. - -
4041 Ge 374,007 - .
003 Facilities Mamtenance anid Operations 950,832 B -
0052 Becurity pnd Momtormg Services " 6,004 - .
w3 T ceising Serviges: 131,018 . -
o6t 14,110 2,925:600 -
0072 64 M2, 175 *
0073 w 6,200, -
:9'0&,1 28,246 - 876,325
004 | 2213, 747 . .
o9y cheriutetguvel llmul H ﬂhmgca 236,352 " o
6039 Total Bxpenditures 19,50 ,4!)'4 1273375 :37'6.325_'
1100 Excess (Deflcioncy) of Revenues Over (Under) ' 560,614 (1,049,772 (871,586)
Expenditures RS e e
Q'l’[il"llf“lNANC.ING SDURCE&"’: {USES} ‘
7912 Sale of Roal and Personal Property 3,140 . -
7913 nghtsm-Usr, Tienges 357 + u
T0k0 “Total Qihicr Finaricing Soutdes (Used) 6719 " oo
1260 et Changs in Fund Balarices 568,333 (1,049,772 (871,586)
0100 Fund Balans - Seplember | (Beginning) 4,318,426 15317.741 1,278.272
3000 Fund Balanee < August 31 (Ending) 5 ABB67I9 5 267969 § 406,686

The notes to the financial statements are-an integral part of this statement.
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EXENBIT Ge3

Total
Gfigr Governmental
Funds Funds

360,511 8 12,802,901,
42,604 819,006 ,
1,163,808 1235066

1566923 14,857,473

364,600 4,993;842:
7322 130,827
B1,758 486,346
12710 428,142
72791 161,263
109992 591,825
436,989 436,989
90,763 646,363
32,363 407,370
36,182 993,014
R . -G.a 004
5,168 136,186

. 2239,110

- 342239

- 6:200

. 904,571

< anw
" 336,552

LA95STT 16145771

TR

. 3,140
3379

. 6719

71346 {1,281675)
91,099 7,005,518

162445 § 3,723,859
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JOHNSQN CITY INDEPENDENT 5CHOOL DISTR,ICT

EXHIBIT CH4

RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS STATEMENT OF RE VENUES, EXP‘[‘.ND[TURE

AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVIT[ES
FOR THE YEAR' ENDLD AUGUST31,2022

'I‘ut_al Net (}ii_ang”_e jn Fund 'Ba!am:es «» Governmental Fonds

The District uses internal service funds to chas go the costs of certain activities, such as self-
insurance and printing, to apprapr iate functions in other fundg, The net income (loss) of intetrial
service funds are reported with goverimental activities, The net effect of {his consolidatisn is to
'i‘ncl‘ea‘sc_ net position,

Current year capital qutlays and long-ter debt pringipal paymeits are expeiditores in the fimd
financlal statements, but they should be shown as increases in capital agsets and reductiois in long-
term debt in the government-wids finanicial statements, The riet effect of rmnoV1ng the 2027 capital
outlays and debt pnncxpal p’tymbnts is (0 iterease net position,

Depreciation is not revognized as an expiense in governmental funds since it-does not réqaire the use
of current financial resources. The et effect of the current yedr's depreciation is to decredsé net
position.

Varlous other xeclass:ﬁoatlons and ahmmatlons arg necessaty to convert from the modified ascrual
basls of Accounting fo nccrual biasis of: gecounting. These include recognizing unavailable revenys
from plQpetty taxes as revene; adjusting current year révenue to show thia tevenue earned from the
current year's tax levy and recognizing the llahllltms associated with maturing li:mg-tci 118 dabt ated
interest, The nel effect of these mclassiﬁeatmns and recognitions is to decrease net position,

GASB 68 required that certain jplian expenditires be de-expended dnd redorded as defatred resource.
outflows. These contributions made aftér the measurement date of the plan caused the chengein
ending net position ta increase by $177,700, Contributions made befére the measurement date and
duting the previous fiscal year were: also f::xpeuded and vedorded as 4 reduction in net pensjon
liability, This caused a decrease in the changc in net position totaling $149, 461. Fidally, the
prapmtmnata shiare of the TRS pension expense on the plan as.a whole had t6 be recorded: The net
pension expense decreased the qhanne i net position by $124,007, The net result is an increase in
the change in net position.

GASB 75 required thal certain plan expendifures be de-expended and recorded as deferred resource
outflows. These contributions imade after the measurement date of the plan caused the changs in
ending net position fo increase by $46,540. Conttibutions made before the measurement date and
during the previous fiséa) year were also expended and rr:corded 42 reduction in het OPEB
lability, This ¢used a decrease in thie ¢hange in net pcsntmn totalmg $43,904, Fumlly, the
plopmtlmxatc share of thie TRS OPER expense on the plan as a wiiole had to be recorded. The net

OPEB expense decreased the change in net position by §188,645. The net result is an increase in the
change in net position.

Clhange in Net Position of Governmental Agtivities

The notes to the Hnanclal fistéthenls dre an infegral part of this staterient,
18

§

(1,281,679)

{8.968)

(913,636)
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o N EXHIBIT D-1
JOHNSON CITY INDEPENDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
PROPRIETARY FUNDS:
AUGUST 31,2022

Ctsviarmnignn,
‘Aetivilies»

Intérnal
Srviee Fund

ASSETS
Current Assets: o
Cash and Cashi Equivalents $ 47,099
Total Assats 57,009
NETPOSITION
Unrestricted Net-Position _ 51,099
Total Net Position $ 5700

The riotés to the financial statements are an fntegral part of this statement:
I8



_ e L EXHIBIT D-2
JOHNSON CITY INDEPENDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT '
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES; AND CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022

Corveritiiental
Adtivitias «

. Internal
Seryiee Fund

OPERATING REVENUES:
Logal and Intermediats Sources § 17108
Total Operating Revenilés __ Inies
OPERATING EXPENSES: " |

'F_l'qfe.sﬂbna["sgnd Contracted Services 17.948
Other Operafing Costs B 128

Total Operating Expenses 26,076

Opetating Trcome {Loss) (8,968)
“Total Wet Pagition - September | (Beginning) 66,067
Total Net Position = August31 (Ending) 5 57,099

B ]

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement,
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JOHNSON CITY INDEPENDENT SCHQOL DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
FQR'T HE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 34, 2022

EXHIBIT D-3

Oovr.-mmmml
Activijida-

Iiterigl

Sérvige Furid

' Clash Rcr.eww:l from Asséssmc '« Othier Fuiids
Caslt Payiments for Othdr Opicimting Expongey

Net Cagl Usad for Operating Adtiviles.

Nl Dmm-me o Cesh find Cash Equivalens
Casli and Ca EquiVa[un' it Beglnning of Yeai

Cash Aiid Cagh Eqmvalents a Bnd of Yeir

Uperatulg Inﬂurma (Luss)

The notes lo the Gnancial stateiients are an inlegral part of this statement,
21
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o » EXHIBIT Bl
JOHNSON CITY INDEPENDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION

FIDUCIARY FUNDS
AUGUST 31,2022
Total
Cqst_odial
Fands
ASSETS | .
Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 43,003
Othiei' Recelvablos ‘ 1,200
Totdl Agséts S a4212
LIABILITIES )
Accounts Payable L3
“Potal Liabifities 1371
NET POSITION
Restricted for Btudent Activides . A3EAl
Total Net Position $ 42,84

The notes to the finaneial statements are an inkegral part of this slaternent,
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JOHNSON CITY INDEPENDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT
STATEMENT QF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET FOSITION

- FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022

EIDUCTARY FUNDS

EXHIBIT B2

Totil
Custodllsl
Funds

ADDITIONS:
Enterprising Services Révenile
Total Additions
DEDUCTIONS:
S_u]:_:pliesaﬁd Matgrials

Change in Fiduciary Nét Position
Total Net Pasition = Sgptémber | (Beginiiing)

Total Neét Position - August 31 (Ending)

The rotes tor the firiancial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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JOHNSON CITY INDEPENDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO 'THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR BENDED AUGUST 31, 2022

Sununary of Significant Accounting Policies

Johisan City Independent Schaol btsmcl (lha “District?) & o publu; admatmnai apernicy opr;raling umler the
applicable laws add reguiahous of the Stite of Texas, 1t is governed by a seven member Board of Trusiees (the
"Rourd®) elected by tegistéréd voters of the District. The Disirict prepares its baste financial statements in
cunfonmty with generally aecepted geeounting principles promulgated by the. Chovernmental Accounting
Standards Board and other authovitative sources identified n Statemant on Audtﬂug Standards No. 49 of the
American mstltutﬁ: of Certified Fublic Accountants: and it conplies with thie rcqmramemx of the ‘appropriate
version of Texas Bducation Agency § Financtal Acdamrminhly Systent Resonrce Guide (thé "Resource Guride")
aud thie requ:remants of comirdets aid grants’ of ngencms fronit which ll‘. receives Furids,

Reporting Entity

The Boars:l ct lrustees (the "Buard") 15 ale ‘t'd by the pub[lr:} al it lms lhe autlmnty tu malca declslons-' appumt

Standards Board (“GASB Y it Stﬁtemnnt No. i4, "Thig Fmancmi fieporlmg Bnmy " There are ng component
uhils fucluded within thg rEpOrting efility;

Sovernment-Wide and Fund Einaneial Statementy

The Statemont of Net Pasition and the Svatement of Activitles are goverfimeint-wilde fitiancial staterents. They
repost dnformatlon on all of the Johmoh City Indep{.ndent School District norifidu ary activities with rmiost of the
inferfund aetivities remuvecl G‘o, rmpiental activifies 'nclude programs ‘upported primaiily by loxes, State
fouridation ﬁmds, grants fid ,othe'r _tergovemmemal rEvenygs, Blf.éim. -typé activities include pperafions fhat
m[y"tu a ingmficant exlont on fees. and tliaeges for support,

The. Stah.,mem of Amwum‘ cle_mc}mtmtev, how other people. dr entities thiat partimpat(, in pmgrarm the Dlsll'lct
pperatay fiave 3hared it the payment of the. direct costs: The, “charges for servicés" columy inclades paymenits
m&de by ‘parties tht purcha';e uge, or chrectly beﬂefil from goods or Servicas pmv;ded by a given function-op
sagment of the Distiet, Examplea include tmtmn paid by siudents: not resadmg in the district, school lunch
charges, ele, The grants and contributions” column includes amounts paid by organizations outside the District
to belp -meet the operational or capital reqmremm{s of a given furiction, Examples include grants under the
]"lamentary and beccndary Edutntion Act, 1 g revetue i3 nol: a program Tevenle, 1t is 4 gcneml revenue used o
Support: all'of l;he sttﬂct s funictions, Taxey are le&ys general révenies.

Intée=fund acnwt:es bétween governmental funds’ appear a5 due to/due from on the Governmental Fund Balance
Sheet anl 4y dther resources and ollier uses on the” govemmentdl fund Statemam af Rev ;nués Expendinires and
Changes in Fund Balam:e. All teite fund transautmns belwgcm guvemmantal funds’ ate eliminated on th&
govermnf:m—w;de staternanits, Inter-fund actwmes between governmentat funds and fidugiary funds remain a5 due
to/dué from on the gnvemment.-wigie Hiaternent b Activities,

The fund ficancial statements provide reports on the financial condition and resulis of aperations. for three fund
categories - governmental, proprietary; and fiduciary. Since the resources in the ﬁduciary funds cannot be used
for Distriet aperations, they are not included in die govermnam_w:d:, statemants, The District considers some
governmenial funds major and reports their ﬂmmclal candition and resulis of opérations in a separate colunin,
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Propiristary funds diktingitsh operating reveruves and axpenses from fon-operating items. Operatmg revenues atid e};psmses
result from [meclmg Services and pruducmg and ﬂalwermg gogds in connection with a proprietary fund‘s principal
ongonig nperatmm. All othér révenues and ¢ gxpeiises are nof-operating,

Meéusurament Focys, Basts of Aceounting, and Fivancial Statement Presantation

Plic govcmment‘wm findncal statemerits se the Eeonomic. iesources mcasurement. faicus and the accrual baa:s of
agcounting, as do the ﬁducm fund Hrmuc;al statemems. Rcvenues Hre recmded Wlmn eamed and EXpEnses are
tecorded whet a l:ablhty i€ incurred, regardless of thie tming of the related cash flows. Pmpr.erty taxen are
recogmzed a8 revcnues in thié: yéar for which they - ate-levied, Grants and similar items are re:.ogmzed a8 feVEnue
8. soon as all ahgtb:llty requirements-imposed by the provider have been tiet,

Governmental fund financlal stateinents:use he gurtent finangial lesaurces mgaquremem focus and tlw inadified
acéiroal asts of ac ountmg, Wil ihis’ g VSufemem focus; only €urrent assets; currant liabilities and tund
balarices are inciur:ied on: the balance sheet: Qp(.mtmg statements ‘of these Tunds present net ‘increases and
decreases in current assets (e, revenues and other. fmancmg sourcey and expenditures and otfjer financing uses),

ya' able ﬁnanc:al g as Tl;e D_jjs\tf‘iét.
corsiders all :evenues Aavailible if they ate collr:ulblca Witlsin, 50 days after yf.ar end

when the abhgatmrm are expected to be [:qmdated w;rh egpenaab 5

Revinties from focal sources consist primatily of property tikes, Propetty tax revenuss and revenues received
fmm the Siade are rumgn:red indér the suséeptble=tom=acerual oncept. Miscellaneous reventies are recotded
4§ revénue when recived in z:aah hecause they are: gcnmlly ot gasicable Lmtil acnially yecelved. Ivestment
darnings:are recorded ageuened; smce th:,y fige both' measur'th]a dnd availible,

Griat funds aré. considered to ba earned o thie iextaiit of expmchmrm mide under the proyisions of the grant.
Accord gly, when such funids arc recazved they are fecorded as deferred revenues until related avd-guthorized
gxpeaditures Liave: been made, 1f balances! ‘have not heen expcndcd hy the erid of the. project petiod, ‘gravigrs
some times raguire the Thstelet torrefund all or part af tlae umisrzd amaum

The- Fidueiary Fuiids ‘aré deedunted fr on a flow of goonsmic Tesources méasuremment fogus and. utilize: the
dctrisal bagis of accounlmg Tius imy ot aeceunlmg Yetognizes revenues in the pecounting pc.nud in which they
-are earm.d aml become m;asu:ahle and- expenses inthe ac;t:tmnung period in which they dre- incurred atig Become
measurable, The District applies all GASB: pronouncements as well g4 the Financial Accouniting Smndnrds Boatcl
pronouticerents issued on or bafors November 30 1989 unless Gie. promuncc.mants conﬂxct or coruradxct
GASBE pronouhmmants th thls nredsy

'capltal ilssets ncl of. re!ated debr, igstricted net pumuon ;md unrcstnctud net pnsnmn
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Fund Agéounting
The Distriet reports the following major governmental funds:

1. The General Fund = The general fund i the District's primary operating fund. It accourits for
al] financial resources except those required to be secounted for in: ann ther lund

2, Dubit Sm-wm. Fund - The Distiict decoutits for resources accumulated aid payments made Tor
prmmpal anid mteresl o1l langvterrn ;,anera! dbligation dibt of governmerilal funis in @ debt;
'sar\!lw hmd.

3. Cupital Frojccts Truind = The capital projects fund accounts tar thé hond proceads and related.
c;onstruetm pvand renayagion projsets of the Dlstricl.

Additionally, the Distriet réports the following fand fype(s):

Govornusental Fands!

Proprigtiry Fundi:

2 Internal Service Funds » Revenues and expenses related (o services pmwded io organizations
inside the District on a cost relmbursement basis are accounted for in an interdal service- funid,
The Disirict’s Tuternal Service Fund 45 the workers compensation fund.

Fidueiary Funds:

3. Custodial I'umls The D:atrict accounts for resources held for othiers if g cu*.tc;dml capacity in
cnsmdy funids, The District's Custodla! Find fs the stident activity Fand,

Other Accounting Policies

L. For purposes of the staterhent of cash flows for proprigtary and similar fund~type:a, tire: District
conmdars hlbluy iquid invmlmenti o be cash equivaignts it hey have & matunty ut thres
mmuhs or less when purchaged,

2, The District reparts inveritories of suppligs at cost’ including consurable miainteriapce,
mstrucllanal rfic ice, athlefic, and transportation itéms: Supplm are- recorded i5 espendifures
whier Lhey ire, cunsumecl Taventoties of food cummodntm e recorded al ‘markel values
prlled by (he Texas Pepartment of Hutpian Sarv;ces. Alshough commadities are rm.ewed at
ng cost, lheir tmr marlcet valve is supplied by the 'I‘exas Dépariment of Humau Services and
mwrded a3 irwentory zmci deferred rivenue when recéived, When requisitioned, itventory and
deferred TEVERUE Ar¢ relieved, expenditures are chargad; and revenue is recogized for an
equal amaunt,

1, In the governmeni-wide financial statements, longsterm debt and other long-term obligations
are reported as liabilities in the applicable governmental activities, business- ~fype netlvities, or
proprletary. fund type statement of net position. Bond premivimg and discounts are deferred and
amortized over the fife of the bonds ustng the effective interest method, Bondy payable arg
raportsd net o the applmablf& bond premium or disgout.
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In the flind tinancial staterents, governmental fund types recognized boiid premijint and

'dwm)unts as w::ll #3 bond ia':uar:ce u)sts durmg the: enrreut parmd le face sxmount of debt

::.ce:ved are reported as debl ser#uce expenditures.

Vacﬂ_t_;_on beneﬁts dd ot accumulate; and are: last it noi ysed by employees i gaeh year. ‘Bach

£y _chal Board of Educanan ls reqmred to esnbhsh a4 Slck leave plan. Local scheel

-addauonal smk leave for five days Thcae addmonal day's are noncumuiauve '1‘11& Distriet has
ot computed the Habllity for scoumulated giek foave at August 31, 2022 and tia 1iability is
retlectad in the accompanying financial statenients.,

e recordcd at aatlmaied Emr market vaiue at the dam':sf desntion.

The Gosts of norinal maintenasice and répairs that do not-add to the value of e assat or
maternlly exiond assets lives e not eapital:zec! MaJ(Jr autlays for cap:tal fsgety aid
improvements are capitalized as projects are-constructed.,

Buildings, furniture and equipment of ths Distelet is deprocidied i using the sirdight lirie iethod

avek the tn]law:ng esum'ued usetul lives:

Asiets - . Years
fuildings 40
Building Improvements 15
Buses. 10
Vehicles 5
Offce Equiprient 7
Compiiter Equipnient 5

The Dlsmc( impleriented GASB Statemeitt No. 54, “Fund Balince Reporting and

Gmemmental Fund Type Dn,ﬁmtmn'i * Thig Smtement provides more alenrly defmecl fiand

balirice gitegories t make the alufe and exient of thé constrainis plackd on a governmem 5

fund. baiancu, moré transparéni. The following c!assiheatmns describe the relative strength of

the spandmg rzonstramts.

» Nou-spendable fund balance - amounts that yre not in non-spendsble form Guch as
unreﬂmry) 0O Are réquired to be maintained. intacL.

» Restricted fund Galance - amounls copsirained to specifio purposes hy their ‘providers
(such 85 Erantors bondholders, and higher Jovels of government), Hiwough congtinutioml
provtslom or-by enabling legislation,

*» Committed fund bulance - amounts conslrained to spacific purposes by the District itself,
using ity highest level of dec)sinn-ma}cmg autliveity (i.e. Board of Tmste%) To be
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10.

1.

12,

reported as commilted, amounts cannot b used for any other purpose: unless the Distrist
fakes the §ame haghesr level dution to ,remove ot changz. the constraint, As of Augst31,
2022 th:.. stmcl had cmnm;t{ed fimnds in the amount of $1,950,000 For stabllizition,

» Assxgn&d fund baiance - amuunts the District inténds fo use for a specific purpose, Inteni
ean he expiressed by the Bosrd oF Trustees of by an officll or body to.which the Board of
Prustees delegates the authority,

] Unasstgncd fund' balance - amounis Gt are-avatfable for any purpose, Pogidve amouits

ire reporteci only in the general fund.

The Hoatd of Trustees establishes {and miodifles or rescinds) fund balante cominitenis by
pagszge of 3 resolution. T[us is typlcally doud ﬂ:mugh ﬂdoptmn and amam]meni of the budget.
A fand bal.mce commitgent is firther mdlcatcd in ﬁie budget dom.imcnt as i dm_gua 1) o__r

Dateteed Inflows of Resgur_@es and Deferied Owows of Resources

The, le[fICt ‘has implemented. GASB Statement. No. -63; Phiseial Reporting of Deferred.
ﬂmﬂow,; ﬂf Resources, Daferred Inflows of Resources, gml Ner: Fosition and GASB Staement
No. 65; Ttems Previously Reported ds Assety and Ligbilitiés, U ndér GASE 63tid 65, amounts
pwvic»mly teported as defetied charges ag i paxt of total asety and deferred atnounty i

reﬁmdacl debt have been repnrted in a saparnln. Hetion as deferred oull‘m ot

I sesparale Sec,umu 5 deferrccl iiatlaws of résouTEs ;' '

thm Uig Dﬁtnct mcura _an expemae fm' whwll it may Use: en[ter reszncted or unresteicted

Hecatise ey wefg not uged

The Pata Comml Codes reter b the aceount code structure presciibed by TEA In the Fiianclal
Aceazmmbxluy Svstens Resource Cuide: Texas. Hducatiort Agency requires sclingl distriets fo
display these codes in.the financial statements: filed with this A;,mcy in order i (v imura eCuraty
in bulldlng a Statewide:data base for polley developivient and fundiag plans,

Perisions, The fiduciary fiel position of the Tcachars Rehrerm,m System of Texas (TRS) bis
been deretniined using the flow of gzconoii rgolrces measuremient focs - and fill acerval
Bagis of bt oummg. Tllls mc[udes far purpaseq ot measurmg the. et peusxon hab:]nty, _deferred
| d d iflows of resourées yelated t pensions, pension ¢xpense,
an:;i m{"ormariaﬁ about assets llablhtles ancl Eil’ldltl(llls fo/deductions from TRS's fiduciary net
pusnmn Baneflt paymentb (mc,ludmg rafund% of employes mntnbutmns) ate recognized when
dué and payable In aceordancé with the bensfit terms, Tuvestments are reported at fair value,

The pl‘epdl‘atml‘l of tmam!al statements in accordunce with acGounting peingiples geneially
‘acccptcd i the United States of America (“GAAP®) requires the use -of nidnapemnsnt's
estimates.

‘Other Post-Fmployizent Binefits. ‘The Tiduclary net position of the Teachet Retirement Syﬁtem

of Texas (TRS) TRS Care Plan has ben determined using the flow of economic resources
measurement foeus and full acceual basis of dscounting. This includes for purposis of
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measuring the net OPEDR llabiiity. deferred outflows of resowrces and deforred inflows of
resources. related to other post«emptoymenc benatits,. OPEB expense, and :nfmmatlon alsout
aggets; liabllites and addidons tofdediztions trom TRS Cate's fiductary net pns;tmn Benefit
paytients e recogmzed when dué and payably in sceordance with the benefit terms. There dre
0o dvestiicits ag tiig 4 pay~asuy0u g1 p!an and all eash iy held in a cash account

13, liplementation of GASH Stateniens No. 87, As ‘of September 1, 2021, the Districl dipited
GASE Statement No, 87, Leases, ‘The 1111plt,m" 5 standard estabhshcs 4 smgle
titde] for lease accountir g'-basnd oi the foundational pnnmpla that leases are t‘iuaucmgs of the
right fo 56 an underl ing agset;, The stindard réquires recognition of certain lease assets and
lmmhues for Leases .that prevmusly were classiffed a5 operating leases and recogmmd e
mﬂaws of resoutces or ouitfows of resources basedon the payment provisions of the contiact.

Stewardship, Compliance and Accountability

Buidgetary Data

. The Dlstnct comipares |
; ‘]he G:,nrsral I‘uml Budget; report appears in Il’xhib:t Cw 1

Emd Lhe mher two epoft& drein B hlb]l .12 . i3 B

Thie “following procedurés aré Bllawed in aatahhahmg ihe: budgatary data reflectsd i the general-purpose.
Tindngial siatements;

L. Prior to- -August 20. tle District prepares o budget for the next stigeceding Hicdl year _
Septembier §; The* aperazmg budgaL includc.s pmpn’ied expenditures it the fifeary ,t-[:nancmg
theny,

2, A meeling b thé Boaid. is then called for the purpiose of adopting e proposed-buidgar, At

laist ten days: pulilic nitice of the meetmg {iluse be given,

3, Pridr t6 September {, the budget i legally endcied throuph passige of  resolution by the
Buard Once a-budgei: s appmvec! it Gan paly be amendéed-at the function and fund Tevel by
ap[l:oval of & mafority of the.memibers of the Board. Amendinents are- pruzented 19 the Hoard
atity rEgulﬁr meetings. Bach amendment must have Bgard appmvai As- reqmred by law,
such amendments are made before the fact; are reflected in the official miiiutes of g Board,
and-are pot wmiade after fseal year end. Because: the Distrmt has a polisy of carefil hadgeiary
conitrol, weveral amendiments Were rgcessary dufing the y@ar However; tione nt thidkie, were
sigmficam

4, Hach budget is cobirolléd by the budget eoordinafor at the reverue and expc.nduura
function/object ével. Budget@d amounts ‘afe as amended by the Board, Al ‘hudget
appmprmtwns 1apsc at yedr end, A reconcahanon ct fund balances for hoth appropriatgd
budlget and non-appropriated hudgel speeial revenue funds §s 4s follows:
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1L,

_:durmg the period of the conteact; The pledge of approved seciirit 3

Aupust31, 2027 Furd Balarice

Appropriated Budget Funds

Food Service Speclal Revenus Fund $ 106,382
Nonappropriated Budget Fund 62,063
Al Spetial Reveris Funds 4 _ 162,445

Dietailed Netes oi all Funds and Acéount Groaps

District Policies and Lagﬂ"lrmi_rj_:gbgtrac'ﬁml" Pl‘oﬁs'imls'(iidvaming Dﬁnﬂsihs

The. fiunds oF fhe Disirict must be da,posited and invested under ihe terms of a colttact, tontents: of witich ave sel
opt-in the mpnsltnry Contract Law, The depository bank places prmved pled;,ed securities for sa["ckaapmg
and trust with the Distriet’s agent bank in an amount suffieient to protect District funds oh'a o _
o4 I Waived only lo the ektent of the'depmmtury
b*mlc 5 dollar apount of Federal Depos;t lnsuranee Corporatmn ("FDIC:“) insurange,

AL August 31, 2022, the carcyirg amount of ihe Districe's deposits (cash, cértificates of deptmt, and intergst-bearing

savings accoums mcludnd in tempotdry mva'itments) was $427,630 aiid the bahlc balance was $322,001,

Cuéiiadi'ai’ Credit’ Risk' for Deposits - Stats Jaw requites governmental eiitities 10, coritvact with finaucial
instifutions n which‘lunds will he depasnted t0 secure those deposits with insurance .or ptedged securities w:th |
fau' valisg equalmg o exceedmg tli¢ amount an deposit 4t the. end of each business day. The pledged securitles
inust be i the name of the g governments] entity aiid held by the entity or its agent: Since thie Distelet complies
with this law it ies no custodial eredit risk for deposits.

Disirlot Poligtes and Legal and Conttastyal Provisions Goveriing Investments

C@mplimme“ with the Public Furids Investment _Ac't_

The Public Fuiids Investaieiit Act (Goverhment Code Chapter 2256) containg facific pmws i i the areas of
invebtmant p ct.u:es, managemt.nt reparts and nqmbhshm ut of appmprxate poilciés, Among other things, it
overriris ubiligize an invistment policy: That policy milst address
t_h allowing areas: (1) safc,ly of pl’lm.lp.il and llquxdlty )] pctliolm diversification, (33 allowable investments,
(4) at.ceytahle risk lavels; (5) expected rajes of return, (ﬁ) maximum alfowable stated matunty of portfolio
vesfments; (7) maximum-average dollar-welghted maturity allowed Based o the smrect maturity datz for the

portfolio, (8) investment staft quality and capabilitios, (9} and bid sollcitation pr&ﬁamnces for. Qsltlfi(:ates of
deposit.

Smmtes wothoeize the Du,lmee to invest i (1) obligations of the U5, Treasury, tettnin U8, agenclas and the
Stute of Texas: (2) certificatss of- depasit, (3) certdin n]uﬂlﬂlpdl seeuntws “) manc:y market sdvings accounts, (5)
rt:purcham agmementq‘ {6) bankers accepmnceﬁ, (7) thutial fund's, (8) mvestment pools, (9} guarantead
investment contraets, (10) dnd Gommon trust funds, The Act alsu réquires the District to liave mtl&pend&nt
aiditors perform tést prodedures rclal&d te investment pragtices a5 provided by thL Act, The District Is in
substantial mmp[:am.e with the fequlrements of Lhc Act aml with local policies,
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As of Aitgust 31,2022, fohnson City Indepeiidest School District had (e following investments;

Weigheed
Avtage Matirity
Tnvestmients Amownt  (inDays) Credit Rating
© Texas Range ' § sgmoz 26 AMAmmE

Total Tnvestment Pools s sEnol

L(Jcal gDVErmncnt 1:Wcstment puuls usa amoruaed eost rather lhan :narket value to Aeport fiet: pasition to cmnpute

lequimd tu dnsc[o&.e cuvtaduai ciedlt nslv: t.dncentratmn ot Gl‘&ﬂlt nsk and mterest rate' rlskl
GASB Statement #40,

the f.i\‘*_f:fr‘ﬂ!,. pbrtfolio.

Crédit Risk ~ Qaverninent puul investments lave Tow market (cmdlt) gk due to rastncmns on Welghted average
m'mmty and maximpm. matumy of ity one investmcnt, e {nvestoneit mianager is :equlrec! - waiitals
$l 00 ngt asset value and must take immediate detion: if. thie iet. assct wlue of the pmtf{rlm fallg bélo
rlses above $1:003. N

Froperty Thxes

Proparty lee'i are levied by Oclober | o the assesscd value

pcm ltiES mtereat ulmﬁately it sc__,d Pmperty tax rcvanum are wrimderﬁd avmlable (1) when Lhey hﬁﬂﬂmb
dug or past'dug and reseivable Within thé cureant period and (2) when they are expectsd to be collacted during 4
B0-day period aftr the close of the school fiscal year, '

I)e’i‘inguent_i’_[‘a'xes -i'{é&cei'vaiile

Delinquent tates are proratedd between majnteriarice and Uebt service based on rates adopted for the year of the
lavy; Allowances for uncollectible tax receivables within the Gcm.rnl .md Debﬁ Sewme Fun'r'_ ate b:’:l'!ﬂ'.‘-l'.l on
iustur:cal experlence sl collmtmg pmpelty taxes‘ Uncailecttble prspeﬂy 3 g -
wiltten off, but the District 1§ prohibited from writing ot‘r tedl property tges wmwm speuﬁc smmtory autimnty
fromy the Texas Legislutuw
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D. Inter-fund Recelvables and Payables

Titer-fiind balanges at Atgust 31, 2072 corisisted pf the following individual fund balances:

Diie from Bug ta
Furid Other Funds __Ouher Funds

Spéctal Revenue Pund $ 14,08 §
Giepterd) Furid _
TOTAL §_ wom s

B, Digaparegation of Receivablés and Payablag

Receivibles ¢ August'31, 2022, wors as Fallows:

Priipity - Diig From “Patit
Tiks, Cvernmuls Cxligt Sl Dibw Rugiivibis
('.‘_q'ﬁru_m%hin_iAi:}l_{ﬁleéﬂ o ’ ’ g ’ o
Ginuml Fug ' 3 S 8 V7T 5 Ay § 1080 % TR
Doty Berie Fie 500 1454 T
il Teajoits ' u 2
Hupiafor Governmental Fndy AL - . A I
“Tol Gavtriinienia) Aitiviles 5. 3,187 % ORGYYY ¥ TAOHL § . EE I
At ot shdold Ror caltettfy
'(ILlr’iijjj'-tl1é‘éuzhsu‘:'q'\‘ié||( e, § g7 3 - F ] 3 1R

Fayatiles at August 3L, -2022, were 15 follows:

Srkirlus
Accouils anit [ugto Dug 5 Olher Taral
_ Bayable Tane ity Ouher Fupds  Coverumsnts Othee Brynbiey

Covernménial Actvities: _ .
Goniaral Faiyl 5B 8 L6 & WIW S 0,682 § BT & dude0t

b Sardfey Fum .
Capliat Projecis 376,837 6,817
Moniiiajur Cdvarimeninl Furid$ 2038 . . Iesby . TS . B Add 100,931
Tl Gicvatrmeiial Activities §. Wo8t0 § 412096 % 4083 & J0.682 8 1BS,01% ¥ . 051380

Amourg ot soheduled Tor pryiiiont
during e sibsdquént vebr ] . 0§ v 8 . % < .5 .
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F, Capltal Asget Acthylly

Capital asset attiviy for the Distriet To¢ the year ended August 31, 2022, wiss ad follows:

Governmental Activities:
Land

Buildingg & Tmproventents
Furnitura & Pauipment
Capital Leases
Construction in Progress
Toials it Historie Cost

Logs Accumulired
Dopreciation For:
Buildings & Fmprovérments
Furniturg & Equipient
Capiial Lénsés.

Total Ateuriulated Depreciation

Guvernmigntal Activities
Capital Assets Net

Right-to-Use Leage Assors Being Amortized
Rauipment | |
Total Rightsto-Use Leased Agsts
Less accuniulated amortization
Equlprrent
Topdl Actuimiilated Aportization

Total Right-to Uk Agsots Beirig Amoriized, Net

Governmidrital Activities Caplial Asgeis, Net

& w

Primiary Govertiment

Beginning,
Balance Additions

~ Rerireiments |

Endling

‘Baldnce.

441,001 § < §
20,821,743 4:879.182
3,215,886 574,833
1,500
4,242,743

- B
7,500
4242743

441,001
32,700,925
3,850,719

35,788,873 § 5454015 %

4250243 §

36,992,645

(9,043, 181) (656,358)
(2.228,349) (243;038)
{7,500

500

(10,601,539)
(2,471,387

“

(12,181,030) $ (399.306) §

71,500 §

{13,072.926)

73,607,843 § 4854619 §

B F 35718

 Apiags

23,919,719

A8

31,743 § 3579 &

33,927

§ (42405

{14,240

5 ____dipns

{14,240

31743 4 (10,861 §

2%,639,586 5 4,543,058 §

= e ————r
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Depreciation expense was charged 10
povernmental nictions as followa:

Instruetion 472,617
Tnstrugtion Resources & Media 10,489
Curriculum & Instrugtional Stafl Develppment 2874
Instictional | eadership 16,028
Sehoo! Leadership 40,519
Guidance, Cotmyeling & Hvatuation Services 15,262
Stadent (Pupil) Trangportation 35,010
Fleakth Sekvices 7061
Food Services 41,357
Cocurientar/Extracurriclar-Agtivities 61,191
Ceneval Admifistration 48,553
Pont Maintenarice and Opetatlons 93,979
ety udd Moittorig :éi‘;"l‘i?i'ct:_s 568
Dl Processing Services o 15888

Tatal Depregiation Bxpense 5 £09,396

Ampetization expense was chiarged to the Distiters Tunictiony s fotlows:

PMant Maintenance and Oporations ¥ 14,240
Tutal Amortization Expienise $ 14,240
[ , it

Dieigrred Qutflows gnd [nfigws of Resourgdy

“Fhig Tinancial statefnents ceport separate sbctions Tor deferred outflows and inflows of resoutess. Defereed outflows
represent an.acquisition of net position that applies to & futwre period and so will not be recognized g5 an autflow of
résources (expénse/expenditure} uniif that time. Deferred Inflows represent an acquisition of fund balance thal
applics to 4 future period and so will not bs recogiiized as dn inflow of resoures (reveriic) uritl} that time.

Pefegred Outflows on lhe ‘3ta[ement of Net Position congists of déferred charge for refunding, Which is amortized
aver the life of the refunding bond of $208,514 the District's proportionate shars of TRS pension deferved oulfows

of §571,654 (see note K), and the District's propartlonate share of TRS OPEB deferied outflows of $474,904 (see
note-1.)

Deferred firflows on the Statement of Net Position consisis of the Distrlet's proportionate share of TRS pension

deferred inflows of $1,253425 (seenote K), and the District’s proportinnate share of TRS OPEB deferred inflows
of $1,993,860 (see NoteL).
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Deferred inflows on the Balance Shioet ~ Governmentdl Tunds consists of :

Debt Servie
__GénaraI?Funéi Fund Toal
Delinquent Property Tax 5 5176 § 59011 § 374,187
Lass: Allowarice for Ucolléctible Taxes (15,759 1(2;951) (18,710).
Deforred Tnflows - Exhibit G- $ 299 417 5 A6.000 § . a85 4?7

H, Bonds Payable

The Digtriet issued $8,090,000 Unfimited Tax Refunding Bonis, Series 2012 for the putpose of providing funds
3 refund part of h uutsmdmg Unhmited Tax Selivol Bullding ,._Bunds, Seriss 2004 and. ihe Unlimited Tax
Schoo! Bulldmg aid Reb ding Bondy, Serles 2003, The refuiided bonds consist of $1,445,000 of the Series
204 bonds and $6, 680 000:0f the Series 2003 bonds, These bonds were.called and were redeemed on Decornbar
4, 2012 by depasmng 58, 509 491 into an eserow aceount, These portions of the: Serugs_?ﬂﬂt% and 2003 bonds

have been defeased and have been removell-4s a lmbmty of the District. The Unhmued Tax Refinding Bonds,
-Saﬂes 2012 mdture .on Fehruary 15 in each year uf the ycars 2013 thrcmgh 2029 bearmg interest at ratey ﬁ om

in eauh ot lllt. yearx 2‘320 thmugh 2025) bearm}, lntErest at fates from” 3% o 4%

Dgbit service réquirements are as follows:

‘ General

Year Ended ~ OBLIGATIONS _ Total
_ Augist3l Priricipal Tnterest Requirements
' 2023 % 145000 § 297250 0§ 1,712,250
2024 1,455,000 59500 1714500
2025 ;490,000 920,725 1,710,725
2026 1,530,000 180,950 1,710,950
2027 1,575,000 135,000 1,710,000
2048 - 2029 2,145,000 86,700 2,231,700
TOTAL $ 950000 §  LI80,125 § 10,790,125

Thiste ate a number of hmitatmns and resteletions contained in the general obhgutnm bond indentue,
Management. fias ‘tndicated thaé the Disteict is in compliance with all significant fimitations and restrictions at
August 31, 2022.
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Loaken::
mem n ri[n
Dﬁbummlnn

l)ueumﬂw\n‘ In‘.

Tt Kol Aetiiies

Loases

'.The Distrlot entered into g Fight-to-use-asset lodss with Dosumation, Ine, far copiers and pnnte;a ‘Thie legse term
begait Jul y 2018 and contimies thraugh October 2023 (63 months), The motlily lease payments arg £1,060 and
nelude intérestat 1980%,

The District entered into 4 vight-to-use asset loase with Dociimation, Ine. for & printer. The leage. term begait

September 2019 and- continiés through Januaty 2025 (63 moniths), The monilily lease payments are $25 and,
Inglude interest at 2850%.

The Dnsmct cmtzrer.i {iito & right-to-use asset lease with Docuraation, Ine; for a. copier, The lease term began Junig
2020 and mnhnues through November of 2025 (63 months). The monthly Jease payineils ate $65 and 1g1¢}lud;f
interest at 4170%. ‘ ' '

"I‘Iw Dl‘%lrmt entered int a righit-to-se agsat 1ease with Pibiey Bowes, Int. for n postage machire, The lauke ierm.
19592022 and conlinies through FLbruary 202‘}' (60 nwnths) Ihe ripnthly leas‘ payments dre 5182
il inciude mterest at. 6360%

Scliedulés of ehaniges in leases payableis as follows:

i

Anterast Taralnitinig il Thit Wikt

it . ik Ininreesss . Dectessen Tibunew - . tinig st

unv i3
a3 L 12,680 & 14, LE Aa0m
1020 2 st 04
35 769 2,153 m
' X A '3,'22",& L i
[TRE ] ASWE 1L L3S id 480
- AR bt b

Remaining abligations agsoctaled with |eases are ag follows:
Gaverimionial Asltelthos::

Y’car Enided Total,
Apgust 31, o Principal Interes Reqirremers
2023 2 14,480 5 485 14,528
2024 3,908 2 3,937
2025 121 12 1633
0% A5z 5 857
207 353 | 164
§ 21,321 % 8 5 " 21,300
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K.

daflned benelit pension that has: a special flmdmg situation. The plan ig adininisiered by

Chianges in Long-Terim Liabilities

Liongtexin dcilvily for the year ended August 31; 2022 follows:

Amibungs
Acigiiulig skl Dz Witin
- Batings __Tnoreases Degreises Balinge: Qe Yaur

Berlea 3012 Unitmited Tax _ _ )

pfinding Hanils 5 415,000 % 3 res0don 5 27A5000 & $25,600

Saries 2019 Unfimlied Tox o :

* Sciodt Bt Bons _ glangod : £:245,000 875,000 00,600
‘Suhtotal ER R CLY O < 8 2bBA0 § 9si0H0 s (MG
Téhses s aLg 55w § WL s 202 8 14,480

139,635 4
il ) - L 99;‘2_53 . [
Tofél Lgrg:Tern Ligbilitias 5 lnaedil s W4R5 8 ASELd 5 13, 405 naz ¥ 1,430 480°

Detined Bengfit Eh;nsim; Plan

PIau Beserfpiiwi ];:ilmsun Cliy [nd&pnndmt School Distrint patticipatés t ina cost-sharing. ihultiple-emplayer
b Teacher
pinisterad i

remignt Systetn of Texas (TR&) TRS's defined benatlt pensioni jplan ls established and

i curdance _Wxth the. TLKZ[": Cm}sntutmn, Artm[e XVI Sactwn 6’? fmd Texas Govcrn teil Codé-‘ Tltle‘- ':8

All emplﬂyeres oF publie, state-supported edvcational fustitutions in Texas: who dre amp[oyed for ong-lall or
moie of the s‘tandard wiork Toad and who are-not exempled from wenibership wnder Texas: Guvemmnt Cadg,

"Title 8, Section 822.002 aré covered by the- system,

Pﬂuimz Plan J’zducmry Nef sztzou. Dataﬂed mfarmauan abou[; the ’I‘ench&r Rmremant ‘System g fiducmry

al g ments and requxred aupplemefnt'try mmrmatmna That report may e abtamed o tiia Imemet it
lmp:, waw i, tekas, gov/l’ﬂ;.,u,/ Lbuut publmatmm,1¢ i by wming w0 TRS at 1000 Red River Stteel.

Beneﬁrs Prawded TRS pmv:d:.a service and disability reticement, as swell as desth and surviver beneﬁts, i
eligible anées (and their bmeﬁmdmaq) of publie and higher education tn ‘exas. The pension formula is
cateuldted using 2.3 percent (multiplier) times the average of the five highest annual creditable salaries times
years of eredited getvice to arrive at the annual standard anouity except for members who ate gnandl’athzred
the Hires highest aninual salaries are wsed. The normal service retiternent is at age 65 with 5 years of crédited
servu.e ot when the sum of me member's age and years of credited service equals 80 or more years, Early
Fetiteriiant i§ at dge 35 with § years of seryice credit or earlier than 55 with 30 years of setvies ciedit, There
are ﬂddxtmrml pigvisions for early rotirement if the sum of the member's age and years of service crédit total at
least 80, but the. memb&r is less than. age 60 or 62 depending on date of etuployment, or if the member was
grandfathered in undef a pievious rule. There are no aulomitic posi-employment beitefit changes: iiciudlng
automnatic COLAs: Ad hoe post-employment benefit changes, includmg ad hoe $IOLAs can be granted by thie
‘Texas Legislarire as noted it the Plan description above.
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Texny Government Code section 821.006 prokibis benefit uﬁpwvemants. if, as a result of the particular
aetion, the tme Trequired to dimottize ‘TRS’ unﬁmqled actuarial habrl::las would be mc.ran-aed to a permd that
exceads 3] yéars, or, if the amortization périod already cxceedﬁ 31 yeats, the period would be ingreased by
suich action, At.manai implica\tlm% of the funding provldcd int the manner are detersnined by the Systein’s
antyary.

C‘aui‘ribut!ans. Coptribution requireinents are @stablished br kmended pursuant to Article 16, section 67 of the
Texng (‘Jnmt:tunon which requires the Texas lcgmlamt‘e & gstablish a wiember contribution rate of not Tess than

% of the mermber’s annual compensation and a state contribution. cate of not less than 6% ind not more than
10% of the aggregate diual compsnsation paid to inembears of the system during the f'_scal year,

Employee cnnmbutmn rates are set in state statute, Texas ‘Government Code 425,402, The TRS Pension
Reform Bill {Senate Bill 13) of the 88" Texas Legislature’ amendsd Texas Guverament Cotle 825, 402 for
mgmbei dontéibutions and increassd ﬁmploym and gmployer ::cmlnbutmn vates foir fistal years 2020-2028.
Contribution ratay carl be fowid in the TRS 2021 ACER, Notwed1, on page: #5 and 86:

Contribution Ratey

Memher 7% 8.0%
’Nnu-a]:mployer Contributing Entity (State) 7.5% T15%
Employers. 7.5% 1.75%
Tolingon Clty 18D - Current Vear I‘impluyer Contributions ' & 177700
Johngson City 18D = Current Year Metitber Conigrilitions © % 457,883
Johnson le,y 15D - 2022 NECE Ondbvehalf Contribiutions § 338,773

Contrihutors to the plan indludé members, empluyem and the State of Texas as the only non- emplnyer
contributing eniity. The.States.the employer for senior collegos, medical schaols and iate genciss inéluding
TRE, Ineach raspeetive rolg, the State conteibutes to the plan T a;;r;.qfdar;ge with state statutes and the Generl
Appropriations Act (GAAY. '

As the nan-employer mmﬂbuung sty for pubhc educalion and j ,]umnr coilegas the Stale of Texas contributes
tn the- mttrem{.nt system an amaum gl tn the curfent t:mpioyar canmbutmn rate times the d,gz,rag.m; annual
eompensation of afl partnclpatmg members of the pcnamn trust fund during that fispal year ‘veducet by the
amounts deseribed below which arg paid by the em;f;ldjters Empluyers (puhhc &Ehodt, junaor aoﬂege. otlier
entities by rhc &I:at:, of T ans 48 the f:mplayer for senfor universities and medical schoots) ire. mqmred to pay

the einployer contribution rate in the following instances:

» On the portion of the member's salary that exceeds the ‘statitory minimum for iernbers
entitled to the statutory minimum tnder Section 21:402.of the Texas Education Code,

% During b new membet's first 90 days of employment

L} Wiwn any pm or all of an emplayee s saldry is paid by fcderai fundmg sources, 4 prwately
-sponsarcd source, from non-sducational and genemk ot Tocal funds,

s When iig emplaying district is 3 public junmr collagc: or Junmr m]lege disteict, the
employer shall gontribute (o the mtirement systr:m an amdunt equal (o 50% of the state
contribiition raté for cerlatn mstmc,tmnal or administrative employzes; and 100% of the state
contribution rate for-all other ginployees.

Tn addition o the employer conivibutions listed above, there are two additional sureharges an employer is
stibject fo,
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+ Al publie schobls, charter scligols, and regmmi educationg| seryice. enters must contetbite
1.6 pereent of the member's satary beginnmg in fiscal year 2021, gradually mareasmg to 2
pecent In fiscal year 2025,

] Wlmn employmg 3 r_" ree of the Teather Retirement Systain, the- eimployer shall pay bisth
the meéinber conteibrition and the state contribution as an amplnyment after retiremant
sumharge

Actuarial Asw:mpﬂons. e toral pension liabillty 10 the Algust 31, 2020 actuarial valuation was deiermined
using the following actuarial assumptions: dctuarial Assumptions can be found i the 2021 ACFR, Note'11,
pitge 87..

Viluation Prale

Agfarial Cost Methiod
Agset Valumlqn Melhod
'Smgle Discount Rate

August:’!;l 2020 rolled forward to
AugmtBl_ 2021

Tudividyal Enty Age Normat
Market Valuc
7. 25%

Long-i sy expeeted Inves)

e Ras of Retyr
‘Muiticlpal Bond Rago a8 o

Augist 2019 1.95 %. Source for the rate {s the Pixed.
lm:c»me Market Data!Yzcld Curye/Data
Mumcipal Bonids with 20 years t
Aty | that includa unly fedet*ally tax-
exempt mummpal bonds as rcpertcd it
Fidelity lidex’s 20 Year Municipal
GO AA Indvsx"

Tastyens ending August 31 fn Projestion Period (100 Years) 2020
Inflation 2,30%
aalary Incresses Inéluding Liflation 3.05% to 9.05% including inflation

Ad tioe Post Employrmént Bengfit Chingés Nong

:aSSuﬂ“ll)tmns used in tha actuanal-valuatmn 8% ni Augubt 31 20?.0 Fnr a full dascrlp(mn ol ilme aasumptxnns
‘pieasfz gee the achiarial viluation keport dated November 9; 2020.

Disconnt Rate. 'imgle discount rdte of 7,25 pum.m wag used to measure the toral p:,nslon lizbility: The
smgla discotnt rate was based on thie expecled rate of rétin on persion plan mx'ulmmh of 7.25 parcent, The
pm,]ecnon of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that cotitribiitions: from active menibers,
emplayers and nor-gmployer mnmbutmg entmy will be miade at the rates-set by-the leguslature durmg the 2019
seéssion, Itis assumed ﬂmt future emplnyer Bt stite mmﬁbutmns wm he 8.50 percent of payroll i fiscal yéar
2020 graduaily mc:rc,asmg to 9.55 pergent of payroll aver Hie: naxt seversl. years. Thiis Includes 411 empmyer
and state contributions for dstive: and rehired retiraes,

Eas;d an {hose assuaptions, the penslon plan § fiduciary. net position was ptOjEGlEd to bu-avaifable to make all
future bengfit payients. of cuerent plan mgibers, Thereford, the lohg-term expected rate of rétuen on pnnsmn
plan investments was applied 1o all periods of projecied bcnﬂﬁt paymenis to defermine tlic okl pengion
:]lﬂbill[y

The Icmg terny rate of teturn on pension plan investments is 7.25%. The longstarmm ekpected fate of et on
petision plan investments was deferinined using a buiidmg-b[oc!c method ta which hast—eatlmatcs ranges of
expected future real rates of return (exlg:etted retiitns, net of pensnon plan investment expensé and inflation) are
developed for each. major asset.class. These ranges are combined to produce. the long-term expacted rate of
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retuen by welghting the expecisdl fulure real rates of return by the target agsit allocation percentage and by
adding expecied inflation. Best esfimates of geometife real rates of return for each major asset class included
in: the systems. target asset allocation as of August-31, 2021 (see page 53 of tie TRS ACFR) are stimmarized

;be.l_ﬂ'W-i
Long-Term
Expected Arithmistic Expected Contriby
Target Real Rate to Long-Term
Asset Clags' Allogation” of Retuir’ Porifolts Retur
Global Equlty
U, 18.00% 1.60% 0.94%
Noo-U.§, Developed 13.00% 3.40% 0,83%
Eriiérging Markets 9.00% 4:60% 0.74%
Private l::quuy 14.00% 6.30% 1,36%
Stalie Value
GDvernment Biiridle 16.00% -0.20% a.01 %
Albtoliite Ratirn 0.00% L10% 0.00%
Stable Value Hedge Funds 5.00% 2:20% 0.12%
Real Rebivn
Repl Estate 15.00% 4,50% 1,00%
I%nergy find Natura! Resources and 6.00% 4.70% 0:35%
Infigstructire ‘
Commodities 0.00% 1,70% 0.0%
Risk; Parity
Risk Parity 8:00% 2,80% 0.28
Asset Allocatton Leverige |
Cash 2.00% 0:70% 0.0
Asgel Allgbntion Levérdge: -6.00% 4.50% 0.03
Inflation Ekpactation. ' " 2.20%
Volatlity Drag’ -0.95%
Total 100% 5.90%

| Abgolute Rerorn includes Credit Sensitive Investmesits

2 Target Allgcations are bused on the FY2021 policy madét

3 Capito] Markpt Assimptioiy come from. Adi Htew:i_ts, {us dFQ@ljl/?ﬁ)Zl)
4 The volatitity drag results from the eonveriion bawwaen aritninetic and gédimetric mean retrns,

Discount Rate Seéi;filiv}ty Andlysis, The following table presents the Net Pension Liability of the plan using the
discount rate of 7.25 percent, and what the: net pension Hability would be if It were cileulated using n tiscolnt rate
that fs"one percentage point lower (6, 25 pt.,rmmt) o ane pamentage pmnt hi ghcr (8. 25 pe[cent) than the cmrent rife.

“The disconiy rite” can bé fmmd fh the 2021 TRS M;‘I‘R Note 11, pape 87 and the Tabie af Sensteividies {Table

1.1 ean bé found-on page 88,
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1% Pecrense In 1% Incicase in
Discount Rete Diseount Raté Piscount Rale
(6.25%) (7:25%) (8.25%)
Johmson City ISD's proporiionte share of the net
| porsion tsbiiy: E 1,048,973 | § 891,891 | & 1,317

Pension Liahiliites, Pension Et’pame, and Deferred Outflows of Resonress and Deferred Inflows of Resoirces
Related fo Pensions. At August 31, 2022, the Johnson City Independent Schidol Distriet teporied o Hinbility of
$891 39! for its proportiondte share of the TRE"s nat pengion H')billly This liability reflects a vedustion for Statg
pension support provided to the Johnsen City !ndapendem School District, The ampunt recognized by the
Jotinson City Independent Schiol District as its proporlienate share of the net pension l;abi]ity, ihe related State
suppott, and the total poriith of the net peiision liability that was assoclated with the Johnson Tty Independent
Sehool District were as follows:

District's Proportionate shate of livg-collective nét pension liability § 891891
State’s proportionate sharethat is associated with the. District _2.021,649
Totsl $.2:213,340

The net pension liabitity was measired as of Anjgust 31, 2020, and rolled forward to Avgust 31, 2021 and the
total pension liability vsed to calenlats the net pension liability was determmed by an actiiarial valuation as of
that date. The employer's proportion of tha net pensioh: lialbility was based ot the c;mplnyer s catitributiond to the
pension pian relative to the tontributions of all émployers to the plan for the period September 1, 2020 thru
August 31,2021,

At August 31, 2021 the employkr’s proportion of the collgctive nat pension lability was .0033022172% which is
an increase of ,0001961072% from its progortioi measured ag of Angust 31,2020,

Changes Sincé the Prior Actuaria) Valuation - There were no thangés in agsumptions singe the prior
measurentenl date,

For the year ended August 31, 2022, the Johnson Qity Independént School District recognized pension skpense
of $33.536 and revenue of 58,082 For support provided by the Stale in the Ciovernivient Wide Statement of
Activities,

Al August 31,2022, the Johnson City Independent Sdmui District réported its propoitionate shure of the TRS's
deforred nutﬂows of resources and deferred Inflows of résources related to pensions from the following §ources:

Thaferred Dofereed
Gutflowsal | Infaws ot
_ Resnurcey Ragollices
Différences betweon experted and actial seonomic Sxperienes § . LA 52,790
Changes [y netuarlal assiumplising 318266 137,479
Difference bétween projeated and act! 1nvmuuunl garnings - 747,439
Changcs n propon fon ynd {Ill‘furcm.u bctwccn the emplayer’s ’
conritntions and the proportionate shire of' contributions 7198 W73
Cantributions i 6 TRE sabseguenl 16 e wersirdinait daie 177,700
Tolal ' 5 571654 |§ 1288423
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The net amounts of the emplayer’s balunces of deferred outflows and fnflows of resturces relitéd (o pengions
whi be recognlzed in ponsion expense as follows:

Year ended Algust 31 | Pension Expense Amount

2023 ' {182,379

2025 (236,420)

2026 _ (260,606)
| 2027 _ (3,321)
| Theresfter ) _ - 2,761

Defined Othey Post-Employment Benefi{ Plans

Plau Description. The Johnsou City Tndepemdent School District paricipatés in {hve Texas Publle Schoof Refired
Employess Group Insutarice Piagram (TRS-Care). It is 4 mulliplauﬂmp}ayer, post-sharing defined Diber. Posts
meioyment Benatil (GPERY plan thai has & special funding situgtion. The TRS-Care program was established In
1986 by (he Texas Leglslature,

The TRS Board of Trustees administers the TRS-Care program and the rolated fund in accordance with Texas
Insiirance. Code Chapter 1575, The Board of Trustees 15 granted thé authority fo éstablish basic and optional
group Insurance coverage for particlpants as well as {o amend benefit terms as ficaded under Chapter 1573.032,
The Board may adapt rolgs, plans, precedurefs, and orders reasonably nogessary to administer the jrogram,
incluiing minfowinh benelits and finanging staidards.

OPER Piur Fiduclary Net Posiilon. Detail infotniation wbout the TRS-Carie’s fiduciary nét position is available
I the separately-issued TRS Annual Comprshensive Financial Report that includss financial statemems and
equired  supplementacy information.  That ieport  inay he obtained on the Intérmet at

hutpsy/fvwy tes texas.oov/Pages/abow publivationsaspy 3 by wrltmg to TRS at 1000 Red River Strest, Austin,
TX, 78701-2608; ot by catling 3 12) 5426592,

Bengfits Provided, TRE-Caie provides health insurance coverage to retirees from public seliools, charter schools,
regional education service centers and other educstional distict who are membeérs of the TRS penglon plan.
Optional dependent covernge is available for ai addztmnal fee,

Eligible non-Medicare rtirees and their dependents may enfoll i TRS-Care Standard, # high-dsdyctble health
phan. Eliglble Medicare retirees and their dependents may envoll in the TRS-Care Meﬁware Advantsge medical
plan and the TRE-Care Medicare RX preseripfion drug plan. To quality for TRS-Care coverage; a retirée must
hava a Jeast 10 years of service aredit in the RS pension systei. There ae o Automiati post—employment
benelit changes; including automatic f‘()l,As

The premiun rates for retirees are refleoted in the following table.

TRS- Ciive Plan Pmmium Rates
_ Medicare Non-Medigaig
Retites or Surviving Spouse 5 135 § 200
Retiree and Spouse 329 689
Rutivee or Surviving Spouse and 168 408
Children
Retlree and Pamily 1,020 899




C‘mltl'cbulmus. Contelbution ratss for- the. TRS-Care plan are established in state siatutc by the. Texas
Legislature, and there is 1o continuing obligation to provide benefits. beyond each fiseal yeat, The TRE- Care
plan is currently funded din a pay-as-you-go basis and ig subject to change based on available funding. Funding
for TRS-Cire is prov:dt.d by retirés premium ccmlnhutmna and comributions from i stats,. active ediployees,
and: school du,mcr.s baséd ipon pliblie sehool district: payroi] The TRS Board of trustees does not have the
authority to set or amand contribition rates;

Texas Insurance Code, section 1575.202 estblishies the state’s contelbution rate wiich is 1:25% of the
employee’s salary Section 1575203 establishes the active: employee's tite which is .63% 6f pay. Section,
1575 204 establishes an epployor contributign rate of nof less than 0. 25% Qr not more tlmn 0, 75% of tie
salaty of edch ‘active etiployee of the public. The. actwal gmployer contnbutimn pard is [Jr(:'scrl.hed hy the
Legistature i dhe: General Appropuatmns Act, The Fo[IcJij, table shows contributlons to the TRS- Caxe plan
by type of contributor,

Contrihittion Rites

Aglivé Bmi ployee

Naii-Employér Conteiving Yuitity (tate)
Ewmplogers

Tederallprivate Tindinig reiiitted by Empiloyets

Fohnsmy Elty 15D- Curwut Fisen! Year I‘.mplaytr Contriliiitlons §46,540
Johason City YSD- Cuirreiit Piscil Yeae Member Contributions $37,203
Jabison City 15D~ 2023 NECE On-Belwlf Confribiutions 58,804

In addition to the smployer cantribulions Hsted abcve thete s an additonal surchurge all TRS emplovers are
athac.t o (regdrciless af whiether or dot they pafticlpate in (hé TRS Care OPEB pmgram) ‘When employers
Tire 4 TRS relirdé, they are raqu] 1red {0 pay to TRE Care, a wonibly sufcharge of §535 per ratires,

TRS-Care reveived sipplehental appropriations: from the State of Texas s the Non-Bmployer Conttibuting
Bnmy in the amount of $5.5 willicd in fispal year 2021 for Eonsitmer profecticns agdinist medical and health
€ate billing by certiini oub-of-networle pruv;ders

Actiiarial Assumptmus The ar..mnnal vatuatmn waig performed as of August- 31; 2020 Update procedures wers
usetl 10 roll forward the Total. OPEB Liabxhty to August 31, 2021, The notaariat valuation wag deterinined using the
ﬁailowmg actuatial assumptions: Acruarial Assmrfprlms cdn be found i the 021 TRE ACFR, Nare g, Page. 70,

The gctusrial valudtion of the OPEB plan offerasd Lhrough ’l RE-Care is similar fo the actuariat valwation
performed for the pension plan, escept that tie OPER valustion is morg ¢omples, ‘Al the demographi¢
'assumptions including tates-of retlrement termmatmn, and djsability, and most of the economic assmnptmns,
'mbludmg gengral mfhtmn and sulary mnreased used in the OPEB valation were 1r.lentic*\| i those psed in the
respective TRS pension valuation. The: demographic assumptions were developed in the xpetience study
performed for TRS for the perlod ending Auguat 31, 2017, ‘The follawing agsunptions and oiher inputs used for’
menibers of TRE-Cirg arg based Qnan t:smbhshed patterss of pragtice aud are ideriical to the assumptions used ity the
August 31, 2030 TRS pension actuarial valuation that wais roled forward to August 3F, 2021z

Rates of Mnr‘tziﬁty Rates of Disability bicidence
Raites of Retirenient General Inflation
Rates of Termination Wage Intlation
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‘The active mortalily wites were based on-90 percent of the RP-2014 Employee Mortality Tables for nmales aind
females, willr full generational mortality. usiig Seale BB, The post-retirsivert moriality rates for healdry lives
wert based-on the 2018 TRS of Texas IIe'llthy Pengionsr Mnrtality Tables, with ll genemtsuna[ projection using
the ultlmm improvenignt rates ftom this rost recontly published seale (U-MP)..

Additional Acnieerinl Mothods aid Assumptions:

Valuation Dite August 31, 2020 rolled forward to August 34,

2021
Actuarial Cost Metliod Tiidividuel Entry Age Nofiial
Liiflation 230
Single Discaum Rtk 1,94% as of August 31, 2021
Aging Factors Based vn plan specific experience
Expiinges ‘Th;rd-party administrative expenses related to the

defivery of health care benefits are included in
the age»adjusted elatuis gost,

3, 05;6 09, U5% mcludmg inflation

Nom-.

Prejicted Sulary [nereases
Ad hoe post-employment tenefic changes

Llismimf Rafe A single dlsct’mnt 'i'ate of 1'95 %' wns used fo méasurﬁ fhe m’r 'OP'EE lfabiiity "I"!ier‘é w'"a'-a a
2021 TRS AL’.‘F R o Pa,gﬂ '7? Becauﬁe tlm plan; is aswntmlly a “payaswou-go _plap. the s;n__g,l_e ;!ismu_m; ,r_ate
i# equal to the grevdiling mugicipal bond rate. The projection of Gagh flows used i dlaterming the discount Fiite
:assunmd that Lcmmbutions froni active membe;ra and {hose of the Gontributing employers and the apn-gmployer
centnhutmg entity’ are made ot the smtutmily tequired rates, Based on those assumptions; the QPER plan’s
fidueiary net position was pmjected to ‘it b able to wake il Tutaré bénsfit payients of curtent plan
wienbers,  Therafore, the mumupal hnnd Fate qu used for the Iong-term rité of tefuen and wis applmd o all
pemds of prqpucted BeriefiE payments to dciermme the total GPFB [lablhty

The seuice of the nwmicipal bond rate is the Fidelity “20-yedt Municipal GO AA Tndex” as of Avgist 31,
2021 wsing thie tlxeddmnme munieipal bonds with 20 years to maturily fhat include only federally tax- exempt
wiunicipal bonds.

Discotint Raté Scnsitivity Analysis. The rellawmg schedule ghows fhe mlpact of the Net OPEB Lmbil:ty if the
dmcuunt rate ised wWas 1% {e%s than and 1% greatsr than the discount rate that was used (1 95%) in- measuring
the Net OPEB Liability,

1 % Deciedse in Current Single 1% Increase in
Discount Rty Diseoui Rate Digeount Rate
{0.95%) (L 95%) (2.95%)
Johnsen City ISD's propartionate $ 2,614,137 | § 2,167,195 | § 1,815,438
stidre of the net OPER liability:
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QPLRB Linbilities; OPEB Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources und Deferred Inflows of Resources
‘Related to OPEBs

At August 31, 2022, the Jotmson City Independent School Distiict reported a Tiability of $2,167,196 for its
proprtiofiate share-of the TRE's Nét OPEB Liability, This Hability reflects a rédistion for State OPER support
pmvided to (he district. The amount recopnized by the district as its proportionste shave of the net OPEB

Jiabifity, the related State support, and the 101l portion of the net OPEB liability that was associated with the
digleiet sverend follows:

Johnson City I813's Proportionats shars of the collective Net OPEB Liabllity $2,167,19
Btate’s prapartionate share that is sasociated WIth Johnson City 150 ?.,903,55
Total £, D'JO 755

The Net OPEB Liability was measured ag of August 31, 2020°and rolled forward to August 31, 2021 and the
Total OPEB LiabHity used to grlcitate the Net OPEB Liability was determined by an actuarial valugtion ng of
.[hat clate, 'T] Tie. mnpluyea 5 plopnrllon af‘the Net OPEB Liability was based on the r:mployer $ contributions to the

OPEB plan relative 6 the contributions of all einployers to th plan for the period Septembm 1, 2020 thry
_A_ugust 31,2020

At August 31, 2022 the mn;:’loyar’s proportion of the colleotive Net OPEB Liability was D036182126%, which
was an ifcrease of 0001691 083% [Yom its proporion measured a5 of August 31, 2021.

Healtheare Cast Trend Rates Sensitivity Avialysiz, The Tollowing presems the net OPEB liabilily of e plan
usmg the agsumed healticare cost trend rate, 55 well ag what the net OPER liabi ity would be it it were m!cu]at&d

tising 4 trend rate that {s one-percentage point lower or ang-percentage point Hiighsr than the assuted liealthicrre
gogtirend rato.

Current
1% Thucrense Healtheare 1% Increase
Fronil Rate

Foporifonate share of not OPES 3 1,755,387 1 & 2,167,196 1 % 2,719,781
Habiley:

Clmt’iges Sinee the Prior Actusrial Valuation - The following were changes to the actuarial assumptions or
other inputs that affected measurement of the Tolal OPER Tiability since the prior measurement periad: These
watn b2 foiind in the TRS AGE R oit Page 77,

+  The digcount rate changed from 2.33 percent as of August 31, 2020 to. 1.95 percent as of August 31,
2021, This change increased the Total OPER Liabiliy,

Changes of Benefit Termg Since the Prior Measurement Date — Thare were o clignges in benefit ferms sings the
prior theasirament dale,

Far the year ended August 31, 2022, the Johnson City Indejiendent School Distiet recagilzed ($251,905) OPER
expense and ($107,164) revenne for support provided by the State.
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At Angiist 31, 2022, the district teported its proportionate share of the TRS's deferred outflows of esourees
antd deferred hiflows of resources related to ofher post-ediployment benefits from the foll'uwmg sources:

DLfernd Tourrwd
Ouiflowsgf | Inflaws !
Resourens | Rageuieces

Hirtbrinces balwegn expeated fnd octsi Soanonla uﬂ:-r.ncnﬁc - ] 8 onoels 1.040.0%
Chinuges in ktuirinl vesumptiods L - : S g 4580
ifuresee Letwegn projocssi dnd netuat Invesiiunt ageutins - S 2353 -
Chinniges in prapoefion ws] ditfergnce Gerween (N emplayer s i : - T
ontritusions and (e propos it shart uf eonkribisloi ] : - brEsl A48, 46t
Coutributtois pald to'ms Fubequitit (6 e mangivemint L ] 46,5401 -

“Total . , ' _ S 3,908 |§ 1,993,880

Thy et amounts of the emplgyer's balances of deférred outflows and inflows af resaurces relited to OFER.
will be fecagnized i OPEB gxpense a3 follows:,

Vir ended Augiist 30 OPEB Bxpetise Amaunt

2038 | (300,732)
2024 (360,785)
2025 o _ £300,770)
2026 ‘ (243,724)
2027 - _ (166:494)
Thereiter T es2n

Medicare Patt I¥ - Qnf ngutf.}*aﬁméms

'I“he Medmre Presnrlptmﬂ Drug, [mprmremeut and Modermzauen Act of 2003 ‘WhlG]l wag ¢fleetive, January 1

axpen ";_ures for ehg lé TRS C.‘arr; participauts. Paymants made :}n belmlt of .Tnhnsun City Independen( Schoul
sttrict for Hscal yeary 2022, 2021 anl 2020 were §23,808, $24 560 and 522,089,

Heaith Care Coverape

Beginning September 1, 2002, House Bill 3343 treated a statewide program and reguiteiient [‘ur public s¢hool
etiiployee group Ledlth doverage. All cmploycu, are alluble fnr coverage prmf[ded they are either active,

-conmhutmg TRS mémber or afe employed for 10 or more hours sigh week, The Téacher, Retlrement System 8

the prlmary admmwu.nng agency “for the ficalth insurance, prograny, and hml*; TEA and TRS pro\ride funding for
ihe program,

Dui¢ from Stite Apencies

The Distriet participates in 2 variety of federal and state pragrams from which it receives grants to partially or

fully finance getiain fctivities, 1o addition, the District receives entitlements from the State through the School
Poundation-and Per Capita Pr OgrAms, Afmounts due from federal and state governments as-of August 31, 2022,
are summarized below. All federal grants shown balow are passed theough the TEA #0d ‘aie reparted on the
combined financlal statements a5 Due froi StateAgencles,
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State Pederal

. Fiind . Eatitleménti Grants Tatil
General Fund 5 406,061 § $ 306,061
Spécial Reveniie ) 2,041 73,244 75,260,

Total § 3081088 732§ . 36130

Revenue from Local ynd Intaeinediate Soiirces

Duriiigs thie curienit year, revenues from local and. int&rmedn.; sources congistéd 6f the fnt[nwmg

(‘rcncml Spt'cml shenug (‘npllnl Fi m.lﬁ J3ebi
Fund T g Find  Beetued Tail
Fragioiy Tares Y EEERT L} & nigedm 0 \Lgeame
“TeiAllgE, Toicrest & '
Dcher'_x_‘nx el [gaine 0 2,680 e o
' e 31,575 13 PR 5643 '
.57
ot Eurriv;ulnr it AmrEvities . iﬁ’J.O?.ﬁ
Diies [0 e ‘ 23,165
Taial AR .wsna? s 4D 5 rmiases § |4868001

Gerigral l‘”@m'id Bederal Sourced Revenues
Federa! revenues reccgnlzed in the General Fund consist of Sclmol Healtli and Related Services (SHARS)
réimbursements of §7 1 658

ternal Secvice Fund

Con pensacmn PLOJECL) Cosrs g atiocat&d to oify s zmd the tetamed ean‘lmg& am fully resr:wcd for sel[-
funded instirsinea,

Extimates of claiing payable and of claims fcutred, but not repertsd at August 31, 2022, sve reﬂegted as fccounts
and ¢laims payable of the Fund. The plan i funded o discharge liabilities of the fuhd as they become dug,

Changes In the balances of claims labilities durliig tie past yearare as follows:

Year Ended

8!3}/_22. _
Unpaid claitns, beginning of fhe year $ 0
Tncurred claims (ineludirig IBNR'S) 3373
Claim payients _ 3,373
Unpaid claims, end of fiscal year $ Q

BSOS
In wecordance with Cloveramental Accounting Standards Board statement No. 10, the followtig dm[casures ate
fitade:

¥ Plan year. hegnmmg Sc.ptembar 1; 2021 dnd ending September 1, 2022,

® Tehngon City 18D ki finuncial exposyie for the plan yeir; § 15,450, Any costy above
$15,430 for the 21 22 plan yeir are the shared rasponmh:]:ty of the remaining ScheolComp
miemibers.

¥ Tohnson City 1SD's self-insuréd retention, per ocourrence, $ 15,450, Cogts. for Any oné claim
ahove the self-nsured. retention are theé sharad respousibility of thu remialning Sclumlcﬁmp
members
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E Excess ingurance provided by Safety National Tnsurance Company, and admited carrier, policy
damber AGC-2551-TX.  Pilicy provides. for speéifle. stop-loss attachment -at $350,000 per
oeeureanee and aggregate limit of $5,800,000, Coverage provided to %ta(utory Limits.

Risk Managerment

‘Stats law allows school districts 1o tetain risk through its own risk managetent program {i.e. & "self-lnsurance”

piogran), insite thedugh 4 commercial cairier, of inguré thiough a public entity risk posl. The District has

Insukable risks in various atens, mcludmg ‘praperty, casua!ty, auiomobi!e, and cnmprehenswe lmbihty and

worker's compensaucm Durmg tha éurcent lls;,al year; the District obtaised msurance '1gainst risks through
comimercial carriérs excépt for warker's compensanon Tha District asmblished 8 aalfafunded worker's
ccmpan&.atmn furid’ through a public enuty rigk puol. Managem&nt bt,itevas the wriount and types of coverage are
adequate to profect the Disirict from losses that cou[d reasonably be expected 0 oceur,

Litigation

Mauagelmm represents thers is no hngatmn pcmdmg agiingt the District wiiich would have g material affect gn
the: fininéial setements,

Contingencles and Contencts

The Disteict participates i huierdlis Staté and chc_rnl gram Titograms whmh are gﬂvemed by virious rules and
.rugulatmns of tie grantor agenci
adjustmient hy the gmntor agel

C.osts charged to e rewpactwe grant programs ai¢ gubject o audlt i
fiesefore, in & extent diat thie. District lias not. compl;ed with the riles and
regulatmm gove ing the grants, if dny, rafundb ol any money réceived. may be: required and the co[]entabnhty of
ny rglated receivable at Augast 3%, 2022 may be impaited: In the.opinion of the District; there are no significant
contingent lmbnhtmre telufing o cﬁmphame w:th the rules: and ccgulatmna governing thi vespective. pranis;
therefore, ng provision has been recorded dn e aceompanying eombingd: financial statements fof siick
cﬂntmg_enn.m

T May 2020 the Disirict conteactsd with Stoddard Canstrugtion Mariagement, Inc. for the 2019 bond

impmvmmnt prajects; The total ehrlract is for 6, 971, 062 Thie baliance as of August 31, 2022 was 3376 ‘837,

Subsay vent Eveits

The District has evaluated s,ubwquem events thmugh jauuary 2023 the date which the fman.cla[ statements wore
iyailable to be issied, The District is tiot awire of gny sub.'aequent evants Ihat materfally- impact the financial
stateirients.
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JOHNSON CITY INDEPENDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT

BUDGET AND ACTUAL - GENERAL FUND
I“OR THE YEAR [‘NDED AUGUS’I‘ 31,2022

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CH JANGES IN FUND BALANCE

EXHIBIT G-[

J——

Dam Avtual Anictints Vnrmncc Witli
Conirol Builacicd Aousts (GAAP BASIS) Tt Byt
WiIgEIe AMOURIA Positive or
Codos . - o TR
Origginal Final tNegalive)
REVENUES: , -
5700 Total Local and [ntermediate Sources $ 0 9718550 § 10,218,550 § 10,222,985 § 4435
5800 State Program Revenues 675,749 170,749 767,465 {3:284)
5900 Fedéral Program Revenues 10,000 72,000 71,058 (342)
3020 Total Revenues 10:404,209 11,061,299 11,062,108 809
EXPENDITURES: T T
Current:
00t Instruction 4713,236 1,182,064 4,429,242 52,822
o912 Instructional Resourcss and Medm Services 117,369 111,369 103,503 1,864
0913 Curriculum and Tystructional Staff Developinient 23450 13,450 8,795 4,655
00zl Instructional Leadershlp 387,938 405,938 394,588 11,350
f0z3  School Leadership. 419,617 419,617 415,432 4,185
0031 Guidance, Counseling, and Fvaluation Services 157,766 90,766 83472 2,294
6017 “Health Sérvioes 69,402 69,402 61,189 8,213
o034 Student {Pupily Tiansportation 425,914 519,914 481,893 38,021
8036 Extracurricular Activities 561,630 603,430 545,798 47,632
0041 General Adm|nistrition 451,488 451,488 373,007 76,481
0081 Facilities Mainteriance aiid Opetations 970,472 974,872 956,832 18,040
G052 Security and Maiiitoring Servides 6,150 9,150 6,004 3,146,
0033 Digid Pmce*csxng Services 145,468 136,468 131018 5450
_ Debt Service:
0071 Principal on FLong~Term Liabllities - - 14,1)0 (14,110}
0072 listerest.on Long-Term Liabilities % = o4 (64)
Capital Dut[ay '
o031 Pacilities Acquisition find Corntstriction - 130 28,246 5074
Intergovernmeiital; o o
o091 Contracted Instructional Servicos Between Schools 2,534,000 2,434,000 2213747 320,253
0059 Other Infér, guvemm&mai Charaes 207250 257,250 236,552 20:608
6030 Total Expenditurgs 11,251,180 11,112,498 10,500,494 612,004
1100, Excess (Def’ iciency) of Revenues Over (Under) (846,851} (51,199) 5614614 612,813
prenduums
OTHER FINANC‘IN(J SQURCES {USES);
w2 Sgle of Real and Personal Property : 3150 3,140 (19
7913. Right-to-Use Leasés o - 3,579 3579
911 “Transférs Qut (Use) (32,0003 - . ”
7080 Total Other Fihancing Sources (Uses) G200 3,150 6719 3,569
1200 Net Change in Fund Balances (898.851) {48,049) 568,333 616,382
0100 Fund Balance - Seplember | {Beginning) 4,318,426 4,318,426 4,318,426 =
3000 Fund Balance - August 31 (Ending) & 3419575 4,886,759 § 616,382
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JOHNSON CITY INDEPENDENT BCHOOL DISTRICT
SCHEDULE OF THE DISTRICT'S PROPORTIONATE SHARE-OF THE NET PENSION LIABILITY
‘TEACHER RETIREMENT SYSTEM OF TEXAS
[‘DR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST: 31 20”2

~ FY zozz _ FY 2021 FY 2020
Plan Year 2021 l Plan Viar 2020 Plan Year 2019

Ditsutiots Privortion of thé Net Pension Linbility {Asset) 0003502217%  0.00330611%  0.003882238%
Disirict’s Propaitionate Share of ot Penglon Linbilily (Assct) 8 891,891 § 1,770,685 § 2,018,109
Btite's Proportiohate Share of the Nel Pension Liabiliy (Adsel) Assaciated with 2,020,649 4,200,637 3,714,765
thie Distriet

Total 5 200540 § S92 8 ST
Distrlét's Covered Payroll $ 3495727 § 5241060 ¥ 4,806,985
Distr iel's Fl&)pﬁrtlmla‘llL Share of the Det Penic Lmbiﬂty {Aggol) i 16.23% 33.78% HL21%

Pescemage ol its Covered Payroll

Plan Fiducifry Nt Position s & Percentape of the Total Pension Eiabiily §8:79% 73.34% #5.24%

Note: GASR Cotlifieation; Vol -2, pag, 183 tefjiiiras eharthe information on this scheduié bedala Fom the pmod conisponidig with the
i mds govered nsol the: 111msurammt dutgs of Angust 31, 2021 for year 2022, Augiist 31, 2020 for yéar 2021, Augigt 31, 3019 for year

or year 2019, Aiust 31, 2017 for yéar 2018, Augest3l, ; ﬂlfil’arycﬁrﬁﬂi? s\ugust?:l 2015 for year 2016 dnd
August 3, 2014 For'year 2014,

“This solicdute shigivs s‘miy th years for whichi (hiy informatiaii i« availatie, Additional information will be added unfil 10 years of data
are avillabls firld mporlc
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FY2019  Fya01g FY 2017 FY 2016

FY 2015

Plan Year 2018 Plan Year 2017 _PlanYear 2016 Plan Year20§5 _Plin Year 2014

D.O0AITIOION  0.004535524%  0.004660346% B.0049771%,

209703 B 1450216 5 1761076 5 1756339

4,498,403 3757668 3,308,472 3,231,875

(003 1688%

846,431

2,833;562

S GUBIIG S AZLEEE 3 5009588 ¥ 499021 §

3,683,093

§ 0 5327423 & 53377 & 20009 % 5,185,033

45.23% 27.19% 33.54% 33.95%

3.94% 82.17% 78,00% 8A3%

3l

5,268,769
16.07%

£3.25%

EXHIBIT G2



JOHNSON CITY INDEPENDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT
SCHEDULE OF DISTRICT'S CONTRIBUTIONS FOR PENSIONS
TEACHER RETIREMENT SYSTEM OF TEXAS

FOR FISCAT, YEAR 2022
2025 021 2000
Conteactuglly Required Contiibytion # 177,700 & 149,461 § 136,394
Contribution in Relation to the Contractually Requirad Gontributisn (172,700) (149,461} (136,304)
Contribution Del’a&;lﬁ'ncyr(ﬁxceas'}: $ _ - 8 _ ‘ -8 o
District's Covéred Payroll ) 5,727,887 § 5495727 § 5,241,069
Gontributions as 3 Peicentagh of Covered Payroll 3.10% 2,92% 2,60%

Nete: GASB Cudlf‘ catlon, Vol. 2; P20.183 requires tlmt ihe dua in this scheduls be prosented as of the Disiriel's respiective fseal ydars i
upposed_ :the fime: perinds mv::red by the ticgsiiretiient datus cndmg Avgust31 of {he; pmcudmg YT

Thils selied il shiows drily the years foir which ihig Information is availalle. Additional information will be nddcd g 10 years ol ek e
available and teporied.
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2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
3 135,901 $ 147481 § 148,648 § 179.734 § 178,668
{135,901) (147,481 (148,648) {179,734) (178,66%)
3 4,896,083 § 3337423 § 5134377 § 5,250,829 § 5,182,033
2.78%. 277% 1.79% 142% 3i45%

EXHIBIT G3



JOHNSON CITY INDEEENDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT
SUHEDULE OF THE DIS*TRIGT"S PIIOFORTIONAT’I‘: SHARE OF THE NETOPEB LIABILITY

r:oz_i THE YEAR L:NDED_AUGUS‘T 31, 2022

COFYa022  Fy2oe Py 2020
Plan Year 2021 Plan Year 2020 Plan Year 2019
Districts Proportion of ihe Not Liability (Asse) for Othar Postemployment 0.0056182)3%  0.005449104%  0.005594575%
Benefiis
Disiriel’s Proposttonte Sharé ¢ Net OREB Liabilly {Assct) b3 2,167,196 & 2071451 8 2.645,743
Stite's Proportlongit Shire of the Vet OPER Linbillly (Assary Assdciated with 2,903:559 2,783,533 3,515801
the Disteiet
Totol § 5070755 8 4BshoB § 6161306
Distriet's Covered Payroll g 5498727 § S741,069 $ 896,985
Distriot's Proportionate §hare of the Net OPER Libility (Agser) as i Percentaga 39:43% 39.50% 34,63%

af its Covired Payiealt
Pl Frduciary Net Position 5 4 Perccntage oF the Total OPEB Liability b:18% 4.59% 2,66%

Note: GASB Codification, Vel 2, P50,238 stales that the information on Uils sehedule; shnu;d hé détarmined 1 of the measurement dete,
‘Thie arolints reporicd for FY 2022 e o mehgur nt dte Angusi. 31 2021, The amounts roported for FY 2021 ave for the '

mensuremeni date o August 31,2020, Tiie amouats for 1Y 2020 ate mr the micasirantent date Augusl 31, 2019. The amounis [0
20197 for the meastrement date August 31, 2018, The amounts for FY 2018 are based on the August 31 2017 micasutement datg;

Thig sehicdulé shows only the years for which thiy Infotation is available, Addftondi iffortition will be-added untll, 10 years of daia are.
aviflshleand re;mrt:ed
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EXHIBIT G4

Y2019 Y2018
Plan Year 20 ]8 Plan Year 2017

0.00623086%  0.006664729%
3,121,112 % 2,898,241

4390716 4218274

7720828 § 7116513

$.427,423 § 5334377
38.59% 54.33%

157% 091%
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JOHNSON CITY INDEPENDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT , _
SCHEDULE OF DISTRICT'S CONTRIBUTIONS FOR OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (OPER)
TEACHER RETIREMENT S$YSTEM OF TEXAS

FOR FISCAL YEAR 2022
2022 203] 2020
Contetwally Required Contribution 5 46,540 § 43,904 § Al
Contribution in Relatian to the Contenetually Required Contiibution (46,340) {43,904) (4114)
Confribition Deficiency (Excess) § 4 ) $ o -
Disirict's Dovéred Payroll $ 5777887 § 5495727 ' 521,069
Conifiutions tis a Paresiuags of Covered Payroll 0.81% 0.80% 0.79%

Neter GASH € 'dlf'catwﬂ, Vol.2, P30, 238 requires that the data [ (his. scht.dulc. he presented as of the Districts respective f scal years 1§
ﬂppnsn.d o the. tlme petluds coverdd by the measuigiviant dutes ehding Augast 31 of the preciading year,

Informatton In this schedule should by provided only for the yesrs where data ¢ available. Eventually 10 yeais oT tta shotld he jresstited,
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2019

2018

73,435 4

(73,485

43,122

(43,122)

.8

W

4,896,088 &

1.50%

%,327,423

0.81%
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JOHNSON GITY INDEPENDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31,2022

Definied Benefit Papsion Plan

The a"wam 1o Chunges: of benefittents that affected incasurériant of the touil ficnsion Habilfty durlig the mizasurgment
period,

Chaiges af Assiig figns
Thiege wate na clianges in the actuarlal assumptions used in the determination of e Total Perision I:abuity during tho
measureimnent perlod,

Other Post-Emplovmant Boiiefit Plan
‘Changes m_'Eene ¢ Terms

There were no changes of benefis terms c’lur‘ir_ig thie mensurement period thai affected the Tatal QPEB liability.

C'Imnges m Assiniptions _ o
@ i ".‘wme.‘changes ta the actuarial Aisumptions or ollier inputy that #tfectEd messursment of Tatal OPER Tiabllity
) since ihe prior meairerient pérlod;
“ The iscount rate chiuged from 233 gy of Augusﬁ 31, 2020 to 1,95 percent as of AuguatSl 2041: "This change
Increased the Total OPER Laabmty
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JOHNSON CITY INDEPENDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT
~ COMBINING BALANCE SHEET
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
AUGUST 31, 2022
211 234 225 240
ESEA LA IDEA:Pat B IDEA-PoitB  National
Iinpraving Ferriula Pregahgol  Breakfritand
Baic Progeam Lunch Program

Data
Control
Cuclas:

ASSETS
{tih (Cash and Cash Eeitvalents g - -8 - % 145812
1340 Due from Other Governmerits - 22,993 451 11,473
1200 Ofhier Receivables « . " 593
1300 Inventories . P - 8,313
toh  Tofal Assels % < § 22,393 5§ 451 8 135920

LIABILITIES
210 Ascounis Payable $ - % - 8 « 8 18694,
g1g0  Acerued Wages Payable . - ; 16,500
317y Dué to Other Funids . 22,393 451
2200 Acgrued Expendituies . 344
2300 Uncaned Revenue. . - - 2
2000 Total Liabilities e 22393 45 35538

FUND BALANCES
N.élispendgthlf: Fund Balance:
s4t0 [nvenfories . - . $.413
' Restricted Fund Baldice; _
3450 Federal or Staté Funds Grant Restrigtion . : . 92,069
3a90  Other Restricted Fund Balance . . . .
3000 ‘Total Fund Balances . ’ - 100382

4000 Tolal Liabilities and Fund Balances § . § 22393 % 451 B 135920
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EXHIBIT H-1 {Cont'd)

255 263 266 276 281 282 284 283
BSEA LA Tibelll,A  ESSER-chool Title!-SIF  BSSER I ESSER T IDEA B IDEA T
Tratningand  Gnglish Lang.  Bmeigency Adademy CRRBA Act ARP Agy Formula Preschool
Recruiting  Asquisilon  Refief -CARES Grant Supplemental ARP Act ARP Act

w * L v : A - $ - $ - S 4
7254 500 . - 9,714 19,636 . -

m i - - - - -

37254 § S000F - % <5 9714 § 19636 § Ty

$ 44 & “ § S £ - % = & = % - % .

- q - - -

7210 500 . . 9,714 19,636 5

- " - - - o 5 .

7,254 500 . . 9714 19636 .

- k) = " - " - -

- - " - = = - "

= w & “ s - = “
ity

- - = B = - w »

$ 7254 % 500 % % - 8§ 9714 F 19636 §

@
s
E
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JOHNSON CITY INDEPENDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET

NONMAJOR GQVERNMFNTAL FUNDS

AUGUST 31,2022

ol

289 397 10 42
Pilkc Ot Fegeral  Advaiéed Sile  Other Shits
i;‘ci;.hql Special Placement Instiuctional Speclal
Codes Revenue Funds  Incentives Magerlals  Revenue Funds

AGBETS
11l Cashi afid Cash Equivalénts £ . $ 606§ " .
1240 Due from Other Governments ‘ 1,802 . 2,048 #
1200 Other Receivables o . oL .
(300 Iriygntoties | . -
1000: Total Assets § 1802 % 906 § 2048 § =

LIABILITIES
2110 Aecourits Payable § . - & . & )
1160. Atcried Wages Payable - . p .
a170  Due'to Other Furids 1,863 . 2,048 .
2a00  Aceried BExpenditives . . B .
2300 Unsarned Revenye: = 906 - .
2008 Total Liabilities 1802 906 2.048 -

FUND BALANCEE

anspeudable Fund Balanee:
satp  Inventories - . - .
Réstrictatl Fund Balanrze

3450  Federal or State Funds Grant Restriction . . -
3499 Other Restricted Fund Ba!*mc% . - - .
600 Total Fuiid Balances - . , 3
1000 Tota) Liabilities and Fund Balarices ¥ L801 & 206 § 2048 §




EXHIBIT Hal

461 499 Tital
Crimpus Other Lozal Nonmigjor
Asiivity Special Coverimental
Funds Revenue Funds Punds

§ 178,196
. 75,271
8,313,

$ 63678 § - % 264,302

$ 61478 &

E

8 1,618 % -~ % 20353
. - 16,500

- . 63,754

" . 344

- 906

1,615 s 101,857

- - 8313

. 92,069
62,063 - 62,063
62,063 - 162445

3 63678 § - § 264302
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JOHNSON-CITY INDEPENDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGEES N
FUND BALANCES - NONMAIOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31,2022

- 2 24 225 240
Dain ESEALA  IDEA-PiB IDEA-PaiB  National
Cantrol Inproving Formula Prasehiog)  Dréallast dod
Lodes _ Bagic Program Lunch Program

REVENUES; ‘
5700 Total Local and Inter mdiate Sources L s 5 - % » ¥ 75617
3800 Btate Program Re e - 1,699
5900 Federal Prograin Reveniigs 69526 115717 4231 403,008
5020 Total Revenyes 69,526 HET7 421 492,414

EXPENDITURES:

CurTgiit: o

goit  Ipstrdetion 43,506 48480 4,231 -
[hik [nstructmnal Resourcés and Media Servicsy . : . #
a3 5t onnl Staff Developmeny - - -
o621 1342 07257 - “
0023 - P . - - -
0031 ‘Guidance, Counselmg, and Bvaluation Services . - - =
0033 [Iealth Setvices “ - . .
0034 (Pupil) Trarspatiation - £ - .
0035 Food Servites . - - 429,783
0036 Extacurrieufat-Activities . ‘ - -
oot General Administiation 4,678 . - .
0ps1 Facilifies Malntenance and QOperations “ - K
0053 Datal’mcessmg Sewnces _ R - . &
630 Total Expenditures - 69,526 Ns717 4,231 429783
1260 Nét Charigein Fund Ralance . - . 63,631
0166 Fund Balafice - September | {Beginning) - v o 37,751
3000 Furid Balance - August 31 QEﬁdiu_g) % “ % - % - §

100,382
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EXHIRIT He2 (Cont'd)

255
TSEA 1A
Trainlng ard

Reeruitlng

266
Title I, A ESSER 8chaool

English Lagg: Timergency
Acquisitlon  Relfel -CARES

263

376
Titla 1 - 8IP
Acadginy
Ciraiit

281
ESSER i
CRRSA Act
Supplémental

284
DA
-Fq.n:m'; Ia
ARP Act

282
HSSER 1i
ARP Agl

285
IDEA B
Preschobt
ARP Aut

. 8 . :

- 8 - § L - .
24,869 500 323 S <N 1 253,997 26,113 75
| 24,869 500 573 - 233,787 253,997 26,113 §75
2,259 00 323 - 125,025 139,000 13678 875
" “ ¥ - - 2059 = K4
21,577 “ - - - - - -
1,033 - o . - 6,691 12,435 .
- - - - * 4,653 . "
L “ - - ¥ 72'79I B d
- . . . i (020 . -
- - - 103,300 4,632, " >
w - n u - 7’205 P "
_ “ - “ - 133 “ b
» - - - 3,088 .
- - - - - 10,809- .
- - “ - 3462 1,706 L -
24,869 500 523 : 233,787 253,997 26,113 475
¥ - 8 - ¥ - % - % :
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JOHNSON CITY INDEPENDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES TN
FUND BALANCES -  NONMAJOR GOVERNMLNT AL FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 3! 2022

o 289 397 410 429
Duta Other Fedetal — Advanced - Buate Orhier St
Contyal Spectal Placement  Tnsfructional Spestal
Codles B Revenus Funds  Incentives Materials  Revenue Funds
_REVENUES: | | | .
3700 Total Logal and Irifermiediate Sources 5 T < 3 o« "
5800 State Program Reyventes o - 23,399 8306
5000 Fedaral Program Reveniles 28,372 N - -
5020 Total Revenues 28572 o 22,599 8306
EXPENDITURES: '
Currem
Instruction 4,939 . 22,599 .
Instruclimml Resam ¢es afid Med;a Scrv:ccs - - » -
6,576 . . .
7,067 : 5,306
6030 ' “l‘gtai E.?{pmdltures 28,872 = 22,599 8,300:
1300 Net Chiange il Fund Balance . :
0100 Fund Balance - September [‘f(:Begimﬁng_)' _ s - S
3000 Fund Balance - August 31 (Encling) RS S B




EXHIBIT H-2

461 499 Total
Crimpus Other Lotal Monmidjor
Activiiy Spectdl Ciovernicrial

Funds Revénue Funds Funds

121,662 5 1632328 360,511
- - 1,164,808

124,662 163,232 1,566,923

3,267 148,748 561,600
5,263 - 7,322
2577
91,75k
12,710
73991
13,420
109,932

- : 436,989
113 24,484 32,363
- « 36,182

-

8,057

P R T S

3,813

- Lk 5,168

112,547 63,232 1495377

8715 . 71,346
s - 1,099

62,063 § S BT T
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REQUIRED TEA SCHEDULES



JOHNSON CITY INDEPENDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT
SCHEDULE OF DELINQUENT TAXES RECEIVABLE
FISCAL YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022

) @ o
o N Asgossed/Appraised
Loast 10 Youard Enduxd Fax Rates: Value for Sehitio]

Asigiust 31 Maintenance Dbt Servlce “Tax Pirposss

2013 and pripr vears Various Various § 5',23'7-*;537',569
2014 1040000 0.120000 582,375,776
2015 1.040000 0.108200 623,013,934
2016 1040000 0.105800 656,778,670
2017 1.040000 0.100900 704,975,896
2018 | 1040000 0.093900 760,371,638
2019 1040000 0.093900 844,094,805
2020 0970000 0,193900 928,517,500
2021 0.949960 0193900 968,787,026
2022 (Schoel year under audi 0.872000 0.193900 1,112,281,921

1600 TOTALS
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EXHIBIT 1

{10y
Beginning
Balange
o//2021

@0
Curreai
Yeur's

Tolal Ln'(:vy:

@0

Mﬂinfcn Ance.
Golleélivhs

(32)

Debt Service
C:;il[eetiba:‘;_

(40)

Entire

¥ ohi's
Adjustricats

(30)
Ending
Balaiics

B30

4400 §

516
4,001
3,256
4,564,
i;884

88,135
93,811
185,031

11,855,813

757 &

7

2

539

1,866

1,944

26,519

14,033

119,683

9,691,115

i1 s

1
74

36

18}
175
2394
2,803
24:430

2,154,939

. Ay
K b

24,533
14,888

135,650

3,597
508
3,216
2,661
2517
(235)
59,227
101,506
55:806

145,449

185,508 §

11,855.813 §

9857170 §

2,185,166 §

274,187
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_ JOHNSON CITY INDEPENDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT EXAIBIT 12
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE
BUDGET AND ACTUAL - CHILD NUTRITION PROGRAM
FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023,

Diin Acl) Amounts  Varinace With
Cantrol Budjeted Amoutits (GAAP BASIS) I‘[l,n-?'ﬂ, B"d :g"H
Codes : : k : : _;:s_s_tw;._ or
Ql’ Igi ni Final (Negativ)

REVENUES: _
5700 Total Logal and Intermediate Sources 3 52,020 & 69,020 % T3617 5 6,597
5800 State Program Revenues 15,9469 30,069 11,699 (19,2709
5900 Fedleral Program Revenues 263,174 392,174 405,008 12,924

s@ Total Revenues _ 341,163 492,163 492,414 251
EXPENDITURES: T T '
- Chranii

4035 Food Services 382,679 427,679 429,783 {2.104)

8030 Total Expenditures 362,679 427,679 429,783 (2.004)

1100 Excess (Defloidiicy) 6f Revenues Oyer (Undér) (51,516 64,2484 62,631 (1,853)

Expendityges o

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (U/SES):

7915 ‘Transfers [ o . s2000 : . )

1200 Net Chinge in Find Balands 484 ohafh 6631 (1,853)
9100 Fund Balarice - Septermbet | (Beginning) 37,151 37,751 sy I -

3000 Fand Balance - August 31 (Ending) $ 38235 § 102235 § 100,382 § (1,853)
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JOMNSON ¢ty INDFPENDEN’I‘ SCHQDL,, DISTRICT EXHIBIT
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPEN DITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE
BUDGET AND ACTUAL ~ DEBT SERVICE FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2002

.‘.pﬂl_[!; .A.qiugl.A,q1p;IJ§ts Vasiange Witl
Cote Puiitad Asiiss (GAAP BASIS)  Final Budget
Codes , S ST — Pasitive or
| Orighnal Finl {Negative)
REVENUES: | N
5700 '['_pfalLocal and Intermediate Sourees 5 2,127,090 § 2219000 § 2214666 $ {4.424)
5800 State ngrmn Revernnes: B . 8940 8,937 @)
5020 Tota) Revanues 2,127,000 2,228,030 2,273,603 (4,427)
EXPENDITURES; -
Debt Service!
Q07 Principal on Lottg-Term Liabifities 1,751,400 2,925,000 2,923,000 .
0072 Interest on Long-Term Liabilitigs 342,175 342,173 342,175 #
0073 ‘Bond Issuance Cost aiid Fees Cora0h 7200 . 6200 1,000
6030 Tatal Expenditures O 2,100775 3274315 3273 3755 Lo
1200 Net Change in Fund Balances 315 G06MH 00807 {3427)
0106 Fund Balance - Septémber | (Beginning) 1,317,741 1319741 1817741 .
3000 Fond Balance < August -31'-cﬁn,dmg),_ 134405 & 271,396 § 267,969 % (3,427)




JOHNBON CITY INDEPENDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT

EXHIBIT Jod

STATE COMPENSATORY EDUCATION AND BILINGUAL EDUCATION PROGRAM EXPENDITURES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31,2022

APL

AP2

AP3

AP4

AP

AP6

APT

APE

Seetion A: Compensatory Ednestion Programs

Did your'1. LA expend any state compensatory education program state allatment funds
during the distriet's fisoal yedr? .

Does the LEA lmve written policies and procedures for its state compensatory education

‘program?

List the total state allotment fundz. received for state cohpensatory education programs
duimg the district's fiseal year,

List ihe actual direct pr pgram axpendatm ey for ‘gtate compensatory education programs

during the LEA's fiscal yedr.

Scetion B Bilingual Education Programs

Dld your LEA éxperid any bilingual edudation proginin state allotinent funds during the
LEA's fiscal year?

Does the LEA have written policies.and procedures for its bilingual educatlon program?

List the total state allotment funds received for bilingua! education programs during the

LEA's fiscal year.

List the actual direct program expenditures for bilingual education programs during the
LEA's fiscal year, (P1Cs 25,35)

7

Yes

Yes

325556

492458

Yes

Yes

25431

26380



REFORTS ON INTBERNAL CONTROL,
COMPLIANCE AND FEDERAL AWARDS



NEFFENDORF & BLOCKER, P.C.

REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER TINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND
OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

Independent Auditor's Repiort

Boatd of Trustees
Juhnscm City indepesnciant School Distriet
Jolngon City; TX 78606

Members-of the Board:

We have audited, in gccordance with the auditing standards generally actepted in the United Stales of America
and the standards apphcable 1o finarcidl audits uontamed in Governient Audztmg Standards isstied by ﬁle
Comptroller General of the: Umteci States, the fmancial stateients of the govern.mema! aetivities, eich major
fuiid, and the aggfegate rem mmg frind mformalmn of Johnson City '.{m.iependent St,hcml Dlstrmt s of and for the
year ended August 3(, 2022 and the related notes Lo fi¢ financial statemments, which coileetweiy gomprise {he
Dmtnct $ bagic ﬂnancml staternents, and bave. lssied our report thereon dated January 5, 2023

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning anid perfnrmmg outf atidit of the financial statements, we considered Johnson City Independent Schco[
Distriot's internal control over financial reportmg {internal tcmtrol) to tletermmine the nudlt pracedurcs (it are
appmpnate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the f inancial statements, but nat for
the purpase of expressing an opiriion off the effectivencss of Johnson City Independant Schobl District's mtemai
‘control: Accordingly, we do riot express an apinion ori the effectiveness of the disirict’s intérnal contral.

Qur: conmderatmn of internal control was for the limited purpose described i the preceding paragraph and was
gt designed to identify all cieﬁcmnmes in internal tontrol that nght ‘he maferial wealmesses or mgmﬁcant
deficiencios and therefore, niaterial weaknesses or sipnitficant deficiencies may exist that were not identified.

A defic c:em:y fn internal ‘control exists when the design or operation of a control doed nol allow MATEAgemet or
emp[oyees in the rigrmal course of pcrformmg their asmgncd functions, to prevent, or detect and egrrect,
misstatements an a timely basis, A mdterial weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal
control such that there is a reasonablé possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s fintncial staterents
will not bé prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis,

TEL: 830 997 3348 EMAIL: info@nb-cpa.com

P.0. Box 874 - 512 5 Adams Street, Fredericksburg, TX 78624

MEMBER AMERICAN INSTITUTE OF CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS & TEXAS SOCIETY OF GPAs
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A significant defiéiency 15 4 deficlenty, or a combination of de ﬁcmncms, In internat control that is less severe’ than
a-materidl weéakness, yof impottant endbgh to merit attention by those charged with: ‘governanice,

Report on Compliance and Other Matters

As patt of obtammg reasonable asgurance about whetlier Tohngon City Independent Schaol Disirict's. financial
statentents are fres front material misstatemient, wea performed tests of its compliarice with cértain provisions of
Jaws; regulatiem contracts, and grant agrccmems nonuumphance with whith could have a directand material
effact on the determmatinn of fifiancial statement amounts, However, pmvmmg an ﬁpmmn on gompliance with
those pmw&ions wag not.an nbjcctwe of olr audit, and aceordmgly, we do not’ exp:ess such an opinion. The
resulis of oit tests discloted instanees of Ilmlﬂompliance or pther matiers that are required to be teported under
Governnent Aueliting Standdrds and vhich are described in the accompanying sehedule of ﬁndmgs and questioned
casts as item 2022 001

Jalnsori City Indeptznde'lit" Sehool District’s Response to Findings

Govérament Audifing Standards require the auditor to perforni Jirnited. proceduies on thig Johnson Cuy
Independent Schosl Disirict’s response 1o the fmdmgs Jdennﬁed in our audi¢ and desciibed in he decompanying
schedule: of findings and questioned costs, The Johinison Bny Independant Sehaal I:nsmct 8 FESponse was rot
subjected to the other auditmg prﬂcadures appiled int. the ‘aiidit 6F the financial stitements and, ancurdmgly, Wi
expresy hig oplnion onthel response,

Purpose of this Report:

The purpose of this reort 15 solely to deseribe the scope of olii tosting -of mterml ¢ontrol and camph*mce and the
. tmg, and *not ta pmv:de an opinion on the effectivencss of the entity's internal control or on
Lomp -nc‘:.‘es‘ Th Vrcpurt is an mtegml part of an audl perl‘ormad in accordance with Govammem Auditing.
irds in co‘s_iderlng the entity's internal control and compliance, Accordmgly, thig cemmumcatm 1§ not
smtab!e for any fithpr puwm

Hotfending 4 Botasdin, B 7
NEFFENDORE & BLOCKER, P.C,
Predericksburg, Texas

January 5, 2023

13



NEFFENDORF & BLOCKER, P.C.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR PROGRAM

AND ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE REQUIRED BY THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE

_'lndepend'en_t Auditors Repott

Board of Trustees
Johnson Clty Independent Schuof District
Johngon City, Texas 78636

Members of the Board:
Report on Conipliance for Bach Major Federal Prograny

Opinioit bix Each Major Féderal Piggram

We have midited Yohnson Glty Independent School District’s compliance wlth the types of tompliance requirenients
identified 45 subject to andit in the OMB Compliance Supplenment thiit could have a direct and interial effest on sichl of
Johnson City Independent School Distriat’s major fedaral _programs for the’ year endad August 31, 2022, Johnson Clty
Indapandem School District’s major - federal pmgrams are Idenufied in the summiary of auditor's tesults section of the
wcnmpanymg schedule of findmge. Arid: quastwn&d costs.

in our opinion, Johngon Cily Tndepéndent School Distriét complied, i all material respects, Wil the. types compliatice
re.qutrements réferred to above that could have 4 direct aiid migterial effect on eagh of its major faderal programs for the
year grided August 31, 2032.

Buagsis for Opinion on Each Major Féderal Program

We canduated our audit of compliance with auditing standards generally aceepted in the United States of America, the
standard applicable to financial audits conlained in Govermtnent Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptioller General of
ihe United States, and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Fedéral Regulatioris Part 200, Uniform Adininistrative
Requzremerzfs‘, Cost P;mcu:‘:!es anid Audit Reqmremt?ms Jor Federdl Awm ds (Uniform Guld;mce) Our respunmblhues wider
those standard and the Umform Guidance are further deséribed in the Auditor’s Responsibilitics for the Audit of
Compliance section Of our Teport.

TEL: 830 997 1348 EMAIL: info@nb-cpa,com

P.O. Box 874 - 512 5 Adams Street, Fredericksburg, TX 78624

MEMBER AMERICAN INSTITUTE OF CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS & TEXAS SOCIETY OF CPAs
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We are required to be independent of Johnson City Trdependent School District and to wieet. our cthical
‘respongibilities, in dccordance With felevant etlucal rcqulrr:ments relating to our audit, Wa believe that i audit
evidence we have obtamf:d is sufticmnt and appropmte to provide a bagis for our apinion én comphance for gach
majar federal program Qur ‘udit: does not_provide 4 legul determination of Jolinson City Independent Sehool
Dlsiriei's compliance with 1hé sompliance requitements teferred to abave,

Responsibilities of -Maﬁageiﬁ.é‘.‘-’;_t Jor Cbri:ﬁ!z‘mwe

Managem@nt is l‘aﬁponslbk Tar cumplnance withi the raqmrements referred to gbove and for the design,
.unplcmautatlon, and mainterinee of ‘effective internal control tyer- mmplmnca ‘with the fequitemprits of laws
slatues, mgulatmns, rules; rid pravisions’ r.rf contracts or grant agreeinents app] icable to Johngon City Inc]ependeni
School Distrist’ 5 fedeml Programs.

Atiditor’s Rg&pl?igkfbﬂitieﬁ" Jfor gl Aindit of Complianée

made by A reascmahle user of -.‘th'e' 1epozt on r;amp '_out Johnson Cnty Indepr:ndent 5,_
Gompliance: wnh thie requirernents of gach major fedaral pr()gram a5 whole,

Tn pérforming an audit in degordance with generally accepted auditing standards, Government Auditing Stindetrds;
_iancl the Uniform Guidancg, we!

+  Exercise:professions] judgment and maintain professional skepticism througliout the sudit.

- ldentlfy and -asses the risks of matenal noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and
design and perform audit precedures respongive 1o those usks Sich pmcedures jticlude
e“xamlmng, on i fest basis, gviderice regardmg Iohison City Iudependem Sclmol Distrxcts
compliance With the comphanca regiiiferents -referred to abiove and performing gich ‘dihe
procedures ds we conmdered necessaty in the circumstances.

s Obtain an understanding of Johnson City Independem Sehool District’s internal -confrol over
‘cmnphance relevant. o the audl( in orcler {0 design audit procedures thal are. apprnpuam in the
circumstances and Lo test and report on intérfial control over camphancc in accordance with the
Uniform Guidance, but. iiot for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effegliveness of
Johinson (‘.llty Indepandent School Digirict's internal control over compliance, Accordingly, no
such opinion is expressed.

We sre required to communicate ﬂwsc charged with governince regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the sudit and 4ny significant deficicncles and material weaknesses in infernal control aver
compliance that we identified dubiing the audit,

Other Matters

The results of our auditing protédures diselosed instances of nnncomphancc which are requited to be reported in
accordance with the Uniform Guidance and whieh ate described in the accompanying schedule of findings and
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questioned costs as item 2022-001; Qur opmlon on each major federal prograni is' not modified with respect to
these. matters.

Govemmem Auditing Standards requires the audiior (o perform lixmtcd progedure on Johnson City Independent
Sehool District's respons,e to the nonccrnplmnce findings identified in our audit descnbed in the accompanying
gehedule of f“mclmgs angd queauonsd casts. Johnson City Indepcndanl School Disteict’s response. was not subjected
10 thi m;hezr auditing procedures applied in the audit of noncompliance and, accordingly, wiz express no opinion on
the response,

Report on Titernal Control over Com pliance

deﬁmency in. internal control over mmp{mnce exists when tiie destin or operation of a control over compliavice
doea not allow manggement or employees, ‘i the rormal course of performing. their assngncd funcuons, to
prevent, o datect and corract, nc:ancomphance Wity 2 type af mmphance rcquirernem of a federal progrdm on d
triely basis, A material Weakriess in {hternal cammi over camp!iance Is g deﬁcnemy, or & combination of
'deﬁeicncms in iriterdial comrol over eomplxance, such (hiat there 15 a reasonable posqibmty that material
-noncumpl:anm with a type of compliance requirement i of & federal progiam wul riot be prevented or detectéd and
[ d,. on a txmely baa‘ A significant deﬁc'mucy i m:emal wmral aver camplzance isa dc:fxcwncy, o1
combmatlan of dafmmm 85, in mtemal control over c:omphance with 2 type of compliance requirement of a
1§ less severé fhd a matarml weakiess in internal contvol over compliance, yet important
euough 1o rierit altention by thase £harged with governanee.

Our censideration of internal :control over compnance was for the: limited purgose desciibed In the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was ot demgned to identify all deﬁcmncms in
internal control over :compliance (haf msght he material weakoesses ot icant deficiongies. Given these
limitations, we did riot ldcnufy any-deficiencies in mternal conirol over compliance that we ccmmdar to b mhaterial
weaknesses, Ht}wavezr, materi’xl weaknesscs may gxist that have niol bean ldent:ﬁed

A significant deﬁciency in intérnal contfyol gver compl!aum i 8 deﬁcxency, or combmatlon af deficlonéles, in
inteinal canirol over emnpltaﬁce with-a fype of ﬁ@mphauce requlrcment of u federal pmgram that s less severe
than a matenal wealmc:ss it iritarnal control over commnance yei unportant énough to merit -attention by those
ch*xrged with governance, We conglder (he deficienicies tn jdternal control over compliance deseribed in (he
accompanying schedile of findings and quéstioned coits item 2022-001 fo be a signifu:am deftmency

Qur- al.ldlt wag nat aasxgnud for the puspose of expressing an opinion on the effectiven&s% of nternil control over
camlﬁllanf:e. Accordmgly, o such opmmn is expressed;

Government Auditing Standards rcqulres the duditar to perform limited procedures on Johnson City Independent
Sehool District’s resgonge to theé internd) coitrol over c.omphancc findmgs identified in our audis ciescnhed in the
accompanymg sehisdule of ﬁndmgﬁ and: qucstwncd costs, J chnson City Indapent!cm School Dlstnct 3 reaponﬁe was
tiot suhuacted o the olhier auditing pmcedutes applied in the audit of compliance and actordingly; we express no
opinion on the réspbise,

The purpose of this report on. internal control over compliance 1 solaly to describe the scope of our testing of
internal control over tompliance and the. resuits of that testing based on the requirements of the Umform
Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.

%f%‘#ﬂé/% % E&ﬁm‘faa F? Ci?

'NEFEENDORF & BLOCKER, P.C.
Fredericksburg, Texas

Janvary 5,°2023
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Johnsai City ridaparident Schipol Dairick

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONE#J COSTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022

A, $eétian 1~ Summiary of Aliditor's Resulte

1 Flrianelal Statetents

Type of auditar's repdrt lssued Unmodified
IFiterreal control dvir firidhelal reporting

Material weaknassles) ldantified yas K m

‘ yes —X no
Nengopliance material to firiaricial statements ristad?- yes % o
2 Podaral dnd stake Avards
Intarrial Gonted! aver major mrograms:
Matefial :wa'aknass}ﬁgé) dentifies yes ¥ fn
X jes . ne
Typa.af auditor's report issund on gemigltante for major
HAregiams. ‘ Unmadified
Any 3vidit firidings dise
reportad in secardance w]th 2 CFR 2on Sf G{a] af
‘Linifarm Guldance and Taxas Uni‘orm Grant Management Standardiy K ves o
Identiflcatian of malor federal programs:
‘Asslstante
_Listing Number Mamie of tha Fadaral Program &r Clustet
S{'q.?liSD'aﬂd 84,4750 ‘Elemgntady end Sacondary School Emergency Relief Fund
Dolia threshiold used t distingufsh bistwean
type-Aand type Bfederal programs: & 750000
Audicea dualified a3 low-rigk auditas? ves ]

i, Saction It - Findivgs Relatad fo-the Fnaniis! Statements

NONE

AN

7



€. Sectioi 1l - Findings and Questionad éqsts_-_ Related to the Fugiural Awards

2022-001
Type ol Finding: Slgnlfieant Deficlenicy
Critarla: This Vitiferin Guidance Sactlon F EquIPITIEﬁ'l' and Raal Prnpertv Managament and the
District's State«Fecieral Grants Manual (page 87, paae 50} states property recards must be maintalned
t6 include A descrlptian of the prap.e.-rtv, a'serlal number ot other Idemlflcatlan ntiabar
the sburea FUndIng for the pmpeny (Iﬁe dlng & Fadaral Avard Identthcatinn Numher}
who holds title, the dequisition date, ¢ost of the property, percentags of Fadéral
partlclpatlcn In the prefect sosk for the Federal award underwhich thie praperty wais
& Jocatlon, use and andition of thé property, and any ulijmate disposition
data lntzludlng the dakd of disposal and sales atice of the propaity (ZCFR seitlon 200, 313(:{)(1))
Condition: The Bistrict did nat wiaintain praperty recards that inglide 3 deserlption of the prapsrty,
the:acquislt[on date; costaf the praperty, parcentage of Federal particlpation I the prajact
g i the Federal awaril under which the progerty was acquired and the locatlon and
uss of the prnpmv,
Cause: Thig Districtfalled to msrilbor divdl somiply wWith the Féduirémanits ‘of the Unilfarm Guldaﬂce
and the. Dmtnct % Stalesfodaral Grants Manual Wit regard o equrpmant i pdal property
managemﬂnt
Effact Pugtd nan=compliarce the nastnct wolitd nat b dble ta pmpariy dispose capital assets
In‘eotipliante with thi rederal Hagulaticns
Quastioned Cast: faona
Redommendstion:  Tha Blstrict shoutd review, maniter and comply with the regulations of the Unlform Gufdarde-
Section F Eqifment and Real Property Management and the Distrlct [ State-Federal
Grants Manual wiith regard to purc hasing, malntammg and dlfpns g af capital a550ts purchased
‘withtederdl funds.
Viigws of raspanslble offiials apd planned satreckiva action: Thisinfermation 1s Irthe attadtied Cosréttive Actlon Pigh,

3



JOHNSON CITY INDEPENDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT
SCHEDULE OF STATUS OF FRIOR YIEAR FINDINGS/
CORRECTIVE ACTION PLAN
FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022

Current Yoar's Findings/Noncompliance aid Corrective Action Plan:

§tk Diskrict's résponss 10 findings aftér- the Notes to The Supplementary Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards

Prlor Year's Fi_u_diug‘INuucmnplimce and Status:

Nohe
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JOI!N'SON CITY INDEPENDENT. SCHOOL DISTRICT
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS

FOR THE YEAT ENDER AUGUSET 31, 2022

EXMIBIT K-1

w @ @) @
PEDERAL TRANTOR/ Fadarml Pass:Thrgugh
PASS-THROUGH GRANTOR/ Assistance  Entity Identifying Federil
PROGRAM or GLUSTER TITLE Listing No. Number Expenditures
U, I)L[’ARTMBNT oF I:nt m’x (N '
I“‘-JEA Tltle,l 1"'111 A lmp rovm;., Has;c Pmp; ang 84 0[0A 20 —22610 10101690I b3 #,842
E&I*A Title I, P'ut A= lmprﬁvmg Bnmc ngmms B40I0A  20- 2761010101591 64,634_
Toa Assisttines Listlag Number 81010 ‘ 69,526
*13LA - Part B Foniuila B4027 2] -206500010169016 115,717
SDEA; Part B, Fonuld - American Rescue: Act {ARP) 84.392 20 2253500(0]690l5 26,113
*IDEA < Pait B, Preschou] 84173 20-2366100101690166 531
HDEA - Parl B, l"g';ésc_l_mbl N 84 173 Zl 2266I00[0169016 —_3,;7{]6
Tothl Assistance Listing Nuaber 84,173 1,231
"Total §peécial Edusetion Clustér {IDEA) s, i
ADEA; Piicl B, Priscliool Adderléin Rescus Act {ARP) f4.385 20 -223360010169013 875
Fllla 171, Pael A - Engilsh Lorijige Acquisition BL.365A 20 Paw Through # 'iﬂq
BSEA, Title 11, Pait A, Taiicher Principal Training, 43674 20 2269450101690 4,276
[]S{'A‘ Title 1, i A, Teficher Brincipal Training 20 22694501016901 200
ESI”A “Title 11, Pari A, Teacher Plinuip al Tu:tiningrl B43GTA 21 - 22694501016991 20,391
Téstal Assistance Listlig Nurabir 84,367 ' 24,369
Elemitary & Secondar ¥ Behool Bmcrgency Keliof Fd 84425 20 -205210010]690! L 523
TibediusiLary Ser..ondm*y Sehaol Emergincy Reltel 1t 84 425D 20 -21321001016901 233,787
ES3ER. 1« ARP School Em&f;,cng,y Relief BdA25D 2D ﬁ2I52800101690! 7 '25,3,991
Total Assistance Listing Nuitibet §4,423 488,307
Tl IV, Pt A BAAZIA  20-220R01D101690) 287
Fitle IV, Part A BAAZLA, 22«2268010]0169{)1 28.288
Total Assistance Listing Nusibier 84,424 25,572
Totul Pasged Through Toxty Educitiofi Agency 758,71 {0
TOTALUS, DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION 758,710
.8, DILI’ARTMLN r 0!" A(‘RICULTURL
'*Suhﬁol Brual-.f'ast Frogram £0.553 BOLST0
#National Sclivo] Lunch Program - Cash Assistance 0,555 287,573
*Nutionat School Lunch Prog: » Non-Cash Assistance. 10555 14,510
*Szipply Chain Agslstarice 2022 10,555 21,531
Totat Assmtmue Llstmg Number 10,555 323,614
Tolal Child Nuteition Cluster 404,484
P-EBT {;;'im_'i_ﬁ Cogt R@i;ﬁbll’fﬁ;mp_nt 10.649 61i
Total Passed Throtigh the Tesss Department of Agrioulturs 405,008
TOTAL U8, DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE 403,098
TOTAL EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS f 1,163,808

*Clustered Prograins

"The abdve dmounts do ot include SHARS recéipts of §71,658 which ate insluded as Fedural revenue i the Genersl Fund

Sea Accompanying Noles to the Schedule of Expencditures: of Federal Awards

H1H)



JOHNSON CITY [:NDEPEND_ENT ‘SCHOOL DISTRICT

NOTES TO THE BUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF
~ PEDERAL AWARDS o
FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022

‘Basis of Presgitation.

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal AWirds includes the federal award actmty of the Johnson.
City Independent School Dasmct Urider programs of the. federal governmeht for fhe year ended August 31,2022,
The inforniation in this ichedule is presented in aceordanoe with the requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal
Regulations Part 200, Uny"orm Adminisirative Requir ements, C’asf Py inciples, and Audit Reduireinents for Federal
Awards (Umform Gmdance)

Suminary of Sipnificiit Accouniting Poticies

The accounting and fmancldl reporting treatmenl upplied to 4 fund iy defermined by its measurement focus, The
Governmenital Fuiid Types are acecinted for using a current financial Tesources measurewient focts, Al fedleral
expenditures were accolinfed for in the Geperal Fund and: Specml Revenue Funds; comporents of the
Governmental Fund type: Such expendnures ‘are rceagmzed following the o3 prmc‘ples contained. in the
Uniform Guidance, whetein céttain types of expeiidiliires are not allowed or-are liriited 45 to reiiibtisement. ‘No
fedasal financial assistarice has begn pmwd::d toa subrecipient.

Faderal grantsare vonsidered to be earned to the extent of éxpendi'_tu'ras"ug;;dg utidet the provisions of the grant.

School health and related sefvices revenues aré considered ¢arned 1 incomie at the. Iocai Bovernment leval arid this
are 10t ingl udec! in the Schedule of Expemmures of Federal Awitrds, The followmg i5 a reconciliation of Federal
Revenues o Bxhiblt C-3 to the. Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards:

Total expenditures of federal awards por Exhibit Kot § 1,163,808
Generni Fund - fodardl revenis |
SHARS TS
el federal revenuss per Exhibit O3 § 1235466

Indirect Cost Rate

Johnson City Indeperident School District has 1ot elected to use the 10 pereent de minitnis indirect cost rate as
aIlowed tndet the Uniform Gurdaﬂcc

Food Donatlon

Nonmongtary assistance is reportéd in this schedule at the fair matket valus of the commeodities re¢éived and
disbursed,

8l



Johnson Cltv ISD Richard Kolek - Supatintendent of Sthools

303 North LBJ Drive » PO, Baxwa + Johtisen Clty, TX 73@3@ . Office 830.868.7410 Fax
830.868.7375

Management's Response to Auditor's Findings:

Summary Schedulg of Prior Audlt Findings snd CoFreetive Action Plan
Algust 31, 2022 -

Prepared by Management of

Johnson City Independent School District



Johnson City independent School District ~ Summary Schedule of Prior Audit Findings

B e T e A

No prior audit findings noted.



Johnson City Independent School District ~ Corrective Actlon Plan

Finding 2022-001

Finding Summary:

Responsible Individuals:

Corrective Action Plan;

The district failed to malntain property records that Include a description of the
property, the acquisition. date, ctiét of the property, percentage of Federal
partlclpat on in the project cost for the federal award under which the property
was acquited and the location and use of the praparty.

Scott Beiry, Chief Financial Officer

Whenever equipment and real property are purchased the distrct will mainitain

records that include, but ave not limited to, a description of the property, the

atquis:tion date, cost vf the property, percentage of Feders! participation inghe
project cost far the Federal award under which the property was acquired-and
the location and use of the property:



NEFFENDORF & BLOCKER, P.C.

Jarinary 5, 2023

Baard of Trustees
Johiigori C:ty idependent School District
Tohnson City; TX 78636

We hswa audm:d tha ﬁnmmai statemants of the g E,avemmenml acnwues, deh mmql ﬁmd and the dggregate

I’rofﬂssional stémdarda require ﬂmt e prc‘:vic{c yc'
acoepled auditing standards and Goveraiient Audﬁm
.infmmﬂtaon n.latcd to f:ha planned scopa and timm )

Ghialliative Awpeits bf Aéesunting Practices

'Mmﬂgﬂmeﬂf is responsibile for the selection and ngs of appropriate accmmung policies, The significait secouinting
pelicies ysed by Johnson City Independent School Distriet are. deseribed. In Note I to the financial staiemeiits, GASH
Satervent No. 87 Leases was adopted and unpiememcd and the apph;aimn of emstmg pnhcne-s was not clmngﬂd
during the year ended Augyst 31, 2022, We niated rio tra s gntergd Y ] '
District duiring the yedr for Whieh there is'a lagk of atithor tative g,uldance. or conscnsuh, Ail slgmf' cant imnsaenom*
lmve lieen mcagniwﬁ in the tinangial siatunenls in the proper periad,

Accml lng, eslimates ore an integral par. of the financinl statements mared by imahagenient: snd dre based on
I nf's kncxwledgu and. experience about paqt ahd cu gvents and pasuniptions about future cvents,
Cenam acmuntmg estimates mre particularly sensitive becmuse of their mgmf cance o the finaneial statements and
because of the possibility that ﬁlture events affecting ihém may differ significantly from those. enpacted

Coriait financial statement diselosttes afe partioularly sensitive because of their significance to finatclal statement
users,

The financial statement disclosures are neutral, consistent, and cledr,
Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit

We éneounterad no-significant diffioultics in dealing vilth hanagemént in pétforming and complating our audit.

TEL: 830 997 3348 EMAIL: info@nb-cpa,com
P.0. Box 874 - 512'S Adams Street, Fredericksburg, TX 78624
MEMBER AMERICAN INSTITUTE OF CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS & TEXAS SOCIETY OF CPAs



Corpected and Uncorrected Misstatements

Professional standards require us fo aceumulate, 1l known and likely misstatements identified during the audi; other
‘than thoge that are ciearly trivial, and vommunieate them to the appropriate level of management. Management lvas
cortected all such misstaletnents, Tn addition, none-ol the misstatements dotected as a result of audit procedutes and
corrécled by management were material, gither mdlvidually or in (he aggregate, 1o ech ﬂpmmn unit's financial
staternents taken as a whole.

Disetgreements with Mavagenment
Far UTHOSES of this letter, a disagrmmenl with nignageméent {54 financial accounting, reporting, or audntmg matter;
whethei o’ not fesolved 16 our satisfaction, that gould be s;gmf"mant tiy the financial statéments or he auditor's

feport, We are pleased to report that no such disagreemerts arose dufing the course of our audit,

Mariagenrent Représentations

We have. raqu(,slt,d getlain representations from management that ase included in the manageiticnt reprEEematlon
Telter dated January 5,2023.

Manageneni Consultations with Other Independent Accoumntarits

Tn-sore casey; “Management may deeide to consulf with other gicoguiiants about auditing ind accounhng matfers,
similar to obtainmg a “gecond opinion” on cérfain situations. If4 consuitm:on mvalves upphmtmn of &n aceounting
prmmplu o Jalmsmn Clty Indcp{mdent ‘Sehiool Distijet’: 5 it nam,ial statements of a datenmnauon of the type of
auditor’s dpinion thal may be exprgssed o thase stdtements, oy profcs&mnal standards require thie consulting
auénunmm to chack w1th us o dal\.n‘mme tlmt tie consultant has atl the rélévant facts. To our kriowledge, there Were

Dihir Audit Findings or Issués

We penerally digeuss & varlety of maiters, Including the ap;;\lwation of accounting principles and auditing standards,
with managemetit sach yoar prior fo retention as Johnson City Independent Schoel Distriot’s aud}tors However,
these discissions oceurred in the normal course of our pmfesmonal telatlonship and our respanses were nol i
condition {o our relention,

Other Matters

We applied vertain limited procediires to the management’s digcussion and analysis and budgetary comparison
inforinalion, which are 1equ1rud supp]amcmmy information (RS!) Lhat supplum&:nls the basic. financial stalements;
QUF pracedures canmsted of inquiries of management rc:gardmg thea methods of preparmg the information and
Lamparmg Ihe information for consistency with management’s responses to owr inguiries, ihé basie (inancial
statements, and 6iher km)w[edge we obtakred dnrmg cur audit of the basic financial statements. We did not.audit the
RSt gntd do 1iok express at opinion or prowde ahy assuraince of the RS,

We were engaged 16 repord on the combining nonmajor fund financial statements, and the Texas Education Agenoy
required Exhibits, which accompany the financial statements but are not RS1, With respect to this supplementary
information, we made certain inquirles of manapemeit and evalyated the form, content, and méthods of pmparing
the information to determine that the information complies with agcounting prmclples generally dedepted i the
United States of America, the method of preparing it has not changed from the prior period, and the information 13
appropriate ‘and complete In relation to our aidit of the financial statéments, We copipared and réconciled the,
sipplementary information to the underlying aceounting recards tised Lo prepare the financial statemenis or to the
finsnelal statumentw lhemseives



Other Comnents and I
Budget Amendments

Actiial éxpenditures exceedad bridpeted amounts in total by 32,104 for the Child Nutrition Fund, Wé recommend
that the Distriet amend the budget when aciual expéndityres exceed the budgsted amount,

seommendations

Restriciion on Use

'Tl'us mfmmdtwn is intended solely for ihe us¢ of ihe Board of Trusieeg and management of' Johison City
Iudependent Yahool District and is niot intended to be; und should not be, used by anyoiie othier than these spcmﬁed
-paxtm&‘

Very truly yours,

7 %Ma@/ ot Btboday 7 dg

NEFFENDORF & BLOCKER, P.C
Fredericksburg, Texds
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THE PERMANENT SCHOOL FUND GUARANTEE PROGRAM
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THE PERMANENT SCHOOL FUND GUARANTEE PROGRAM

This disclosure statement provides information relating to the program (the “Guarantee Program”) administered by the Texas
Education Agency (the “TEA”) with respect to the Texas Permanent School Fund guarantee of tax-supported bonds issued by Texas
school districts and the guarantee of revenue bonds issued by or for the benefit of Texas charter districts. The Guarantee Program
was authorized by an amendment to the Texas Constitution in 1983 and is governed by Subchapter C of Chapter 45 of the Texas
Education Code, as amended (the “Act”). While the Guarantee Program applies to bonds issued by or for both school districts and
charter districts, as described below, the Act and the program rules for the two types of districts have some distinctions. For
convenience of description and reference, those aspects of the Guarantee Program that are applicable to school district bonds and to
charter district bonds are referred to herein as the “School District Bond Guarantee Program” and the “Charter District Bond Guarantee
Program,” respectively.

Some of the information contained in this Section may include projections or other forward-looking statements regarding future events
or the future financial performance of the Texas Permanent School Fund (the “PSF” or the “Fund”). Actual results may differ materially
from those contained in any such projections or forward-looking statements.

During the 87th Regular Session of the Texas Legislature (the “87"" Regular Session”), which concluded on May 31, 2021, Senate Bill
1232 (“SB 1232” or “the bill’) was enacted, and the bill became effective on September 1, 2021. SB 1232 provides for a variety of
changes to the operations and management of the Fund, including the creation of the Permanent School Fund Corporation (the “PSF
Corporation”), and the delegation of responsibility to manage the portion of the Fund previously under the management supervision
of the State Board of Education (the “SBOE”) to the PSF Corporation. SB 1232 also requires changes with respect to the management
of certain investments previously made at the discretion of the Texas School Land Board (the “SLB”), including limiting the types of
investments that may be made by the SLB and mandating the transfer of cash and certain other investment properties from the SLB
to the PSF Corporation once the PSF Corporation is created. Certain of the authorizations of SB 1232, including the creation of the
PSF Corporation have occurred, and other authorized changes are expected to be implemented in phases through the end of calendar
year 2023. See “Management Transition to the PSF Corporation” for a summary of SB 1232 and its expected impact on the
management and operations of the Fund.

The regular session of the 88th Texas Legislature (the “Legislature”) is scheduled from January 10, 2023 to May 29, 2023. Thereafter,
the Texas Governor may call one or more additional special sessions. During this time, the Legislature may enact laws that materially
change current law as it relates to the Guarantee Program, the TEA, the SBOE, the Act, the PSF Corporation, and Texas school
finance generally. No representation is made regarding any actions the Legislature may take, but the TEA, SBOE, and PSF
Corporation intend to monitor proposed legislation for any developments applicable thereto.

History and Purpose

The PSF supports the State’s public school system in two major ways: distributions to the constitutionally established Available School
Fund (the “ASF”), as described below, and the guarantee of school district and charter district issued bonds through the Guarantee
Program. The PSF was created in 1845 and received its first significant funding with a $2,000,000 appropriation by the Legislature in
1854 expressly for the benefit of the public schools of Texas, with the sole purpose of assisting in the funding of public education for
present and future generations. The Constitution of 1876 described that the PSF would be “permanent,” and stipulated that certain
lands and all proceeds from the sale of these lands should also constitute the PSF. Additional acts later gave more public domain
land and rights to the PSF. In 1953, the U.S. Congress passed the Submerged Lands Act that relinquished to coastal states all rights
of the U.S. navigable waters within state boundaries. If the State, by law, had set a larger boundary prior to or at the time of admission
to the Union, or if the boundary had been approved by Congress, then the larger boundary applied. After three years of litigation
(1957-1960), the U.S. Supreme Court on May 31, 1960, affirmed Texas’ historic three marine leagues (10.35 miles) seaward
boundary. Texas proved its submerged lands property rights to three leagues into the Gulf of Mexico by citing historic laws and treaties
dating back to 1836. All lands lying within that limit belong to the PSF. The proceeds from the sale and the mineral-related rental of
these lands, including bonuses, delay rentals and royalty payments, become the corpus of the Fund. Prior to the approval by the
voters of the State of an amendment to the constitutional provision under which the Fund is established and administered, which
occurred on September 13, 2003 (the “Total Return Constitutional Amendment”), and which is further described below, only the income
produced by the PSF could be used to complement taxes in financing public education, which primarily consisted of income from
securities, capital gains from securities transactions and royalties from the sale of oil and natural gas. The Total Return Constitutional
Amendment provides that interest and dividends produced by Fund investments will be additional revenue to the PSF.

On November 8, 1983, the voters of the State approved a constitutional amendment that provides for the guarantee by the PSF of
bonds issued by school districts. On approval by the State Commissioner of Education (the “Education Commissioner”), bonds
properly issued by a school district are fully guaranteed by the PSF. See “The School District Bond Guarantee Program.”

In 2011, legislation was enacted that established the Charter District Bond Guarantee Program as a new component of the Guarantee
Program. That legislation authorized the use of the PSF to guarantee revenue bonds issued by or for the benefit of certain open-
enrollment charter schools that are designated as “charter districts” by the Education Commissioner. On approval by the Education
Commissioner, bonds properly issued by a charter district participating in the Guarantee Program are fully guaranteed by the PSF.
The Charter District Bond Guarantee Program became effective on March 3, 2014. See “The Charter District Bond Guarantee
Program.”



State law also permits charter schools to be chartered and operated by school districts and other political subdivisions, but bond
financing of facilities for school district-operated charter schools is subject to the School District Bond Guarantee Program, not the
Charter District Bond Guarantee Program.

While the School District Bond Guarantee Program and the Charter District Bond Guarantee Program relate to different types of bonds
issued for different types of Texas public schools, and have different program regulations and requirements, a bond guaranteed under
either part of the Guarantee Program has the same effect with respect to the guarantee obligation of the Fund thereto, and all
guaranteed bonds are aggregated for purposes of determining the capacity of the Guarantee Program (see “Capacity Limits for the
Guarantee Program”). The Charter District Bond Guarantee Program as enacted by State law has not been reviewed by any court,
nor has the Texas Attorney General (the “Attorney General”) been requested to issue an opinion, with respect to its constitutional
validity.

Audited financial information for the PSF is provided annually through the PSF Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (the “Annual
Report”), which is filed with the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board (“MSRB”). The SLB’s land and real assets investment
operations, which are part of the PSF as described below, are also included in the annual financial report of the Texas General Land
Office (the “GLO”) that is included in the comprehensive annual report of the State of Texas. The Annual Report includes the Message
of the Executive Administrator of the Fund (the “Message”) and the Management'’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”). The Annual
Report for the year ended August 31, 2022, as filed with the MSRB in accordance with the PSF undertaking and agreement made in
accordance with Rule 15¢2-12 (“Rule 15¢2-12”) of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), as described
below, is hereby incorporated by reference into this disclosure. Information included herein for the year ended August 31, 2022 is
derived from the audited financial statements of the PSF, which are included in the Annual Report as it is filed and posted. Reference
is made to the Annual Report for the complete Message and MD&A for the year ended August 31, 2022 and for a description of the
financial results of the PSF for the year ended August 31, 2022, the most recent year for which audited financial information regarding
the Fund is available. The 2022 Annual Report speaks only as of its date and the TEA has not obligated itself to update the 2022
Annual Report or any other Annual Report. The TEA posts (i) each Annual Report, which includes statistical data regarding the Fund
as of the close of each fiscal year, (ii) the most recent disclosure for the Guarantee Program, (iii) the PSF Corporation’s Investment
Policy Statement (the “IPS”), and (iv) monthly updates with respect to the capacity of the Guarantee Program (collectively, the “Web
Site Materials”) on the TEA web site at http:/tea.texas.gov/Finance_and_Grants/Permanent_School_Fund/ and with the MSRB at
www.emma.msrb.org. Such monthly updates regarding the Guarantee Program are also incorporated herein and made a part hereof
for all purposes. In addition to the Web Site Materials, the Fund is required to make quarterly filings with the SEC under Section 13(f)
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Such filings, which consist of a list of the Fund’s holdings of securities specified in Section
13(f), including exchange-traded (e.g., NYSE) or NASDAQ-quoted stocks, equity options and warrants, shares of closed-end
investment companies and certain convertible debt securities, is available from the SEC at www.sec.gov/edgar. A list of the Fund’s
equity and fixed income holdings as of August 31 of each year is posted to the TEA web site and filed with the MSRB. Such list
excludes holdings in the Fund’s securities lending program. Such list, as filed, is incorporated herein and made a part hereof for all
purposes. See “Management Transition to the PSF Corporation” for a discussion of the PSF Corporation audit. At its November 2022
quarterly board meeting, the SBOE considered new regulations for the administration of the Bond Guarantee Program. Two readings
and a publication period are required for modifications to the Texas Administrative Code, and such process (the “Regulatory
Recodification”) was completed in February 2023, with the new regulations becoming effective March 1, 2023. The Regulatory
Recodification was taken as an acknowledgment of the new role and powers that are delegated to the PSF Corporation. Among other
regulations affecting the Fund that were restructured include the Statement of Investment Objectives, Policies and Guidelines of the
Texas Permanent School Fund, which is codified at 19 Texas Administrative Code, Chapter 33 (recodified in part and replaced in part
by the IPS).

Management and Administration of the Fund

The following discussion describes some legal and management aspects of the structure of the Fund prior to full implementation of
SB 1232. SB 1232 is being implemented in phases. See “Management Transition to the PSF Corporation” for summaries of certain
laws applicable to the Fund pursuant to the Texas Constitution and SB 1232 as well as certain prior actions and the ongoing changes
in the management structure of the Fund.

The Texas Constitution and applicable statutes delegate to the SBOE the authority and responsibility for investment of the PSF’s
financial assets, but SB 1232 authorized the SBOE to delegate management of the Fund to the Corporation, which, as noted above,
has been done. The SBOE consists of 15 members who are elected by territorial districts in the State to four year terms of office.

The Texas Constitution provides that the Fund shall be managed though the exercise of the judgment and care under the
circumstances then prevailing which persons of ordinary prudence, discretion and intelligence exercise in the management of their
own affairs, not in regard to speculation, but in regard to the permanent disposition of their funds, considering the probable income
therefrom as well as the probable safety of their capital (the “Prudent Person Standard”).

In accordance with the Texas Constitution, the SBOE views the PSF as a perpetual endowment, and the Fund is managed as an
endowment fund with a long-term investment horizon. Under the total-return investment objective, the IPS provides that the PSF shall
be managed consistently with respect to the following: support for public free schools in Texas, real growth in Fund asset values,
protection of Fund capital, and the provision of sustained income distributions to current and future generations of Texas school
children. As described below, the Total Return Constitutional Amendment restricts the annual pay-out from the Fund to both (i) 6% of
the average of the market value of the Fund, excluding real property, on the last day of each of the sixteen State fiscal quarters
preceding the Regular Session of the Legislature that begins before that State fiscal biennium, and (ii) the total-return on all investment
assets of the Fund over a rolling ten-year period.
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By law, the Education Commissioner is appointed by the Governor, with Senate confirmation, and assists the SBOE, but the Education
Commissioner can neither be hired nor dismissed by the SBOE. The PSF Corporation has also engaged outside counsel to advise it
as to its duties with respect to the Fund, including specific actions regarding the investment of the PSF to ensure compliance with
fiduciary standards, and to provide transactional advice in connection with the investment of Fund assets in non-traditional
investments. TEA’s General Counsel provides legal advice to the SBOE but will not provide legal advice directly to the PSF
Corporation.

The Total Return Constitutional Amendment shifted administrative costs of the Fund from the ASF to the PSF, providing that expenses
of managing the PSF are to be paid “by appropriation” from the PSF. In January 2005, the Attorney General issued a legal opinion,
Op. Tex. Att'y Gen. No. GA-0293 (2005), stating that the Total Return Constitutional Amendment does not require the SBOE to pay
from such appropriated PSF funds the indirect management costs deducted from the assets of a mutual fund or other investment
company in which PSF funds have been invested.

The Act requires that the Education Commissioner prepare, and the SBOE approve, an annual status report on the Guarantee
Program (which is included in the Annual Report). The State Auditor audits the financial statements of the PSF, which are separate
from other financial statements of the State.

Prior to the enactment of SB 1232, Texas law assigned to the SLB control of the Fund’s land and mineral rights and authority to invest
in certain real assets. Administrative duties related to these assets have in the past resided with the GLO, which is under the guidance
of the elected commissioner of the GLO (the “Land Commissioner”).

In 2019, the Texas Legislature enacted legislation that created a “permanent school fund liquid account” (the “Liquid Account”) in the
PSF for the purpose of the SBOE receiving, administering, and investing funds transferred from the SLB on a quarterly basis that are
not then invested by the SLB or needed within the forthcoming quarter. On January 1, 2023, management of the Liquid Account
transferred from the SBOE to the PSF Corporation. The bill grants the PSF Corporation authority and discretion to abolish the Liquid
Account when its purpose has been resolved and transfer any remaining balance to the Fund.

Management Transition to the PSF Corporation

In accordance with SB 1232, at its November 2021 board meeting, the SBOE approved the articles of formation of the PSF
Corporation. The articles were filed on December 1, 2021, thus effecting the creation of the PSF Corporation. SB 1232 authorizes the
SBOE to delegate investment authority over the PSF and the Charter District Reserve Fund to the PSF Corporation. The bill also
provides that the PSF Corporation, the SBOE and TEA must coordinate to determine the PSF Corporation’s role in the operation and
management of the Guarantee Program to ensure the proper and efficient operation of the program.

The description of SB 1232 that follows summarizes some key provisions of the bill. The full text of the bill can be found at
https://capitol.texas.gov/BillLookup/Text.aspx?LegSess=87R&Bill=SB1232. SB 1232 provides for various transition dates relating to
implementation of the bill, with the latest dates generally occurring in calendar year 2023. As noted above, on January 1, 2023 the
investment management responsibilities for the Fund transferred to the PSF Corporation and the merger of Fund assets previously
managed by the SLB with those previously managed by the SBOE.

As allowed by SB 1232, the PSF Corporation has been created as a special-purpose governmental corporation and instrumentality of
the State which is entitled to sovereign immunity. The PSF Corporation is governed by a nine-member board of directors (the “PSFC
Board”), which consists of five members of the SBOE, the Land Commissioner, and three appointed members who have substantial
background and expertise in investments and asset management; with one of the appointees being appointed by the Land
Commissioner and the other two appointed by the Governor (one of which is currently vacant) with confirmation by the Senate.

At the inaugural meeting of the PSFC Board in January 2022, the PSFC Board appointed the Executive Administrator of the Fund as
the interim chief executive officer of the PSF Corporation and in April 2022 the Executive Administrator of the Fund was confirmed as
the chief executive officer of the PSF Corporation. In July 2023, the PSFC Board appointed an Acting chief executive officer to perform
those duties while the PSFC Board conducts a search to hire a permanent replacement for the chief executive officer who retired at
the end of March. The PSFC Board adopted bylaws governing how it will manage its affairs and conduct business. The chief executive
officer reports to the PSFC Board. Any amendments to the PSF Corporation’s articles of formation and bylaws will be adopted by the
PSFC Board but are subject to approval by the SBOE. At its March 2023 meeting, the PSFC Board approved its securities lending

policy.

Notwithstanding the management transition for the Fund from the SBOE to the PSF Corporation, the provisions of the Texas
Constitution that formerly applied to the SBOE’s management will continue to provide a framework for the management of the Fund.
In particular, the Prudent Person Standard is applicable to the PSF Corporation, and the Total Return Constitutional Amendment will
govern distributions from the PSF to the ASF by the SBOE. A separate constitutional provision allowing distributions from the PSF to
the ASF that is currently used by the SLB was also granted to the PSF Corporation. When determining any amount to distribute, the
PSF Corporation may consider distributions made by the SBOE. In addition, the Fund will continue to be managed as a perpetual
endowment for the benefit of citizens of the State.

The SLB’s investments in real estate investment funds and real asset investment funds will transfer to the PSF Corporation. Beginning
December 31, 2022, the SLB is no longer authorized to make investments into funds; however, the SLB will still be able to invest in
land, mineral and royalty interests, and individual real estate holdings; the SLB will also be required to send PSF mineral revenue to
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the PSF Corporation for investment, subject to designation via the appropriations process to cover GLO expenses of managing the
minerals.

Not less than once each year, the PSFC Board must submit an audit report to the Legislative Budget Board (“LBB”) regarding the
operations of the PSF Corporation. The PSF Corporation may contract with a certified public accountant or the State Auditor to conduct
an independent audit of the operations of the PSF Corporation, but such authorization does not affect the State Auditor’s authority to
conduct an audit of the PSF Corporation in accordance with other State laws. The first audit of the PSF Corporation will be conducted
following the close of the 2022-2023 fiscal year on August 31, 2023.

As required by State law, during the 87" Regular Session the LBB issued a fiscal note on SB 1232. The fiscal note stated that
uncertainty exists regarding the nature of future returns and the effect of the bill on distributions from all components of the PSF to the
ASF, such that the financial impact of the bill could not be determined during the legislative session. However, the fiscal note stated
that TEA and the GLO projected that the changes effected by the bill will have a positive fiscal impact in terms of growth of the Fund
and future Fund distributions. No assurances can be given as to future investment results for the Fund.

With respect to the 2024-2025 State biennium, and for subsequent biennia, the PSF Corporation is required to submit a legislative
appropriations request (‘LAR”) to the LBB and the Office of the Governor that details a request for appropriation of funds to enable
the PSF Corporation to carry out its responsibilities for the investment management of the Fund. The requested funding, budget
structure, and riders are sufficient to fully support all operations of the PSF Corporation in state fiscal years 2024 and 2025. As
described therein, the LAR is designed to provide the PSF Corporation with the ability to operate as a stand-alone state entity in the
State budget while retaining the flexibility to fulfill its fiduciary duty and provide oversight and transparency to the Legislature and
Governor.

The Total Return Constitutional Amendment

The Total Return Constitutional Amendment approved a fundamental change in the way that distributions are made to the ASF from
the PSF. Prior to the adoption of the Total Return Constitutional Amendment, all interest and dividend income produced by Fund
investments flowed into the ASF, where they were distributed to local school districts and open-enroliment charter schools based on
average daily attendance, any net gains from investments of the Fund were reflected in the value of the PSF, and costs of
administering the PSF were allocated to the ASF. The Total Return Constitutional Amendment requires that PSF distributions to the
ASF be determined using a “total-return-based” formula instead of the "current-income-based” formula, which was used from 1964 to
the end of the 2003 fiscal year. The Total Return Constitutional Amendment provides that the total amount distributed from the Fund
to the ASF: (1) in each year of a State fiscal biennium must be an amount that is not more than 6% of the average of the market value
of the Fund, excluding real property (the “Distribution Rate”), on the last day of each of the sixteen State fiscal quarters preceding the
Regular Session of the Legislature that begins before that State fiscal biennium, in accordance with the rate adopted by: (a) a vote of
two-thirds of the total membership of the SBOE, taken before the Regular Session of the Legislature convenes or (b) the Legislature
by general law or appropriation, if the SBOE does not adopt a rate as provided by clause (a); and (2) over the ten-year period consisting
of the current State fiscal year and the nine preceding State fiscal years may not exceed the total return on all investment assets of
the Fund over the same ten-year period (the “Ten Year Total Return”). In April 2009, the Attorney General issued a legal opinion, Op.
Tex. Atty Gen. No. GA-0707 (2009) (“GA-0707"), with regard to certain matters pertaining to the Distribution Rate and the
determination of the Ten Year Total Return. In GA-0707 the Attorney General opined, among other advice, that (i) the Ten Year Total
Return should be calculated on an annual basis, (ii) a contingency plan adopted by the SBOE, to permit monthly transfers equal in
aggregate to the annual Distribution Rate to be halted and subsequently made up if such transfers temporarily exceed the Ten Year
Total Return, is not prohibited by State law, provided that such contingency plan applies only within a fiscal year time basis, not on a
biennium basis, and (jii) that the amount distributed from the Fund in a fiscal year may not exceed 6% of the average of the market
value of the Fund or the Ten Year Total Return. In accordance with GA-0707, in the event that the Ten Year Total Return is exceeded
during a fiscal year, transfers to the ASF will be halted. However, if the Ten Year Total Return subsequently increases during that
biennium, transfers may be resumed, if the SBOE has provided for that contingency, and made in full during the remaining period of
the biennium, subject to the limit of 6% in any one fiscal year. Any shortfall in the transfer that results from such events from one
biennium may not be paid over to the ASF in a subsequent biennium as the SBOE would make a separate payout determination for
that subsequent biennium.

In determining the Distribution Rate, the SBOE has adopted the goal of maximizing the amount distributed from the Fund in a manner
designed to preserve “intergenerational equity.” The definition of intergenerational equity that the SBOE has generally followed is the
maintenance of purchasing power to ensure that endowment spending keeps pace with inflation, with the ultimate goal being to ensure
that current and future generations are given equal levels of purchasing power in real terms. In making this determination, the SBOE
takes into account various considerations, and relies upon PSF Corporation and TEA staff and external investment consultants, which
undertake analysis for long-term projection periods that includes certain assumptions. Among the assumptions used in the analysis
are a projected rate of growth of student enroliment State-wide, the projected contributions and expenses of the Fund, projected
returns in the capital markets and a projected inflation rate.

On November 8, 2011, a referendum was held in the State at which voters of the State approved amendments that effected an
increase to the base amount used in calculating the Distribution Rate from the Fund to the ASF and authorized the SLB to make direct
transfers to the ASF, as described below.

The November 8, 2011, referendum included an increase to the base used to calculate the Distribution Rate by adding to the
calculation base certain discretionary real assets and cash in the Fund that is managed by entities other than the SBOE (at present,
by the SLB). The value of those assets was already included in the value of the Fund for purposes of the Guarantee Program, but
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prior to the amendment had not been included in the calculation base for purposes of making transfers from the Fund to the ASF.
While the amendment provided for an increase in the base for the calculation of approximately $2 billion, no new resources were
provided for deposit to the Fund. As described under “The Total Return Constitutional Amendment” the SBOE is prevented from
approving a Distribution Rate or making a pay out from the Fund if the amount distributed would exceed 6% of the average of the
market value of the Fund, excluding real property in the Fund, but including discretionary real asset investments on the last day of
each of the sixteen State fiscal quarters preceding the Regular Session of the Legislature that begins before that State fiscal biennium
or if such pay out would exceed the Ten Year Total Return.

The constitutional amendments approved on November 8, 2011, also provided authority to the GLO or another entity (described in
statute as the SLB) that has responsibility for the management of revenues derived from land or other properties of the PSF to
determine whether to transfer an amount each year to the ASF from the revenue derived during the current year from such land or
properties. Prior to November 2019, the amount authorized to be transferred to the ASF from the GLO or SLB was limited to $300
million per year. On November 5, 2019, a constitutional amendment was approved by State voters that increased the maximum
transfer to the ASF to $600 million each year from the revenue derived during that year from the PSF from the GLO, the SBOE or
another entity to the extent such entity has the responsibility for the management of revenues derived from such land or other
properties. Any amount transferred to the ASF pursuant to this constitutional provision is excluded from the 6% Distribution Rate
limitation applicable to SBOE transfers.

The following table shows amounts distributed to the ASF from the portions of the Fund administered by the SBOE (the “PSF(SBOE)”)
and the SLB (the “PSF(SLB)”).

Annual Distributions to the Available School Fund'’

Fiscal Year Ending 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
PSF(SBOE) Distribution $1,021 $839  $839 $1,056  $1,056  $1,236  $1,236 $1,102  $1,102  $1,731
PSF(SLB) Distribution $300 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $300 $600 $600? $415
Per Student Distribution $281 $175  $173  $215 $212 $247 $306 $347 $341 $432

" In millions of dollars. Source: PSF Annual Report for year ended August 31, 2022.

2 In September 2020, the SBOE approved a special, one-time transfer of $300 million from the portion of the PSF managed by the
SBOE to the portion of the PSF managed by the SLB, which amount is to be transferred to the ASF by the SLB in fiscal year 2021. In
approving the special transfer, the SBOE determined that the transfer was in the best interest of the PSF due to the historic nature of
the public health and economic circumstances resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic and its impact on the school children of Texas.

In November 2022, the SBOE approved a $3.1 billion distribution to the ASF for State fiscal biennium 2024-2025. In making its
determination of the 2024-2025 Distribution Rate, the SBOE took into account the announced planned distribution to the ASF by the
SLB of $1.2 billion for the biennium.

Efforts to achieve the intergenerational equity objective, as described above, result in changes in the Distribution Rate for each biennial
period. The following table sets forth the Distribution Rates announced by the SBOE in the fall of each even numbered year to be
applicable for the following biennium.

State Fiscal Biennium 2008-09 2010-11 2012-13 2014-15 2016-17 2018-19 2020-21 2022-23 2024-25
SBOE Distribution Rate' 3.5% 2.5% 4.2% 3.3% 3.5% 37%  2974%  4.18%  3.32%2

"Includes only distributions made to the ASF by the SBOE; see the immediately preceding table for amounts of direct SLB
distributions to the ASF. In addition, the SLB approved transfers of $600 million per year directly to the ASF for fiscal biennium
2024-25.

2 The distribution rate approved by the SBOE for fiscal biennium 2024-25 was based on a number of assumptions, including a
mid- to long-term expected return rate for the Fund of 6.35% and a rate of inflation measured by the consumer price index of
2.70% according to the policy adopted by the SBOE in June 2022.

Asset Allocation of Fund Portfolios

With respect to the management of the Fund’s financial assets portfolio, the single most significant change made to date as a result
of the Total Return Constitutional Amendment has been new asset allocation policies adopted from time to time by the SBOE. The
SBOE historically reviewed the asset allocations during its summer meeting in even-numbered years. The first asset allocation policy
adopted by the SBOE following the Total Return Constitutional Amendment was in February 2004, and the policy was reviewed and
modified or reaffirmed in the summers of each even-numbered year, most recently in June 2022. The IPS (effective January 1, 2023)
provides for minimum and maximum ranges among the components of each of the asset classifications: equities, fixed income, and
alternatives. The alternatives category includes absolute return, private equity, real estate, emerging manager program, real return,
natural resources, and infrastructure components. Alternative asset classes diversify the managed assets of the PSF and are not as
correlated to traditional asset classes, which is intended to increase investment returns over the long run while reducing risk and return



volatility of the portfolio. Given the greater weighting in the overall portfolio of traditional investments, it is expected that the Fund will
reflect the general performance returns of the markets in which the Fund is invested.

Prior to the effective date of the IPS, the most recent asset allocation of the PSF(SBOE), was approved by the SBOE in June 2022,
and is set forth below, along with the asset allocations of the PSF(SLB) and Liquid Account that were effective June 2022.

PSF 2022 Strategic Asset Allocations

Liquid

PSF(SBOE) PSF(SLB) Account
Equity Total 55% 0% 77%
Public 37% 0% 77%
Equity Total
Large Cap 14% 0% 38%
US Equity
Small/Mid 6% 0% 10%
Cap US
Equity
International 14% 0% 29%
Equities
Emerging 3% 0% 0%
Markets
Equity
Private 18% 0% 0%
Equity
Fixed 22% 0% 21%
Income
Total
Core Bonds 12% 0% 16%
Non-Core
Bonds (High 9 o Q0
Yield & Bank e v 0
Loans)
Emerging 3% 0% 0%
Markets
Debt
Treasuries 3% 0% 0%
TIPS 0% 0% 5%
Short 0% 0% 0%
Duration
Alternative 22% 100% 0%
Investments
Total
Absolute 7% 0% 0%
Return
Real Estate 11% 33% 0%
Real Return 4% 0% 0%
Energy 0% 31% 0%
Infrastructure 0% 36% 0%
Emerging 1% 0% 0%
Manager
Program
Cash 0% 0% 2%

PSF Corporation 2023 Strategic Asset Allocation

Effective January 1, 2023, the IPS includes a combined asset allocation for all Fund assets (consisting of assets transferred for
management to the PSF Corporation from the SBOE, the SLB and the Liquid Account). The IPS provides that the Fund’s investment
objectives are as follows:

®  Generate distributions for the benefit of public schools in Texas;
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®  Maintain the purchasing power of the Fund, after spending and inflation, in order to maintain intergenerational equity with
respect to distributions from the Fund;

"  Provide a maximum level of return consistent with prudent risk levels, while maintaining sufficient liquidity needed to
support Fund obligations; and

®  Maintain a AAA credit rating, as assigned by a nationally recognized securities rating organization.

The table below sets forth the asset allocation of the Fund beginning January 1, 2023.

Strategic Asset

Asset Class Allocation Range
Equities

Large Cap US Equity 15% +/- 3.0%
Small/Mid-Cap US Equity 6% +/-1.0%
Non-US Developed Equity 10% +/- 3.0%
Emerging Market Equity 6% +/- 1.0%
Total Equity 37%

Fixed Income

Core Bonds 1% +/- 2.0%
Non-Core Bonds (High Yield & Bank 3% +/- 3.0%
Loans)

Emerging Market Debt (Local Currency) 2% +/- 2.0%
U.S. Treasuries 2% +/- 2.0%
Total Fixed Income 18%

Cash Equivalents 0%

Alternatives

Absolute Return 6% +/- 1.0%
Private Equity 15% +/- 4.0%
Real Estate 12% +/- 4.0%
Emerging Manager Program (Private 1% +/-1.0%
Equity/Real Estate)

Real Return (Commodities & U.S. Treasury 4%, +/-1.5%
Inflation Protected Securities

(TIPS))

Private Real Assets — Natural Resources 3% +/-2.0%
Private Real Assets - Infrastructure 4% +/- 2.0%
Total Alternatives 45%

For a variety of reasons, each change in asset allocation for the Fund has been implemented in phases, and that approach is likely to
be carried forward when and if the asset allocation policy is again modified.

The table below sets forth the comparative investments of the PSF(SBOE) for the years ending August 31, 2021 and 2022, as set
forth in the PSF Annual Reports for those years. As of January 1, 2023, the assets of the PSF(SBOE) and the PSF (SLB) were
generally combined for investment management and accounting purposes.

Comparative Investment Schedule - PSF(SBOE)'

Fair Value (in millions) August 31, 2022 and 2021

Amount of
August 31, August 31, Increase Percent
ASSET CLASS 2022 2021 (Decrease) Change

EQUITY



Domestic Small Cap $2,358.4 $2,597.3 $ (238.9) -9.2%
Domestic Large Cap 4,730.4 6,218.7 (1,488.3) -23.9%
Total Domestic Equity 7,088.8 8,816.0 (1,727.2) -19.6%
International Equity 5,972.5 8,062.1 (2,089.6) -25.9%
TOTAL EQUITY 13,061.3 16,878.1 (3,816.8) -22.6%
FIXED INCOME

Domestic Fixed Income 4,563.3 4,853.1 (289.8) -6.0%
U.S. Treasuries 1,140.2 1,243.3 (103.1) -8.3%
High Yield Bonds 1,142.5 - 1,142.5 N/A
Emerging Market Debt 1,142.5 2,683.7 (1,492.8) -55.6%
TOTAL FIXED INCOME 8,036.9 8,780.1 (743.2) -8.5%
ALTERNATIVE INVESTMENTS

Absolute Return 2,932.3 3,5646.0 (613.7) -17.3%
Real Estate 4,365.7 3,706.0 659.7 17.8%
Private Equity 7,933.1 7,724.6 208.5 2.7%
Emerging Manager

Program 29.9 - 29.9 N/A
Real Return 1,412.0 1,675.5 (263.5) -15.7%
TOT ALT INVESTMENTS 16,673.0 16,652.1 20.9 0.1%
UNALLOCATED CASH 196.5 262.9 (66.4) -25.3%
TOTAL PSF(SBOE)

INVESTMENTS $37,967.7 $42,573.2 $ (4,605.5) -10.8%

Source: PSF Annual Report for year ended August 31, 2022.

" The investments shown in the table above at August 31, 2022 do not fully reflect the changes made to the PSF Strategic Asset
Allocation in June 2022, as those changes were still being phased in at the end of the fiscal year.

The table below sets forth the investments of the Liquid Account for the year ended August 31, 2022.

Liquid Account Fair Value at August 31, 2022’

Fair Value (in millions) August 31, 2022 and 2021

Amount of

August 31, August 31, Increase Percent Change
ASSET CLASS 2022 2021 (Decrease)
Equity
Domestic Small/Mid Cap $500.0 $228.3 $271.7 119.0%
Domestic Large Cap 1,671.7 578.6 1,093.1 188.9%
Total Domestic Equity 2,171.7 806.9 1,364.8 169.1%
International Equity 1,225.5 392.6 832.9 212.1%
TOTAL EQUITY 3,397.2 1,199.5 2,197.7 183.2%
Fixed Income
Short-Term Fixed Income 797.4 1,074.8 (277.4) -25.8%
Core Bonds 506.8 4131 93.7 22.7%
TIPS 208.2 213.9 (5.7) 2.7%
TOTAL FIXED INCOME 1,512.4 1,701.8 (189.4) -11.1%
Unallocated Cash 35.2 1,420.5 (1,385.3) -97.5%
Total Liquid Account Investments $4,944.8 $4,321.8 $623.0 14.4%

"In millions of dollars.
Source: PSF Annual Report for year ended August 31, 2022.



The table below sets forth the comparative investments of the PSF(SLB) for the years ending August 31, 2022 and 2021.
Comparative Investment Schedule - PSF(SLB)

Fair Value (in millions) August 31, 2022 and 2021

As of As of Increase Percent
8-31-22 8-31-21 (Decrease) Change
Asset Class
Discretionary Real Assets Investments
Externally Managed
Real Assets Investment Funds'
Energy/Minerals $2,718.6 $1,707.5 $1,011.1 59.2%
Infrastructure 1,622.7 1,652.3 (29.6) -1.8%
Real Estate 1,921.2 1,276.8 644.4 50.5%
Internally Managed Direct
Real Estate Investments 2715 223.9 47.6 21.3%
Total Discretionary
Real Assets Investments 6,534.0 4,860.5 1,673.5 34.4%
Dom. Equity Rec’d as In-Kind Distribution - 1.7 (1.7) -100.0%
Sovereign and Other Lands 428.3 405.4 229 5.6%
Mineral Interests 5,622.2 2,720.4 2,901.8 106.7%
Cash at State Treasury? 1,257.5 699.2 558.3 79.8%
Total PSF(SLB)
Investments $13,842.0 $8,687.2 $5,154.8 59.3%

' The fair values of externally managed real assets investment funds, separate accounts, and co-investment vehicles are estimated
using the most recent valuations available, adjusted for subsequent contributions and withdrawals.

2 Cash at State Treasury represents amounts that have been deposited in the State Treasury and temporarily invested in short-term
investments until called for investment by the external real assets investment funds, separate accounts, and co-investment vehicles
to which PSF(SLB) has made capital commitments. Prior to September 1, 2019, PSF(SLB) was required by statute to deposit cash
designated by the SLB for investment in real assets in the State Treasury until it is drawn for investment. After September 1, 2019,
that cash was moved to the Liquid Account to be invested by the SBOE.

The asset allocation of the Fund’s financial assets portfolio is subject to change by the PSF Corporation from time to time based upon
a number of factors, including recommendations to the PSF Corporation made by internal investment staff and external consultants.
Fund performance may also be affected by factors other than asset allocation, including, without limitation, the general performance
of the securities markets and other capital markets in the United States and abroad, which may be affected by different levels of
economic activity; decisions of political officeholders; significant adverse weather events; development of hostilities in and among
nations; cybersecurity threats and events; changes in international trade policies or practices; application of the Prudent Person
Standard, which may eliminate certain investment opportunities for the Fund; management fees paid to external managers and
embedded management fees for some fund investments; and, PSF operational limitations impacted by Texas law or legislative
appropriation. The Guarantee Program could also be impacted by changes in State or federal law or regulations or the implementation
of new accounting standards.

The School District Bond Guarantee Program

The School District Bond Guarantee Program requires an application be made by a school district to the Education Commissioner for
a guarantee of its bonds. If the conditions for the School District Bond Guarantee Program are satisfied, the guarantee becomes
effective upon approval of the bonds by the Attorney General and remains in effect until the guaranteed bonds are paid or defeased,
by a refunding or otherwise.

In the event of default, holders of guaranteed school district bonds will receive all payments due from the corpus of the PSF. Following
a determination that a school district will be or is unable to pay maturing or matured principal or interest on any guaranteed bond, the
Act requires the school district to notify the Education Commissioner not later than the fifth day before the stated maturity date of such
bond or interest payment. Immediately following receipt of such notice, the Education Commissioner must cause to be transferred
from the appropriate account in the PSF to the Paying Agent/Registrar an amount necessary to pay the maturing or matured principal
and interest. Upon receipt of funds for payment of such principal or interest, the Paying Agent/Registrar must pay the amount due and
forward the canceled bond or evidence of payment of the interest to the State Comptroller of Public Accounts (the “Comptroller”). The
Education Commissioner will instruct the Comptroller to withhold the amount paid, plus interest, from the first State money payable to
the school district. The amount withheld pursuant to this funding “intercept” feature will be deposited to the credit of the PSF. The
Comptroller must hold such canceled bond or evidence of payment of the interest on behalf of the PSF. Following full reimbursement
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of such payment by the school district to the PSF with interest, the Comptroller will cancel the bond or evidence of payment of the
interest and forward it to the school district. The Act permits the Education Commissioner to order a school district to set a tax rate
sufficient to reimburse the PSF for any payments made with respect to guaranteed bonds, and also sufficient to pay future payments
on guaranteed bonds, and provides certain enforcement mechanisms to the Education Commissioner, including the appointment of
a board of managers or annexation of a defaulting school district to another school district.

If a school district fails to pay principal or interest on a bond as it is stated to mature, other amounts not due and payable are not
accelerated and do not become due and payable by virtue of the district's default. The School District Bond Guarantee Program does
not apply to the payment of principal and interest upon redemption of bonds, except upon mandatory sinking fund redemption, and
does not apply to the obligation, if any, of a school district to pay a redemption premium on its guaranteed bonds. The guarantee
applies to all matured interest on guaranteed school district bonds, whether the bonds were issued with a fixed or variable interest
rate and whether the interest rate changes as a result of an interest reset provision or other bond order provision requiring an interest
rate change. The guarantee does not extend to any obligation of a school district under any agreement with a third party relating to
guaranteed bonds that is defined or described in State law as a “bond enhancement agreement” or a “credit agreement,” unless the
right to payment of such third party is directly as a result of such third party being a bondholder.

In the event that two or more payments are made from the PSF on behalf of a district, the Education Commissioner shall request the
Attorney General to institute legal action to compel the district and its officers, agents and employees to comply with the duties required
of them by law in respect to the payment of guaranteed bonds.

Generally, the regulations that govern the School District Bond Guarantee Program (the “SDBGP Rules”) limit guarantees to certain
types of notes and bonds, including, with respect to refunding bonds issued by school districts, a requirement that the bonds produce
debt service savings, and that bonds issued for capital facilities of school districts must have been voted as unlimited tax debt of the
issuing district. The Guarantee Program Rules include certain accreditation criteria for districts applying for a guarantee of their bonds,
and limit guarantees to districts that have less than the amount of annual debt service per average daily attendance that represents
the 90th percentile of annual debt service per average daily attendance for all school districts, but such limitation will not apply to
school districts that have enroliment growth of at least 25% over the previous five school years. As noted, above, in connection with
the Regulatory Recodification, the SDBGP Rules are now codified in the Texas Administrative Code at 19 TAC section 33.6 and are
available at https://tea.texas.gov/sites/default/files/ch033a.pdf.

The Charter District Bond Guarantee Program

The Charter District Bond Guarantee Program became effective March 3, 2014. The SBOE published final regulations in the Texas
Register that provide for the administration of the Charter District Bond Guarantee Program (the “CDBGP Rules”). As noted, above,
in connection with the Regulatory Recodification, the CDBGP Rules are now codified at 19 TAC section 33.7 and are available at
https://tea.texas.gov/sites/default/files/ch033a.pdf.

The Charter District Bond Guarantee Program has been authorized through the enactment of amendments to the Act, which provide
that a charter holder may make application to the Education Commissioner for designation as a “charter district” and for a guarantee
by the PSF under the Act of bonds issued on behalf of a charter district by a non-profit corporation. If the conditions for the Charter
District Bond Guarantee Program are satisfied, the guarantee becomes effective upon approval of the bonds by the Attorney General
and remains in effect until the guaranteed bonds are paid or defeased, by a refunding or otherwise.

As of July 2023 (the most recent date for which data is available), the percentage of students enrolled in open-enrollment charter
schools (excluding charter schools authorized by school districts) to the total State scholastic census was approximately 7.36%. At
July 31, 2023, there were 184 active open-enrollment charter schools in the State and there were 1,103 charter school campuses
authorized under such charters, though as of such date, 208 of such campuses are not currently serving students for various reasons;
therefore, there are 895 charter school campuses actively serving students in Texas. Section 12.101, Texas Education Code, limits
the number of charters that the Education Commissioner may grant to a total number of 305 charters. While legislation limits the
number of charters that may be granted, it does not limit the number of campuses that may operate under a particular charter. For
information regarding the capacity of the Guarantee Program, see “Capacity Limits for the Guarantee Program.” The Act provides that
the Education Commissioner may not approve the guarantee of refunding or refinanced bonds under the Charter District Bond
Guarantee Program in a total amount that exceeds one-half of the total amount available for the guarantee of charter district bonds
under the Charter District Bond Guarantee Program.

In accordance with the Act, the Education Commissioner may not approve charter district bonds for guarantee if such guarantees will
result in lower bond ratings for public school district bonds that are guaranteed under the School District Bond Guarantee Program.
To be eligible for a guarantee, the Act provides that a charter district's bonds must be approved by the Attorney General, have an
unenhanced investment grade rating from a nationally recognized investment rating firm, and satisfy a limited investigation conducted
by the TEA.

The Charter District Bond Guarantee Program does not apply to the payment of principal and interest upon redemption of bonds,
except upon mandatory sinking fund redemption, and does not apply to the obligation, if any, of a charter district to pay a redemption
premium on its guaranteed bonds. The guarantee applies to all matured interest on guaranteed charter district bonds, whether the
bonds were issued with a fixed or variable interest rate and whether the interest rate changes as a result of an interest reset provision
or other bond resolution provision requiring an interest rate change. The guarantee does not extend to any obligation of a charter
district under any agreement with a third party relating to guaranteed bonds that is defined or described in State law as a “bond
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enhancement agreement” or a “credit agreement,” unless the right to payment of such third party is directly as a result of such third
party being a bondholder.

In the event of default, holders of guaranteed charter district bonds will receive all payments due from the corpus of the PSF. Following
a determination that a charter district will be or is unable to pay maturing or matured principal or interest on any guaranteed bond, the
Act requires a charter district to notify the Education Commissioner not later than the fifth day before the stated maturity date of such
bond or interest payment and provides that immediately following receipt of notice that a charter district will be or is unable to pay
maturing or matured principal or interest on a guaranteed bond, the Education Commissioner is required to instruct the Comptroller
to transfer from the Charter District Reserve Fund to the district's paying agent an amount necessary to pay the maturing or matured
principal or interest. If money in the Charter District Reserve Fund is insufficient to pay the amount due on a bond for which a notice
of default has been received, the Education Commissioner is required to instruct the Comptroller to transfer from the PSF to the
district’'s paying agent the amount necessary to pay the balance of the unpaid maturing or matured principal or interest. If a total of
two or more payments are made under the Charter District Bond Guarantee Program on charter district bonds and the Education
Commissioner determines that the charter district is acting in bad faith under the program, the Education Commissioner may request
the Attorney General to institute appropriate legal action to compel the charter district and its officers, agents, and employees to
comply with the duties required of them by law in regard to the guaranteed bonds. As is the case with the School District Bond
Guarantee Program, the Act provides a funding “intercept” feature that obligates the Education Commissioner to instruct the
Comptroller to withhold the amount paid with respect to the Charter District Bond Guarantee Program, plus interest, from the first
State money payable to a charter district that fails to make a guaranteed payment on its bonds. The amount withheld will be deposited,
first, to the credit of the PSF, and then to restore any amount drawn from the Charter District Reserve Fund as a result of the non-
payment.

The CDBGP Rules provide that the PSF may be used to guarantee bonds issued for the acquisition, construction, repair, or renovation
of an educational facility for an open-enroliment charter holder and equipping real property of an open-enrollment charter school
and/or to refinance promissory notes executed by an open-enrollment charter school, each in an amount in excess of $500,000 the
proceeds of which loans were used for a purpose described above (so-called new money bonds) or for refinancing bonds previously
issued for the charter school that were approved by the attorney general (so-called refunding bonds). Refunding bonds may not be
guaranteed under the Charter District Bond Guarantee Program if they do not result in a present value savings to the charter holder.

The CDBGP Rules provide that an open-enroliment charter holder applying for charter district designation and a guarantee of its
bonds under the Charter District Bond Guarantee Program satisfy various provisions of the regulations, including the following: It must
(i) have operated at least one open-enroliment charter school with enrolled students in the State for at least three years; (ii) agree that
the bonded indebtedness for which the guarantee is sought will be undertaken as an obligation of all entities under common control
of the open-enroliment charter holder, and that all such entities will be liable for the obligation if the open-enroliment charter holder
defaults on the bonded indebtedness, provided, however, that an entity that does not operate a charter school in Texas is subject to
this provision only to the extent it has received state funds from the open-enroliment charter holder; (iii) have had completed for the
past three years an audit for each such year that included unqualified or unmodified audit opinions; and (iv) have received an
investment grade credit rating within the last year. Upon receipt of an application for guarantee under the Charter District Bond
Guarantee Program, the Education Commissioner is required to conduct an investigation into the financial status of the applicant
charter district and of the accreditation status of all open-enroliment charter schools operated under the charter, within the scope set
forth in the CDBGP Rules. Such financial investigation must establish that an applying charter district has a historical debt service
coverage ratio, based on annual debt service, of at least 1.1 for the most recently completed fiscal year, and a projected debt service
coverage ratio, based on projected revenues and expenses and maximum annual debt service, of at least 1.2. The failure of an open-
enrolliment charter holder to comply with the Act or the applicable regulations, including by making any material misrepresentations in
the charter holder’s application for charter district designation or guarantee under the Charter District Bond Guarantee Program,
constitutes a material violation of the open-enroliment charter holder’s charter.

From time to time, TEA has limited new guarantees under the Charter District Bond Guarantee Program to conform to capacity limits
specified by the Act. Legislation enacted during the Legislature’s 2017 regular session modified the manner of calculating the capacity
of the Charter District Bond Guarantee Program (the “CDBGP Capacity”), which further increased the amount of the CDBGP Capacity.
The CDBGP Capacity is made available from the capacity of the Guarantee Program but is not reserved exclusively for the Charter
District Bond Guarantee Program. See “Capacity Limits for the Guarantee Program” and “2017 Legislative Changes to the Charter
District Bond Guarantee Program.” Other factors that could increase the CDBGP Capacity include Fund investment performance,
future increases in the Guarantee Program multiplier, changes in State law that govern the calculation of the CDBGP Capacity, as
described below, changes in State or federal law or regulations related to the Guarantee Program limit, growth in the relative
percentage of students enrolled in open-enroliment charter schools to the total State scholastic census, legislative and administrative
changes in funding for charter districts, changes in level of school district or charter district participation in the Guarantee Program, or
a combination of such circumstances.

Capacity Limits for the Guarantee Program

The capacity of the Fund to guarantee bonds under the Guarantee Program is limited to the lesser of that imposed by State law (the
“State Capacity Limit”) and that imposed by regulations and a notice issued by the IRS (the “IRS Limit”, with the limit in effect at any
given time being the “Capacity Limit"). From 2005 through 2009, the Guarantee Program twice reached capacity under the IRS Limit,
and in each instance the Guarantee Program was closed to new bond guarantee applications until relief was obtained from the IRS.
The most recent closure of the Guarantee Program commenced in March 2009 and the Guarantee Program reopened in February
2010 after the IRS updated regulations relating to the PSF and similar funds.
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Prior to 2007, various legislation was enacted modifying the calculation of the State Capacity limit; however, in 2007, Senate Bill 389
(“SB 389") was enacted, providing for increases in the capacity of the Guarantee Program, and specifically providing that the SBOE
may by rule increase the capacity of the Guarantee Program from two and one-half times the cost value of the PSF to an amount not
to exceed five times the cost value of the PSF, provided that the increased limit does not violate federal law and regulations and does
not prevent bonds guaranteed by the Guarantee Program from receiving the highest available credit rating, as determined by the
SBOE. SB 389 further provided that the SBOE shall at least annually consider whether to change the capacity of the Guarantee
Program. Additionally, on May 21, 2010, the SBOE modified the SDBGP Rules, and increased the State Capacity Limit to an amount
equal to three times the cost value of the PSF. Such modified regulations, including the revised capacity rule, became effective on
July 1, 2010. The SDBGP Rules provide that the Education Commissioner will estimate the available capacity of the PSF each month
and may increase or reduce the State Capacity Limit multiplier to prudently manage fund capacity and maintain the AAA credit rating
of the Guarantee Program but also provide that any changes to the multiplier made by the Education Commissioner are to be ratified
or rejected by the SBOE at the next meeting following the change. See “Valuation of the PSF and Guaranteed Bonds” below.

Since September 2015, the SBOE has periodically voted to change the capacity multiplier as shown in the following table.

Changes in SBOE-determined multiplier for State Capacity Limit

Date Multiplier
Prior to May 2010 2.50
May 2010 3.00
September 2015 3.25
February 2017 3.50
September 2017 3.75
February 2018 (current) 3.50

Since December 16, 2009, the IRS Limit was a static limit set at 500% of the total cost value of the assets held by the PSF as of
December 16, 2009; however, on May 10, 2023, the IRS released Notice 2023-39 (the “IRS Notice”), stating that the IRS would issue
regulations amending the existing regulations to amend the calculation of the IRS limit to 500% of the total cost value of assets held
by the PSF as of the date of sale of new bonds. In accordance with the IRS Notice, the amount of any new bonds to be guaranteed
by the PSF, together with the then outstanding amount of bonds previously guaranteed by the PSF, must not exceed the IRS Limit on
the sale date of the new bonds to be guaranteed. The IRS Notice further provided that the IRS Notice may be relied upon for bonds
sold on or after May 10, 2023, and before the effective date of future regulations or other public administrative guidance affecting
funds like the PSF.

The IRS Notice changes the IRS Limit from a static limit to a dynamic limit for the Guarantee Program based upon the cost value of
Fund assets, multiplied by five. As of June 30, 2023 the cost value of the Guarantee Program was $43,704,948,910 (unaudited),
thereby producing an IRS Limit of $218,344,585,245 in principal amount of guaranteed bonds outstanding.

As of June 30, 2023, the estimated State Capacity Limit is $152,967,321,185, which is lower than the IRS Limit, making the State
Capacity Limit the current Capacity Limit for the Fund.

Since July 1991, when the SBOE amended the Guarantee Program Rules to broaden the range of bonds that are eligible for guarantee
under the Guarantee Program to encompass most Texas school district bonds, the principal amount of bonds guaranteed under the
Guarantee Program has increased sharply. In addition, in recent years a number of factors have caused an increase in the amount of
bonds issued by school districts in the State. See the table “Permanent School Fund Guaranteed Bonds” below. Effective March 1,
2023, the Act, as amended through the Regulatory Recodification, provides that the SBOE may establish a percentage of the Capacity
Limit to be reserved from use in guaranteeing bonds (the “Capacity Reserve”). The SDBGP Rules provide for a maximum Capacity
Reserve for the overall Guarantee Program of 5% and provide that the amount of the Capacity Reserve may be increased or
decreased by a majority vote of the SBOE based on changes in the cost value, asset allocation, and risk in the portfolio, or may be
increased or decreased by the Education Commissioner as necessary to prudently manage fund capacity and preserve the AAA credit
rating of the Guarantee Program (subject to ratification or rejection by the SBOE at the next meeting for which an item can be posted).
The CDBGP Rules provide for an additional reserve of CDBGP Capacity determined by calculating an equal percentage as
established by the SBOE for the Capacity Reserve, applied to the CDBGP Capacity. Effective March 1, 2023, the Capacity Reserve
is 0.25%. The Capacity Reserve is noted in the monthly updates with respect to the capacity of the Guarantee Program on the TEA
web site at http://tea.texas.gov/Finance_and_Grants/Permanent_School_Fund/, which are also filed with the MSRB.

Based upon historical performance of the Fund, the legal restrictions relating to the amount of bonds that may be guaranteed has
generally resulted in a lower ratio of guaranteed bonds to available assets as compared to many other types of credit enhancements
that may be available for Texas school district bonds and charter district bonds. However, the ratio of Fund assets to guaranteed
bonds and the growth of the Fund in general could be adversely affected by a number of factors, including Fund investment
performance, investment objectives of the Fund, an increase in bond issues by school districts in the State or legal restrictions on the
Fund, changes in State laws that implement funding decisions for school districts and charter districts, which could adversely affect
the credit quality of those districts, the implementation of the Charter District Bond Guarantee Program, or significant changes in
distributions to the ASF. The issuance of the IRS Notice and the Final IRS Regulations resulted in a substantial increase in the amount
of bonds guaranteed under the Guarantee Program.

With the change in the Capacity Reserve from 5% to 0.25%, effective March 1, 2023, as discussed above, and the change in the IRS
Limit making the State Capacity Limit the current Capacity Limit, the net Guarantee Program capacity as of June 30, 2023 is
$152,556,827,260. No representation is made as to how the capacity will remain available, and the capacity of the Guarantee Program
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is subject to change due to a number of factors, including changes in bond issuance volume throughout the State and some bonds
receiving guarantee approvals may not close. If the amount of guaranteed bonds approaches the State Capacity Limit, the SBOE or
Education Commissioner may increase the State Capacity Limit multiplier as discussed above.

2017 Legislative Changes to the Charter District Bond Guarantee Program

The CDBGP Capacity is established by the Act. During the 85th Texas Legislature, which concluded on May 29, 2017, Senate Bill
1480 (“SB 1480”) was enacted. SB 1480 amended the Act to modify how the CDBGP Capacity is established effective as of September
1, 2017 and made other substantive changes to the Charter District Bond Guarantee Program. Prior to the enactment of SB 1480, the
CDBGP Capacity was calculated as the Capacity Limit less the amount of outstanding bond guarantees under the Guarantee Program
multiplied by the percentage of charter district scholastic population relative to the total public school scholastic population. SB 1480
amended the CDBGP Capacity calculation so that the Capacity Limit is multiplied by the percentage of charter district scholastic
population relative to the total public school scholastic population prior to the subtraction of the outstanding bond guarantees, thereby
increasing the CDBGP Capacity.

The percentage of the charter district scholastic population to the overall public school scholastic population has grown from 3.53%
in September 2012 to 7.36% in March 2023. TEA is unable to predict how the ratio of charter district students to the total State
scholastic population will change over time.

In addition to modifying the manner of determining the CDBGP Capacity, SB 1480 provided that the Education Commissioner’s
investigation of a charter district application for guarantee may include an evaluation of whether the charter district bond security
documents provide a security interest in real property pledged as collateral for the bond and the repayment obligation under the
proposed guarantee. The Education Commissioner may decline to approve the application if the Education Commissioner determines
that sufficient security is not provided. The Act and the CDBGP Rules also require the Education Commissioner to make an
investigation of the accreditation status and financial status for a charter district applying for a bond guarantee.

Since the initial authorization of the Charter District Bond Guarantee Program, the Act has established a bond guarantee reserve fund
in the State treasury (the “Charter District Reserve Fund”). Formerly, the Act provided that each charter district that has a bond
guaranteed must annually remit to the Education Commissioner, for deposit in the Charter District Reserve Fund, an amount equal to
10% of the savings to the charter district that is a result of the lower interest rate on its bonds due to the guarantee by the PSF. SB
1480 modified the Act insofar as it pertains to the Charter District Reserve Fund. Effective September 1, 2017, the Act provides that
a charter district that has a bond guaranteed must remit to the Education Commissioner, for deposit in the Charter District Reserve
Fund, an amount equal to 20% of the savings to the charter district that is a result of the lower interest rate on the bond due to the
guarantee by the PSF. The amount due shall be paid on receipt by the charter district of the bond proceeds. However, the deposit
requirement will not apply if the balance of the Charter District Reserve Fund is at least equal to 3.00% of the total amount of
outstanding guaranteed bonds issued by charter districts. At June 30, 2023, the Charter District Reserve Fund contained $90,293,027,
which represented approximately 2.23% of the guaranteed charter district bonds. The Reserve Fund is held and invested as a non-
commingled fund under the administration of the PSF Corporation staff.

Charter District Risk Factors

Open-enroliment charter schools in the State may not charge tuition and, unlike school districts, charter districts have no taxing power.
Funding for charter district operations is largely from amounts appropriated by the Legislature. Additionally, the amount of State
payments a charter district receives is based on a variety of factors, including the enroliment at the schools operated by a charter
district, and may be affected by the State’s economic performance and other budgetary considerations and various political
considerations.

Other than credit support for charter district bonds that is provided to qualifying charter districts by the Charter District Bond Guarantee
Program, State funding for charter district facilities construction is limited to a program established by the Legislature in 2017, which
provides $60 million per year for eligible charter districts with an acceptable performance rating for a variety of funding purposes,
including for lease or purchase payments for instructional facilities. Since State funding for charter facilities is limited, charter schools
generally issue revenue bonds to fund facility construction and acquisition, or fund facilities from cash flows of the school. Some
charter districts have issued non-guaranteed debt in addition to debt guaranteed under the Charter District Bond Guarantee Program,
and such non-guaranteed debt is likely to be secured by a deed of trust covering all or part of the charter district’s facilities. In March
2017, the TEA began requiring charter districts to provide the TEA with a lien against charter district property as a condition to receiving
a guarantee under the Charter District Bond Guarantee Program. However, charter district bonds issued and guaranteed under the
Charter District Bond Guarantee Program prior to the implementation of the new requirement did not have the benefit of a security
interest in real property, although other existing debts of such charter districts that are not guaranteed under the Charter District Bond
Guarantee Program may be secured by real property that could be foreclosed on in the event of a bond default.

As a general rule, the operation of a charter school involves fewer State requirements and regulations for charter holders as compared
to other public schools, but the maintenance of a State-granted charter is dependent upon on-going compliance with State law and
regulations, which are monitored by TEA. TEA has a broad range of enforcement and remedial actions that it can take as corrective
measures, and such actions may include the loss of the State charter, the appointment of a new board of directors to govern a charter
district, the assignment of operations to another charter operator, or, as a last resort, the dissolution of an open-enrollment charter
school. Charter holders are governed by a private board of directors, as compared to the elected boards of trustees that govern school
districts.
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As described above, the Act includes a funding “intercept” function that applies to both the School District Bond Guarantee Program
and the Charter District Bond Guarantee Program. However, school districts are viewed as the “educator of last resort” for students
residing in the geographical territory of the district, which makes it unlikely that State funding for those school districts would be
discontinued, although the TEA can require the dissolution and merger into another school district if necessary to ensure sound
education and financial management of a school district. That is not the case with a charter district, however, and open-enroliment
charter schools in the State have been dissolved by TEA from time to time. If a charter district that has bonds outstanding that are
guaranteed by the Charter District Bond Guarantee Program should be dissolved, debt service on guaranteed bonds of the district
would continue to be paid to bondholders in accordance with the Charter District Bond Guarantee Program, but there would be no
funding available for reimbursement of the PSF by the Comptroller for such payments. As described under “The Charter District Bond
Guarantee Program,” the Act established the Charter District Reserve Fund, to serve as a reimbursement resource for the PSF.

Infectious Disease Outbreak

Since the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic in March 2020, TEA and TEA investment management for the PSF have continued to
operate and function pursuant to the TEA continuity of operations plan developed as mandated in accordance with Texas Labor Code
Section 412.054. That plan was designed to ensure performance of the Agency’s essential missions and functions under such threats
and conditions in the event of, among other emergencies, a pandemic event.

Circumstances regarding the COVID-19 pandemic continue to evolve; for additional information on these events in the State, reference
is made to the website of the Governor, https://gov.texas.gov/, and, with respect to public school events, the website of TEA,
https://tea.texas.gov/texas-schools/safe-and-healthy-schools/coronavirus-covid-19-support-and-guidance.

TEA cannot predict whether any school or charter district may experience short- or longer-term cash flow emergencies as a direct or
indirect effect of COVID-19 that would require a payment from the PSF to be made to a paying agent for a guaranteed bond. However,
through the end of February 2023, no school district or charter district had failed to perform with respect to making required payments
on their guaranteed bonds. Information regarding the respective financial operations of the issuer of bonds guaranteed, or to be
guaranteed, by the PSF is provided by such issuers in their respective bond offering documents and the TEA takes no responsibility
for the respective information, as it is provided by the respective issuers.

Ratings of Bonds Guaranteed Under the Guarantee Program

Moody’s Investors Service, Inc., S&P Global Ratings and Fitch Ratings, Inc. rate bonds guaranteed by the PSF “Aaa,” “AAA” and
“AAA,” respectively. Not all districts apply for multiple ratings on their bonds, however. See the applicable rating section within the
Official Statement to which this is attached for information regarding a district’'s underlying rating and the enhanced rating applied to
a given series of bonds.

Valuation of the PSF and Guaranteed Bonds

Permanent School Fund Valuations

Fiscal Year

Ended 8/31 Book Value" Market Value("
2018 $ 33,860,358,647 $ 44,074,197,940
2019 35,288,344,219 46,464,447,981
2020 36,642,000,738 46,764,059,745
2021 38,699,895,545 55,582,252,097
2022@ 42,511,350,050 56,754,515,757

() SLB managed assets are included in the market value and book value of the Fund. In determining the market value of the PSF from
time to time during a fiscal year, the current, unaudited values for PSF investment portfolios and cash held by the SLB are used. With
respect to SLB managed assets shown in the table above, market values of land and mineral interests, internally managed real estate,
investments in externally managed real estate funds and cash are based upon information reported to the PSF Corporation by the
SLB. The SLB reports that information to the PSF Corporation on a quarterly basis. The valuation of such assets at any point in time
is dependent upon a variety of factors, including economic conditions in the State and nation in general, and the values of these
assets, and, in particular, the valuation of mineral holdings administered by the SLB, can be volatile and subject to material changes
from period to period.

@ At August 31, 2022, mineral assets, sovereign and other lands and discretionary internal investments, investments with external
managers, and cash managed by the SLB had book values of approximately $13.4 million, $180.6 million, $5,433.0 million, and
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$1,257.5 million, respectively, and market values of approximately $5,622.2 million, $699.8 million, $6,262.5 million, and $1,257.52
million, respectively.

Permanent School Fund Guaranteed Bonds

At 8/31 Principal Amount("
2018 $79,080,901,069
2019 84,397,900,203
2020 90,336,680,245
2021 95,259,161,922
2022 103,239,495,929?@

() Represents original principal amount; does not reflect any subsequent accretions in value for compound interest bonds (zero coupon
securities). The amount shown excludes bonds that have been refunded and released from the Guarantee Program. The TEA does
not maintain records of the accreted value of capital appreciation bonds that are guaranteed under the Guarantee Program.

@ At August 31, 2022 (the most recent date for which such data is available), the TEA expected that the principal and interest to be
paid by school districts and charter districts over the remaining life of the bonds guaranteed by the Guarantee Program was
$156,825,227,335, of which $53,585,731,406 represents interest to be paid. As shown in the table above, at August 31, 2022, there
were $103,239,495,929 in principal amount of bonds guaranteed under the Guarantee Program. Using the State Capacity Limit of
$152,556,827,260 (the State Capacity Limit is currently the Capacity Limit), net of the Capacity Reserve, as of June 30, 2023, 7.36%
of the Guarantee Program’s capacity was available to the Charter District Bond Guarantee Program. As of June 30, 2023, the amount
of outstanding bond guarantees represented 70.06% of the Capacity Limit (which is currently the State Capacity Limit). June 30, 2023
values are based on unaudited data, which is subject to adjustment.

Permanent School Fund Guaranteed Bonds by Category'"

School District Bonds Charter District Bonds Totals
Fiscal
Year Ended
8/31 No. of Principal No. of Principal Amount No. of Principal
Issues Amount ($) Issues (€3] Issues Amount ($)
2018 3,249 77,647,966,069 44 1,432,935,000 3,293 79,080,901,069
2019 3,297 82,537,755,203 49 1,860,145,000 3,346 84,397,900,203
2020 3,296 87,800,478,245 64 2,536,202,000 3,360 90,336,680,245
2021 3,346 91,951,175,922 83 3,307,986,000 3,429 95,259,161,922
2022? 3,348 99,528,099,929 94 3,711,396,000 3,442 103,239,495,929

() Represents original principal amount; does not reflect any subsequent accretions in value for compound interest bonds (zero coupon
securities). The amount shown excludes bonds that have been refunded and released from the Guarantee Program.

@ At June 30, 2023 (based on unaudited data, which is subject to adjustment), there were$107,163,538,633 in principal amount of
bonds guaranteed under the Guarantee Program, representing 3,424 school district issues, aggregating $103,112,917,633 in principal
amount and 107 charter district issues, aggregating $4,050,621,000 in principal amount. At June 30, 2023 the projected guarantee
capacity available was $30,224,526,888 (based on unaudited data, which is subject to adjustment).

Discussion and Analysis Pertaining to Fiscal Year Ended August 31, 2022

The following discussion is derived from the Annual Report for the year ended August 31, 2022, including the Message of the Executive
Administrator of the Fund and the Management’s Discussion and Analysis contained therein. Reference is made to the Annual Report,
as filed with the MSRB, for the complete Message and MD&A. Investment assets managed by the fifteen member SBOE are referred
to throughout this MD&A as the PSF(SBOE) and, with respect to the Liquid Account, Liquid(SBOE) assets. As of August 31, 2022,
the Fund’s land, mineral rights and certain real assets are managed by the five-member SLB and these assets are referred to
throughout as the PSF(SLB) assets. The current PSF(SBOE) asset allocation policy includes an allocation for real estate investments,
and as such investments are made, and become a part of the PSF(SBOE) investment portfolio, those investments will be managed
by the SBOE and not the SLB.

At the end of fiscal 2022, the Fund balance was $56.8 billion, an increase of $1.2 billion from the prior year. This increase is primarily
due to overall net increases in value of the various asset classes in which the Fund is invested. During the year, the SBOE continued
implementing the long-term strategic asset allocation, diversifying the PSF(SBOE) to strengthen the Fund. The asset allocation is
projected to increase returns over the long run while reducing risk and portfolio return volatility. The PSF(SBOE) annual rates of return
for the one-year, five-year, and ten-year periods ending August 31, 2022, net of fees, were -6.80%, 6.54% and 7.33%, respectively,
and the Liquid(SBOE) annual rate of return for the one-year and three-year periods ending August 31, 2022, net of fees, was -10.24%
and -1.23% (total return takes into consideration the change in the market value of the Fund during the year as well as the interest
and dividend income generated by the Fund’s investments). In addition, the SLB continued its shift into externally managed real asset
investment funds, and the one-year, five-year, and ten-year annualized total returns for the PSF(SLB) externally managed real assets,
net of fees and including cash, were 32.29%, 8.42%, and 7.40%, respectively.

The Fund is invested in global markets and experiences volatility commensurate with the related indices. The Fund is broadly
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diversified and benefits from the cost structure of its investment program. Changes continue to be researched, crafted and
implemented to make the cost structure more effective and efficient. See “Comparative Investment Schedule - PSF(SBOE)” for the
PSF(SBOE) holdings as of August 31, 2022.

As of August 31, 2022, the SBOE has approved, and the Fund made capital commitments to, externally managed real estate
investment funds in a total amount of $7.3 billion and capital commitments to private equity limited partnerships for a total of $10.1
billion. Unfunded commitments at August 31, 2022, totaled $2.4 billion in real estate investments and $2.9 billion in private equity
investments.

PSF Returns Fiscal Year Ended 8-31-2022'

Benchmark
Portfolio Return Return?
Total PSF(SBOE) Portfolio (6.80)% (6.37)%

Domestic Large Cap Equities(SBOE)

( )
Domestic Small/Mid Cap Equities(SBOE) (10.96) (10.90)
International Equities(SBOE) (19.72) (19.52)
Emerging Market Equity(SBOE) (22.85) (21.80)
Fixed Income(SBOE) (12.16) (11.52)
Treasuries (22.82) (22.64)
Absolute Return(SBOE) (0.55) (5.66)
Real Estate(SBOE) 23.31 20.56
Private Equity(SBOE) 3.17 8.43
Real Return(SBOE) 2.98 3.09
Emerging Market Debt(SBOE) (17.95) (19.43)
Liquid Large Cap Equity(SBOE) (10.39) (11.23)
Liquid Small Cap Equity(SBOE) (10.63) (10.90)
Liquid International Equity(SBOE) (19.34) (19.52)
Liquid Short-Term Fixed Income(SBOE) (4.27) (4.01)
Liquid Core Bonds(SBOE) (11.30) (11.52)
Liquid TIPS(SBOE) (5.78) (5.98)
Liquid Transition Cash Reserves(SBOE) 1.65 0.38
Liquid Combined(SBOE) (10.24) (10.88)
PSF(SLB) (32.29) N/A

"Time weighted rates of return adjusted for cash flows for the PSF(SBOE) investment assets. Does not include GLO managed
real estate or real assets. Returns are net of fees. Source: PSF Annual Report for year ended August 31, 2022.
2Benchmarks are as set forth in the PSF Annual Report for year ended August 31, 2022.

The PSF(SLB) portfolio is generally characterized by three broad categories: (1) discretionary real assets investments, (2) sovereign
and other lands, and (3) mineral interests. Discretionary real assets investments consist of externally managed real estate,
infrastructure, and energy/minerals investment funds; internally managed direct real estate investments, and cash. Sovereign and
other lands consist primarily of the lands set aside to the PSF when it was created. Mineral interests consist of all of the minerals that
are associated with PSF lands. The investment focus of PSF(SLB) discretionary real assets investments has shifted from internally
managed direct real estate investments to externally managed real assets investment funds. The PSF(SLB) makes investments in
certain limited partnerships that legally commit it to possible future capital contributions. At August 31, 2022, the remaining
commitments totaled approximately $1.94 billion.

For fiscal year 2022, total revenues, inclusive of unrealized gains and losses and net of security lending rebates and fees, totaled $3.5
billion, a decrease of $7.3 billion from fiscal year 2021 earnings of $10.8 billion. The total change in the fair value of the Fund
investments is consistent with the change in value of the markets in which those investments were made. In fiscal year 2022, revenues
earned by the Fund included gains realized on the sale of land and real estate owned by the Fund; lease payments, bonuses and
royalty income received from oil, gas and mineral leases; lease payments from commercial real estate; surface lease and easement
revenues; revenues from the resale of natural and liquid gas supplies; dividends, interest, and securities lending revenues; the net
change in the fair value of the investment portfolio and externally managed real assets investment funds; and other miscellaneous
fees and income.

Expenditures are paid from the Fund before distributions are made under the total return formula. Such expenditures include the costs
incurred by the SLB to manage the land endowment, as well as operational costs of the Fund, including external management fees
paid from appropriated funds. Total operating expenditures, net of security lending rebates and fees, increased 3.0% for the fiscal
year ending August 31, 2022. This increase is primarily attributable to an increase in PSF(SLB) quantities of purchased gas for resale
in the State Energy Management Program, which is administered by the SLB as part of the Fund, as well as increases in operational
costs.

The Fund directly supports the public school system in the State by distributing a predetermined percentage of its asset value to the

ASF. For fiscal years 2021 and 2022, the distribution from the SBOE to the ASF totaled $1.1 billion and $1.7 billion, respectively.
Distributions from the SLB to the ASF for fiscal years 2021 and 2022 totaled $600 and $415 million, respectively.
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At the end of the 2022 fiscal year, PSF assets guaranteed $103.2 billion in bonds issued by 898 local school districts and charter
districts, the latter of which entered into the Guarantee Program during the 2014 fiscal year. Since its inception in 1983, the Fund has
guaranteed 8,554 school district and charter district bond issues totaling $239.7 billion in principal amount. During the 2022 fiscal
year, the number of outstanding issues guaranteed under the Guarantee Program totaled 3,442. The dollar amount of guaranteed
school and charter bond issues outstanding increased by $7.98 billion or 8.4%. The State Capacity Limit increased by $13.3 billion,
or 9.8%, during fiscal year 2022 due to continued growth in the cost basis of the Fund used to calculate that Program capacity limit.
The effective capacity of the Guarantee Program did not increase during fiscal year 2022 as the IRS Limit was reached in a prior fiscal
year, and it is the lower of the two capacity limits for the Guarantee Program.

Other Events and Disclosures

The State Investment Ethics Code governs the ethics and disclosure requirements for financial advisors and other service providers
who advise certain State governmental entities, including the PSF. The SBOE code of ethics provides ethical standards for SBOE
members, the Education Commissioner, TEA staff, and persons who provide services to the SBOE relating to the Fund. As part of
the Regulatory Recodification, the PSF Corporation developed its own ethics policy as required by SB 1232, which provides basic
ethical principles, guidelines, and standards of conduct relating to the management and investment of the Fund in accordance with
the requirements of §43.058 of the Texas Education Code, as amended. The SBOE code of ethics is codified in the Texas
Administrative Code at 19 TAC sections 334 et seq. and is available on the TEA web site at
https://tea.texas.gov/sites/default/files/ch033a.pdf. The PSF Corporation’s ethics policy is posted to the PSF Corporation’s website at
texaspsf.org.

In addition, the SLB and GLO have established processes and controls over the administration of real estate transactions and are
subject to provisions of the Texas Natural Resources Code and internal procedures in administering real estate transactions for Fund
assets it manages.

As of August 31, 2022, certain lawsuits were pending against the State and/or the GLO, which challenge the Fund'’s title to certain
real property and/or past or future mineral income from that property, and other litigation arising in the normal course of the investment
activities of the PSF. Reference is made to the Annual Report, when filed, for a description of such lawsuits that are pending, which
may represent contingent liabilities of the Fund.

PSF Continuing Disclosure Undertaking

The Regulatory Recodification included the codification of the TEA’s undertaking pursuant to Rule 15¢2-12 (the “TEA Undertaking”)
pertaining to the PSF and the Guarantee Program. As of March 1, 2023, the TEA Undertaking is codified at 19 TAC 33.8, which relates
to the Guarantee Program and is available at available at https://tea.texas.gov/sites/default/files/ch033a.pdf.

Through the codification of the TEA Undertaking and its commitment to guarantee bonds, the TEA has made the following agreement
for the benefit of the issuers, holders and beneficial owners of guaranteed bonds. The TEA (or its successor with respect to the
management of the Guarantee Program) is required to observe the agreement for so long as it remains an “obligated person,” within
the meaning of Rule 15¢2-12, with respect to guaranteed bonds. Nothing in the TEA Undertaking obligates the TEA to make any
filings or disclosures with respect to guaranteed bonds, as the obligations of the TEA under the TEA Undertaking pertain solely to the
Guarantee Program. The issuer or an “obligated person” of the guaranteed bonds has assumed the applicable obligation under Rule
15c2-12 to make all disclosures and filings relating directly to guaranteed bonds, and the TEA takes no responsibility with respect to
such undertakings. Under the TEA Undertaking, the TEA will be obligated to provide annually certain updated financial information
and operating data, and timely notice of specified material events, to the MSRB.

The MSRB has established the Electronic Municipal Market Access (‘EMMA”) system, and the TEA is required to file its continuing
disclosure information using the EMMA system. Investors may access continuing disclosure information filed with the MSRB at
www.emma.msrb.org, and the continuing disclosure filings of the TEA with respect to the PSF can be found at
https://emma.msrb.org/IssueView/Details/ER355077 or by searching for “Texas Permanent School Fund Bond Guarantee Program”
on EMMA.

Annual Reports

The TEA will annually provide certain updated financial information and operating data to the MSRB. The information to be updated
includes all quantitative financial information and operating data with respect to the Guarantee Program and the PSF of the general
type included in this offering document under the heading “THE PERMANENT SCHOOL FUND GUARANTEE PROGRAM.” The
information also includes the Annual Report. The TEA will update and provide this information within six months after the end of each
fiscal year.

The TEA may provide updated information in full text or may incorporate by reference certain other publicly-available documents, as
permitted by Rule 15¢2-12. The updated information includes audited financial statements of, or relating to, the State or the PSF,
when and if such audits are commissioned and available. Financial statements of the State will be prepared in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles as applied to state governments, as such principles may be changed from time to time, or
such other accounting principles as the State Auditor is required to employ from time to time pursuant to State law or regulation. The
financial statements of the Fund are required to be prepared to conform to U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles as
established by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board.
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The Fund is reported by the State of Texas as a permanent fund and accounted for on a current financial resources measurement
focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Measurement focus refers to the definition of the resource flows measured. Under
the modified accrual basis of accounting, all revenues reported are recognized based on the criteria of availability and measurability.
Assets are defined as available if they are in the form of cash or can be converted into cash within 60 days to be usable for payment
of current liabilities. Amounts are defined as measurable if they can be estimated or otherwise determined. Expenditures are
recognized when the related fund liability is incurred.

The State’s current fiscal year end is August 31. Accordingly, the TEA must provide updated information by the last day of February
in each year, unless the State changes its fiscal year. If the State changes its fiscal year, the TEA will notify the MSRB of the change.

Event Notices

The TEA will also provide timely notices of certain events to the MSRB. Such notices will be provided not more than ten business
days after the occurrence of the event. The TEA will provide notice of any of the following events with respect to the Guarantee
Program: (1) principal and interest payment delinquencies; (2) non-payment related defaults, if such event is material within the
meaning of the federal securities laws; (3) unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties; (4) unscheduled
draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties; (5) substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform;
(6) adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the IRS of proposed or final determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS
Form 5701-TEB), or other material notices or determinations with respect to the tax status of the Guarantee Program, or other material
events affecting the tax status of the Guarantee Program; (7) modifications to rights of holders of bonds guaranteed by the Guarantee
Program, if such event is material within the meaning of the federal securities laws; (8) bond calls, if such event is material within the
meaning of the federal securities laws, and tender offers; (9) defeasances; (10) release, substitution, or sale of property securing
repayment of bonds guaranteed by the Guarantee Program, if such event is material within the meaning of the federal securities laws;
(11) rating changes of the Guarantee Program; (12) bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership, or similar event of the Guarantee Program
(which is considered to occur when any of the following occur: the appointment of a receiver, fiscal agent, or similar officer for the
Guarantee Program in a proceeding under the United States Bankruptcy Code or in any other proceeding under state or federal law
in which a court or governmental authority has assumed jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or business of the Guarantee
Program, or if such jurisdiction has been assumed by leaving the existing governing body and officials or officers in possession but
subject to the supervision and orders of a court or governmental authority, or the entry of an order confirming a plan of reorganization,
arrangement, or liquidation by a court or governmental authority having supervision or jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets
or business of the Guarantee Program); (13) the consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving the Guarantee
Program or the sale of all or substantially all of its assets, other than in the ordinary course of business, the entry into a definitive
agreement to undertake such an action or the termination of a definitive agreement relating to any such actions, other than pursuant
to its terms, if such event is material within the meaning of the federal securities laws; (14) the appointment of a successor or additional
trustee with respect to the Guarantee Program or the change of name of a trustee, if such event is material within the meaning of the
federal securities laws; (15) the incurrence of a financial obligation of the Guarantee Program, if material, or agreement to covenants,
events of default, remedies, priority rights, or other similar terms of a financial obligation of the Guarantee Program, any of which affect
security holders, if material; and (16) default, event of acceleration, termination event, modification of terms, or other similar events
under the terms of a financial obligation of the Guarantee Program, any of which reflect financial difficulties. (Neither the Act nor any
other law, regulation or instrument pertaining to the Guarantee Program make any provision with respect to the Guarantee Program
for bond calls, debt service reserves, credit enhancement, liquidity enhancement, early redemption or the appointment of a trustee
with respect to the Guarantee Program.) In addition, the TEA will provide timely notice of any failure by the TEA to provide information,
data, or financial statements in accordance with its agreement described above under “Annual Reports.”

Availability of Information

The TEA has agreed to provide the foregoing information only to the MSRB and to transmit such information electronically to the
MSRB in such format and accompanied by such identifying information as prescribed by the MSRB. The information is available from
the MSRB to the public without charge at www.emma.msrb.org.

Limitations and Amendments

The TEA has agreed to update information and to provide notices of material events only as described above. The TEA has not agreed
to provide other information that may be relevant or material to a complete presentation of its financial results of operations, condition,
or prospects or agreed to update any information that is provided, except as described above. The TEA makes no representation or
warranty concerning such information or concerning its usefulness to a decision to invest in or sell Bonds at any future date. The TEA
disclaims any contractual or tort liability for damages resulting in whole or in part from any breach of its continuing disclosure
agreement or from any statement made pursuant to its agreement, although holders of Bonds may seek a writ of mandamus to compel
the TEA to comply with its agreement.

The continuing disclosure agreement of the TEA is made only with respect to the PSF and the Guarantee Program. The issuer of
guaranteed bonds or an obligated person with respect to guaranteed bonds may make a continuing disclosure undertaking in
accordance with Rule 15c2-12 with respect to its obligations arising under Rule 15c2-12 pertaining to financial information and
operating data concerning such entity and events notices relating to such guaranteed bonds. A description of such undertaking, if any,
is included elsewhere in this offering document.

This continuing disclosure agreement may be amended by the TEA from time to time to adapt to changed circumstances that arise
from a change in legal requirements, a change in law, or a change in the identity, nature, status, or type of operations of the TEA, but
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only if (1) the provisions, as so amended, would have permitted an underwriter to purchase or sell guaranteed bonds in the primary
offering of such bonds in compliance with Rule 15c2-12, taking into account any amendments or interpretations of Rule 15¢2-12 since
such offering as well as such changed circumstances and (2) either (a) the holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the
outstanding bonds guaranteed by the Guarantee Program consent to such amendment or (b) a person that is unaffiliated with the
TEA (such as nationally recognized bond counsel) determines that such amendment will not materially impair the interest of the
holders and beneficial owners of the bonds guaranteed by the Guarantee Program. The TEA may also amend or repeal the provisions
of its continuing disclosure agreement if the SEC amends or repeals the applicable provision of Rule 15¢2-12 or a court of final
jurisdiction enters judgment that such provisions of Rule 15¢2-12 are invalid, but only if and to the extent that the provisions of this
sentence would not prevent an underwriter from lawfully purchasing or selling bonds guaranteed by the Guarantee Program in the
primary offering of such bonds.

Compliance with Prior Undertakings

Except as stated below, during the last five years, the TEA has not failed to substantially comply with its previous continuing disclosure
agreements in accordance with Rule 15¢2-12. On April 28, 2022 TEA became aware that it had not timely filed its 2021 Annual Report
with EMMA due to an administrative oversight. TEA took corrective action and filed the 2021 Annual Report with EMMA on April 28,
2022, followed by a notice of late filing made with EMMA on April 29, 2022. TEA notes that the 2021 Annual Report was timely filed
on the TEA website by the required filing date and that website posting has been incorporated by reference into TEA’s Bond Guarantee
Program disclosures that are included in school district and charter district offering documents.

SEC Exemptive Relief

On February 9, 1996, the TEA received a letter from the Chief Counsel of the SEC that pertains to the availability of the “small issuer
exemption” set forth in paragraph (d)(2) of Rule 15c2-12. The letter provides that Texas school districts which offer municipal securities
that are guaranteed under the Guarantee Program may undertake to comply with the provisions of paragraph (d)(2) of Rule 15¢c2-12
if their offerings otherwise qualify for such exemption, notwithstanding the guarantee of the school district securities under the
Guarantee Program. Among other requirements established by Rule 15¢2-12, a school district offering may qualify for the small issuer
exemption if, upon issuance of the proposed series of securities, the school district will have no more than $10 million of outstanding
municipal securities.
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